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INQUIRY COMMENCED AT 9.42 AM

MR J TATE (instructed by Crown Law Office) on behalf of the Mines Inspectorate and Counsel Assisting

MR G DALLISTON on behalf of the Construction, Forestry, Mining and Energy Union (CFMEU) and the Combined Mining Unions

MR A S MELLICK (instructed by Messrs Rees R & Sydney Jones) on behalf of the next of kin

MR R N TRAVES (instructed by Mount Isa Mines Pty Ltd) on behalf Mount Isa Mines Limited, Sumisho Coal Australia Pty Ltd, Itoshu Coal Resources Australia Pty Ltd, Oaky Creek Coal Pty Ltd as operator of the Oaky Creek Mine, and for Mr Murray Wood, the Registered Mine Manager

SUSAN JAYNE WELLER APPOINTED AS RECORDER

WARDEN:  Thank you gentlemen and good morning.  These proceedings are an Inquiry under Section 74 of the Coal Mining Act into an accident at Oaky Creek No 1 Underground Mine on 26 May 2000 where Michael James Morris received fatal injuries.  I have one matter before we proceed; at a directions hearing I raised the possibility of conducting the Inquest into the death of Michael Morris concurrent with this mining inquiry.  No representative appeared to have any objection to this course except the Town Agent for next of kin who appeared to have no instructions in the matter.  I concede that the issue may not have been clearly flagged and that the Town Agent may have been taken by surprise but I would invite Mr Mellick to place on the record any submissions he’d wish to make.

MR MELLICK:  Yes, thank you, Your Worship.  There’s no objection from the next of kin to Your Worship acting as Coroner in addition to your role as Mining Warden.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Mr Mellick.  That will be the situation then, the Inquest will be conducted concurrent with the Inquiry and I will issue separate findings as Coroner at the conclusion of the mining inquiry as is the normal procedure.  Thank you, Mr Tate.

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  I call Senior Constable William Napthali.

WILLIAM JOHN NAPTHALI, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Thank you, Senior, would you indicate name, rank and station please?--  Yeah, my full name is William John Napthali, I’m a Senior Constable of Police and Officer in Charge of Tieri Police Station.

And I understand that you were involved in the police investigation into an incident that occurred at Oaky Creek No 1 on 26 May 2000?--  That’s correct.

Would you indicate in brief terms please your involvement in that investigation?—My involvement is basically to go to the scene and ascertain if there was any criminal negligence on behalf of any person that caused the death.

Yes.  And what steps did you take in your investigations?--  Well I received a call at approximately 6 am on 26 May from Oaky Creek Coal.

Yes?--  Informing me that there had been a fall at approximately twenty to four a.m. that morning and it appeared there was two men trapped.

Yes?--  At that stage they didn’t know what injuries had been sustained or if life was extinct.  I then did my procedures by informing my superiors with significant event messages and informing Brisbane and then I proceeded to the mine site where I took up first with the Oaky Creek Manager, Peter Lynch.

Yes?--  Who at that stage didn’t have any real great knowledge of what was going on apart from the two men were trapped.

Yes?--  Dr Foley was Tieri was at the scene to assist where he could and Mines Rescue had been at the scene with a standby team to take over when they were tired.

Yes?--  So I then – I then went to the No 1 Underground where I met with the Registered Mine Manager, Murray Wood who at that time was conducting a briefing session with members of the Oaky Creek staff and he informed me

that-----

Refer to your notes if you’d like to, senior?--  He informed me at approximately 3.40 am that morning two men, Stewart Euston a mine deputy and Michael Morris a miner were trapped under a roof fall at maingate 19, B28 intersection, and informed me a section of the roof that had previously been strapped and bolted and given way and had fallen onto the continuous miner the men were using to cut the roadway to form the longwall face road.

Yes?--  He told me that Dr Foley was at the scene and that Mines Inspectors Mike Caffery and Mike Walker from Rockhampton had been notified and they were travelling to the mine.  During this briefing Murray Wood was informed that Mines Rescue – by Mines Rescue that Stewart Euston was being removed from beneath the fall and he had a leg injury but he was all right.  Michael Morris was still trapped and it was suspected he was alive but no contact could be made with him by the rescue team.

Yes, I understand?--  At 8.30 am my Acting Inspector arrived at the scene to liaise with myself; everything at that time was under control.

Yes?--  Shortly after the Mines Inspectors Mike Caffery and Mike Walker arrived and they informed me that the area was – when the area was made safe an inspection of the scene would be made and I was welcome to go with them.

Yes?--  At about 9.00 am Michael Morris was removed from the fall and he was attended to at the scene by Dr Foley and at 9.15 am Dr Foley pronounced life extinct.

And I think as a result of your inquiries you formed the view that there were no suspicious circumstances surrounding this roof fall?--  No.  From my inquiries into it after inspecting the scene and a number of photographs were taken, some totally 72 which were taken under my direction for the photographs I required and the directions of the CFMEU, Oaky Creek Coal.

Yes?--  So my conclusion regarding the incident was at about 3.40 am on Friday, 26 May the Oaky Creek No 1 Colliery red development crew were working at maingate 19 B Heading 28 intersection performing a 60 degree cut-through by B Heading into A Heading.  Whilst cutting this cut-through with a continuous miner a section of roof above the intersection which had previously been strapped and bolted with four two metre long bolts per strap had given way allowing the roof to fall onto two crew members, Stewart Euston and Michael Morris, resulting in the death of Michael Morris and causing minor injuries to Stewart Euston.  The roof strapping and bolting system used in that area at the time was the same method used in other areas of the mine while performing development roadways and intersections with Code Green roof conditions.  No member of the crew working that morning indicated to me the system used was not safe and Phillip Wagstaff stated in his statement to me, “Our work practice on that day was exactly the same as we have always mined”.  The spacing of the straps in that area which was Code Green were according to Oaky Creek Mine Manager’s Rules, approved by Mines Department to be a maximum of 1.5 metre spacings.  The crew at the time were spacing the straps at 1.2 metres allowing for a further safety margin.  The straps were closed to .5 metre when the roof became flaky and pieces of rock began falling.  It appears that the roof bolts above the intersection gave way causing the roof above to sag downwards then fall to the floor.  The reason for the roof support to give way is beyond my expertise to comment and experts in the appropriate field will give evidence at this Inquiry.

Yes indeed, that’s the mining people, the inspectors who accompanied you in due course at the mine site?--  And technology people, geologists I’d assume.

Now I think, senior, as a result of your inquiries you prepared a report dated 11 October 2000 to the District Officer, Rockhampton?--  That’s correct.

And in that you set out fully your inquiries and the results that you’ve mentioned to us this morning?--  That’s correct.

Attached to that report are a number of the usual forms that Police complete; the Form 4, the Form F, the Life Extinct Certificate, the Form 10 Post Mortem Report and also the Form E Post Mortem Certificate?--  That’s correct.

You also include a number of statements from Phillip Edward Wagstaff, Brett Anthony Murphy, Stewart Owen Euston, Peter Derek Dunham, John Barry Sanderson, Brendan Scott Dalglish, Donald Garth Zerner, Ross Martin Hertrick, and William – and yourself, is that correct?--  Correct.

Your Worship, perhaps the most convenient course might be for me to tender these documents separately perhaps commencing either with the forms, or alternatively, the Senior’s report and then moving to the forms and the statements.

WARDEN:  The report first and then the-----

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  I tender the report of the Senior Constable dated 11 October 2000.

WARDEN:  That’s Exhibit 1.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 1”

MR TATE:  The Form F – I’m sorry, the Form 4, Report Concerning Death By Member of the Police Service.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 2.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 2”

MR TATE:  The Form F, the Coroner’s Certificate of Holding of Inquest.

WARDEN:  Exhibit No 3.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 3”

MR TATE:  The Life Extinct Certificate signed by Edward Foley, 30 May 2000.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 4.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 4”

MR TATE:  The Form 10, Post Mortem Examination Report.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 5.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 5”

MR TATE:  And the various statements.  Does Your Worship wish those tendered as one exhibit or separately?

WARDEN:  Well they can go in as part of Exhibit 1.

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases, thank you.

WARDEN:  Attached to the report of the investigating officer.

MR TATE:  Thank you.  I tender them in that way, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Okay.

MR TATE:  Next, Senior, the photographs, there’s 72 I think you said?--  Yes, that is correct.  A police photographer went to the scene with us and a total of 72 photographs were taken, some under my direction and others under the directions of all present including union and mine officials.

You’ve looked at those photographs subsequently?--  I have, yes.

And you’re satisfied that they’re fair and accurate representations of the events of that day?--  Yes.

I tender the photographs, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  They’ll be marked Exhibit 7.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 7”

MR TATE:   Now I think that’s the end of the material that you have that can be tendered, is that correct?--  That’s correct.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston?

MR DALLISTON:  No questions.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Mr Mellick?

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Mr Traves?

MR TRAVES:  No questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Nothing from the panel either, thank you, Mr Tate.

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship, might this witness be excused?

WARDEN:  Thank you, witness, thank you for coming, you’re excused, you may leave.

WITNESS EXCUSED

WARDEN:  A copy of the report will go through to your office in due course.  Yes, thank you, Mr Tate.

MR TATE:  I call Inspector Caffery.

MICHAEL EDWARD CAFFERY, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Thank you, inspector, would you indicate your full name please?--  Michael Edward Caffery.

And your occupation?--  Inspector of Mines.

And your professional address?--  Is 24 Tolmie Street, Toowoomba.

Your qualifications and experience?--  I am qualified as a mining engineer from the University of Queensland 1975.  My experience has been, since then, working in coal mines and metalliferous mines in both underground and open cut in both cases in both technical support and managerial positions, and the last two and a half years working as an inspector of mines.

And during that time have you cause to investigate many accidents and fatalities?--  I have had cause to investigate some serious accidents, I have assisted in the investigation of a fatality.

And I think you were the investigating inspector in relation to an incident that happened at Oaky Creek No 1 Underground Mine on 26 May 2000?--  That’s correct.

And as a result of your inquiries you prepared a report?--  That’s correct.

And that report is dated 14 September 2000?--  That is correct.

Would you indicate for us briefly please, inspector, what the contents of that report contains?--  Okay.  The report contains the description of the accident, the notification of the accident to the inspector by the mine manager, the references made to the emergency response carried out at the time and the corrective action put in place after the accident.  The report goes on to the gathering of the evidence from the scene, photographs, witness statements that were taken, tests carried out after the accident on various pieces of equipment and the geological investigations, expert evidence gathered by two people as referenced in the Mine Manager’s Report, and then our findings and some recommendations are made.

Yes.  And I think your report also contains the professional views of Dr Fuller and Dr Frith in relation to possible causes of this particular roof fall, is that correct?--  That is correct.

You also took some rock samples at the site?--  That is correct.

And the purpose of those I understand is to assist people understand that part of the report that talks about kaolinite and the slippery plane surfaces, is that correct?--  That is correct.

You took a number of photographs?--  Yes, there were photographs taken by a police photographer which Senior Constable Napthali referred to.

Yes?--  There were photographs taken by Mike Walker, myself and – yes, that’s the bulk of it and there were also photographs provided by the mine.

And the most relevant of those from your perspective were then extracted and placed in your report?--  Yes.

Your Worship, I tender the report of Inspector Caffery dated 14 September 2000.

WARDEN:  That report will be marked Exhibit 8.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 8”

MR TATE:  Inspector, do you have the photographs there?--  Yes.

How many are there in all?--  I don’t have a number of them but I do have them all here.

Well you’ll probably need to count them so we know how many there are.  And inspector if you want to take anything else around to the witness box?--  It’ll take a little bit of time to count them.

They’re in a book, are they?--  Yes, they are all in a book.  If I can explain?

Yes, all right?--  There are three groups of photographs; these two folders here contain photographs taken by the inspectorate; this group here is photographs taken by Police and the inspectorate which are in the report.

Yes?--  And this group here is photographs taken by Police.

All right?--  So that forms the three groups of photographs.

Well let’s tender each of those photographs separately.  Your Worship, I tender the red book containing a series of photographs taken by – Inspector, you said the Police?--  The police photographer.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 9.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 9”

MR TATE:  The second bundle of photographs are a series of photographs?--  A series of photographs, the originals of the photographs that are in the report, investigation report.

I tender those, Your Worship, as the original photographs, copies of which are contained in the Inspector’s Report.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 10.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 10”

MR TATE:  The third series of photographs are two volumes?--  Yes, two volumes-----

Of a series of photographs?--  Containing photographs taken on 26 May, 29 May, 27 June and 6 July.

In those two volumes what is the purpose of the different dates for the taking of the photographs?--  The photographs in the first of these two volumes were taken on 26th of the 5th are immediately on the day of the accident.

Can we put a “one” in the front of that volume, or that series of photographs so that we know that they’re the ones that are taken on the day, and the second one-----?--  The second is photographs taken on the 29th of the 5th which was the Monday following the accident; 27th of the 6th were photos taken during the recovery of the fall; and the 6th July were photographs taken I believe towards the end of the recovery and that appears to be the case.

Inspector, if you could mark that with a “B” or a “two” at least?--  Two, yes, done.

Your Worship, I tender both volumes separately; the first being volume one being photographs taken on the day; the second volume being subsequent photographs.

WARDEN:  Taken on the day is Exhibit 11.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 11”

WARDEN:  And the subsequent ones Exhibit 12.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 12”

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases.  Inspector, if you take all of those photographs and pop them down just on the floor that will give you a little bit more room.

MR TRAVES:  I wonder if I may see Exhibit 11 and 12 if it pleases the Court, or when the Court’s finished with them.

MR TATE:  Inspector, with the original report that’s been tendered?--  Yes.

I understand that that’s got the original statements of all of the witnesses, is that correct?  But they were included in that report that was sent to the Court, is that correct?--  Yes, they were.

If I could hand these two, Your Worship.  I understand, Inspector, your evidence this morning will be aided by some slides, is that correct?--  That’s correct.

And what you’ve extracted here by way of photocopies is a precise of the slides so that the legal representatives and the panel can follow that in a visual form as well as having a written document, is that correct?--  That’s correct.

I tender that, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 13.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 13”

MR TATE:  Inspector, I also understand that there are some other documents such as Deputy reports and records of training and so forth that you have with you but weren’t included in the report because they’re of a broader nature than the focused report that you were attempting to provide in relation to this incident, is that correct?--  That is correct.

In due course we will need to turn to those and perhaps tender them as well as the rocks, and when you’re giving your presentation would you please bear in mind that it’s important when we tender the rocks that you have that you indicate to us where they came from and what their significance is?--  Yes.

Thank you, Your Worship.  Inspector, did you want the lights dimmed?--  Yes, could we – Your Worship, could we have the lights dimmed above the screen please?

Would that be an acceptable course, Your Worship?

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.

MR TATE:  Yes, thank you, Inspector; when you’re ready if you’d like to take us through?--  Yes.

I’ll leave it to you to tell it to us in your own words?--  Your Worship, these slides here represent information drawn from the Inspector’s Report relating to the accident and the nature and cause of the accident.  I will go through each slide one at a time.  Firstly, description of the accident; the continuous miner was cutting coal and loading a shuttle car in 28 cut-through of maingate 19 panel.  At approximately 3.40 am the roof fell without adequate time for three miners to escape.  Mr Morris was trapped and fatally injured by the falling rock.  I’ll now move onto this plan here, it’s referenced in the report as Appendix 9B and is a representation of maingate 19 layout showing first of all the roadways, this being A Heading and this one being B Heading.

Now if I can just stop you there just so that we all understand; what is meant by maingate and what is an A Heading and what is a B Heading and how does it all fit together?--  Firstly, the maingate represents in the final use of these roadways where the maingate end of the longwall operation would be located.  This is at the stage of development and it is a two – it comprises two roadways driven parallel to each other.

And I think the maingate on a longwall miner is a reference point to a particular part of the longwall, is that correct?--  Yes, that is correct, it is at the end of the longwall where the coal comes off the face onto the conveyor and the development activities that the men were carrying out was in developing these two roadways in preparation for the later installation of the longwall equipment.  A and B Heading are names to identify or letter rather to identify the two roadways.

Yes?--  Other features are-----

And does the heading A and B extend across the longwall block or the proposed longwall block?--  Yes.  Heading A and B extend the full length parallel to the longwall block.

Thank you.  I’m sorry, I interrupted you there?--  The cut-throughs referenced in the report are the roadways mined between A and B Heading and they are located every approximately 100 metres.  A and B Heading themselves are spaced approximately – designed 25 metres apart.  The plan also shows the facilities in this panel at the time of the accident.  Before I come to them I will identify the accident site which is here at 28 cut-through which was being mined from B Heading across to A Heading.  It is also an angle cut-through as opposed to other cut-throughs which are square.

Is an angle cut-through unusual?--  Not unusual, however, it is driven from time-to-time in development of gate roads.  The purpose – while I’m using this plan I will explain the purpose of why it was an angle cut-through and that was for the later intention of – where the pointer is now is where the face road would have been driven across to the tailgate end of the longwall.  This angle cut-through was there to facilitate the installation of the longwall equipment and that is not uncommon in terms of design for longwall installation.

Thank you?--  The facilities, a telephone was located immediately outbye 27 cut-through, there is also what is called a DAC which is located also outbye 27 cut-through in A Heading and the DAC is a form of – another form of communication from the underground to the surface.  

It’s a telephone system?--  It’s different to a telephone only one person can speak over it at one time.

All right?--  But it enables people to speak from the surface – sorry, from the underground to the surface and from the surface back to the underground.

Yes, I understand?--  The crib room was located at 26 cut-through, it also had a telephone and it formed a communication centre for the mine where there was various information displayed on procedures including the procedures for roof support at the mine.  I’ll now move onto notification; the communications room was notified by a member of the crew at approximately 3.45 am.  There were resources mobilised to recover the trapped miners, this included men being brought in from other panels in the mine to assist as well as other people brought in from the surface including timber and other items to assist with recovery and support of the area.

And I think the mine rescue people from Dysart also assisted, is that correct?--  Yes, the mines rescue – a team of mines rescue people was mobilised from those available members that could be notified.

And that included a Superintendent, is that correct?--  The mines rescue manager was on site at – I did notice him on site and he was present, yes.

And his name?--  It was Malcolm Smith.

Thank you?--  At approximately five minutes past 4, the manager notified myself of the accident, some brief details and soon after I proceeded to the mine and notified Inspector Walker and the Chief Inspector.  The recovery operations were able to recover Mr Euston at approximately 6.30 am.  Unfortunately Mr Morris was not able to be recovered, his body was recovered at 11.55 – sorry, I beg your pardon, 11.52 am.  I’ll now go onto the corrective actions taken after the accident, this is an interim measure to prevent a similar accident happening in other inner sections at the mine subsequent to the findings of the investigation.

This action as I understand it – that’s taken quite promptly?--  Yes, it was taken – it was formulated over the weekend and put in place prior to work the next week.

And that’s a joint operation by both the people at the mine as well as the inspectorate?--  Yes.

All right, thank you?--  It comprises firstly a change to the standard intersection support rules requiring long tendon bolts, these are bolts that are longer than the normal roof bolt, they can be up to six metres in length with a much higher loading carrying capacity.

And a standard roof bolt is how long?--  It varies, in this case they were 1.8 metres but they normally only go up to about 2.4 metres.

And is it the case that a roof bolt is connected in some way to the roof?--  Yes, a roof bolt is – after the hole is drilled a chemical resin is inserted into the drill hole, this resin is in a tube, a bolt is then inserted into the hole mixing the chemical and that chemical anchors the bolt to the side of the hole.

And ideally if the bolt is 1.8 metres into the roof that’s how much support there is; if it’s a longer bolt the chemical goes right up to the top of that bolt as well, is that correct?--  A 1.8 metre bolt will give you slightly less than that allowing for the threaded section and the nut but approximately 1.7 metres.  In this case long tendon bolts would give you much higher level of support.

Thank you?--  The other item is a strata movement device, this is a mechanical device which is installed, commonly they have been called in the industry tell-tales, and a tell-tale consists of two wires anchored to the side of a hole which is drilled up approximately six metres at the top, one of those wires is anchored to the top of the hole and the other wire is anchored lower down approximately two metres.  These wires are then connected to a device, a visible device which is able to indicate movement at the higher horizon and movement at the lower.

And I think during the official inspection of the mine yesterday those tell-tales were shown to people, is that correct?--  That is correct.

Thank you?--  The second action that was required a review of the capability of the existing support systems in the mine with particular emphasis to inner section support.

And that relates to the mine system known as SCARP, is that correct?--  Yes, it does relate to SCARP and it also relates to visual inspection of existing intersections to determine whether there are structural features that SCARP may not have been able to adequately support.

And what does SCARP stand for?--  SCARP stands for Strata Control Action Response Plan and I will explain that later.

Thank you?--  The third action was the review of geology and structures and strata lithology in the mine.  By this I mean the nature of the geology of the roof material, its strength, structures, geological jointing, bolting, weakness planes, and lastly the lithology which refers to the bedding material, the thickness of the bedding, the competency of that material.  I’ll now move onto the evidence that was gathered.  To assist with this part of the investigation Mr Walker assisted me with the gathering of evidence after the accident and also Mr Walker was assisted by Mr Clarke inspected the area during recovery operations.

And Mr Walker is a very experienced inspector with the department, is that correct?--  Yes, Mr Walker – yes, that’s right, yeah.

With many, many, many years of experience?--  He has quite a number of years of experience in inspecting these matters.

Thank you?--  And also Mr Alcock, mechanical inspector assisted with observations of the accident site during recovery and after recovery.  The main items of evidence were the observations which are referenced in the report which include after the accident, during recovery and after recovery.  These are visual observations of what was actually seen in terms of the roof material, the visual signs of any features that could have been relevant to causing the accident.  The second part is the statements, there were 12 statements gathered from direct witnesses including Mr Euston, Mr Wagstaff and Mr Murphy, other members of the crew and other management and technical people from Oaky Creek Mine, and Mr Walker assisted me with those.  There was evidence gathered from mine records comprising procedures, plans, training records, deputy’s reports and the like.  There were post-accident tests carried out and I’ll make mention of those a bit later on.  And lastly the Mine Manager’s Report including the evidence from two geotechnical experts in the field of strata control.  Look at the scene of the accident in some more detail.  This plan here was drawn from evidence gathered after the accident and it was put together by the mine surveyor at Oaky No 1 Mine.  The plan has quite a bit of detail, however, I will point out first of all the B Heading roadway which is from across here, it shows the location of first of all the 28 cut-through, it shows the location of the continuous miner, first of all the head of the miner up here at the coal face, drill rigs, left and right, the tail of the continuous miner, the shuttle car parked in behind the miner with the tail feeding coal into that shuttle car.  The operator’s cab of the shuttle car was here.  The area of the fall is difficult to see on this here, however, I’ll run the light around the area of the fall.  The fall covered approximately 14 metres in that direction and 9 metres across in its widest part.  Persons that were – at the time immediately prior to the accident; first of all Mr Murphy had jumped out of his shuttle car seat and was approximately located here looking back in that direction.  Mr Wagstaff was on the left-hand side of the machine up near the bolting rigs up here.

And I take it when you’re talking about the bolting rigs that’s what allows the roof support or the bolts that you’ve told us about to be put in the roof and the ribs, is that correct?--  The roof and ribs, that is correct.

And the ribs being the walls of the drive?--  Yes.

Or cut-through?--  That’s correct.

Thank you?--  Prior to the accident, first of all Mr Morris was operating the continuous miner and he was located on the right-hand side behind the drill rig approximately in that position standing on a platform on the right-hand side of the machine.  Mr Euston was standing behind Mr Morris, approximately that position there.  This plan now shows the position of Mr Wagstaff who got underneath the cover on the left-hand side of the machine at the time of the fall.  As he saw the fall coming down he went under that cover.  Mr Euston and Mr Morris; first of all Mr Euston’s position is here and Mr Morris’ position is there.  That is the estimated position of both of those people when the fall struck them.  Mr Murphy, as I said, had already hopped out of the shuttle car and he was standing outbye of the edge of the fall, somewhere about there.

Now you probably need to explain to us what the difference between outbye and inbye is and how we are to understand those concepts of distance and reference points?--  Okay.  Outbye and inbye are terms commonly used in underground coal mines, it is a reference – it’s a term used in reference to, first of all, inbye being closer to the production face area, in this case – the inner most part of the mine in this case I’m referring to the production face.  Outbye is the opposite meaning of further away from the production face.  So in this case, for example, Mr Murphy was outbye of Mr Euston and Mr Morris.  However, Mr Wagstaff was inbye of Mr Euston and Mr Morris.  I’ll use this plan to also illustrate after the accident – sorry, after the fall and the dust had settled Mr Wagstaff was able to make escape down along the left-hand side of the cut-through out to meet his other men out here in B Heading.  The fall did not come in tight to the left-hand side of the cut-through, there was access suitable for Mr Wagstaff to make his escape.  I will now go through a number of photographs of the fall; first of all photograph titled P14 which is – the P14 is the reference number in the report.  This photograph here shows the left-hand side of the cut-through at the start leading in from the B Heading, this face here is coming from B Heading around into the cut-through.

And that’s the side that Mr Wagstaff was able to make good his escape?--  Yes.  This photograph was taken sometime after the accident, it was taken on 27 June, however, it illustrates the nature of the fall on the left-hand side of the cut-through, it was also sheer with the line of bolts, there was approximately nine or so bolts on that left-hand side where the fall broke off from and we saw that yesterday.

And although you will explain this later, is this the Green Code in the SCARP, the bolting pattern or some other bolting pattern?--  This was yellow.

Yellow?--  Yes.

All right?--  And I will explain that later.  The bolts shown here are extending up into the roof do show a whiteness on the bolts, that is chemical residue.  What this picture illustrates is that these bolts along the left-hand side were fully encapsulated, and by that I mean the chemical resin extended over the full length of the bolt to achieve maximum bonding between the bolt and the rock.

I’ll just ask you if I may, I see a number of what appears to be large flat areas of metal on the end of bolts, what are they and what is their purpose?--  Using this one here to illustrate; first of all there’s a – this is what we call a spot bolt and this is a butterfly plate shaped with a curved rim on it to give it strengthenings – extra strength rather.  It’s difficult to see on this but however in the centre there there’s a square outline which is a washer so both the butterfly plate and the washer are inserted over the bolt before it’s put into the hole and also there is a nut, a hexagonal nut there which is used to tension the bolt and by tensioning it increases the load on the – tension the bolt, it compresses the strata to re-enforce the – to strength the strata across the roof.  The other feature from this and I’ll discuss this in future photographs as well, in the case of that bolt there and this bolt here there was no excessive – no sign of excessive tails, and by tails I mean that the nut hadn’t fully wound up the thread which indicates that the bolt was to the correct depth and/or the bolt had been inserted – sorry, the bolt had been – the hole was to the correct depth, and secondly the bolt had been tensioned and tensioned without – as opposed to the nut being wound fully up the thread and therefore full tension may not have been applied to the bolt. 

Does that – is there an inference that needs to be drawn from that or is it just an observation?--  Okay, I will discuss that here now.  This photograph here first of all explaining the location, this is P8, it’s a view from the front of the continuous miner looking towards the left-hand side of the cut-through.

So this is looking outbye?--  Yeah, looking outbye, I’ll just re-phrase that if I can; it’s from the front of the continuous miner looking to the left outbye-----

Towards Heading B?--  However, this rib here which is the coal is actually in the plan view the right-hand side of the cut-through so it’s looking outbye as opposed to looking inbye.  The plan here shows first of all the straps installed across the roadway.  It also shows the edge of the fall where the stone had fallen down over the rear end of the continuous miner.  The bolts first of all on the outer edge – it can’t be seen on this photographer however visually it was observed that these bolts show chemical resin, a number of them show chemical resin oozing out around the plate.  That indicated that the hole had – the bolt had been fully encapsulated in the hole.

So is that a good thing?--  I beg your pardon?

Is that a good thing?--  Yeah, it’s a good thing, yes, it achieves maximum bonding.  Secondly, as on the previous photograph, these bolts here show no excessive tails.  There is approximately six or eight inches of thread; in this case there is far less than that of approximately about four, maximum of four inches from the end of the bolt to above the strap.  That indicates that the bolt had been tensioned to the extent where the nut was still turning on thread and that is a good thing also, that applies maximum load on the torque and tension on the bolt.

I understand.  And the straps, what are the purposes of the straps, that’s different to the butterfly clamps that you were telling us about earlier?--  Yes.  Okay.  The straps are – they were required by the support rules, they act as a means of providing a support between bolts in that direction across.  They also add some strength, some lateral strength to the roof support and they stop flaky material or slabs of material, large slabs of material falling out between bolts.  Just to clear the matter on that previous slide, that butterfly plate we were looking at, I am – I believe that was installed after the accident as part of the recovery, I couldn’t be sure on that but normally in the support system straps were installed, however, in corners, if I can go back to that slide.  First of all this butterfly plate is quite high up and that’s why I believe it may have been installed after the accident.  Down here you will see bolts with butterflies, these two here, they were installed prior to the accident and they are installed purposely there to support the corner of the roadway so they’d also form part of the support rules.  Returning to this slide, I will now go onto the next one.

Just before you do, Inspector, this is the right-hand side looking from the perspective of the front of the continuous miner, this isn’t the side where Mr Wagstaff was able to make good his escape, was it?--  No, that is correct.

I just wanted to clarify that?---  This is the opposite side to Mr Wagstaff and it is also relevant this slide to point out this is where Mr Euston – sorry, first of all Mr Morris was standing and behind him was standing Mr Euston immediately prior to the accident, and in their evidence they refer to seeing some signs of minor movement and it is believed they were looking across and further behind into that fall area at the roof prior to it falling.

Now just so that we can follow it; am I right in assuming that they were standing inbye of the actual fall?--  That is correct.

But they moved outbye into the fall?--  That is correct.

In attempting to make good their escape?--  That is correct.

Thank you?--  This photograph here now – sorry, if I can just go back to that one; the next photograph I will show you is a view looking from here up into the fall and this is what is seen.  First of all this roof bolt here is the outer most roof bolt on the right-hand side of the cut-through and that bolt also indicates good encapsulation on the bolt.  The main feature of this photograph however is this white face material here, it showed clearly as a white material, as a white face on what appeared to be natural break lines in the rock.  You will note that it shows laminations in the rock.

Now when you talk about laminations what exactly do you mean by that?--  Okay.  The laminations refer to the bedding, the natural bedding in the rock material, this is sedimentary rock, it’s fine grain sandstone, and as it’s formed it forms in layers and there’s laminations between each of those layers.

Now this might be a poor example but if we look at this wall over here we see there are a number of pieces of wood panel, is that like a lamination?--  Yes.  This here is also laminated rock and it was laminated right throughout the area.

I just want people if I can, Inspector, to get the clear understanding of this.  Lamination is similar to those panels there where you’ve got a whole – instead of a piece of wood then another piece of wood it’s sort of joined, it’s sitting on two surfaces, we have the same sort of thing except it’s rock?--  Yes, correct.

And that’s different to a piece of non-laminated rock?--  Yes.

Thank you.?--  The notable feature about this is the laminations are fairly closely spaced in the order of 20 to 100 millimetres apart.

What’s the significance of that, Inspector?--  That means there’s more bedding planes in per metre of rock, there’s more bedding planes.

And what is a bedding plane?--  A bedding plane is where the two layers of rock come together, there’s two layers of sedimentary rock to come together, and it’s on these bedding planes that it was also observed to be present quite an abundant amount of mica material, and mica is a very shiny flaky material which lends to weakening the cohesion between the bedding planes.

But it’s not, and I know we’ll come to this, but it’s not koalanite?--  No.  I would like to submit two items of evidence, two rocks that were collected from this area here, they were actually taken in the foreground where they could be safely taken.

Now just before you do; Inspector if you can just help us a little bit, in terms of the area of the fall and you may need to go back to that first plane, whereabouts are we looking at in this photograph, it’s just that people need to be able to just understand where you’ve got these two rocks from?--  We’re looking in this area here over the right rear end of the continuous miner.

And this is just outside the fall area?--  Yes.  Standing from a position approximately there looking up into the fall.

All right, thank you.  Now if you’d explain these physical exhibits that you wish to tender?--  They’re in the box there.  There’s two pieces of laminated rock material taken from the area in that photograph, the features of them are both sides show white face – they’re very similar rocks they show the same features.  The laminations are shown-----

If you can just hand them up so all of the people in the Court can see them?--  Laminations are shown in the material, here is a bedding plane here, there’s another bedding plane.  There’s also mica, fine flaky material on these laminations.  These samples here also show where there has been previous in time movement on the rock material resulting in a greasy shiny surface on the laminations.  The rock also shows in the photograph the white faces – that’s these faces here both sides.  The feature about these faces is they are – in rubbing the white materials between your hand it feels somewhat greasy and slippery and I’d submit those.

If Your Worship pleases I tender both of those rocks.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 14.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 14”

MR TATE:  Now the white powder that was subsequently found on examination to be kaolinite, is that correct?--  Yes, that’s correct.

And the point isn’t so much what it is made out of but rather that we have bedding planes with a slip surface the mineral or substance that’s greasy and slippery?--  Yeah, there’s two features; we have bedding planes with mica present in the bedding planes.

Yes?--  We also have perpendicular to those bedding planes the white face surface which is greasy and slippery.

Thank you?--  I’ll now move onto a photograph which was taken during the recovery of the fall, this is a view looking from B Heading into the cut-through at the right-hand side of the cut-through.  The photograph shows the laminations in the rock strata, it shows up above here white faces in the side of the fall.  These extended over a distance of approximately seven to eight metres along that right-hand side of the cut-through out into B Heading.

And this is the rib underneath the rock fall itself isn’t it now?--  Yes.  The rib or the coal is underneath there, what we’re looking at is all rock.

From the fall?--  On the side of the cavity formed from the fall.  In the foreground is a broken rock which had fallen into the cut-through.

We’re looking at rock a number of metres above the bench being the floor of the roadway?--  Yes, that’s correct.  The rib was approximately three metres high and we’re looking at a rock which goes up another three metres or more.

Now I think in the inspection that was very visible to people who attended the inspection yesterday, is that so?--  This was visible yesterday, that had not changed and that was still visible there.

And I think you pointed out those white deposits, is that right?--  That is correct, yes.

Thank you?--  This photograph here – sorry, I’ll need to go back to this one.  The next photograph is looking in closer detail into that corner area there, it’s a little bit dark I apologise for that, however it does show the white face material.  It also shows a break – appears to be a break into the rock strata down through here.  On inspection yesterday it was observed that the white face material extended down through this zone here, in a zone of approximately three/four hundred metres wide or more, maybe 500 millimetres wide down towards the top of the coal.  As I’ll explain later on it did not go right through to the top of the coal, it wasn’t clearly visible through to the top of the coal.  The photograph also shows two roof bolts, one here and one here, this bolt was sticking up out of the fall material, it appears to show on the top a raggedy surface.  On closer examination of the photograph that appears as though it could have a plastic type material but I am unable to confirm that.  This bolt here shows on examination yesterday, there were two bolts inspected, one in there and one further over in the face of the fall, and first of all on this bolt here there showed to be sections, three sections where the chemical had squeezed out in a horizontal plane into the laminations of the rock, and on the left-hand bolt a similar feature had occurred in one place it was clearly evident.  I don’t have a photograph of that bolt.  On the bolt on the left-hand side which is left to this one here it also showed some small plastic intermingled with the resin and that was observed yesterday.

Now is there some significance in the plastic being within the resin?--  The plastic being in the resin could, depending on how far it extended along the resin – the bolt - could tend to weaken the bonding strength between the bolt and the rock.  I do have a that piece of plastic that I retrieved from yesterday.

Yes, thank you?--  And I could use that to explain.

Yes, please do, Inspector, anything that will help you share your understanding of what happened?--  This little bit of plastic here was retrieved from the side of the bolt in the face of the fall, so it is in that area there, and bearing in mind this is after the recovery of the fall, in other words, the area had been re-supported.  However the bolt was still showing chemical around it and over the length of the bolt there was one zone where this plastic was retrieved, some of the resin had already broken away and it shows the plastic spread through the resin.

How would that piece of plastic get there and what would be the mechanics that would put it there?--  The plastic comes from the chemical as it’s produced it is contained within a plastic sleeve, commonly called a chemical anchor or the miners use the word sausage, and a sausage is a good analogy, it’s like the skin of a sausage, and that is – and during the installation of the bolt the bolt is pushed up through the chemical and spun through the chemical.  I believe and I’m not an expert on this side that it could be as a result of the mixing technique in terms of the plastic not being pushed right to the top of the hole out of – or ground broken up and finally disseminated.  In some cases it has been known where the plastic has extended over – still been present in the chemical anchor.  So I’d like to tender that.

Tender that.

WARDEN:  Marked Exhibit No 15.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 15”

WITNESS:  Am I right to continue?

MR TATE:  Yes please?--  I also retrieved from the face of the fall yesterday this slither of chemical and this is what I referred to previously where chemical had penetrated into the laminations in a horizontal plane on either side of the bolt.

So into the bedding planes?--  Into the bedding planes.

What’s the significance of that chemical being in the chemical planes?--  It is not uncommon for the chemical to make its way out into the bedding planes.  In relation to the circumstances of this fall it indicates that, first of all, the bolts on the outside indicated full encapsulation, in other words, chemical was extended right from the top down – sorry, extended to the bottom of the bolt.  On inspection yesterday these two inner bolts showed less than full encapsulation.  Those bolts indicated that the lower end of the bolt, the bottom four, five, three or four hundred millimetres did not show sign of resin material around the bolt.  The fact that there was chemical in the laminations suggests that’s where the chemical was pushed into.  It does raise the question as to why there was chemical – first of all why the inner bolts were not fully encapsulated and why the chemical was pushed into the laminations.  I had arrived at the conclusion that the inner part of the roof supported by the two inner bolts, that strata had already started to delaminate and start to sag, in other words, ever so slightly.  The bolts where this sample in the plastic were retrieved from approximately seven metres from the face which in time sequence indicates that that strata had already started to delaminate ever so slightly leading up to further on when the accident occurred and the men were supporting closer to the face.  So in other words out by the face the strata had already started to move somewhat.

And for thoroughness we should tender that piece of chemical, is that the case?--  Yes, I’d like to tender that.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 16.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 16”

MR TATE:  Thank you, Inspector?--  Photograph plate 4 is first of all is a photograph taken and reported in Dr Fuller’s report so I had also taken similar photographs of this feature, I used this one because it more clearly illustrates the points I wish to refer to.  This is a photograph of the face of 28 cut-through, it shows first of all the coal, the black coal seam, the top of the coal seam and the roof strata above the coal seam.  The features that are evident here is a downthrown fault, a normal fault which has displaced the coal seam from that plane there – or displaced it rather from there down to there, a distance of approximately 100 millimetres and that fault plane continues down into the coal seam.  The other feature rather I wish to cover is in the stone above the coal seam, to the right of this fault, bearing in mind this fault was approximately left of centre in the roadway.  In this photograph here there’s three lines, what appears to be three lines, first of all here, one there, one there and one there, with what appears to be a white surface or a white expression there.  It is believed that these lines here are connected to the same structures that we saw in previous photographs of white faces in the roof, in the side of the fall and in the broken fall material.  The important part here is that whereas you can see first of all the coal, there’s a mud band here above – towards the top of the coal and then there’s a fine coal – of coal here above the mud band.  Now above that is flaky material, it is quite evident on the left-hand side, it’s a darker material.  This material is flaky, it’s weak and while this cut-through was being mined this material has been cut down by the miner operator for the purpose of removing that as a potential hazard in terms of falling and – falling from the roadway at a later time.  Now the horizon that was cut was approximately 150 millimetres, it extended up to the base of this more competent gray material.  What this photograph shows here is these three lines; the expression of them into the face was not evidence – sorry, into the roof was not evident, it was masked by the underlying layers of rock.   In other words these features here which are considered to be joints were not evident as mined roof and that is borne out by evidence from the witness statements and from inspections of this area immediately after the accident.  In other words of the roof back from this photograph, the roof back outbye this photograph.  I don’t have a photograph of that but I will come to it when I talk to a plan later.

Now I understand that these particular discontinuities or features normally wouldn’t be considered to be a problem in mining that particular area, is that correct?--  Yeah it-----

In other words, in mining geology terms it’s fairly minor?--  In the context of normal mining they would not be considered as a significant feature.

And would it also be fair to say that in terms of the delamination that you’ve talked about that that may have occurred well prior to any mining of this area simply as a result of the fault that you’ve been kind enough to describe to us?--  I’m not sure if I quite understand what you mean there.

I’m just wondering about the delamination you’ve talked about how we’ve got in this area a lot of bedding planes?--  Yes.

And that the roof itself was showing signs, early signs of delamination, in other words movement downwards, sagging?--  Yes, yes.

Is the fault – I’ll ask you in a new-----?--  Sorry, can I go back a bit.  When I say signs of delamination these were indicators after the accident that – from the evidence of the previous slide in terms of the resin material that it indicated the roof may have been delaminating, however, not to the extent where people were able to appreciate it.

Yes, I understand that, thank you?--  The other feature here is that the fault and these joint planes dip approximately 60 to 70 degrees, in other words, that angle there is approximately 60 to 70 degrees to the horizontal.  Now this is a plan that was put together by the mine geologist, its referenced in Appendix 10C, it’s the plan showing the layout of the roadway B Heading and the cut-through and it shows geological features.  I used it for the purpose of explaining the extent of the fall and to locate those geological features that we just looked at in the photograph here, they’re shown as orangey yellowey lines.  The features that were observed ever so slightly in the roof after the accident between the face and the edge of the fall, these features were very fine lines and if I can use in terms of – they were about as wide as a tip of pen that you had to look very hard to see them and it’s believed that they are opened up a little bit under tension.  The white faced planes that were shown in the photograph high up in the side of the fall are located in this area here and that is shown again as orange on this plan.  After the further investigation there was evidence of white face planes across into B Heading.  There was evidence of a white faced plane slightly in this left-hand side.  They are considered to be, or rather, that zone is considered to be the significant feature which I’ll discuss later in terms of why the roof fell.  This plan also shows a contour of the side of the fall, it shows first of all the top of the fall is in here as opposed to the base of the fall around here.  The fall had a typical what we call a beehive shape where it stepped up in layers from the bottom up towards the top apart from this side here where it was very straight as we showed on a photograph earlier where it broke off along the bolts.  The fall in its maximum height was up to approximately three and a half metres in this area here, three and a half metres above the top of the coal seam.  Now I said previously the fall extended 14 metres that way and 9 metres across that way.  I’ll now go into the – more into the systems that were in place at the mine to manage this and other strata hazards.  First of all under general rule 61 of the Coal Mining Act mines are required to have management plans detailing system applied to manage principal hazards and one of those is the management of strata.  The general rules are a regulation in the Coal Mining Act to regulate the methods of work, the management of hazards and set minimum standards.  The management plan, the hazard management plan for strata control was current at Oaky Creek at the time of the accident.  By saying current I mean it had been reviewed in accordance with the procedures set down by the company for a review in plans and also meeting the need for plans to be reviewed as per the General Rule 61.  The features of this plan are first of all SCARP which I will discuss in some more detail.  SCARP is Strata Control Action Response Plan which established a minimum level of support required for changing roof conditions.  Secondly, Maingate 19 Hazard Plan which denoted the potential hazards areas to mining operations in maingate 19 panel.  These hazards can be surface hazards from water ingress, it can be also hazards from strata or other operational features.  And thirdly, procedures for design, planning and operational control of strata.  This beside here shows a part of the Strata Action Response Plan and the next slide will show the roof requirements for Condition Yellow.  Condition first of all-----

So if I understand this just bear with me for a moment, Inspector, just so everyone’s got the idea; Green is the least, moving then to Yellow, then Orange and then finally Red?--  Yes.

And there are a number of criteria that need to be used in accordance with this management plan to actually sort out what sort of bolting pattern, how far apart the straps should be and so on, is that the general idea?--  Yes.

Now clearly an issue that arises from this is that the people making those judgments need to be appropriate trained, would that be right?--  That’s correct.

Thank you?--  This plan also meets the minimum support rules or the manager’s scheme of support as required under General Rule 20 of the Coal Mining Act.  As was mentioned it is an action response plan and action response meaning – referring to the different levels or different conditions as previously discussed being the green, the yellow, this is actually orange, and the red.  This empowers the miner driver at lower levels of support and at higher levels of the support to increase the level of support.  It also empowers the deputy to do those decisions, make those decisions rather.  At higher levels of support it empowers the deputy or supervisor to reduce from Code Orange for example back to Code – sorry, from Code Yellow back to Code Green, the supervisor can make that decision.  At higher levels it requires a shift supervisor or higher to reduce the level of support.  So it’s quite a flexible-----

Just before you go on you might need to just tell us what the difference for all of these people is, is a deputy higher or lower in the management structure than say a supervisor, is a supervisor different to a shift supervisor, where does the registered manager fit in and what does the superintendent do?--  Starting with the miner operating the machinery, he comes under the deputy or supervisor, I use the same term meaning-----

So deputy and supervisor is the same?--  Yes.

Just a different name?--  Yes.

All right?--  That’s of that crew.

Right?--  There is also a shift supervisor who can make decisions in relation to matters over and above the crew supervisor.

So the deputy would report to the shift supervisor?--  Yes.

All right.  Thank you?--  And then the shift supervisor reports through to a co-ordinator, he has a multi reporting function, he has to report information through the co-ordinator but he also has to report through to the mine manager.

All right.  Now is the co-ordinator the same as being a superintendent, or is that the wrong word?--  Yeah, there is also a superintendent in the chain as well and the superintendent comes under the manager and he oversees activities for the co-ordinator.

So we’ve got the miners, then we’ve got the deputy or the crew supervisor, then we’ve got the shift supervisor co-ordinator, superintendent, registered 

manager?--  Yes, that’s approximately the-----

And depending on the decision that needs to be made it’s delegated to particular levels?--  Yes.

All right?--  In expressing it that way in hierarchy it should also be recognised that the structure as I understand it is flat in terms of – there’s a means of taking action or getting information in – with lesser regime if I can use that word.

Yes?--  Yes.

But at the same time is it right to say that the idea is to delegate the authority to make a decision to the most appropriately qualified person?--  Yes, yes.

Whatever those qualifications might need to be?--  Yes.

Thank you?--  So this SCARP as I said indicates the four conditions of – and when I talk about conditions it refers to roof strata roof conditions as conditions deteriorate from Green up to Red there are indicators in the report, this is shown in detail of roof conditions as they deteriorate the level of support is increased, and it details the actions, who takes that action.  It indicates the level of support that is required and this is a minimum level of support for Condition Yellow for example.  It also indicates over here the monitoring required.  As you notice here in Code Green and Code Yellow there is not a requirement for roof monitoring as in the case of – as in reference to this plan.  I’ll now move onto – this denotes, again taken from Appendix 7B, Condition Yellow support requirements.  At the time while the mining was being carried out in the cut-through there were signs of a flaky roof.  In accordance with the previous slide I showed you – and that flaky roof had to be cut down, that prompted – that required rather Condition Yellow support to be installed.  Condition Yellow support is, I’d have to check the detail, but I believe it was one metre normal spacing with a closer spacing across the intersection of the order I believe 800 mill, I’d have to check that, but – to say that it required a systematic placement of support reducing across the intersection and a placement of supports as shown going around into the cut-through, so this is the minimum level of support.

Inspector, I just need to stop you there.  I think we have an expanded view of the SCARP under Appendix 7B, is that correct?--  That’s correct.

Have you got a copy of Appendix 7B handy?  What I am going to ask you to do is to hand that to me and Inspector Walker is going to put some double-sided tape on it and we’ll just put it up behind you there so that it’s available during the course of the hearing.  So if you’d like to continue on, Inspector, we’ll busy ourselves putting this up on the wall?--  I’ve just checked my notes on that spacing and it is correct that normal spacing in the roadway for Condition Yellow is one metre, across the intersection it is .8 of a metre.  As I earlier indicated it doesn’t require a roof monitoring device to be installed.  Authority to change up to Condition Yellow can be made by the miner driver or the deputy supervisor, authority to change down from Condition Yellow to Condition Green is made by the deputy or the deputy supervisor.  It is further noted that in terms of Condition Yellow it is required when the roof is flaky or there’s a need to cut down flaky roof, or structure is apparent which may weaken the roof, or there may be present some minor jointing or cleating, excessive cleating in the coal.  So as the Court understands the next level of support is Condition Orange and that – indicators of that are guttering along the roof line which-----

And guttering means?--  Guttering means where between the roof and the rib there’s a fretting away of the roof, there’s signs of tension of movement of weakening and/or water present coming out of the roof and the water present can indicate that there’s a weaker strata above containing water and also it’s an alert that – given the presence of water that would tend to weaken the strata and allow it to move with less resistance.  Will I move on?

Yes please?--  This plan now is looking at the evidence after the scene in comparing the support that was installed as opposed to what I’ve just described in terms of what is required.  You’ll note here that the plan shows the straps that are placed across B Heading and we saw those yesterday.  You’ll notice here that turn into the cut-through the straps have been placed closer together.  I concluded that they had been put closer together due to a flaky roof in that area.

If I can just stop you there; is there a procedure in place under SCARP or some other regime that requires a deputy to check the roof support in a heading as it’s being put up or after it’s been put up?--  As part of the duties of the deputy he is required to inspect the heading while cutting on a continuous basis through the shift.

Right.  Is there a deputy’s report in your possession for Heading B drive, 20 minutes inbye of 27 cut-through through to 29 cut-through?--  Yes, I do have a number of deputy’s reports and one of those – sorry, I should explain first of all that this roadway B Heading had been driven to a point unable to identify exact location in the week prior to the accident.  In the week of the accident that roadway was then extended from that point unidentified inbye.  So I do have deputy’s report which cover the week before and the week of the accident.

I’d like to tender those if we could.  If you can just get them out, Inspector.  Inspector Walker might give you a hand if needs be?--  The documents I have consist of four parts.

Yes?--  There are – sorry, they consist of two types of reports.

Yes?--  First of all the deputy’s statutory inspection report which relates to the matter you asked in what the deputy’s required to inspect and record.

Yes?--  And the second, the deputy’s shift production report which deals with operational, breakdown, delays and other information that needs to be passed on or received.  I have these for the week-----

Are they-----?--  Sorry, the week of the accident and the week before.

Is it evident on the face of the document what sort of report it is and what they’re reporting on, in other words, date and so on?--  Yes.  First of all looking at the statutory report it is dated, it identifies the district or the part of the mine inspected.

Yes?--  The shift of the inspection, it is broken up into two inspections, the first and second inspection, and the first inspection is the first half of the shift, in this case it was the first four hours of the shift and the second half of the shift which is the last four hours.  The information reported is gas present and location, status of ventilation, roof and sides, any other source of danger, location and nature, action taken regarding gas, danger or deficiencies reported and other remarks.

Thank you, Inspector.  Your Worship, I tender those statutory and other reports for the two weeks leading up to the 26th May 2000.  I’m sorry, Inspector, I keep interrupting you, if you’d continue please.

WARDEN:  That’s Exhibit 17.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 17”

WITNESS:  The other features on this plan – rather the survey pick-up of the [indistinct] straps into the cut-through on the left-hand side, the straps as they were inbye the fall area.  I should point out that the blue denotes the outline of the fall area and I’ll describe those in a minute.

If I can just ask you two questions; looking at Heading B at around 28 cut-through what was the designed or proposed height of that heading in rough terms?--  Okay.  I’m not aware of what the design was, the actual height was approximately three metres, it varied a little bit below a little bit above but-----

About three metres?--  Three metres.

This area in blue that you’re describing which is I think a beehive shape in fact shows that approximately 3.8 metres of rock fell, is that approximately correct?--  3.5 I reported.

3.5; so that if you were standing in the middle of that blue sectioned area looking up in fact it’s about approximately six and a half metres in rough terms?--  Yes.

Whereas the residue of the roof is approximately 3 metres?--  That’s right.

Thank you?--  So as we were looking at here the actual support that was installed is shown by the black and evident after the accident in terms of what was surveyed by the surveyor and located on a mine plan and this is a copy of that plan.  It also shows after recovery of the fall a number of straps installed inbye of the fall in B Heading.  The features of these first of all is that the spacing out here was approximately one metres, a little bit more a little bit less.  I mentioned they had closed up here in B Heading in response to what I believe was in response to some flaky roof.  Into the cut-through the spacing was less than a metre closing up to three/four hundred millimetres or even closer up in this area here.  I now move onto the second part of this which shows the area with straps in blue.  These are identified from remnant bolts, first of all the straps in this area here were identified from remnant bolts in the right-hand rib of B Heading and I described those to the panel yesterday.  Apart from – all those remnant bolts were able to be located apart from one which I believe was in this area here and there was a judgment made that considering the remainder of the support pattern that a strap – that the missing strap had been in fact installed and it was not able to be located because of the fall.  Moving into the cut-through there was evidence from the remnant straps in the left-hand side that this area here had been supported as indicated on this plan.  We were unable to identify evidence of being supported is this area here, that triangular section.  When I say supported I don’t mean that it wasn’t – adequate support there, what I wish to say is there’s evidence to show that the straps as indicated are installed as opposed to this side here where there were some spot plates installed I was unable to say that there was spot plates installed in there.  It is another judgment as to whether they were actually necessary.  The other feature of this is the rib support which was also systematic throughout spaced approximately a metre, a metre and a half apart on all the ribs and that is shown as these lines.  The re-construction of this area here shows there were some 52 bolts installed in that roof, in that area there, these are one metre, 1.8 metre high tensile bolts.  I’ll move on.  Now I wish to address the systems and the actions in design, planning and communication.

Just before you do, Inspector.  Your Worship, I note the time, I’m wondering just to be of assistance to those in the Court and my learned friends whether it would be appropriate to take a short adjournment for morning tea at this point in time with a view to then returning in 10 or 15 minutes and continuing through the hearing until approximately half past one, then a break to 2.15 for lunch, and then continue on until we conclude the witnesses this afternoon.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, Mr Tate, I think that would be appropriate.

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  We’ll have a short adjournment, stand the witness down, thank you.

WITNESS STOOD DOWN

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 11.35 AM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 12.05 PM

MICHAEL EDWARD CAFFERY, CONTINUING EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF:

MR TATE:  Inspector, I think we’d reached the stage where you were about to embark on that part of your evidence described as design, planning and communication?--  If I can find it, yeah.  I just want to make a couple of points as we go through here; the first one being that the panel design was a standard two heading gateroad with 100 metre space between the cut-throughs and 25 metre between the roadways.

So Heading A and Heading B is 25 metres and 100 metres between each of the cut-throughs?--  Yes.  So that was the standard there was nothing different with that design.  The next point is that 28 cut-through was designed at an angle whereas the normal cut-through design for the remainder of the panel was square.  I did make mention earlier that an angle cut-through for the purpose of this one is not uncommon in gateroad development.  In fact it is – in my experience it’s a normal practice to drive an angle cut-through to facilitate the use of that cut-through to install the longwall.  The information gathered from design is presented on a mine plan and those plans are updated – sorry, that mine plan information is then presented rather into a weekly work plan and that information then is communicated from the weekly plan to the crews, supervisors and also the supervisors communicate the information out of the plan to each of the crew members in their crew.  That weekly plan for the week of the accident is referenced in the investigation report and contains information on the plan for mining in that week, the place to be mined, the sequence of mining and expected production given the information available at that time and that is set out over each day of the week and it is also broken down into each shift although as the week progresses adjustments have to be made and that’s where it comes to the next point – sorry, I was going to say it comes to the next point which is the shift plan.  The shift plan is from information, or a daily plan rather broken up into shifts, it’s from information brought forward from progress to date, and I understand it, the co-ordinators at the mine in conjunction with technical people and maintenance people prepare a daily plan for the operation on a shift by shift basis and the daily plan for 26 May is referenced in the report.  So that follows the communication process from the design through to enacting the plan in the actual mine operation phase.  The last point on this slide here refers to the geologist in terms of gathering information on conditions and monitoring conditions.  A geologist is employed at the mine, part of his duties is to inspect and map the roadways as the excavations are developed.  The geologist makes notes and he reports that information through a geological plan and that geological plan serves the purpose of providing information for a number of purposes as I understood for formulating plans for the next day as conditions change and also for the next week, and it also provides information to assess at a later stage additional support requirements or secondary support.  It’s worthwhile at this point in time stating that – rather, it’s relevant at this point in time stating that there’s two phases of support normally installed in underground mines, and when I say support I refer to strata support.  The first one is primary support which is what we had addressed in the SCARP plan.  It is common to after the gateroad is developed to put in additional roof support and the requirements for additional roof support is quite often based on the last dot point there which is the information gathered by the geologist.  I’ll now go onto this – could we have that adjusted it’s just – it’s probably the best we can get it, yes.  In capturing the geological information as I just discussed, this plan here is a plan as referenced in Appendix 8B, it shows the mapping, the information gathered by the geologist and presented on a plan or a map of that area, and it comprises that information known prior to the accident.  First of all I’ll just point out that the plan shows – in terms of roadways this being B Heading and A Heading.  Now prior to the accident B Heading had been driven up to that blue dot there where conditions had deteriorated and it was thought they had deteriorated to the extent of geological – sorry, of a fault being present.  In mining this B Heading, this is the first sequence mined from 27 inbye, B Heading was mined followed by A Heading and then the miner came around to drive 28 cut-through.  Now in tracing through that sequence, B Heading was driven encountering a fault here, some flaky roof shown by blue here and here and some further deterioration at the face which was thought to be a fault.  Also here in blue is some flaky roof which was in the centre of the roadway outbye of 28 cut-through. This line here denotes where the previous driveage was believed to have completed or finished in the sequence up to 27 cut-through.  The other feature in B Heading is this shear zone shown across here and that was noted on the geological plan.

Inspector, what exactly is a shear zone?--  A shear zone is similar to a joint in a rock where there has been evidence of movement.

And flaky roof I take it is just a delamination?--  Yes, yes.

Which people are worried about because it might drop out?--  That’s correct.

But they’re small?--  This was an area in here of about a metre, a metre and a half in diameter.

Right?--  Now after mining B Heading, the machine was moved back out into mining A Heading and mining started from a position approximately there.  Two faults were encountered, one here and one here, and the heading was completed at a point approximately there where the brown area is denoted and that was also in faulted conditions.  The other relevant point of information in the mine plan under consideration in determining the mine plan was ahead of maingate 19 was believed to be what is commonly known as Maywin fault, and Maywin fault is quite a larger fault structure of about three metres throw displacement and it was known to be projected rather to be approximately here as shown on this plan as a projection from an earlier development in north-east headings which ran across up here and intersected the fault, and it’s the normal practice to project the fault line across to anticipate where mining may encounter.  So that fault plane was believed to be somewhere here and it formed basically the boundary or was one of the factors that determined the boundary or the extent of longwall mining.  It was planned for the installation face for the longwall mining to be approximately here.

Inspector, just so that we have a shared understanding, when you talk about a thrust fault and displacement you’re talking about a bedding rock that has moved along the fault and has been displaced either up or down?--  Yes.

And if you describe a downthrow fault what does that mean?--  It means that the fault – if you’re mining at this elevation you strike a fault plane and it’s displaced down.

And the reverse, an upthrow fault would mean what for mining?--  A reverse is where the opposite happens, yes, you meet a fault plane but the coal seam is to be displaced up here.

Thank you?--  It’s relevant to point out that in the vicinity of 28 cut-through the information showed no sign of any structures in this area here and that was brought out by the evidence of a number of the witnesses including the geologist.  This plan also shows – it can be seen in the report but it’s shown in yellow here, is notes made by the geologist on the condition of support installed and it actually changes here from Condition Green to Yellow to Orange and up to Red so that denoted the application of the SCARP plan as mining conditions deteriorated in this area here.  It’s also worth pointing out that long tendon support is not required until Condition Orange was reached which is in this area of this fault here where there was actual displacement and signs of movement and guttering in the roof.  With that information available on the Thursday afternoon it was discussed – the mine geologist inspected the mine, this panel on the Thursday afternoon and he discussed that information as shown on the previous plan with a number of people including the mine superintendent and also the deputy on shift at the time as to the conditions that had been encountered in A Heading.  Leading up to this point in time there had been earlier discussions in the afternoon in relation to a possible change or a plan change to the mine design and that is noted in the report.  From the discussion with management and supervisors it was decided to move the miner back out of A Heading into 28 cut-through and that was a decision made towards the end of the afternoon shift on the 25th.  The night shift crew supervisor of the 26th, the crew that were involved – were working there when the roof fell, on arriving at work discussed the panel status and work plan with the off-going crew supervisor, he phoned the on-coming – the night shift supervisor phoned the off-going supervisor and probably recall there was a second phone call as well to ascertain the condition and status of the panel and the work plans for the next shift.  It was made mention then by the afternoon shift to the night shift that the miner had been pulled into 28 cut-through and was being set up to mine 28 cut-through and in fact one shuttle car of coal had been mined by afternoon shift ahead of 28 cut-through.  On arriving in the panel the night shift crew received a debrief from the supervisor from information contained in the shift plan which is referenced in the report.  The shift supervisor did relay to the crew information as to mining plan, where they were mining and the crew then went to the face to start mining.  There was various other information relayed to the maintenance people in the panel as well.  Lastly, the panel had been regularly inspected during the week by a number of people who made detailed reports as to the conditions of what they observed and they are stated in their witness statements, and there is also a statement of the conditions as – conditions as observed by the mine manager and I have that as evidence here which I can tender if necessary.  John, will I tender that report?

Yes please?--  I have here two sets of documents; one which contains the information of weekly plans and shift handover prior to the accident, and a second document which contains records of the manager’s inspections, plus other information from the mine record book pertaining to the period leading up to the accident.

I tender that, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  It will be marked Exhibit 18.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 18”

MR TATE:  Inspector, I’m just going to take you back for a very brief moment to Appendix – to the photograph of 28 cut-through which I think is Appendix 9H, the plan showing installed and inferred roof and rib support, if you could just return to that photograph?--  Sorry, a photograph?

Yes, it is, keep going back, that’s it, you’ve just passed it.  Now you’ll notice there on B Heading that at a point along the heading the roof support changes, it seems to be closer together?--  Do you mean here?

Yes.  Is there anything of significance there that you need to tell us about or is it just that people kept the same bolting pattern, kept the same SCARP configuration but just moved the straps closer together?--  I don’t have the deputy’s report to refer to now as to exactly what was reported but I – that was – they are included in evidence tendered previously.

Do you need access to those?--  Can I just check one thing, I may need access I just have to – perhaps it would be easier if I could.  Could I have Inspector Walker to help me here a minute please?

Would Your Worship permit Inspector Walker to approach?

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.

WITNESS:  What I have in front of me is I’m referring to Appendix 9F in the report.

MR TATE:  9F?--  Appendix 9F is a plan which denotes the actual mining sequence shift by shift from 26 cut-through inbye and the area in question is the straps that were placed here just outbye of 27 cut-through.  From Appendix 9F that plan it shows that there’s a green – a section mined by night shift shown in green on 17th of the 5th, 11 metres question mark, and there’s another section shown in red as mined by night shift 22nd of the 5th, 19 metres.  In trying to ascertain which shift mined that area where the straps were closed up I questioned the surveyor to – well from producing this plan to see if it could be determined as to where the face was at the end of night shift on 17th of the 5th.  To the best of his knowledge and the information available he approximated it as shown on the plan, so which indicates to me that that area in question had been mined, could have been mined by either shift.  Now in referring to first of all the report of the 17th of the 5th, I have that in front of me now, I also have in front of me the report of the 22nd of the 5th.

Yes?--  First of all the 17th of the 5th night shift, the comments there in relation to roof and sides first of all, a first inspection states, “secure within supports”.  The second inspection states, “secure within supports”, with the following comment, “Code Green/Yellow”.  That tends to suggest that it may have been referring to the area in question.  What it doesn’t say is any further comment on the nature of the roof as to whether it was flaky or any other comment.

I understand.  Now is that a deputy’s report that you’re looking at?--  That’s the deputy’s statutory report.

And it’s signed by who?--  It is signed by W Deakin.

Mr Deakin?--  Dated the 17th of the 5th.

So if we want to go one step further and actually find out the answer to that riddle we’d need to ask Mr Deakin?--  Yes, I think so.

Thank you?--  To complete the assessment, the other report is for night shift the 22nd of the 5th signed by – I’m having a little bit of difficulty making out the signature, but its comments on roof and sides are for first inspection, “supported and secure in accordance with Mine Manager’s Rules”.  Second inspection, “supported and secure in accordance with Mine Manager’s Rules”.  It is dated the 22nd of the 5th and I can’t determine the name.

That’s all right.  Perhaps we might just see if we can be of some assistance to you.  I notice the registered manager is here if that document might just be handed down to the RM he may be able to decipher the signature.

REGISTERED MINE MANAGER:  Garth Zerner.

MR TATE:  Garth?

REGISTERED MINE MANAGER:  Garth Zerner.

MR TATE:  Garth Zerner; would you make the assumption that the signature there is Mr Garth Zerner?--  Yes, I understand Garth was a deputy in that crew and I can make that assumption.

Yes, all right.  Just in relation to those reports I understand that there are no production reports for the 20th and 21st of May, is there a reason for there being no reports on your understanding?--  Yes, that would have been a Saturday and a Sunday and there would have been no production.

Yes, yes?--  As I understand it.

And is there a statutory report for a deputy on the 18th of May in that bundle of documents?--  I’ll just have a look.  I have a deputy’s report here which is the night shift, it has 19th of May, and above the 19 is pencilled 18, signed by W Deakin.  I have a report for 18th of May day shift, and I have a report for 18th of May afternoon shift signed by D McCullough, and sorry the day shifts were signed by, it would appear, Garth Zerner.  So apart from the first one which is a little bit confusing where it’s got the 19th of the 5th and over the top of it is written 18, it’s signed by W Deakin.  Furthermore I could check – W Deakin has got another report here for the 19th of May so I could assume that that first report which has got the 19th with the 18th written on top of it is in fact the report for the 18th and not the 19th.

Thank you.  Inspector, I think you’ve reached photograph – Appendix 10A, geological information after accident?--  Right to continue?

Yes, thank you, Inspector?--  I now move to the information that was obtained after the accident, this is principally geological information.  Again it shows the 28 cut-through area.  First of all I’d like to – it shows rather the direction of the 28 cut-through, it was different to the plan direction, the plan direction was the dotted line which was 60 degrees to B Heading.  The actual direction of the cut-through was 45 degrees to B Heading.  The plan shows the extent of the fall and it shows, difficult to see, drawn as a straight line there, the general direction of the jointing that was discussed earlier in photographs.  After the fall a closer inspection of A Heading in this area here was made to see whether there was any extension of that structure through into A Heading.  It had not been observed prior in mapping, it was shown up as a joint, a fine joint after and that was inspected yesterday.  It’s exhibited as a line running across the roof with some flaking rock falling off that joint and white material appeared to be on that face where the flaky roof had broken away.  It also showed up as a – there was evidence of some structure in the jointing rather with infill material in that rib there.  The only additional information which is considered relevant to the accident – though this plan shows after the accident – the only additional information that is relevant to the accident which this plan shows as opposed to the previous plan of information prior to the accident is this joint plane here.  I’ll now move onto tests and other information that was gathered after the accident.  First of all, the material that we discussed previously on the joint planes, the white material, was analysed and determined to be kaolinite and that is referenced in the report.  Kaolinite is a clay material, it is believed as a result of infill, in other words solution material that’s made its way into the rock at a later event after the original formation of the beddings, and it has infilled in a more of a vertical fashion as opposed to bedding planes which are horizontal.

Inspector, just so that we’re clear, when you say it has low frictional properties, what does that mean and what is its significance?--  Basically it means rubbing the material it presented lesser resistance to movement as opposed to the kaolinite material not being on the surface.

I understand, thank you?--  In an attempt to determine what factors contributed to the roof falling a stress, an overcore stress measurement was taken by the mine outbye at – I recall it was 26 cut-through or 25 cut-through, it was outbye of the fall area.

Inspector, I just need to be a little bit careful and I don’t mean to make light of these proceedings but stress for humans usually means that we need Valarium to sleep.  Clearly you’re talking about a different set of concepts and it’s probably fairly critical that you take your time and just make sure that we understand what you mean by stress and what you mean by low to medium strata loading?--  Rock in the ground is subject to loading, loading is similar to stress, loading can be vertical, the sheer weight of the ground acting on the rock material, and by virtue of the loading acting on that rock it also induces horizontal loading or forces binding the rock together, in other words, stopping it trying to move out that way, so there’s both vertical loading and horizontal loading.  In this case, a measurement was made to determine the – to quantify the extent of that loading.  And that information is contained in the report.  It’s considered that the loading was not excessive; in other words, a factor contributing to the rock being under an undue amount of loading and therefore once mining of the excavation took place that there was movement on those faces or movement around the excavation which could lead to either the roof or ribs breaking up.  As was evidenced from the photographs there was no movement shown on the ribs, there was no movement of guttering along the roof which supports the low stress or low loading in that area.  It’s also relatively shallow which again is a feature of shallow depth, low stress.  There were pull out tests conducted on a number of roof bolts, they were bolts that were located inbye the fall towards the coal face, they were bolts installed by the crew of the night of the accident, and those results are in the report.  There were other bolts installed using the chemicals from the batch used by the crew during the shift and they were tested.  All tests show that the bolts – first of all the bolts already installed were tested to yield load of 18 and a half tonne and they achieved that.  Bolts installed using chemicals from the batch also achieved that yield load so bolts were installed with less than normal encapsulation, in other words, the length of the anchor was cut short 300 millimetre encapsulation and they also achieved yield load which indicates that full encapsulation in terms of some bolts that may not have been fully encapsulated indicates that they may not have been a factor in the cause of this accident.

So, in other words, that’s a good thing, the bolts and the design of the bolts and the chemicals were doing what they were supposed and designed to do?--  Yes.

Thank you.  Within manufacturer’s tolerances?--  Yes.  It was obviously – it’s a sample, it was considered to be represented.  Before I move onto the last point, the drill rigs were also inspected by the mechanical engineer and a report provided.  As stated, the rigs were able to apply sufficient torque and it has been determined that although there was some variation in the torque applied by the rigs it’s not considered as a factor in ensuring that there was adequate support being across that roof under normal circumstances.  The roof coring indicates a localised weakening of strata, this was in response to understanding the nature of the rock, the nature of the laminated strata.  Coring was done at intersections outbye of the fall right out towards the entrance to the panel and more importantly closer to where the fall occurred.  The results of cores done closer to the fall are in the report.  These core results do two things; one, they provide a visual view of the core of the nature of the rock, they can also then be used to test the rock to ascertain the strength of the rock, the stronger the rock the stronger the roof.  The more laminations in the rock however can lessen the strength of the rock and that’s the fact has been in this I understand continuing to be assessed by the geologist and he is applying a system called Coal Mine Roof Rating which is a system which is relatively new in the industry, it has been applied for a number of years in Australia and previously in America, and it has a benefit of coming up for quantitative measure of what the strength, or the competency rather or the ability of laminated roof to maintain stability.  I now move onto I guess one of the more difficult aspects of the investigation is in piecing that together in trying to determine why the roof fell.  This slide is a schematic representation across the cut-through, it is used for the purpose of explaining the factors that are considered to have influenced and the factors that are considered not to have influenced the roof falling.  First of all it’s worth pointing out the coal seam is in the roadway that was mined is shown here as the white area but the coal seam obviously extends across here.  The roof consisted of a material which I’ll class as weaker material or weaker roof, above that is stronger roof or stronger material.  From the photographs – first of all, this here denotes approximate profile of the fall.

And that also describes in pictorial form what you describe in words in your report as the classic beehive shape?--  That is correct, yes.  This profile is drawn from survey cross-sections put together by the mine surveyor of various sections across the fall and I’ve taken a representative to put together that profile.  The other features shown is what I call more distinct bedding planes.  Inspector Walker and myself had observed after the accident that in the roof at approximately three locations at the top of the roof stepped down from the top of the roof and above the bolted horizon there to be shiny black bedding planes with almost like a wavy appearance to them.  The other feature here is the zone through here which denotes the white faced joint plane that was evident from the photographs and I say it’s a zone it wasn’t a straight line, a straight plane, it stepped across and there was a number of distinct planes in places.  Superimposed in that is the bolted horizon, they’re 1.8 metre bolts and there were four of them; two outer bolts and two inner bolts.  The stress we discussed previously is shown by these errors, is a stress, a natural stress in the rock, horizontal stress.  The horizontal stress is normally twice the vertical stress and as was shown in this case the measurements concurred with that.  The horizontal stress – when an excavation is formed it’s redistributed around that excavation.  If the roof is weak stress can break that roof up and guttering can occur and the roof will fail.  If the stress is too low as pointed out in Dr Frith’s report this roof can fall out like a plug if there’s a structure there on either side for it to fall out from.  In this case the stress was low maybe rated a bit higher than low, however, based on the experts’ opinion, in my experience I don’t think it was a factor, however, that could be discussed later when further evidence is given.

Yes?--  The nature of the fall then – first of all I should point out that this joint plane as shown here does not come through to the roof and that’s as discussed earlier in evidence it wasn’t observable in the immediate roof.  It is believed that this block here, the yellow block, either that portion or the total portion has fallen out followed by – in the same – soon after this brownish block on the right-hand side.  The reason why this has occurred is believed to be a result of the joint plane having the slippery surface, and being slippery, with mining in its natural process, there is some relaxation in the roof in advance of roof bolts and that’s normal – a normal happening.  In this case the roof was heavily laminated and it is believed that delamination or slight sagging was enough to allow movement to start to generate along that joint plane.  It has then reached a critical stage without any indicators of sagging or extensive sagging or any sign of fretting or obvious movement on either side that has suddenly fallen out and that is after it’s reached that critical stage.  The other feature to point out here is that it is considered coincidental that the joint plane is on the right-hand side and leaning – it’s not coincidental it’s a contributing factor rather and is leaning or [indistinct] over the cut-through, in that manner it’s conducive to that block wanting to fall out.  What is considered coincidental is the position of the joint in that it’s on the right-hand side running from the right across towards the centre of the roadway.  Where the roof movement is believed to have originally occurred is outbye the miner and it is the fact that these bolts as a result of their – unfortunate result of the bolting pattern that it’s coincidental that those bolts there haven’t locked in in that joint plane.  If the bolts – more bolts had been along that joint plane there could have been some resistance to movement and therefore more warning of the sudden nature of the fall.  However when re-constructing the support it is of coincidence that the joint plane does tend to lie between this bolt here and that bolt there.

And that of course is not an unimportant point is it, Inspector, if it were the view of this Court and the industry and indeed the scientific people that this sort of roof failure is unavoidable if one is going to mine coal if the circumstances are right then in terms of safety the issue of how do you create a warning of impending roof failure becomes a critical point to attempt to avoid this sort of accident occurring in the future, doesn’t it?--  It does.

Yes.  Thank you, Inspector?--  I’ll now move on; in summing up the evidence the findings made are along these lines.  First of all they’re broken into two parts, one is in relation to the control of the hazard in the environment, and the second part is the design of the roof support system.  It is determined from the reconstruction of the support and the evidence that the installed support complied with mine requirements.  Secondly, the joint plane was not detectable as mined roof, in other words, as the roof was being mined there was no indication of a joint plane appearing.  Thirdly, there was no appreciable warning of imminent failure.  So those three factors put together indicate that procedures as set out were followed and it’s unfortunate that there was no appreciable warning of the imminent failure, in other words, sufficient warning for the men to escape as it turned out.  The second part of the findings relates to design.  It is relevant that to point out that 28 cut-through was mined in a direction sub-parallel to known geological structure; in other words it was faulting in advance.  There were operational reasons for mining that 28 cut-through which I’ve previously discussed in that direction.  Secondly the SCARP, the SCARP established a minimum level of mine support and denoted by the Condition Green, Yellow, Orange and Red.

And that’s a variation of the very same problem of how do you provide warning, or alternatively, how do you go about understanding the strata when there are no visible indicators of problems?--  Yes, that is relevant, yes.

Thank you?--  SCARP in its very nature is a reactive tool to visible indicators which was just pointed out of changing strata conditions, and I say visible, what a human eye can reasonably detect.  Thirdly, in assessment of the second point that the effect of the weaker thinly bedded roof was determined to be present in the vicinity of 28 cut-through after the accident was not recognised prior to the accident and therefore as a criteria to change the design of strata support.

Here if we look at these last two points the critical issue is the competency of the people within the mine to operate the SCARP system; do you follow what I mean?  In other words, have they been trained to be able to make good decisions using this particular framework for deciding what sort of roof bolting patterns is appropriate for the ground they’re in?--  That is part of it, there is the second part which I would add is the design attempts to gather all relevant information in training evolved from that design in terms of what indicators or what changes need to be made.

Now I think as part of your investigation you obtained the training, the relevant training records, is that correct?--  I have a folder with training records, yes.

If you’d just take us through very briefly what’s in the folder; we might tender that, I’m just noticing the time and then we might move through to the recommendations?--  I have a record of the training records of Ross Wyatte, Michael Morris, Stewart Euston, Brett Murphy, Phil Wagstaff, Peter Dunham, Brandon Gruening, Brandon Dalglish and Wayne Deakin.

I tender that perhaps on a global basis, Your Worship.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 19”

MR TATE:   And I take it, Inspector, in terms of explaining more fully the nature of the training that’s provided and so forth, that’s really a question that would be more properly put to a senior official from the mine?--  Yes and how it was provided, yes.

Thank you?--  I now move onto – following the investigation some recommendations have been made.  The first of these relate to recommendations to the mine, Oaky No 1.  In the mine manager’s report which I would also like to tender-----

I think the mine manager’s report is also extracted in your report, is it not?--  Yes.  I’ll come back to that, is that okay?

Yes, yes, indeed?--  The mine manager in his report made a number of recommendations which I endorse.  These were along the line of optimising the placement of long tendon supports to meet the conditions of the inner section and-----

And these are the six metre high tensile?--  Yes.

Yes, cable bolts I think?--  Cable bolt type supports.  Secondly, examine all intersections for a similar mode of roof failure and I understand that’s in progress.  And in terms of mode of roof failure that’s – the roof failure which is believed to have resulted in the fall at 28 cut-through.  Thirdly, implement a system to classify roof lithology and that is, as I understand, along the lines of the Coal Mine Roof Rating.  

Yes?--  Fourthly, implement a system for regular auditing of installed roof support and this is a measure to ascertain the support is being installed in accordance with the support plan and also identify any problems that may arise that are outside of the support plan.

Yes?--  And lastly, upgrade the knowledge and skills of personnel, more relevantly to better understand the mechanisms of roof failure.

Yes, and then I think if I can just take you to your last slide which is recommendations for the industry?--  These-----

Just before we start, there are two aspects as you know of these proceedings, Inspector, one is to find the nature and cause of the accident and of course the other is for the Court to have an opportunity of considering the making of recommendation riders that might assist people to change what they’re doing or to be aware of what’s happening so to avoid this sort of incident ever occurring again, and is it the case that these recommendations are these pro-active recommendations to make sure that this man’s death does not go in vain?--  Yes, most definitely.

All right?--  It’s divided into two parts, first of all the mines as total should consider examining – examine the adequacy of intersection support systems on the basis of the findings from this accident.  Secondly, arising from major incidents it is appropriate to review your hazard management plans and it’s recommended that mines do that based on the findings of this accident and the findings from this Inquiry.  Access roof support systems against well established failure mechanisms.  I indicate this from the – purpose of trying to gain a better understanding amongst – sorry, I’ll re-phrase that; for the purpose of determining that roof support systems are able to withstand the stress loading the joint systems that may occur in roof environment as is the case with this accident and other factors.  Apply a systematic method to assess roof lithology for effect on roof support systems, example, the Coal Mine Roof Rating.  This is more relevant to the roof where the nature is closely laminated material as is the case in this accident.

Now quite clearly if we’re looking at CMRR that’s quite a technical area in itself?--  Yes.

And it would be quite time consuming for you to give an explanation of how that system might work here today, but if you could summarise it, exactly what does it achieve, what is the outcome that that particular system achieves?--  The outcome is to – based on the logging of the roof, the [indistinct] of the roof, it identifies a whole range of contributing factors to weakening that roof which could be water, it could be the laminations, the nature of the laminations, could be the presence of softer material, softer mudstone and it logs the roof up six metres or higher and it break it down into units of roof competency and it quantifies that.  There’s a scale, a simple numerical scale, the lower the number, weaker roof, the higher the number, stronger roof, and it is detailed, I do have a report on it if it’s required.

Well I think it might be helpful if that was tendered and I think you also wanted to provide the Court with the original of the Mine Manager’s report which is in fact in your report in any event?--  Yes, it is, however the plans are not in my report because there – I have here the Mine Manager’s preliminary report and final report.

Perhaps for thoroughness, Your Worship, notwithstanding that they all – a great proportion of it is in the Inspector’s report we might separately tender these.  The first is the Mine Manager’s Preliminary Report?--  Preliminary report which is after the accident based on the evidence available at that point in time.

And dated what date?--  Dated 13 June.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 20.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 20”

MR TATE:  The next document?--  Is the fatal accident report dated 12 September.

The Mine Manager’s full statutory report?--  Yes.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 21.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 21”

MR TATE:  Next?--  I have two other documents which are also in the Mine Manager’s – sorry, are in my report but are the originals of the reports from Dr Fuller and Dr Frith.

Your Worship, I tender those?--  I point out that in the report of Dr Fuller he has a number of photographs here which are originals which are not in my report.

Perhaps you’d just help us, with Dr Fuller’s report, what date is it?--  Dr Fuller’s report is dated September 2000.

I tender that.  And Dr Frith’s report is dated?

WARDEN:  Exhibit 22.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 22”

WITNESS:   It is dated August 2000.

MR TATE:  I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 23.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 23”

WITNESS:  I have here a document which discusses the Coal Mine Roof Rating from the US Bureau of Mines.

MR TATE:  Your Worship, I wasn’t proposing to tender that particular document unless it was of some interest to any of my learned friends or any of the members of the panel.

WARDEN:  We might just have a look at it.

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases; in which cases I’ll tender it just for the record and that’s produced by the American people, is it?--  Yes, and the address is-----

WARDEN:  Exhibit 24.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 24”

WITNESS:  The matter of the Coal Mine Roof Rating.

MR TATE:  And which American mob was it?--  The US Bureau of Mines.

Thank you.  And then moving on to your other recommendations to the 

industry?--  Mines should upgrade the workforce understanding of roof failure mechanisms.  I particularly believe there’s a need to understand the different modes of roof failure and presented in a manner that relates to why the roof fails under different conditions.  The conditions are this, be aware of the nature of roof failure that could occur.

Yes?--  And lastly, the industry – in terms of industry, industry communication and understanding of better managing hazards in total, that industry bodies should encourage the technical forums which share the knowledge of mining hazards and controls and the learnings of accidents such as this.

Yes.  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Mr Caffery, first off you might be able to explain to us when you went down to do the initial investigation after the incident, what conditions were noted immediately outbye of 28 cut-through B Heading?--  Those conditions are referred to in the report; can I refer to them?

Yes; and also the Plan 9H might be useful as well, Appendix 9H in your report?--  9H.  I’ve got Appendix 9H which is the plan of the – a plan showing the roof support and other matters.  In terms of conditions that were observed they are as detailed in Appendix 4, Item 1(1).  Simply what they were were two parts, one a description of the – well, first of all 1(1) refers to the B Heading edge of all, you may be referring to the roadway, were you?

I’m looking at conditions in the roadway?--  Sorry.  Yes, it’s in Item 1(6) in that same appendix which is B Heading outbye of the fall.  The roadway – and I’ll just – there’s about 12 observations there, would you like me to read through them?

Yes please?--  Okay.  “The roadway inbye of 26 cut-through was barricaded, the width of B Heading was 5.2 metres, a small area of flaky roof was observed in B heading outbye of the fall, generally straps in B Heading were set at one metre spacing or less and secured by four bolt pattern.  At the fall edge the straps facing was closed up.  Left side roof bolts in B Heading at about 10 metres and two metres from the fall edge exhibited chemical squeezed out around the nut.  Roof bolts appears to be installed to a consistent good standard, no evidence of excessive tails.  Systematic roof support was installed to both roofs.  Roof and rib conditions were generally good, services installed to a good standard.  General housekeeping was good.  In sections in break-offs in B Heading outbye of 28 cut-through appeared to be cut and supported to a high standard in accordance with SCARP.  These breakaways showed no signs of buckling or guttering.”  K, there’s no item there, but moving on the next one is Item L, “Evidence of systematic use of tell-tales in B Heading in the vicinity of 21 cut-through to monitor roof movement.  Road construction was to a good standard and had improved since M Caffery’s inspection of 18 May.  B Heading 21 cut-through showed signs of deterioration.  Instructions were given by manager to restrict access and for extra secondary support to be organised”.

So first off, the closed up traps, just immediately outbye of where the roof fall finished?--  Yes.

Was there any evidence taken from anyone regarding the separation or why those traps were installed in that manner during your investigation process?--  I’d have to check the statements – I don’t recall in the original statements that were given whether that question had been asked or whether evidence had been given on that matter.  Subsequently a statement was – well, first of all in the original statements Wayne Deakin, a deputy, was interviewed who had carried out mining, or his crew had carried out mining in that area but I can’t recall whether Wayne was asked specifically on that question.  Further to that, a statement was obtained from Ross Wyatte who was on Wayne’s crew, he was a miner driver and I have that statement with me.

In (c) on page 3 of what you just read out for us, 1.6(c)?--  Yes.

“A small area of flaky roof was observed in B Heading outbye of the fall”?--  Yes.

Were there any fractures in the roof or any other things rather than just a flaky roof there that you identified?--  Not that I identified, no.

Did you examine B Heading as well up to the face area?--  B or?

A Heading sorry?--  A Heading; yes, I did.

Was there any similar or anything you identified up in that face area up there?--  Yes, there was two faults – three faults in total; one right at the face and two outbye of there.  There are two things that come to mind – or rather – three faults that come to mind, there was evidence of the rib – rib breaking away in places.

What about the flaky roof and any cracking of the roof similar to what was just outbye of the B Heading intersection, did you identify any of that in A Heading immediately outbye the fault?--  Yeah, I can recall – yeah, there’d been some flaky roof in places where the straps have been closed up, yeah.

Over the next page, the B Heading cut-through showed signs of deterioration; can you explain what type of deterioration was found out there and any similarities in any of the cleaning or the joining out there compared to anywhere else in the panel?--  Well, I had only – soon after that 21 cut-through it was only a matter of days after 21 cut-through had been mined I had inspected that part of the mine and I do recall at the time that there was signs of heavy roof and it was in relation to the structure being self-parallel to the direction of the roadway and I can recall in my mind that being a concern at the time.  Additional support was being put in and I discussed it with a number of people there during my inspection.  Subsequent to that, the next time I saw this intersection was the day of the accident, and in the second inspection the roof had shown signs of cracks opening up, there was visual sign of – visible indicators of cracks.  There was some water – there was a wet patch in the roof, water was dripping out.  The rib had shown – had broken out in the right-hand side of B Heading.  There were tell-tales in place and I recall them not showing any sign of movement.  However the roof still looked slabby and concern is expressed that it may – rather, it was conceded rather that the roof had deteriorated and it was considered that it had deteriorated relatively recently, recent to Friday the 26th.

So the angle of the cleat and the joining there compared to 28 cut-through?--  Similar.

Was there a difference in the way that cut-through was broken off compared to 28 cut-through?--  That was square.

How was it actually broken off first before it was square?--  I can’t recall which direction it was driven from whether it was driven from A Heading or B Heading.  I don’t know-----

Maybe if you have a look in 9H again where you were before?--  Yes.

And 27 cut-through is marked on that plan; would it be fair to say that most of the cut-throughs were actually broken off in that manner before they were turned around to right angles with that angle cut on that left-hand side rib?--  Yeah, that would be fair to say, breaking off from B to A Heading that’s how it would be done, yeah.

As part of your investigations was there any evidence to show that the strata control hazard management plan met the approved standards as required by the Chief Inspector, as laid down by the Chief Inspector in all respects?--  Yeah.  The report as I received – sorry, the hazard management plan as I received showed that it had been reviewed and that plan is in Appendix – if I can just refer to it, is in Appendix 7A.  It showed that the plan had been reviewed and issued on 30 April.  In examining the plan I saw that it met the requirements of the action – of referencing procedures and action response.  The thing that I considered at the time was not in the plan was a systematic – a requirement for systematic auditing of the plan; in other words, auditing of the application of the plan as required under General Rule 61.  The plan also makes reference to accountabilities and there are some other control requirements, these are matters dealing with processes for carrying out risk assessments, conducting – for corrective action when an issue arises and these – the latter ones are termed as generic controls.  I did not have that plan available to me at the time when I put this investigation together but I was aware of prior knowledge that information – sorry, that system was in place because I had viewed it in a previous ventilation management plan but I didn’t have it available to me when I put this report together.  So in answer to your question, what I have in front of me here now is part of the hazard management plan and as a part it doesn’t meet the total requirements without having the other supporting information which I have since provided to the Warden.

Was the initial risk assessment and any other information, the technical information that was used to put the initial strata control management plan together, was that available or was that looked at during part of your investigation?--  No, it wasn’t.  What I did look at though was the fault tree and I did make some judgment on the fault tree in terms of what failure mechanisms – what failure – approaches to identify and one of those that I felt wasn’t there was the less than adequate design of risk.

So the information on the hazards that were identified and the controls that were put in place did they actually involve things like the SCARP that’s up here?--  Yeah.

That information hasn’t been sourced to see if those controls actually match against the hazards that were identified, or if those hazards have actually changed from when this was developed to now?--  No, not in that detail, no.

Are you aware if there’s been any strata control failures at Oaky Creek?--  Yes, I am.

Maybe if you have a look at page 23 of your report there’s a summary in the report.  The first one there, A(1), 14th of the 5th ’99?--  Yes.

It’s got a minor roof fall 10 to 15 metres long and two metres high?--  I think that’s perhaps not an appropriate choice of words there.

Yes, that’s what I was going to ask first?--  Yeah.

The next question is would something of that nature require a review of the hazard management plans with regards to strata control?--  Yes, it’s a reasonably significant incident.

And yet the report-----?--  I would think it should prompt a review of parts of the whole plan or else parts of the plan.

The report in Appendix 7A, the strata control strata failure, it’s table contents and approach, it’s actually dated the 30th of the 4th.  Would you be able to tell me if that was an accurate date or if that has been reviewed after the 14th of the 5th and prior to the incident we’re now investigating or looking into?--  I think the mine manager would be able to answer this but I understand – I haven’t sighted the results of the review but the strata management plan was reviewed sometime between the 14th of the 5th ’99 and the 30th of the 4th ’99, so after that incident that you referred to, I understand it had been reviewed.

But that document wasn’t supplied to you as a current document on the day of the accident, the 26th of the 5th?--  The document that’s in 7A, in request for a copy of the hazard management plan in place at the time of the accident the document that's provided in 7A is the one that was forwarded to me.  Does that answer the question?

Yes, thanks.  Some of the corrective actions that have been taken and the Manager’s report on corrective actions which you mentioned before in your presentation?--  Yes.

Would it have been possible if the review of the Strata Control Management Plan had taken place after the 14th of the 5th ’99 which was one year in advance of this incident but some of those things would have been identified and actioned, put into place?--  On first glance there appears to be some similarity in the two roof falls, however, the conditions on the accident of the 26th I think has unique features which may not have been recognised from the accident of the 14th of the 5th ’99.  I can’t comment any further than that, I don’t know enough details of it.

At Oaky No 1 what would you consider are the main hazards in the mine knowing that there’s principal hazard management plans required by legislation?--  I consider at Oaky No 1 that strata – unable strata and gas emission are the two major – two main hazards at the mine.

Would it be fair to say especially with the experience of Oaky North just nearby being part of the same company that the major problem over there as well would be the strata control issues?—Yes, it would be fair to say that.

How long have you been an Inspector for Oaky Creek?--  Since July 1998, so about two and half years.

So you go there pretty regularly; would you say that the conditions have changed much in the mining from when you started going there, they would have been a fair way up in the longwall blocks just off the main drives when you went there first?--  Yes.  When I first went to Oaky No 1 development was taking place in the north-east, this accident occurred down off south-east development.  Conditions do change and have changed, however, there are areas in the mine where conditions are quite good and areas in the mine where conditions are not so good so it’s sort of a geographical thing.

How would you say conditions are in maingate 19 generally and in the main headings that have run parallel above them?--  Yeah generally quite good really apart from where – I’d comment further, apart from where the faults have been encountered but between the faults conditions are, in terms of support required, the conditions are quite good.

So this area wasn’t far from the fault – from a series of faults, was it?--  It was – no, it was – as shown on the plans it’s approximately 90 metres from where the predicted Maywin fault was.

WARDEN:  Have you got much more, Mr Dalliston?

MR DALLISTON:  Probably about another quarter of an hour.

WARDEN:  We’ll take the adjournment thank you and you can continue after lunch.  We’ll resume about 2.45.

WITNESS STOOD DOWN

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 1.40 PM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 2.46 PM

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you gentlemen.  Mr Dalliston, thank you, you can continue please.

MICHAEL EDWARD CAFFERY, CONTINUING CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Mr Caffery, on page 37 of your report, 7.7.14, Employee Training?--  Yes, Mr Dalliston.

Did you identify anything in the training records relating to training in hazard management plan or in strata control techniques themselves?--  No, I wasn’t able to identify any specifics on strata hazard management plan training; in other words, a reference to say that the people had received strata hazard management plan training on a set date.

And you said earlier in evidence that you weren’t able to identify any review mechanisms for certain things within the management plan; was there any audits actually done as well or-----?--  Audits of – evidence of audits being done do you mean?

Yes?--  Okay.  Not – no, recorded document, I didn’t sight a document rather that records the audit having been done and I didn’t ask for those records.  What I had commented on that in the procedures I couldn’t see a requirement for it.

Further down on page 38, 7.8.3, in (c), “Similar joint structure not being experienced in 28 previously driven cut-throughs, however, only two of these were driven at a similar angle”, so after what we discussed before about 21 cut-through actually worse and some joining lines in there that were roughly similar to cut-through number 28?--  Yeah, there was joining present.  In making this observation there’s a couple of things that this is based on, one is similar joint structure meaning the joint structure that didn’t present itself in the immediate roof whereas in 21 it was evident from my first inspection and later on that there was cracking there was visible indicators of joining – I make the difference there.  And the second part is that in – without individually inspecting all of the other intersections there was no report from people, more from the technical side of the operation, of any previous jointing leading to falls as such.  Does that answer the question?

Did the DME or yourself as investigating officer ask for any independent geotechnical advice throughout the period of this investigation?--  No, I didn’t.  Can I say why; okay.  It was considered, however, it was seen as a matter that needed an understanding initially of the mechanism of failure, that being the main issue at the time to understand.  The two people who reported on that matter, Dr Fuller and Dr Frith, the observations or the evidence they base their conclusions on concurred with the observations made by the Inspectorate and I was satisfied on that grounds.

One of things and one of the aspects of this Inquiry is to determine recommendations for the future, with the new legislation coming into place in March next year and no Warden’s Inquiries, do you believe that independent evidence might be required as part of the investigations by the Mines Department?--  I can’t really comment without knowing enough about the – what’s intended with the new process to replace the Warden’s Inquiries rather.

During the investigation, could you find any documentation or any information that was put up by either operators or the deputies as part of their identification of geological change that was actually documented or recorded anywhere to be used as part of the process for the mine?--  When you mean documentation, could you just explain what you’re-----

Did you find any information anywhere that said that people both either operators, miner drivers because the management plan says miner drivers have got a pretty high profile when the deputy’s not there?--  Yes.

Apart from the geological people that come down and did the mapping, were those people actually identified and actually put up any geological conditions or any information that could be used back as part of the SCARP or the strata control management plan?--  This is like feedback from miners or deputies to review this plan is that what-----

Yes?--  Have I seen in reports evidence of that information being fedback?

Yes?--  No, not without looking – I haven’t, it may have been addressed in the review of the plan but I don’t have that information.

In the deputy’s statutory reports some deputies appeared – said they were in Code Green, Yellow or whatever?--  Yeah.

But didn’t indicate any other geological conditions that they’d encountered during their shift?--  I see what you mean.  Yeah, okay; there was – I do recall reports in deputy’s stat reports about the nature of the roof in terms of the joint, there was a fault and the throw on the fault, there was descriptive information provided in their reporting, yeah.  That was done on a number of reports that I had noted and it was also mentioned whether the support, the level of support was Code Orange or Red or whatever the case may be.

Was it a very common thing in the huge number of reports that you pulled together?--  Yeah, probably not – exception only when conditions were – I guess 

where conditions change dramatically it was reported, where conditions didn’t change it was probably fair to say it wasn’t reported.  As far as being common – I only looked at reports for a period of two weeks but I think you’d have to look at a longer period of time to make that judgment.

Did you gather any evidence to show what kind of information was given to people to identify potential hazards, for example, miner drivers or deputies or anyone else in the crew that actually decide where break-offs are going to be?--  The break-off position first off is marked or measured; in this case it was measured by the deputy.  In interviewing the people concerned, there was consideration given to the conditions in that area and this is – the deputy concerned, Wayne Deakin, he gave consideration and we did ask him that specific question, was there any sign of weakness, roof weakness in that area and his response said, yeah, I looked for that but I didn’t see anything.  So all I can say is consideration was given to the roof conditions.

Thanks.  No further questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick?

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR MELLICK:  Thank you.  If I could just refer you to page 33 of your report, paragraph 7.7, Collation of Evidence.  If I could take you down to 7.7.1(f), “A core drill hole is located in the vicinity of the proposed maingate 19 installation 

road”?--  Yes.

Were you expecting to find a core drill hole in that area?--  No.

Why was that?--  I made that statement from the point of view of seeing whether there was some information that could be obtained from a core drill hole if one was in that area of 28 cut-through.

So it wasn’t part of the system of work that operated there that one be done?--  No, it wasn’t a requirement of the system of work, no.

If I could take you back to page 25 of your report, you deal there with roof coring; these were taken following the accident of course?--  Yes.

And they were taken from the 11 cut-through to 28 cut-through?--  Yes.

You say that the results which are set out there in paragraph (a), they show the lower CMRR in the bolted horizon was reported RCOC1 which indicates there may have been a localised weakening of the roof strata at 28 cut-through?--  Yes.

If you just assume for the moment that that roof coring had been taken prior to this event occurring?--  Yes.

What would have been an appropriate response to that localised weakening?--  Yes, that would have had to have been a core from the surface of course, a drill hole from the surface.  I’d just point out that these cores were taken from underground drilling up into the roof, but in response to your question, it would depend on I believe on the consideration that had been given or was being given in designing roof support it would have depended – sorry, the difference would have depended on the consideration being given to the design of roof support in conjunction with the effect that weaker roof would have had on the stability of the – the effect that weaker stone would have had on – rock rather would have had on the stability of the roof.  I’m not saying that it would have necessarily prompted a changed course of action, it goes back to considering well what criteria are being used to design the roof.  It may or may not have prompted a change, so I can’t say definitely one way or the other it would have changed it.

Well long tendon bolting wouldn’t have been an inappropriate response to those sort of findings?--  As it’s turned out, that’s correct, after the event, yeah.

That would have to be the only form of bolting that would have held the rock that ultimately fell?--  Given the nature of the roof I believe that long tendon support was the most appropriate way of maintaining stability of the roof.

If one assumes that those tests were administered or taken prior to this unfortunate event, then one also has of course in addition to the results of those tests the information that you’ve set out at page 23 in paragraph 7.3.6, the previous roof falls.  Once one adds the results of that testing to the knowledge gained from prior falls that these really mean alarm bells should be ringing, would you agree with that?--  I can’t say for sure, I can’t say necessarily that alarm bells should have been ringing.  As was commented before, it comes back to what criteria is being considered in designing roof support.  Now in relevance to the previous incidents that are on page 23, first of all the incidents at Oaky No 1, to my knowledge there was laminated roof and not dissimilar to what was in 28 and the response was – part of that response was to implement this scheme here of being able to increase the level of support given knowledge of – sorry, given visual indicators of roof deteriorating.  The knowledge of the roof strata itself and this is what you can’t visibly see up above the roof is what you obtain from drill cores.  What I can’t comment on is how that would have been – if that information had been available how that would have been considered in changing the level of support at 28 cut-through.

You told the Court in response to a question from Mr Dalliston that strata control is one of the two main hazards at the mine, certainly the one this Inquiry is probably most concerned with and I think you noted at the bottom of page 23 that the history of the previous falls highlights strata control as a major hazard at both of the mines.  You went on to say there were measures introduced at Oaky North such as the CMRR system arising from internal investigations not applied at Oaky No. 1.  Where there others, other matters not applied?--  In relation to strata control?

Yes?--  Not that I’m aware of.

Were you able to ascertain why the CMRR system was not applied at Oaky No 1?--  Yeah, I did ask that question.  At the time Oaky North – when Oaky North applied it there by some very weak roof, low strength roof material, much weaker than what is experienced here at 28 cut-through, and that prompted a need to apply the system at Oaky North.  It was considered that Oaky No 1 roof conditions were stronger than the falls had occurred at Oaky North and I believe it was on that basis that it wasn’t applied at Oaky No 1.

The situation here was that there had been difficulties in both A Heading and B Heading in the days prior to this particular fall?--  Yes, there had been.

There was flaky roof that was visible in the area where this event occurred?--  Yes.

And there was the history of the previous falls that was obviously known to the relevant persons of the mine?--  Yeah.

And just prior to the turn from B Heading into the 28 cut-through there was an increase in the roof strapping; could you identify then any further response to those conditions in terms of securing the roof as the 28 cut-through proceeded?--  Any further conditions that would have prompted-----

No, any further response to those various factors that I’ve identified?--  Response by the crew?

Yes?--  Okay.  No, I couldn’t identify any further – do you mean further response in terms of securing the roof-----

Securing the roof?--  More support being put in?

Yes?--  No.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TRAVES:  Thank you, Your Worship.  Inspector, in your report you concluded, “The evidence shows that in events leading up to the fall the following actions were carried out; management took reasonable measures to locate the cut-through and a stable environment by constantly referring to regular mapping of workings and inspecting the local roof conditions immediately prior to 28 cut-through being developed”, and (b), “That the crew mined the cut-through and installed the roof and rib support in accordance with SCARP”.  You recall that from your report?--  I do, yes.

And is that a view that you maintain here today?--  I do, yes.

You’ve been asked some questions about the Coal Mining Roof Rating system and some questions about coring that might have been carried out at the scene of the fall, and you are aware are you not that subsequent to the fall coring was indeed carried out in the vicinity of the site?--  Yes.

And that showed a roof strength at its weakest point of 37?--  I do recall that report, it did note 37 MPA, I’d have to refer to it in further detail.

Could you assume for the moment that that’s the report’s result at its weakest point?--  Yes.

Can I suggest to you that by itself that measurement shows a stable roof?—Yeah, if I can – I don’t – yes, there was rock there which was 37 MPA, however, there was other rock which was, if I recall, some was weaker and some were stronger, so there was – some parts of the strata were stronger and some weaker, and the weaker ones would tend to lessen the – may have lessened the effect of the 37 MPA strata.

All right?--  I’d have to have a look at the-----

I might have the figures wrong; I understand that 37 was a roof rating not an MPA figure?--  Sorry, okay, you’re talking roof rating and not MPA.

Yes, the roof rating?--  Yeah.

And the proposition I really want to put to you is that by itself that is not indicative of an unstable roof it would only become so were someone aware of a further feature of the nature of the one that caused the problem here; do you agree with that proposition?--  Yeah, I believe that’s fair based on the – without going into the detail of CMRR rating and there’s other people who have more experience in that than I have, from the information I have – from Dr Frith and a seminar he’d conducted some 12 months or more ago had indicated a scale of roof ratings and 37 was sort of – it wasn’t the weakest but it was somewhere above the weakest roof, so by itself it doesn’t indicate an imminent problem, no.

Inspector, tell me if you feel unqualified to comment but you would know I suspect that in the CMRR system the cores of course are drilled vertically?--  Yes, well I’d expect they would be drilled vertically, yeah.

And hence in a situation such as this where the angle of the feature was at some 70 or 80 degrees to the horizontal the prospect of a vertical core in fact identifying the existence of the critical feature would have been minimal?--  Yes, [indistinct] from any vertical core to pick up that feature, yeah.

You did refer in your evidence to two centre bolts being encapsulated to within .3 to .5 metres of the plate?--  Yes.

Is that consistent with the report of Dr Fuller at page 5 where he discusses those two centre bolts.  Dr Fuller’s report is Exhibit D to the Mine Manager’s Report which is Appendix 14B to the Inspector’s Report, or alternatively, Exhibit 16?--  Can I have a copy of that.  I have a copy of that.

Thanks Inspector, and if you go to page 5 of that?--  Yes.

And you see in the second last paragraph, Dr Fuller talks of the two centre bolts encapsulated to within .3 to .5 metres of the plate?--  Yes.

And he contrasts that to the two rib bolts which were both fully encapsulated?--  Yes.

So that the point was that in respect as one looked towards the face the two bolts on either end were fully encapsulated in the resin but the two in the middle were not so in respect of their bottom .3 to .5 metres?--  Yes.

And the point he makes is that showed that there had been some downward roof movement sufficient to open structures along the centre bolt holes and to allow some resin leakage into the adjacent strata?--  Yes.

You concur with that?--  I do, yes.

That’s the importance of that evidence that you gave is it not?--  Yeah.  Dr Fuller drew my attention to that and I have since observed that.

Yes.  And it’s not suggested by anybody that the fact that the resin did not attach to the lower .3 to .5 metres caused the fall or had it attached the fall wouldn’t have occurred?--  No, no.

Just one other small point, I think you said in your evidence that long tendon support was not required until there was a Condition Orange under SCARP; may I suggest to you respectfully that it’s a Condition Red which demands that response?--  Can I-----

I can hand you a pocket SCARP if I may?--  Well, can I just refer to this one?

Yes, yes?--  Yeah, it’s my misinterpretation, it is in fact Condition Red.

Thank you, Inspector.  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Woods.

RE-EXAMINATION:

REVIEWER WOODS:  Did you find any evidence when you were – at all to show when anybody moved from one code to another code, from Code Green to Code Yellow, from Code Yellow back down?--  Yes, there was evidence in A Heading parallel to where the accident happened – of it happening, yeah.

Did you find anything put down saying that they’d moved from one to the other on any reports or any documents?--  Going a little bit my memory here, I’d have to check the deputy’s reports which have been tendered as evidence, I believe it would show it in there.  I have a – I can’t say one way for sure but I have – I wasn’t alarmed to the fact that people weren’t reporting this it was quite the opposite that people were reporting it.

Given the fact that it’s only the deputies can move it back or the supervisors can move it back, you’d expect to find it in the deputy’s reports?--  Yeah, I would expect to, yeah.

Was there any evidence at all from anybody else moving them back at all – deputy’s reports – did you find anywhere where the Mine Manager or any of those moved them away?--  Not specifically, no.

That’s all, thank you.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Caffery, can we go to photo 14 on your electronic gadget please, on the screen please?  Is that too difficult?--  No.  It might take a couple of minutes.

That’s all right?--  There’s a quicker way of doing it but I might lose control.

I’m not going anywhere, I’m in no hurry?--  What – sorry, is that the one, 14?

Go back one, go back?--  I’ve just jumped forward.

Back one.  Now, it’s taken on the left-hand side of the continuous miner and the shuttle car?—Yes.

Would those bolts there, the broken parts there and the stubs that we can see sticking out, are they put in vertical?--  Yes, very close.

Very close to vertical.  In your statement before you said you had a look – they were at Code Yellow and were bolting as per Code Yellow; Code Yellow says that those bolts go in at an angle.  Those bolts aren’t in at an angle?--  Closer to vertical rather than an angle, yeah.

What angle were those bolts supposed to go in at, 70 degrees?--  I don’t know the angle.

On the plan what would they be?--  Perhaps 70 degrees.

So they’re probably 20 degrees off where they should be?--  I think it is written there, isn’t it?  Yeah, estimate 70 degrees.

An estimate of 70 degrees and they’re at right-angles so they aren’t as per according to the SCARP plan Yellow?—The direction of them isn’t, the spacing was.

So all the bolts we’ve seen there and the other ones, so the idea of the angle bolt is to get anchorage over your rib?--  Normally that’s the case, yeah.

Normally that’s the case?--  Mmm.

So if you’re supposed to get anchorage over your rib to give you extra support, falls like that you probably won’t stop with that sort of anchorage but would give you extra warning because if you’ve got anchorage over where they’re designed to go and those bolts aren’t?--  In my experience it depends on the – somewhat on angling the bolt is as you say to give support over the roof.  In terms of providing a warning, if there’s an imminent – the warning provided I don’t think is necessarily going to be affected by the angle of the bolts.  The fact that if the bolts had of been at the angle I don’t think that would have given more or lesser or more warning.

A fraction of a second at times [indistinct] can make the difference between 30 metres if you’re going quick?--  Yeah.

We agree that those bolts aren’t put in as per design?--  The angle of them it appears, no, they’re not – sorry, the bolts weren’t angled as they should have been, that’s the case, yes.

On page 35 of your report, Mr Caffery, Section 7.4 half-way through Point (a), it says there that, “Given these circumstances it is unlikely that the fall would have been avoided had the cut-through been driven on design”.  Can you expand on that a little bit?--  Can I use the benefit of a plan?

Yes certainly, whatever?--  The design is represented by the bluey dotted line.  I made that statement in consideration of the location of the joint plane which ran down through there.  As it turned out in the actual – sorry, in relation to design that joint plane rather still runs down the centre within the roadway of the design and therefore it would have still influenced the stability of the roof because it’s still within the design position of the roadway.

Mr Caffery, that’s the answer I expected, yeah.  Further down the bottom on (b), the last sentence there, “On this basis bedding relaxation could have occurred prior to bolt installations and assisted movement of the joints through the cut-through”.  Now if you’ve got a slightly parted bedding relaxation and your bolting pattern isn’t too specific design, can you create a break shear force through there?--  So if you have a bedding relaxation and a bolt-----

And the bolts were all put through at the same angle, the same height, can you create a shear force?--  As a result – do you mean as a result of the bolting process?

Yes, the bolts being the same angle, same length, same – can they fracture the ground with the tension you put on them?--  Not to my knowledge.  Given these circumstances do you mean?

Yeah, well any circumstances?--  In very soft roof, yes, but not-----

You’re in very soft roof it will create a shear force?--  Well I don’t know about shear force all I’m thinking is that – in very very soft roof, much softer than we’re talking about here that the bolt could start to show some indentation on the surface of the roof but as to – I wouldn’t – in my experience, no, wouldn’t create a shear force.

I’ll ask the same question to Mr Fuller and see what he says.  So if we go back to where we were in 7.7.4 it was unlikely that that fall would occur; if we go to the Manager’s Report on page 17, section 14?--  Could you just give me the manager’s – what page of the manager’s-----

Page 17?--  Page 17, yeah.  

Going back to the previous statement in 7.7.4 where that you wouldn’t believe that if it had been driven on design you wouldn’t have prevented the fall.  The second line there says, “It was suggested that the 29 cut-through be deleted.  The angle cut-through 28 should be moved in by 10 metres”?--  Yes.

If that had of been moved in by 10 metres and driven would we still have had the falls?--  Based on the information, the geology information that’s known, well no, I can’t say it would have occurred or not.

Well it more than likely wouldn’t of because we’d have been another 10 metres away from the shear plane?--  However that shear plan wasn’t – the position of that shear plane wasn’t known.

Yes, yes, that’s correct, but there was a request made to change the distance of the cut-through by 10 metres inbye.  Now if we’d have driven – if they’d have driven in the further 10 metres they wouldn’t have had the fall there?--  I can’t say that would necessarily have been the outcome.

Well that area there wouldn’t have been exposed?--  This area here wouldn’t have been exposed but 10 metres inbye there still may have been the same set of circumstances.

There may have been, yeah, if I’d have picked the right numbers in Lotto I wouldn’t be sitting here either, Mr Caffery.  Down the bottom there on the third last line, “The changes of the location of the angle cut-through was never implemented because approval of the changes were not given”.  Do you know why they weren’t approved?--  From the interviewing of the witnesses it was made mention that changes were proposed and discussed and there is procedure – there was a procedure in place which had to be authorised by the Manager before changes could be made.  Now that was on Thursday and at that stage mining was taking place in A Heading and I can only assume at that stage that it wasn’t considered as an urgent enough matter to require the Manager to authorise that change immediately and it was going to be considered the next morning.

Why was the request made to move the cut-through in by 10 metres?--  Can I just-----

Was it because of bad roof, because it was they wanted to delete 29 and enhance it a bit or?--  I’d have to check the report, can I just-----

Yes, certainly?--  I’m just trying to find it in the report where I made reference to that particular matter which may be able to help me, can you tell me where it was?

No, we can’t, I was looking for it myself and I was trying to listen?--  Okay, I found it, page 29.

29; what paragraph, Mr Caffery?--  In paragraph O starting, “Thursday Mr Nicholls…”.  I believe it was in response to the – because the original mine plan had the location of the face road determined based on the information available at the time.  Subsequent to that the mining in A and B Heading encountered the faulting and I believe it was in response to that additional information on the locations of the faults that it was considered that the position – that the design of the pillars – first of all the position of the face road would and the design of the pillars would be reviewed and I think that’s something you’d have to ask of mine management people, I just can’t recall without going into the statements but I believe it was an operational response to the geology that was being encountered.

Well according to that statement, “The change of the location of the angle cut-through was never implemented because approval was not – of the change was not given before it was time to be driven”.  So if they had of had approval they wouldn’t have driven that cut-through in there?--  That’s correct.

Thank you, Mr Caffery.  No further questions.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Mr Caffery, just in regards to your inspection on the 18th of the 5th, it’s in Appendix 16 is it, yes, 16B?--  Yes.

In regards – on the back page in regards to the training scheme, I see that there’s a corrective action requirement or a response has been put out to do with training, was that training to do with operator training or training in general at the mine?--  This is mainly to do with operator training.

Just on machinery?--  Well it’s – sorry, it’s more than that it’s requirements of Part 59 of the General Rules which is operator training and it also includes training in hazard management – hazard management training.

That includes refresher training and everything else or is it just those two – two items?--  Well it was mainly to do with operator training at the time, yeah, that was the – but the training scheme deals with more than that.

Just another one, Mr Caffery, on the SCARP that you’ve got on the wall behind you, for a Condition Green it’s got from your last strap to your coal face is four metres, is that – in your opinion, is that four metres – is that the maximum amount of roof you’re allowed to expose; is that in line with like a cut depth that you’re allowed to have?--  I believe that’s the case, yes, but I – that’s my opinion.

That’s fine.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Mr Caffery, a few questions; firstly in relation to one of your observations or conclusions on page 4 of the report.  “There were no indicators of major roof defamation prior to provide men with adequate time to safely evacuate”.  So I have a couple of questions in relation to that and hoping to understand your knowledge and interpretation of primary support versus secondary support and at what stage it’s critical to install secondary support.  Firstly, what were those indicators that you refer to; you’re suggesting there that maybe under different circumstances you would have normally observed?--  I had in my mind the normal visual indicators of a sagging roof, cracking in the roof, guttering in the roof, or even moisture coming out of – water dripping out of the roof.

Any observations in relation to roof support performance characteristics?--  In terms of the bolts, the plates, any buckling of the plates, indicators along those lines.

So buckling of plates, what does that indicate?--  If there’s excessive loading around the bolts in the roof or stress, horizontal stress effect on those bolts it could induce extra loading in that roof material and shearing action along – maybe along the bedding planes or along the joints in the roof.

So movement in the bolting horizon and this would be typical characteristics of bolts loading up and starting to absorb – accept load?--  Yeah, in terms of bolted horizon – I see what you mean.

Yes?--  These are the indicators of loading up in the bolted horizon, yeah, that’s what I mean, yeah.

So there was no sign of those.  And when you refer to major roof defamation in relation to specifically this strata action response plan, what do you describe as major roof defamation prior to the fall?--  Okay-----

Only if you can quantify it, you referred to a lot of-----?--  Well there’s degrees of what I just said before, guttering for example may start off with a certain – as a flaky failure roof along the rib line, above the rib line, and it could deteriorate into guttering up into the strata and causing detachment of the roof.

So in terms of millimetres of movement, what would be major roof defamation, and what I refer to specifically is the Orange and Red triggers within the response plan, and they refer to 10 millimetres of movement and 25 millimetres of movement.  I assume that means within the bolting horizon, or what does that mean to you?--  The roof movement is a measure of the delamination of the strata where the strata as a complete unit has started to – where the top – we’re referring to tell-tales here, I think that’s what you’re referring to, Mr Singer.  If we’re talking about roof movement it’s a measure of – it’s a means of measuring whether reference to a point six metres up from the strata the lower strata has moved.  The quantity of movement or the amount of movement, 10 millimetres or 20, is very much subject to the local conditions at the mine, and furthermore, it’s relative to the rate of movement.  If it’s shown a steady rate of movement within the boundaries of acceptable 30 millimetres total movement that’s not necessary cause of alarm, but if that rate of movement starts to steepen up well then that’s cause for alarm.  Does that answer-----

In relation to these trigger levels and the relevant movement, relative movement, we have 10 millimetres of movement indicating – associated with an Orange Zone?--  Can I just have a look at that?

And 25 millimetres movement associated with a Red Zone?--  Yeah, 10 millimetres or rate of movement greater than 3 millimetres an hour for Orange, and 20 millimetres or movement greater than 5 millimetres an hour for Red.

So 20 millimetres of movement would be reasonably assumed to be a major roof defamation; accords with your description?--  In which condition?

Just when you refer to there was no indicators of major roof defamation.  One, we’ve spoken about the absence of plates buckling, but in the absence of anything measured, 20 millimetres of movement could have reasonably been observed at the face on the night of the fatality.  I’m suggesting there that we may indeed been in a Code Red for the conditions at the face.  What I’m observing is that we’ve – we’ve made a statement that there’s evidence to suggest that delamination may have occurred prior to the bolts being installed; evidence of chemical squeezing into partings?--  Yes.

So could it be feasible that in fact we have had over 20 millimetres of movement while mining in that shift?--  Possibly, yeah.

In reference to chemicals squeezing out of a hole, that would be not normal and there was evidence of that on the shift?--  Of it not squeezing out of the hole?

Not we’ve observed some chemicals squeezing out from the bottom of the 

hole?--  Yeah.

That I assume isn’t normal?  What would cause that?--  Well first of all I don’t believe given the circumstances that it wasn’t normal, it had been observed in other places outbye in B Heading; as to what causes it, the hole might be too – may have been too short, there may be – well, there could have been a blockage in the – between the bolt and the hole, in the space there may have been some blockage there preventing the chemical getting to the back of the hole.  I guess there are a number of reasons.

Would one possibly be that a hole is drilled up through kaolin which is clay and the – and that obviously gets wet and expands and the hole – the diameter between the bolt and the wall of the hole is less than design and therefore the chemical has to escape through the bottom of the hole, would that be reasonable?--  Yeah, possibly, yeah, given the right circumstances, yeah.

As an operator at the face would you expect them to be able to, through the line of questioning, did anyone observe any change in lithology, strata above them, and would you expect while drilling through that sheared zone that any differences would have been observed while drilling?--  Well first of all the operators were questioned as to whether they did notice any change in drilling rate – or whether they jumped up into the hole to indicate partings or softer roof, and there was no report of that happening.  Sorry, the second part was?

If you’re drilling through that zone would you expect if you were looking for it, would you expect to see some differences in the cuttings or characteristics while drilling through that zone?--  You mean the zone affected by kaolinite?

Yes?--  I don’t – unless the drill hole was to follow the joint it may show some difference in the rate of penetration.  The kaolinite joint is very thin, it’s not a wide – there’s a number of joint planes there, individually they’re not very wide.  There could be a subtle change, there could be a change but we questioned the operators and we’re not able to say there was.  Yes, has to – expecting it – I don’t think it’s as obvious as perhaps a softer band strata where you could quite easily notice the change in rate of penetration or drilling through a zone of soft material where this is only a very thin joint.

In relation to the transition between when primary supports may be justified versus secondary support which I refer to as a longer tendon; if a roof bolt is installed in delaminated strata, strata that’s already softened I heard, well the term softened I heard referred to yesterday in the underground visit, would it be reasonable to assume that there will be less indicators than you would normally achieve as far as the bolts taking weight and the plates loading up, that the movement would in fact be higher into the roof and the primary support pattern would be in effect not fit for purpose, not achieving what it’s intended to achieve; in which case it would justify a longer tendon?--  Well primary support as I understand it is installed to control the conditions as they are known from the – for the purpose of supporting a roadway and there’s – as the SCARP plan indicates there’s varying degrees of primary support.  In these conditions as – the lower three metres of roof appears to be very highly laminated.  In normal circumstances, without the presence of a joint, I would, in my experience, expect that primary support system to as installed, to be adequate.  The unknown factor was the joint through there and therefore it does beg the question whether – knowing you have softer roof that your factor of safety is somewhat lower than by putting the primary or shorter support in as opposed to longer tendon secondary support.

And the maximum cut-out distance how critical is that to delamination and installing a bolt sufficiently in time to have it to display those indicators if the roof was to accept or start to move downwards – we have four metres as a cut-out distance there, is that critical, and were there any questions asked to crews in relation to what would be – whether that’s achieved or whether or not at times that maximum cut-out distance is exceeded?--  Answer that last question, that question was not asked specifically as to whether the cut-out distance had been exceeded or whether there had been any delays or the roof had been standing for an extended period of time to allow delamination to happen in those circumstances of driving that cut-through.

I’m probably referring back to when B Heading was driven itself at the break-off point and the break-off point was driven at – actually known that people were going to break-off at that point at that stage?--  No, I can’t answer that, I don’t know.

And would you say that would be critical to having a bolt display those indicators as far as how quickly you install it to the-----?--  Sorry, have a what displayed?

Having it display those indicators, a buckling plate?--  Yes.

And physically seeing it loosening into a set load the cut-out distance and the amount of delamination prior to installing the bolt, would that be critical towards observing those things or not?--  Yeah, the cut-out – keeping the cut-out distance to a minimum is desirable in that type of laminated strata I believe.

What was the size of the drill bits used in the pull-out tests?--  I don’t know.

What was the size of the drill bits used on the continuous miner on that shift, the shift of the incident?--  I can’t recall.

Would you say that’s critical in terms of a pull-out test and the effectiveness of a bolt to accept load, would you say that the size of drill bits is a critical parameter in relation to the wall and the bolt and a combination of resin thickness versus the size of the hole?--  Yes, it’s an optimising situation to get the drill hole or the [indistinct] of sufficient thickness to ensure you’ve got adequate bonding.

And as far as doing a pull-out test on a bolt that’s already installed in the roof, would it be reasonable to assume that if 300 ml of chemical is enough to produce yield in a bolt by – doing a pull-out test on a previously installed bolt, a conclusion could be that purely only 300 mls of chemical has been effective on that bolt, it doesn’t really add much value to the effectiveness of the load transfer of the bolt and individual strata or throughout the bolt range, could it be reasonable?--  If you’re meaning that only 300 millimetres of that bolt was bonded?

For example, we saw some plastic wrapped around a bolt?--  Yes.

Now theoretically you could have one and a half metres of plastic wrapped around the bolt and only 300mls was chemical effective and still achieve what we achieved with the pull-out test?--  That’s possible, yes.

This next observation or question I have is in relation to the statement on page 27 of your report, “Although the density of roof bolting was relatively high few if any of the bolts would have intersected the fault or infill structure and been able to offer any resistance to shear movement in these structure interfaces”.  Do you have a comment on-----?--  Sorry, where are we reading that from?

Page 27?--  Whereabouts on 27?

It’s about half-way, it’s in italics?--  Report by Dr Fuller?

Yeah.  I’ll read it out, page 27, yeah, Dr Fuller’s report?--  Yeah.

It says, “Although the density of roof bolting was relatively high…”, that paragraph there?--  Yeah.

Do you have a comment in relation to how effective that inner bolt pattern is in your opinion in respect of those bolts – the ability of the angle of those bolts to accept load versus a bolt which is near vertical or slightly inclined to the rib as opposed to the angle of this inner bolt pattern here.  Is that an optimal pattern?--  Well yeah, it’s trying to – it might be trying to optimise the location of the bolt to give you maximum support across the total beam.

In relation to when they’d separate?--  Yeah.

And that bolt being in facing shear rather than tension with strata movement, was that an optimal angle for a bolt to be tilted in like that, could its effectiveness be improved at a different angle?  For example, the angle of the outside bolt, is that a better angle for a bolt to accept load?--  Perhaps in a situation of where there’s – shear, horizontal shear was seen to be a condition of the environment that the angle of the angle bolt might give you a better locking in in support.  In this situation here, the inner bolts were vertical and they had been angled in – is that what you mean?

According to this plan they weren’t vertical, or they’re not installed vertical because I assume there’s only one rig on the continuous miner?--  One rig each side, yeah.

Which means that the rigs tilt towards the middle of the machine and the bolt goes up on that angle?--  Yeah, yes, that’s right, yes, that’s what I understand, yeah.

So the question is, is that a preferred angle or would a new vertical bolt be – as far as the bolt’s ability to absorb load, transfer load, is it improved by-----?--  It’s improved by angling it in, that’s my understanding, yeah, but I don’t think that the stress issue was a – I’ll qualify that by saying that I don’t think the stress issue was a contributing factor in this.

I’m just looking at other possibilities and why the roof has failed catastrophically without little warning that’s all?--  Okay.

One last question if I may; in relation to the strata control action response plan, on the shift of the incident which code do you believe the crew were mining to?--  Code Yellow.

On Code Yellow.  If you notice in Code Red there’s a dot point there under Roof Condition Description, and it refers to a major structure within 45 degrees or less of roadway direction, and I observed in the photographs and, yes, in the underground visit yesterday, there was a structure in the face?--  Yeah.

Would it be reasonable to assume that structure would – someone to have assumed that that structure could have extended into the roof, whether it be the operators or someone of greater understanding or knowledge?--  Yeah, that's something that crossed my mind, however, I do believe that the structure – based on the way conditions had changed as the cut-through had been mined that structure had started to develop later in the shift, in other words, I can’t say – I don’t know how far back it started to show but the evidence indicates that initially it was flaky roof and there was no indication of any witnesses to say that they saw a fault in the base so it may have been there and no observed or it may have just occurred late in the proceedings.

So also on the far right-hand side of that Red Zone we have the reference to that 20 millimetres again; in hindsight, would it be reasonable to assume that we’re in fact in Code Red and no one at the face was able to determine that?--  Well I guess it’s fair to say that the behaviour of the roof was – could have resembled Code Red conditions, however, there was no movement indicator present to – at the face to show it.  From a point of view this is a – these movements here, as I understand, are readings from the tell-tale instruments that have been installed behind the – back behind – over the continuous miner but back from the face.  There weren’t any installed to show that there was that movement.

Visually though would you say a person with experience with tell-tales and experience in identifying moving strata conditions would be able to pick up 

20 mls of movement?  I mean it appeared there was more than 20 millimetres of movement at the face when we did our inspection, I’m not sure how much it moved after?--  Okay.  Well, yeah, I can’t whether there was – people would have been able to observe 20 mil in those – you mean without a tell-tale?

Mmm?--  Okay.  All I can say is that inspection of the area after the fall, what we saw yesterday up towards the face where it had been [indistinct] that was, for all intents and purposes, showing very little movement, it’s just impossible to measure how much if any was – whether it was 20, 30, 10, it’s just impossible to say, or there was no obvious sagging, there was just flaky roof, the straps were straight.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  One question please, Mr Caffery.  From 3.45 on the morning of the incident to 9 o’clock to when Mr Morris’ life was pronounced extinct, and then again from nine to 12 o’clock there seems to be no comprehensive report on the incidents from 3.45 through to 12?--  In my report?

On any reports?--  Well what there is there is a chronological log in the Manager’s report.

It’s very vague?--  It reports the movement, the actions but I’m not too sure what you’re referring to.

The rescue operation itself to recover these people, what did they do, when did they do it, what did they do?--  Okay.

Because in the incident there that man was theoretically alive for approximately five hours before life was declared extinct, what happened in that five hour period?  There is something that the rescue team went in and done that and they had a fall and went out; how, when, where and why?--  I don’t have that information, no.

Was there any information like that provided to the-----?--  I didn’t go seeking it.

Would anybody have that information?--  Maybe, but based on my observations and the witness statements given to me I had no reason to go seeking it.

No further questions.

REVIEWER WOOD:  Mr Caffery, could you bring that photo back up on the wall again, please?--  Photo, which one?

The plan, that one.  Given that – in your statement earlier that it was supposed to be driven at, was that 45 degrees, where the road was supposed to be driven there, is that those two blue lines that they were planned to drive?--  Yeah.

Originally?--  Yeah, these two blue lines here?

Yeah?--  Yeah.

Is that the planned driving?--  Yes, it is.

When was that actually changed to drive at the other angle?  Was it changed on the night or?--  No, it wasn’t changed that’s how it was driven.

It was always going to be that – driven at that angle?--  No, no, it was planned to be driven at that angle but as the cut-through was broken away that was a direction that the miner mined the cut-through.

So it was still planned to be driven at the blue line, on the blue lines?--  At the blue lines it was 60 degrees, yes.

60 degrees?--  But it was in actual fact driven at 45.

45?--  45, yeah.

Having a look at that, hasn’t that widened the roadway at the intersection by some three to four metres doing it that way?--  Yeah, it gives you a narrower point – it gives you potentially for a narrower section of coal here which could break away and-----

On the opposite corner it’s widened-----?--  You mean widened that?

No, just off on there, it’s widened the whole intersection compared to where it was supposed to be driven – the way it was supposed to be broken off.  On the other side there it’s three to four metres wider there, isn’t it?--  Yeah, here it is, yeah, yeah, but it’s not as wide here.

Diagonally hasn’t it – hasn’t it widened the road diagonally as well?--  Marginally, yeah, I guess it has, yeah, I didn’t consider it had mined it significantly though.  This area here is shown after the fall recover.  From evidence from witnesses that cut-through had been driven with a turn in there – in the statement of the witnesses this corner had been cut off but there’s some more of this coal since removed during the recovery process.

On the SCARP you might be able to enlighten me a little bit, it’s on Condition Orange – Condition Orange says that you go to Condition Orange when it’s over 5.2 metres of non-standard cut-out.  That’s not a standard cut-out, is it?  If it was standard it would be cut at 45 degrees?--  I don’t know if that’s specifically when it talks of cut-out as whether we’re saying the same thing as what we’re saying here, this is what I talk of a breakaway.

That’s not standard, is it, the break-off?--  No, it’s not a standard – no.

So it’s not standard it’s got to be non-standard?--  What I’m referring to is – yeah, it’s not standard for a cut-through but I don’t know if that condition in Code Orange relates to the matter here; in other words, this is talking about cut-out 

which I would understand to mean where the roadway has been widened for a – installation of a-----

I understand, I understand what you’re saying?--  Yeah.

But because it wasn’t cut at 45 degrees it has been widened?  It’s cut 60 degrees therefore the roadway has been widened as a non-standard?--  Yeah, I – it’s somewhat wider but I’m not saying it’s significantly wider than what – I don’t think we were talking about matters of metres, it may be one maybe two metres.

How wide is the roadway normally?--  5.2 metres.

Whereas one or two metres wide, it’s wider than 5.2 metres therefore it goes to Condition Orange?--  I don’t know if that cut-through there is for example any wider, that distance across there, then some of these others are outbye that’s what I’m trying to say.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Anything arising out of that?

RE-EXAMINATION:

MR TATE:  Just if I may, Your Worship.  Inspector, if I can just take you to the SCARP diagrams which you have up there; I take it that if we want to just advance further a couple of questions that Mr Glazbrook asked you we really need to perhaps be talking to someone from the mine or someone who’s more akin with roof bolting the SCARP requirements, would that be a fair comment?--  Yes, yes.

For instance, when we look at Condition Green and Condition Yellow on the left-hand side of the page that’s on the wall, my understanding is that primarily the major difference between the two is that the straps are closer together.  Condition Green they’re about 1.5 between centres?--  Yes.

And in Condition Yellow we move down to about .8 or a metre?--  Yeah.

Then when we move to Condition Orange we go from four bolts to six bolts?--  Yes.

And then from Condition Orange to Condition Red we retain the six bolts but I think we have the addition of two 6.1 metre flexi bolts?--  The six bolts are actually longer as well.

Are they – yes, so they are, 2.4 roof bolts.  Now when we look at these four diagrams, two on the left-hand side of the page showing the bolts going up, and the two on the right-hand side showing the bolts going up, are you able to say whether the angles are meant to be mandatory or whether they are meant to be typical?--  No.

Are you able to assist us at all or would we be better off asking some of the people actually working at the coal face whether the bolting rig on this particular miner bolted at an angle or bolted just straight vertically?--  That’d be a fair question, yeah.

For someone in that area?--  Yes, for someone from the mine, yeah.

All right.  Thank you, Your Worship.  And so it came to pass that this witness’s evidence may well be concluded, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Brendan Scott Dalglish.

MR TRAVES:  That is Dr Fuller, Your Worship.

MR TATE:  I think the next witness might be Brendan Dalglish.

WARDEN:  No, we have Dr Fuller who is on a plane at a quarter to six – five to six.

MR TATE:  I apologise, Your Worship, I’m going from a completely different witness order.  Dr Fuller it is.

WARDEN:  I’m not too sure you’re going to make that plane, Dr Fuller.

MR TATE:  Would it be of assistance to allow a short adjournment while Dr Fuller goes off and makes some inquiries about other flights?

WARDEN:  How long will Dalglish be, the next witness?

MR TATE:  My understanding is not long, would that be right?

MR TRAVES:  I won’t be long with Mr Dalglish, but I should say nor will I be long with Dr Fuller and I don’t know that my learned friend on the right will be either so I just-----

WARDEN:  Can we assess it as we go along, thank you.  Get in the stand and I’ll adjourn if you’ve got to make some arrangements.

PETER GILMOUR FULLER, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TRAVES:  You are Peter Gilmour Fuller?--  Yes.

You reside at 8 Braeside Avenue, Sherbrook in Victoria?--  Yes.

And you are a Principal of BFP Consultants Proprietary Limited, a geotechnical mining and geological consultancy situated at 515 Bridge Road, Richmond?--  Yes.

And you have furnished a report in this matter?--  Yes, I have.

And Dr Fuller I can tell you that your report is Exhibit 16.  Can I ask you this; are the opinions you’ve expressed in that report your own?--  Yes, they are.

And are the facts that you’ve stated there are to the best of your knowledge true and correct?--  Yes, they are.

Do you hold a Bachelor of Engineering with Honours with you were awarded in 1967 and a PhD which you gained in 1971?--  Yes.

Were those degrees obtained from the University of Adelaide?--  Yes.

And your first degree, did you major in chemical engineering and was the PhD in material engineering, that is the engineering of all engineering materials used by engineers?--  Yes.

Did you first work in the strata control area in 1973 when you started with CSIRO in Melbourne as the head of the division of applied GM mechanics projects group?--  Yes.

And was that group involved in applied research and development in rock re-enforcement and strata control?--  Yes.

Were you with the CSIRO from 1973 to 1980 in that position?--  Yes, I was.

Did you start a consultancy practice in Melbourne in 1980?--  Yes.

And was your role in that practice to head up all of the consulting work and research and development projects?--  Yes.

And have you remained with that consultancy since?--  I have.

Have you worked in a number of mines in Australia and around the world?--  Yes.

Could you give us some examples?--  Yes, in terms of coal mines, Newstand, a little job in fact which is not listed there for Oaky North, Tarmoor, Bailbone, Gordonstone which again I think is probably not listed, numerous mines particularly in New South Wales, and in terms of metalliferous mines, many, North Parkes, in fact many mines throughout Australia and in the Philippines, Canada, United States.

Thanks, Dr Fuller.  Were you contacted by David Stone from Oaky No 1 Mine on the 15th or 16th June 2000 in relation to this incident?--  Yes, I was.

And subsequent to that, did you attend at the mine on the 22nd June 2000?--  Yes.

And did you conduct an inspection on that date?--  I did, yes.

Did you conduct a second inspection on the 8th August 2000?--  Yes.

And as a result of those inspections, your observations there and no doubt discussions you’ve formulated your report?--  That’s correct.

Could I take you to paragraph 2.1 of the report, have you a copy in front of you?--  Yes, I have.

You say that, “The roof fall site is approximately 140 metres below the surface and lies within a block subjected to miner thrust faulting”?--  Yes.

Can I ask you what you mean by miner thrust faulting?--  These are – thrust faults are compression faults, and by miner I mean miner in terms of the throw or the offset.

And when you refer to the miner faulting, are you referring to any faulting in particular?--  These are the regional faults, and in particular the Stewart and the Maywin faults.

And can I take you to paragraph 2.4 of your report on page 2, where you refer there to structures in the roof, and in the second paragraph, you say that, “A few metres inbye the fall area a shear zone had been mapped in the roof and the wall on the solid side but its dip had not been included on the plan”?--  Yes.

Is that shear zone shown in Appendix 8(b) to the Inspector’s Report?--  I don’t have a copy of the Inspector’s Report.

Can I show you this.  Is it marked on that geological map?--  Now, you’re referring to the wavy red line?

Yes?--  Correct, yes.

You can see it marked there?--  Yes.

Now that is a map which existed prior to the fall?--  Yes.

Can I ask you, did that shear zone have anything to do with the fall?--  Not in my opinion.

Is there anything about that shear zone which ought to have been regarded as symptomatic of other features near that shear zone?--  No.

You can return that thanks, doctor.  I’ll take you to paragraph 3.1 on page 3 where you talk there about the full dimensions and shape, I wonder rather than repeat – ask you – rather than to refer you directly to what you’ve said there, could you describe as best you can in a brief way the mechanism of the fall?--  Yes, I believe that the roof was divided by a steeply dipping structure on which we’ve subsequently found contained an infill of kaolin and the roof was divided into these two blocks on the outbye side, the block was relatively larger in volume and hence weight than the block on the inbye side, and that I believe from the two inspections that I made that the block on the inbye side rotated as a canti lever under its own weight and fell onto the – mainly onto the shuttle car and partly onto the miner and that that probably dragged down a series of – and broke up the bedding on the inbye side.  So essentially I see the fall having been – having occurred as a result primarily of the larger block on the outbye side falling first and rotating and then dragging the other material with it.

This morning, and not while you were in the Courtroom, but Inspector Caffery by reference to a diagram explained the mechanism of the fall.  Could I just show you this diagram?--  Yes.  So what I was referring to there is that the – this larger block that I’m just outlining there on the outbye side I believe fell first, and my reasoning there is that the horizontal pressures which are shown here presumably by these black arrows were effectively relaxed, and I say that because in my evidence I talk about two centre roof bolts here only being partially encapsulated so there’s a zone on each of these in the lower section, this one and that one, which weren’t encapsulated.  That tells me that the zone within the bounds from approximately here to here has moved downwards and relaxed.  That initial downward movement before the bolts were installed would relieve the horizontal stresses very early in the timeframe here, that is before the – any of those bolts were installed.  So without that horizontal stress and with such a steeply dipping structure or zone of structures here on which there is a kaolinite infill, the shear strength or the sliding resistance on this structure here would be very low, and without the horizontal stress this block as they progressed to cut the coal and advance the cut-through, would have reached a particular weight, or a weight large enough as a driving force to simply drag it downwards in possibly a direction like that, from there down like so.  That would have – and this is what I mean by canti lever, so that block was then really canti levered, it’s swinging if you like off the strata on this side, and the strata up through on this side here has very low strength intention, that is this – the drawing apart, and would have failed as a result of this downward driving force trying to rotate this block downwards.  So I think we would have the downward movement here breaking each individual bed up along here in essentially intention, and it’s that type of failure mode that eventually gives and leads to the curvature in shape.  Now on the other side here, it’s necessary as a result of this rotation probably for these beds to break out.  If they were strong enough to remain in tact it’s difficult to see how this block could actually rotate downwards.  There’s physically not enough room to do it.  So the motion is, I believe, is that this block is likely to have moved down first, and as I said there in the explanation before, it’s very likely led to a downward dragging and fracturing of the material here on the right-hand side.  And I think that explanation is consistent with the fact that the debris that we saw, that I saw on my first site visit, on this side of the roadway was far more broken and the fragment size was a lot smaller than the debris that we saw on this side, and the debris on this side was essentially this block remaining pretty much in tact and sitting down on top of the shuttle car.

Now, to the best of your knowledge, is the joint described in that diagram as the slippery joint plane and roof?--  Yes.

Was that at any stage visible to the miners?--  Well I can’t say for sure, but from my observation of it in the roof at the face, there is an indication to me that as the structures approached the roof they are feathered off in a curved nature like so, and at that location I’d be surprised if they would actually daylight or become exposed and visible in the exposed roof.

You’ve identified that feature as represented there in Plate 2 of your report, have you not?--  Yes, that’s correct.

And then if one goes to Plate 3 in your report, there is reference in the text to what you describe as three associated features which can be viewed above the coal face?--  Yes.

Are they one in the same features as the feature exhibited on Plate 2?--  One can’t say for sure that they are but I believe that what we have here in that zone is a collection of structures which combined together to form a – what I would call a structural zone of weakness.

And if one were to look closely as I think you did yesterday at the powdery face of the joint plane, can one in fact see more than one shear plane?--  Yes, that’s correct.

And how many did you count when you had a close look?--  I could see three, at least three in fact.

In respect of your contention that it was the larger block which fell first, is there something in the statement of Stewart Owen Euston which lends support to that thesis?--  Yes, he told me, and I believe that it’s contained in his statement, that he told me during my first visit and inspection to the site that just prior to the fall he noticed the coal face on the left-side of the face was exhibiting a buckling failure and a splintering failure, and this would be consistent with the larger yellow block on this diagram rotating downwards and loading up the left-hand side of the face in preference to the right.

Now the three features that do appear above the coal face, to the best of your observation, were they above or below the roof line at the time that the fall took place?--  Well there’s an indication that they would have been just above.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Mr Tate.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TATE:  Doctor, if you can just help me with something that might appear to be a little on the periphery but you’re probably one of the appropriate witnesses for us to ask of this.  Have you seen the document that you can see on the wall, the top one?--  This one?

Which is the SCARP, yes, which is-----?--  Yes, I have.

Now on the left-hand side you can see it’s got Code Green which has a certain bolting pattern, and below that I think Condition Yellow, which is the same bolting pattern but the spaces, straps at least, are spaced more closely, I think they go down to .8 or one metre.  Then we move to Condition Orange and I think we move then to a bolting pattern of six bolts?--  Yes.

And then finally Condition Red which is six plus two quite long bolts?--  Yes, there is a change though to Yellow in that the bolt length is increased.

As well?--  As well.

You can see there on the left-hand side and the right-hand side that the bolts appear to be angled?--  Yes.

Is that meant to be mandatory or is it merely typical or indicative of how they’re to go in?--  Typical or indicative.

And why is that?--  It’s the flexibility of the machinery is sometimes a little limited and restricted.

Yes?--  And from a mechanical point of view in terms of what the bolts will do in terms of re-inforcing the roof, whether they are vertical or whether they are angled off as shown there would have little if any bearing.

What then is the mechanics whereby a bolt helps to secure a roof?--  Well there are two issues here; the first is that with a fully encapsulated bolt which these are specified to be, they’ll provide shear resistance to sliding of any bedding structures or any bedding plane breaks.

If it’s of any assistance you can help us with that diagram in terms of bedding planes and shear resistance and so on?--  Right.  Well on this diagram we don’t see any bedding planes but they are – in fact you’ll see a number of them in the plates in my report but they are the flat lying structures that essentially run across here so-----

I think we’ve seen them as laminated stone?--  Yes.  So the function of any of these bolts but particularly those out in the centre of the roof are to provide lateral resistance or sliding resistance if you like to those – to lateral sliding of those bedding surfaces, that’s the first point.

And why might that be important?--  Well what happens with a laminated roof is that the – it’s possible as a result of gravity acting downwards after the roof is undercut and the action of the horizontal stresses here shown by the black arrows, that those two forces acting on this laminated roof will in many cases break the beds and the layers up into separate units.

Yes?--  And the function of the bolting, and when we say re-inforcing the laminated roof what we’re trying to do is to pin those delaminations together to, in effect, trick the roof, this layered structure now into behaving more like a single unit.

I see?--  So that’s the resistance to sliding.  The other resistance is that they simply prevent further separation, so provide vertical resistance to the bedding planes opening any further.

We can see here that there’s a blue line above the top of the bolts?--  Yes.

An issue that – again you’re the appropriate person to ask, is if we’re tensioning the bolts at the bottom?--  Yes.

Does that mean that we’re in some way pulling the rock at the top down, or what’s the mechanism that occurs to a bolt when we’re tensioning the nut at the bottom?--  Well-----

Near the strap or near the butterfly plate or whatever we’ve got?--  What we’re trying to do is to compress the start of the layers between the anchorage 

point-----

Which is at the strap or the-----?--  Well, no, well one anchor point is at the strap, it’s the applied low point, but the anchor point which is at the upper end of the bolt towards the end of the bolt and that depends on the point anchor length and how much fast set resin is used.

Yes?--  But the objective here is to simply compress the layers between those two points.

Yes?--  Now whether the upper anchor moves down or whether the roof moves up is very much dependent on how the strata in between those two anchorage points behaves and it’s impossible to say which one will move.

Yes.  So does that have an implication then to actually pulling the rock down or not?  In layman’s terms you see?--  Yes.

My questions are very very straightforward?—It’s – there’s actually a lot more to it than that, there isn’t – it is impossible to give a simple answer.

Right.  Better have a go though if that’s all right and I know you’ve got your plane but we need to understand this?--  No, no, that’s fine.  Certainly in some circumstances if you had a very rigid lower roof layer that had moved down as a result of high horizontal stress.

Yes?--  And above that you had a series of very much thinner layers which would be relatively much softer than that thicker lower layer then certainly tensioning the bolts will pull the softer layers down onto the harder layer.

Right?--  And potentially create a weakness plane near the upper anchor point, in fact just below the upper anchor points.

Yes?--  But the reverse is also true that if the upper anchor is in much much stiffer and in a  thicker rock layer it won’t move in preference to the bottom so that the lower softer layers will be pulled upwards onto the thicker layer.

Yes?--  So a lot depends, in fact everything depends on firstly whether there are any stronger thicker layers present in the sequence or not as to what’s going to happen.

I think I understand you and I now take you I think to your report on page 1 which is the introduction background information, you talk there about, and if I understand it, from that – where we see the cut roadway which is white and then we move to the yellow which is I take it 02.63, that first bit we’re looking at sandstone and then we move to .6 to .65 siltstone.  Can you explain to us exactly what this diagram is, or this table means?--  Yes, it’s the sequence of the roof lithology or rock types that we would have as we move upwards from this line here where the red pointer is, assuming that’s the top of coal now, and that’s the zero point, so we move from there up to 0.63 and the unit contained there is predominantly sandstone with moderately strong to fine medium grain minor relatively weaker siltstone laminations.

Yes?--  Then we have above that between 0.63 and 0.65 so there’s a relatively narrow band there of siltstone which is moderately weak.

Yes?--  Then we progress through to .65 to 1.8 which is a much thicker unit coming back essentially to sandstone and the unit that appeared in the immediate roof.

Yes?--  Then above that we go from 1.8 to 2.34 which I’ve assumed from the geologist, my interpretation from the geologist’s log to be moderately weak siltstone.

Yes?--  And so on.

Now does that give us any help in understanding the dynamics of the spall in terms of whether the tightening of roof bolts had anything to do with it in terms of the top and bottom and so forth?--  No, I don’t believe so.

In your experience are you aware of similar roof incidents occurring in this mine or other mines?--  I’ve seen – yes, I’ve seen similar roof falls and indeed falls in hard rock mines which have been predominantly caused by the presence of structure and a major structure at that.

Or they’re just classic [indistinct] makers?—Unfortunately, yes.

How frequently would you have seen this sort of roof failure or hard rock 

failure?--  Not – of this particular nature not very frequently at all, it’s very rare to see falls of ground in any mining environment which are strongly dependent and virtually solely dependent on one or a cluster of steeply dipping structures.  Normally when we have steeply dipping structures they tend to aid stability rather than cause it.

Yes?--  It’s the lower angle structures in the range 30 degrees to 50 degrees that normally create more roof falls and potential problems than structures of this steep nature.

Yes, I see.  I suppose you’re aware that this Inquiry is looking to try and establish two things, what the nature and cause of the incident was, and as I’m Counsel assisting the tribunal I suppose one of the things I’ve got to do is try and make sure that we’ve got all of the relevant evidence out?--  Yes.

In so far as nature and cause, I take it that you’ve said all you can helpfully say about the mechanisms of the likely causes of this fall?--  Yes.

In your view when you were preparing your opinion, did you give consideration to the possibility of there being a number of falls, for example, fall one, fall two, fall three accounting for different sorts of debris that you saw on inspection?--  No, I must say that I was under the impression rightly or wrongly that the fall occurred and what I saw occurred essentially as a single event over a relatively short time span.

Yes.  If that were not the case and there were two or three falls would that change your view as to the mechanisms causing this particular fall?--  No, no, not really.

If we assume, and I take it it’s your understanding that there was no real indication that people had, any of the miners had prior to this incident occurring that there were any weaknesses or problems in the roof?--  That's my understanding.

You’d been told that?--  Yes.

There’s also a view that perhaps this sort of catastrophic roof failure is something that we will see from time to time and there’s very little that anyone can do about it, it’s just if you like an artifact of mining coal?--  Yes.

Now within that framework of thinking there’s a clear issue that goes to possible recommendations that the panel here should consider which is if there is nothing that we can do to plan for these sorts of problems, if using the best techniques we can, we attempt to have roof cover, plans to have different sorts of roof bolting and what have you to ensure that we’ve got stable ground, then our focus moves to what can we do if anything to try and give people more warning?--  Yes.

Do you have any views on that?--  It’s a very difficult question.

That much I know because if we knew the answer to it we’d already be doing it probably?--  Yes.

We need to stretch our minds?--  Yes.  As I said the failures of this type are fortunately rare and by that I mean that failures bounded by steeply dipping structure are rare and there is good mechanical reason and technical reasoning as to why that should be the case.

You’d better tell us because this is a steep structure I think in your view, isn’t it?--  This is a steep structure and my view about this is that if we look at the surface of the structure we see that it is relatively rough in nature so naturally would have quite high frictional resistance and potential to resist in its own right to resist sliding.

Yes?--  The issue here is that it contained the soft kaolinite infill.

Yes?--  And what that has done unfortunately has created a rough high friction resistance structure into a potentially very slippery one which has virtually no resistance.  I think it’s that feature here that has converted this steep structure, steep rough structure, and I would assume a fairly stable structure into one which has been catastrophically unstable.  There’s only one thing that can be done, unless we can understand from the geological point of view where the kaolinite has come from in this case and zone this mine according to the source of this kaolinite.  The only thing that can be done is that where we have large spans, and certainly where there’s an indication of this type of structure, we would have no option but to go to Code Red support which includes as part of the overall suite of support units the installation of long tendons.

Now how would they help?--  What they will do is – they will go – firstly they are very much longer.

About 6 metres?--  6 metres, they can be up to 8 metres if need be, so they potentially can reach - their upper anchorage at least can reach into the zone of rock which we can be virtually assured is compressed and is part of what we would call a stress arch above a loosened zone which is in the immediate roof.  The second thing is that they have a load capacity, load carrying capacity about twice that of a normal rock bolt.

About 30-odd tonnes, 32?--  Higher than that.

Higher than that?--  Yes, but to 50 in fact and there are some specialised ones which even have capacities up to 80 tonnes.

Yes?--  So they have high load capacity which provides potentially high support capacity.

Yes?--  And they are long enough so that their upper anchorage can be in relatively much more stable ground.

I understand.  Now one of the points that I suppose at some stage we’re going to try and get our mind around is whether if the rock bolting that we did employ, 

given a knowledge before this occurred either as Green or Yellow which is where we were, probably Yellow?--  Yes.

Would it have made a difference if the bolts, the bolts going into the straps, had extended into the ribs as opposed to as you can see in this diagram basically being inserted horizontally straight in.  Do you have a view on that?--  I presume you’re referring to the two side bolts in the pattern?

Yes indeed, but not the bolts going into the ribs as such?--  No but-----

Going into the backs but-----?--  But the two side bolts in the four bolt pattern?

Yes?--  Yes.

Extending into the rib area?--  Yes.

Or the area above the ribs?--  Yes.  My answer is they wouldn’t – that wouldn’t have change this situation at all, and the reason I say that is that the two side bolts remained in tact even installed at their sub-vertical orientation.  So whether you put them out into the rib, or in this case have them vertical, has made no difference to this situation.  More broadly I think there is an advantage in angling them out over the rib if that is a practical proposition.

And what’s the advantage of taking that course?--  The advantage is that if, as unfortunately occurs in some of these roof falls, the roof breaks right out to the rib line while the two side bolts will provide additional support.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

MR DALLISTON:  In section 3.3 of your report, page 5, mid-way through the second paragraph, you say there that, “This indicates that at the time of the bolt installation the region where the strap spacing has been closed there's been some downward movement sufficient to open the structures along the centre bolt…..?--  Sorry, I’m not – we’re on page 5?

In 3.3 Roof Support, page 5?--  3.3, sorry, yes.

The second paragraph in 3.3?--  Yes.

Half-way down the paragraph, just after .5, .6 metres?--  Yes.

You say in there that the structures – it appears that they may have opened up before the bolts were put in place?--  Yes.

Would an experienced operator using the drill rigs [indistinct] drill rigs that were used on this occasion on the miner?--  I’m sorry, are you asking me whether

I’ve-----

Have you seen the drill rigs that are on the miner that they were using to put the roof bolts in?--  No, I haven’t.

Take it they’d be normal [indistinct] drill rigs?--  Yes.

Would you see that the operator would be able to identify those gaps that he was going through in the roof when he was drilling the holes?--  No.

Backwards in section 2.4 on page 2, you mention there that the structures had changed from 285 degrees to 330 degrees; would you see that as a significant change?--  No, it’s just – I’d say just a drift – in the scheme of things I wouldn’t rate that as significant.

So a 45 degree change in the structures in the coal wouldn’t be significant when you’re mining through it?--  Well I’m talking here about the change being back at the 22 cut-through.

Yes.  I don’t mean to this incident, I mean just as a change full stop?--  No, as a change – well it depends, if the structures are running sub-parallel with your direction of driveage, small changes can be very significant, but in this case the 285 is running just about straight across the heading and 330 brings them around to slightly more acute but they’re essentially still running straight across if my reading of the plan is appropriate.

So back at 22 cut-through they weren’t – they changed direction?--  They’d rotated slightly but they were still essentially across the heading.

Then with the further change in the direction for 28 cut-through?--  Yes.

If you tied those two things together would that be something you’d look at because now you’ve changed the angle of your cut-through as well?--  But the intensity of the structures at 28 cut-through, again if I’m interpreting the plan correctly, is much much less than it was at 22, so I wouldn’t see it as being an issue.

So if someone was trained to identify these geological changes they wouldn’t see that 45 degrees change plus changing an angle cut-through would be an issue  than a geotechnical people would take any action on?--  Taken generally and not in relation to this incident they would need to be aware of that, but also, it’s not only orientation that’s an issue here, it’s a question of how many structures are actually present.  In this case the intensity of structures at 28 cut-through compared to 22 cut-through or that general region is quite different.

All I was looking at is we have a safety management system which the mining industry are going through now?--  Yes.

And we hire technical, geotechnical people, would those changes be significant to an expert geotechnical person that he’s start looking at different structures and looking at things differently than just saying it’s nothing to worry about?--  No, though certainly orientation of structure is a big issue and orientation of structure with respect to your driveage direction is definitely a big issue, but also of equal importance and whoever is doing this geotechnical assessment that you’re talking about needs to have a look at actually how many structures are there so it’s a combination of the two.

Yeah?--  Yes.

As part of your preparation for your report did you speak to any of the people that were involved in the incident, on the night of 26th May?--  I spoke to Stewie Euston, yes.

You didn’t speak to Brett Murphy who was driving the shuttle car or you didn’t see a statement that was available?--  No.

In your report on page 1, 2.1, which you were just discussing before, the table at the bottom of the page?--  Yes.

Where did you gain the information from that’s in that table?--  The mine geologist provided that to me and it was his log, not mine, but his geological log of this drill hole RC0C1 which was drilled apparently sometime after the accident but it was the closest drill hole to the incident site.

Are you aware of the CMRR?--  Yes.

Just in evidence before or in questioning before from some other people along the bench here there was a question asked of – a factor of 37 would be a reasonably strong roof, what would you say a factor – a CMRR rating of 37 would be?--  I wouldn’t rate it as strong roof, moderate – of moderate strength roof, I mean CMRR has a rating range of 0 to 100, so 37 is 37 per cent towards a very strong roof, so no, I wouldn’t rate it as strong roof but of moderate strength.

In the CMRR rating of 45 or less is regarded as weak roof, isn’t it?--  You might be right, I can’t recall.

In the report – can the witness be shown the Mine Inspector’s Report, Exhibit 8.  Can you turn to page 25 of 40 in the first section of there please.  Is that page 7.4.4 Roof Coring?--  Yes, yes.

Down at point 1 it’s got RCOC1 which I take it being the same sample as the one you referred to at the bottom of your table?--  Well the same drill hole, yes.

Yes.  It indicates there from the information on this page that from zero to 3.8 metres a moderate strong to weak sandstone with a CMRR of 37?--  Yes.

So what I was looking at was the table down the bottom of your report compared to that table in the Inspector’s Report there seems to be – would you say that’s much difference in those things or it could be taken to mean the same thing in both places?--  I would say it’s taken to be the same thing; the comment that the geologist made when logging this hole was that in terms of the sandstone layers in the layer or the band zero to .63 metres he rated that from his experience to be moderately strong.  Now it’s important with this CMRR to appreciate that the rating comes from a combination of the separate beds that are involved within the bolted horizon and there is an averaging process and the whole lot is an accumulation so it’s – CMRR would come from an assessment of the zone zero to 1.8 metres in this log.

So looking at those figures we’d say that the roof up to above where the fall occurred and definitely above the bolting the range of the bolts was more than likely a weak against a CMRR rating – was a weak roof?--  Could you just put that again to me.

In the [indistinct] before – definitely up to one – the bolts were around 1.8 metres long?--  Yes.

So definitely above that and maybe up to the top of the – that roof could have been a weaker – appears a weaker rating of roof against the CMRR rating?--  No, I wouldn’t agree with that, there is a weak band or a weaker band of predominantly siltstone and says moderately weak siltstone from 1.8 to 2.34 so we’re looking there at another .54 metres, but above that we have a much stronger unit consisting again of sandstone within siltstone lamina.

So is that at least a 2.34 metres in your table?--  Yes.

That would be a weaker rating roof, it’s definitely above the roof bolt level?--  Yes, oh yes.

Thank you.  No further questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions, thank you.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Just on those two centre bolts you’re showing there?--  Yes.

Mr Caffery, if you could bring up the other drawing again that we had earlier.  Could you bring up that drawing we had earlier showing the cut-through; F9 I think it is. Just on that you can see where the blue is – the fallen area there?--  Yes.

Which of those bolts – can you indicate which of those bolts is the centre bolts you’re talking about that didn’t have full encapsulation?--  Yes.  It’s a little hard from where I am in this light to determine how far across towards the left-hand rib that blue line goes but I’m talking about that one, and that one, and that one and that one.  Now specifically the bolts that I was able to observe and based my comment on were either those two there or those two there.

There’s only two bolts, you never found any others?--  Well they were the only two bolts that were left in the front end here of the fall that were visible.

Do you believe any of the others were – do you believe all the others were fully encapsulated or do you think they had moved as well?--  I think it’s likely that there’d been a similar behaviour going on with the others.

Right out to the-----?--  Out through here.

Right out through that area there?--  Yeah.

Just with that, what do you believe – because of the separation the chemicals were then going into the strata?--  Yes.

And that’s why you weren’t getting the chemical coming out of the end of it?--  Yes.

Out of the end of the bolt?--  Yes.

Looking at the SCARP for Condition Red, it’s actually in that book that you’ve got there?--  Is it?

Yes?--  I’ve got a separate SCARP drawing anyway.

Have you?--  Yes, would you like me to refer to-----

I’m referring to the actual hazard – the strata control action response plan?--  Yes.

Okay?--  Yes.

Condition Red?--  Yes.

It goes over the page there, it goes on to say that, “If chemicals are – no excess chemical from hole”, it’s supposed to be on the SCARP on the top there, is it, in Condition Red?--  I don’t see it here anywhere but it may not be on this chart.

Where it says Conditions Red, roof condition description?--  Yes.

And it goes on there the Orange Conditions plus-----?--  Yes.

Excessive water [indistinct] and no excessive chemical coming from hole?--  Yes.

Undercut or whatever.  If there was no excess of chemical coming from the hole should they have been on Condition Red in your opinion?--  No, I’m not sure of the intended meaning of that comment there in Condition Red.

But you believe – there was no chemical coming out of holes right through the whole area there?--  No, I believe there is – in fact there is evidence of chemical coming out of the holes on the-----

On both sides?--  On both sides.

In the centre of the-----?--  I can see those, but from the two bolts that I’ve seen, and admittedly it’s just two out of the total number that are involved there that there wouldn’t have been chemical coming from the hole and we didn’t – they wouldn’t have achieved full encapsulation.

You’ve already commented – you’ve already identified that in your-----?--  Yes.

That the roof had moved and-----?--  Yes.

So there had been some lamination separation?--  Yes.

So if there had been lamination separation it’d be-----?--  That’s right.

That’s all, thanks.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Just one, Mr Fuller; in your experience, do you believe that probably one of the most important things is to get your roof support up as soon as possible after you’ve cut out your distance?--  Yes, that’s-----

I know it’s a simple question it’s just-----?--  No, no, that’s the golden rule of mining and that’s the case in all mining, however, there are situations where – such as in coal mining in place changing for example where quite obviously the operators there can drive a substantial portion of unsupported roof and then come back at a second pass and support it.  So broadly speaking the answer is 

yes of course, and the reason is if you bolt up after exposing a small amount of roof you’ve got the additional support effect of the face.  So it is to some extent horses for courses but as a general principle it’s advisable.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Just one question, doctor; in relation to the amount of movement prior to the bolts being installed is it possible to say how much movement, are you talking millimetres or inches?--  I’m talking millimetres, I did try to do some calculations in fact and the results of those calculations may be of interest.  One has to assume a number of things but in this case we have a lateral span of nothing greater than four metres I’d suggest, that is the distance – the span between the two outer bolts.  If we assume that the layer thickness that we have is 0.1 or 100 millimetres under the lateral stress conditions and as a result of the – simply the weight of that layer it would move down an estimated 5.8 to 6 millimetres.  If the layer thickness was .2 of a metre, 200 millimetres, the sag if you like or the downward movement is only 1 millimetre.  So looking at the sequence here that the geologist has identified particularly from his drill hole RCOC1 I think it was, the one we were referring to earlier anyway, it appears to me that the downward movement would be quite small, and as you suggested, in the order of millimetres.

Okay.  And that would be depend on the cut-out distance as well from the last row of support?--  Yes, this calculation assumes that there’s no face – no support influence of the face; in other words, the face has gone some substantial distance ahead, and that presumably the displacements would build from a value smaller than I’ve just quoted up to a maximum of these sort of values.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Anything arising out of that?

FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TATE:  Just one if I may, Your Worship.  And I take it, doctor, if I understand those calculations and what you’re saying correctly, merely because we have roof sag that’s not necessarily sinister?--  No.

And that adds to the complicated nature of making good judgment calls about what one needs to do about supporting roof?--  Absolutely.

But equally it might be sinister?--  Yes.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  Doctor, may I just take you back to this issue of the CMRR?--  Yes.

Mr Dalliston put some questions to you in respect of a rating of 37?--  Yes.

I think I said to you that rather than use the word “strong” the word “stable” in respect – earlier in the day the word “stable” in respect of a rating of 37?--  Yes.

Is that a word which you could use in respect of such a rating?--  Yes, certainly in this case and that comment would write more to the experience of the mine in terms of what they’ve been able to achieve in overall roof stability with that rating.

Could I ask you this question; if the – prior to the fall it had been known that this area of roof had a CMRR rating of 37 would it have demanded a different response than the Code Yellow response which was evidently implemented by the miners?--  No, I don’t think so.

Did the features which you’ve described in your report remain critical to the appropriate response to the scene?--  Yes.

What prospect is there of identifying such a feature by core drilling which is the step first taken in the CMRR procedure?--  Unfortunately very little, there’s little chance - since the drilling through coal measure strata has to be essentially vertical holes there’s very little opportunity and chance of intersecting such a steeply dipping structure.  There’s a significant bias against vertical drill holes intersecting such structure and the only way of getting around that is to contemplate heaven forbid angle drilling.

On the off chance that the core drill hole had hit the feature would the core have shown up the angle of the feature?--  It would depend on whether the drill hole could subsequently be surveyed.  If it could the dip of the feature would have been known but its strike, which is the direction that the structure has when it hits a horizontal surface, the strike of the structure wouldn’t be known but its dip would.

Thank you.  Thank you, Your Worship.  Might the witness be excused?

WARDEN:  One from Mr Dalliston.

MR DALLISTON:  Yeah, just a bit of clarification on that if I may.  We seem to be getting two things mixed up here in my limited opinion.  One, we’re looking at CMRR, the other thing we’re looking at – holes to determine where structures are.  Is a CMRR core used for – always used for determining where structures are or are there two different things there?--  Well the core for CMRR can be used to determine the dip of structures but it can also be used to collect core 

which can then subsequently be log tested and provide the data that then goes into formulate CMRR.

So when you’re looking for a CMRR rating if that’s what you’re going to use you’re not necessarily looking for structures as well?--  Well CMRR if you look at it is highly – is a system which is virtually solely dependent on structure.  It’s looking to – at the influence the structure is going to have on whether the roof of the bolted thickness is really going to span the opening or not.  If you look at it it includes whether the structure’s got infill, how rough the structures are and how many structures are present, it’s a structural based and biased classification system.

It’s mainly looking at laminations and strength of laminations?--  It’s looking at the thickness of bedded layers, it’s also looking at how many sets of structures are present, not just looking at bedding, you’re looking at cross structures as well.  The unfortunate thing about CMRR though is that it makes no – and takes no account of the angle of the structures.  You actually record the angle of the structures in the data base, in the CMRR data base, but it’s not used, so whether the structure is flat or steep will come into CMRR only in terms of the number of sets of structures and there’s an adjustment required to it as a result of that, but the CMRR wouldn’t change whether the drill hole intersected a steep structure or a flat one.

Thank you.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Dr Fuller.  Head for your plane please, I hope you make it.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Brendan Scott Dalglish.

BRENDAN SCOTT DALGLISH, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

WARDEN:  Take a seat witness, sorry we’ve kept you so long it’s just the way things have run.  We want to try and finish you this afternoon so you don’t have to come back tomorrow, okay.  Mr Tate will take you through it.

MR TATE:  Mr Dalglish, for the record, would you indicate your full name please?--  Brendan Scott Dalglish.

And your occupation?--  Electrician in the panel.

And your current address?--  49 Bauhinia Street, Tieri.

And you gave a statement I think to the inspectors as a result of the incident that occurred on the 26th of May 2000?--  Yes.

I’ll show you this document; is this your signature at the bottom of each page and is that the statement that you gave the inspectors?--  Yeah, I think so.

Are there any changes you want to make to that today, any additions, 

deletions?--  No.

No?--  No, not really.

It’s true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yeah.

I tender that, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 25.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 25”

MR TATE:  I have very few questions for you but there’s a couple that I need to ask you.  Now you’re aware that we’re here to inquire into the nature and cause of this incident; you’re aware of that, it’s not to get anyone into trouble?--  Yes.

The other thing that we’re trying to do is to work out a recommendation, some recommendations that might help the industry move in to try and avoid this sort of tragedy happening again.  Can you understand that’s what we’re about?--  Yep.

Now in your statement you’ve told us pretty much what you got up to at the time, what you role was, where you went, you made some telephone calls and that sort of stuff.  So you’ve told us what you’ve done?--  Yeah.

When it happened until about 9 o’clock people came in and tried to do some rescuing and so forth, yes?--  Yeah.

Are you able to tell us what people did in relation to the scene, in relation to trying to get the trapped men out?--  In what respect?

What you remember; now if you were around the corner and you didn’t see anything that’s your answer.  If you did see things what-----?--  Yeah, I didn’t see too much I was manning the phone.

Yes?--  And as they come in – I was manning it sort of partly and then once more people came in I just stayed beside the phone.

Yes, and where was that, that was in A Panel or something, was it?--  That was probably the travel road probably 30 metres away from the fall in the same heading.

And you stayed pretty much there the whole time, did you?--  Pretty much, yeah.

Can you give us an indication of time, from when to when, you were down by the phone?--  We left the crib room sort of 3.40-ish.

Yes?--  By then we couldn’t get the phone to work so we got the phone going and then I – then we just sort of isolated all the power, re-powered the place and threw a bit of air over the top and that’s pretty much all I’ve seen and I went in there to help try and cut a cable in the rescue part.  Apart from that that’s all I can recall.

So when you went in to cut the cable, what did you do then?--  I’ve just given them the blimen hacksaw I got out of my toolbox and there was already two blokes there, they were happy to cut it because I already isolated it.

Right?--  So then I just left them with the tools they needed.

And you’ve popped back to the phone?--  Yep.

Doing the best you can what time would that have been?--  I wouldn’t have a clue to be honest, eh, this was all in between, over probably a three hour period there was a lot happening in a three hour period there sort of thing like to give you a time.  I'd say that you’d be looking at sort of 5.30, six, 5 o’clock, sort of be an hour and a half later.

And that’s all you can tell us?--  Yeah.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Mr Dalliston.

MR DALLISTON:  No questions thanks.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  No questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  No questions, thank you.

REVIEWER WOODS:  When you put a bolt up, all your bolting rigs, are they all automatic?--  Yeah, they are.

Automatic?--  On that particular continuous miner.

They are all automatic?--  Yes.

How do you judge any partings in the roof when the machine’s on automatic?--  Well sometimes you start off the bolt but generally you’ll see it on automatic, if it goes through some shitty ground, excuse the language, she sort of jumps, if it’s hard you sort of start locking tips and it locks lower and you can see the speed vary as it goes up but that’s if you’re watching it, like normally you’re getting your bolts off.

So when you start automatic do you turn around – do you get your bolts ready or do you get your bolts ready beforehand?--  You sort of half try and get them ready but you’ve still go to put – while they’re drilling you get them all ready so you’re using all the time.

Thank you.  You only put one bolt up at a time?--  Oh no, sometimes you’re operating-----

Both rigs?--  Both rigs, yeah.  You’ve got sort of – there’s two of you there and you’re doing two bolts at a time and one each side.

That’s all.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Dalglish, on your report, page 2, line 23, right down the bottom, “The weight continued to come on the fall area”, what do you mean by that?--  We went in there straight away as far as the rear end of the miner and it was just popping, there was a lot of noise, you know what I mean, like I was [indistinct] for a bit she was going to come back in even worse.  It was definitely making a noises before that we hadn’t heard a noise and then there was just popping galore.

Did it continue to fall?--  We couldn’t actually see the pressure come on because we had nothing to sort of hold it up apart from the miner and the blimen shuttle car but the tyres hadn’t blown out of the shuttle car or anything like that.  When you’re right into – as far as you can get in was making a heap of noise and that was the only indication we had that there-----

The noise you heard was strata breaking above you, was it?--  I assume so – popping as in pressure releasing somewhere.

Strata noises or-----?--  Yeah, there was definitely strata noises.

Hydraulic hoses blowing or what?--  No, I don’t think – more than likely either the heads retracting under pressure with-----

Which is hydraulic noises?--  Yeah, it was either that or it was popping but I was under the impression it was strata.

Strata from above you?  Okay.  The initial fall, what time did you leave the section on that morning?--  6.30 I suppose.

It says there in some of the other reports that there were some secondary and third falls; are you aware of those?--  Not particularly, no.

You wasn’t there for any of that?--  I was there pretty late but I didn’t hear any people saying sort of it’s coming in again and getting away or anything like that from where I was they were still trying to bring gear in.

Over the next page of that report on page 3, the top line, “We tried to organise timber props with one loader that we had in the panel.  There were no props available”.  If you had equipment there to assist or timber to be used would that have speeded up the rescue and recovery operation?--  I couldn’t even say, I have very limited experience in rescue or anything like that, do you know what I mean, we could have secured the area a bit better I assume but I’m not really – I haven’t done any mines rescue or anything like that.

Okay, well on the last two lines of your report, three lines, you said you would like to have some training in recovery in difficult situations such as experienced on the 26th of May.  I believed that the emergency sought supplies should have been more readily available.  So if you believe they should have been more readily available as per your statement?--  Yeah.

We tried to organise it, do you think it would have sped up or secured the situation quicker?--  Well we would have had the gear there, it would have been a lot accessible of course it would have been better, but whether it would have told in the end.  I don’t know what sort of gear they needed or anything, do you know what I mean, I reckon having rescue gear handy nearby would have 

been-----

Rescue gear is timber to support the roof?--  Yeah, yeah, we had no timber around so it would have been a lot safer work environment for people going in at least.

So how long from when the initial fall started to when they started to support the roof?--  An hour and a half, an hour.

So from 3.30 until 3.45 until-----?--  Because they got down a rescue truck and it didn’t have the correct gear in it as far as I know because when we took it back out-----

So they got a rescue truck down and it didn’t have the correct gear in it?--  Yeah, it’s a special trailer, a rescue type trailer.

I don’t remember reading that anywhere?--  I didn’t bring it in or anything like that, that got brought in when everyone started rushing in, you know what I mean, there was people going everywhere.

So you’ve got a specially designated rescue trailer?--  Yeah.

That comes in and it didn’t have the right equipment on it?--  It had the right gear for some other type of fall, they had some sort of other ratchet type props or stuff that I don’t know nothing about.

And what time did that get there?--  Would have been 4.30 I suppose, 5 o’clock.

So an hour and a half after the incident.  So even with the timber – when the timber got there it was an hour and a half before you could provide any secondary support whatsoever?--  I think so.

Where did-----?--  Because we started bringing it by – PJBs and that, we started to bring timber in.

Where did the timber come from?--  I believe the surface or at north-east turnoff, I wasn’t too sure, I never went out and got it or anything like that.

No further questions.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  How much time would you spend normally through a shift involved in the bolting cycle, do you spend a lot or is it mainly just your electrician duties?--  No, I spend a fair bit of bolting, I’d say sort of – it all depends on which crew supervisor I’m with of course.

Yes?--  Some deputies like you up at the face because you’re there if the gear breaks down you know what I mean so you bolt for three-quarters of the shift, other times you might be organising supplies for them the whole time, getting ready sort of and just bolt over crib as they split for crib, so you go up there when they split for crib.  So it varies a lot.

Another one; have you received any training in strata control or hazard identification at all other than what you – your normal induction?--  Yeah, no, I think that’s all we got was our normal induction that I can remember because the old miners usually try and train us or whatever.

As you go along?--  Yeah, they’ll tell you what shitty roof is and what sounds to listen for.

That’s all I’ve got.

REVIEWER SINGER:  One question; can you explain the process on that shift when you put bolts up so when you got there at the start of the shift, do you cut out one car, two cars and then put a strap, or do you cut out for numerous straps at once?--  Depends on the break-off but usually you might get two or three cars, you might do a couple of spotties and then you’ll do – start doing your straps.  Until you can turn right around it’s pretty hard, like sometimes you might get four or five cars out before you can get the first strap that can actually start doing something, you know what I mean, because the first couple – putting strap over strap and you’re not really doing anything there too much, but when you turn around and you get in a bit well then you go to normal spacings again because the mine is pretty big to try and turn around on normal break-off even though that’s a 45, but a 90 degree break-off it takes quite a while to get around so the miner is facing the right way then you go to spacings, usually close them up as you turn around.

So what would be the maximum distance from the last line of support to the face, do you know what the requirement is?--  I don’t think it’d be any more than a couple of metres at most.

Okay.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  You might need a copy of this report; in the Manager’s Report, Appendix 14A, page 13 of 28 it is – page 13 of 28, down the bottom there it says, “The crew at the face at discussions…?--  Yeah.

Just read through that paragraph there and over the page to where it says, finishes at “Code Red support” if you don’t mind?--  The crew at the face had discussions about increasing the support.  Brendan Dalglish asked Michael Morris whether they need to go to Code Red support because they were cutting down up to 300 ml of roof.  The crew installing a support pattern of four six foot bolts per strap a spacing of half a metre.  Brendan Dalglish did not notice any disturbance of the roof or water coming from the roof.  In response to the query, Michael Morris and Brendan Gruening agreed they did not need to go to Code Red support”.

That’s fine.  The question I’ve got was, when you saw the crew-----?--  No, it was just the two blokes.

Just the two blokes, and it was just a conversation?--  It was just so – for my own teaching do you know what I mean like-----

Yeah.  With the amount of – well you say stone or flake that you were cutting down you thought that you had concern with the roof or was it-----?--  It’s just steps – when I came back from doing – I think I was chasing belts outbye, I came back and I could see them closing the straps up-----

And the roof deteriorating was it?--  Yeah, and I thought progression, it might go to Code Red but the blokes there – like we’ve been through a lot worse than what was sort of there.

Yes?--  And the blokes turned around, they had a quick look, there was only those two blokes I was talking about and it was just for my own query to sort of – so I could learn, are we going to Code Red, how bad is the roof sort of thing.

Thanks for that.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Anything arising out of that?

MR TATE:  No, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused?

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, witness; you may stand down, you’re excused, you may leave.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Brandon Lee Gruening.  After Mr Gruening, Your Worship, is Mr Wyatte; I wonder whether – I note the time even allowing for the next two witnesses to be relatively short I wonder whether Mr Sanderson and Mr Euston may be better scheduled for tomorrow morning.  I’m told by my learned friends that the witnesses tomorrow are unlikely to be long.

WARDEN:  I’ll just check with my clerk on their residential arrangements.

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases.  

WARDEN:  If they’ve got to travel we’ll let them go, if they’re not required to travel we might hang onto them and try and finish as many as we can today.

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases.

WARDEN:  Mr Wyatte is very keen to finish today.

MR TATE:  It was proposed to call him potentially as the last witness for today depending on Your Worship’s views.

WARDEN:  I’ll check with Sanderson and Euston shortly, thank you.  Can we start this witness please.

BRANDON LEE GRUENING, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Gruening, if you’d help me, for the record you need to let us know your full name?--  Brandon Lee Gruening.

And your occupation?--  Underground miner.

And your address?—15 Emuapple Street, Tieri.

The microphones you’ve got record everything you say but they don’t amplify it, so one of the things that you’ve got to do if you don’t mind is to keep your voice up so that we can all hear.  Now as a result of this incident you gave a statement I think to the inspectors that came out, is that right?--  Yes.

Would you have a look at this document, please, which is in front of you.  Is that your statement, your signature at the bottom of each page?--  Yes.

Are there any changes that you want to make to your statement today, any deletions, any additions?--  No.

Is it true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yes.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 26.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 26”

MR TATE:  Mr Gruening, we’ve got on the – just so you know, you know why we’re all here, don’t you?--  Yeah, yeah.

It’s to look into the nature and cause of how this happened and to see if we can work out some recommendations for the industry for Oaky Creek or whatever, try and never have this happen again, all right?--  Yeah.

So we’re not here to try and get anyone into trouble, just so you know what we’re all about, but you were there for – more or less for our purposes an eyewitness so even though it might be a bit hard I need to ask you some questions about that day, all right?--  Yes.

Now you can see that that’s a map with 27 cut-through, 28 cut-through, and you can see in blue where the fall was?--  Yes.

And you can see that that’s the straps and the roof support.  Now on the right-hand side you’ll see the laser point.  Don’t shine it in anyone’s eyes, but what I’d like you to do is to tell us with the pointer if you like where you were and what you were doing prior to the fall?  Can you do that?--  I was mainly working on this side of the miner, as the miner was cutting I was standing back up here more or less watching the cable as the shuttle car went around the corner.

Yes?--   It was a bad spot to catch the cable.

Yes?--  I more or less stayed around that area.

Remember to keep your voice up so that we can hear?--  When Mick was right for bolting I’d jump up on the platforms and give him a hand.

Now, how did you go about doing your bit of the bolting, where did you stand on the continuous miner?  It’s just so that we’ve got an understanding of it?--  When he called for a strap I jumped on the machine, got him his strap for him, placed it on the bolting rigs and he put – drove the miner forward to wherever he wanted them placed.

And did you help with the bolting?--  Yes, yeah.

Doing the best you can, what sort of bolts did you put in, what sort of bolts in the roof support did you put in?--  It was mainly them inside bolts there.

Right.  So looking at this diagram they’re the bolts in the right-hand side of the cut-through?--  Yes.

What code were you bolting to, you know on the SCARP?--  Yeah.

What code were you bolting to?--  It was a Code Green that night.  I think Mick basically closed them up due to there being a bit of roof flake on the – at the time.

Right?--  Yeah, but other than that it was Code Green.

Coming along the – looking at the B Heading, most of that support is green and then where you see we come up to the beginning of the 28 cut-through?--  Mmm.

It bunches up?--  Yeah.

Were you involved in any of that?--  No.

Was that before your shift?--  Yeah, that was the previous-----

Where had people got up to with the roof support when you came on shift?--  Which – are you talking bunched up as in up there or back in-----

No, down here in the heading, B Heading?--  B Heading had previously been driven a week beforehand.

Had it, okay.  So when you came on shift what did you have to rock bolt, what did you have to bolt?--  We basically would have started around this area here just starting to go into the-----

So doing the cut-through bolting?--  Yeah.

But not the bolting along the heading?--  No.

When you were doing – putting in the bolts that you were putting in, can you say whether you observed the drill still jumping while you were inserting the bolts?--  No.

There was no jumping at all?--  No, not that I was aware of, no.

Did you get any indication at all that there was softer roof where you were putting the bolts in?--  No.

What did it feel like to put the bolts in?--  It was all pretty good, sort of in that – along that – a fair bit of the driveage that we were doing in that area had a few faults around that area and it was probably good for that area.

Right?--  We thought so anyway.

How did the bolts spin, did they seem to spin all right?--  Yes.

Take up was good?--  From what I recall yeah, everything was as it should be.

Can you tell me the procedure that you used and your crew that night to install the roof bolts?  How did you do it, what was the procedure that you followed and that you were supposed to follow?--  Basically when Mick calls he wants to bolt up I’d jump on the machine, set the strap on the bolting rig, he’d place them on where he thought that he wanted it, he’d say, righto, he’d put the machine into bolting mode and away we’d go, set the two outside timber jacks to the roof then we’d get our middle ones.

With the bolts, did they go straight up into the roof or did they go off in an 

angle?--  Your inside bolts are on a slight angle, the outside is pretty well straight up and down, I think they were off a little bit.

Yes?--  Yeah, that’s-----

That’s about it?--  Yeah.

How was the bolt and chemical mixed?--  Speaking for myself they were pretty good, they were good.

How?--  How?

Yeah, it didn’t happen by miracle, how was the bolt and chemical mixed?--  

Good, well it-----

No, no, no, you’ve got to mix it you see?--  Yeah.

How was the bolt-----?--  Sorry, how do you-----

-----and the chemical mixed?--  Yeah.

I’m sorry, that’s why I was saying no, no, no, it’s got to happen this way.  I thought we were at crossed purposes?—You put the chemical in the roof-----

How do you do that?  Take us through it just so we understand?--  We drill the hole, six foot hole, pull the drill still out, you’ve got a 800 ml chemical, you slide that into the hole with a six foot bolt behind it, push that into the roof, there’s a chuck with a dolly on it, you can spin it, you spin it for 13, 14 seconds and you give it that amount of time again to set and spin them up tight.

Right?--  Usually you can tell if a bit of chemical comes out the holes or whether it’s encapsulated or-----

Or not.  When do you start spinning the bolt, how long after you-----?--  About the same time, 14 seconds.

What was the maximum cu-out distance in advance of the last line of roof support that night, do you remember?--  No, I couldn’t recall.

Was there anything that – did you hear the roof talking at all that night?--  No.

Any talking in the ribs or anywhere else?--  Nothing at all.

Was the machine on most of the time?--  Yes.

I guess that would make it pretty hard to hear anything?--  Usually in the past from what I’ve heard with roof – with things letting go you can virtually hear it pretty distinctly, like you can -–you know when it’s working sort of thing.

Were there any excessive delays between cutting out of the roof and bolting it?--  Not that I can recall, I don’t know.

One of the – a lot of the people are saying that you know this sort of fall occasionally happens and nothing much we can do about it, it’s just part of mining.  If that’s right there’s an issue that I just want you to just think about and that issue is how can we give blokes a bit more time, how can we give them a bit more warning.  Obviously this would have been something that’s been playing on your mind a bit and I don’t want to disturb you or worry you, but have you any ideas how we can buy people a bit more time?--  No, basically the measures we’re going to at the moment------

Don’t forget everyone’s got to hear you, it’s no good telling us things if no one hears you?--  No, I couldn’t really say much more to what we’d already done type thing.

So what have you already done?--  As in – for that night, the ground we were in we thought we were – we were doing what we thought was right.

Have you had training on making decisions in SCARP?--  Yes.

What sort of training have you had?--  When I was at Central Colliery I got through – for starters in the induction part of the induction was one section on roof, button pressures, just bolting in general, all that sort of stuff, and then going through from my miner driver’s ticket there was another more intense training scheme, and then basically as you go along you learn through older blokes, older miners in the past.

Yes, I understand.  Did you have any involvement in the attempt to recover the two trapped miners?--  I was there for approximately a couple of hours, three hours maybe.

You need to tell us so that we understand what happened in the attempted recovery phase.  So can you tell us and in particular the panel what you saw and try and keep your voice up so we can all hear otherwise you’ll have us all around the witness box so that we can hear you and you will want us all to get back to  our seats so keep your voice up for me, would you?--  Yeah, basically after the fall we-----

Which is about three, it’s a little after three, isn’t it, in the morning?--  Yeah.

Yes?--  We heard it from the cribroom, we all walked out to the mainroad, there was someone waving us back to come back to the face, we basically knew that something had gone wrong, all the power had shut down plus we heard the noise, some sort of noise.  By the time we got to-----

Look, we’ve got to start again because the people on the bench can’t hear you so can you start again please, you were in the crib – I’m not trying to give you a hard time we’ve just got to be able to hear you?--  We’re in the cribroom, we walked out to the travel road after we heard some sort of noise, there was someone waving us back to the fall area, we proceeded to walk up there, there was a phone just back from 27 cut-through, back about here.

Yes?--  And the shuttle car driver met us there roughly, Brett Murphy; he had told us what had happened, himself and I think it might be Brendan Dalglish tried to ring through the emergency number.  Myself, I’m not sure whether it was Phil Wagstaff, yeah, walked to the face to see what was going on.  There was a big polypipe had been knocked down and was basically sitting out of the fall down the middle of the road.

Yes?--  There was a bow-saw sitting on the corner there so I noticed that there and cut that poly-pipe out of the road.

Yes?--  Still trying to keep in communication with Stewie and Mick.  By that stage I think Tom Lambie and Garth Zerner had driven in, I wasn’t – it was a short time after the fall they arrived, we organised an Eimco with a bucket on the front just to try and get some of the rock and anything else out of the road.  There was a few other people started coming in, Andy Morris-----

Keep your voice up, would you, Mr Glazbrook in particular is very very interested to hear about what happened afterwards so I’ve got to hear you, he’s got to hear you and we’re in opposite directions you see?--  Some of the mines rescue boys they were working in the long – on shift at that time, they come into the scene along with props and cog timber and everything to try and secondary support the face of the fall.  We proceeded to set them props, meanwhile there’s Garth Zerner and Andy Morris around on the driver’s side of the miner trying to tunnel through to the boys and that was basically – I helped to set a lot of the props and the cog timber, and at that stage there was too many people coming in, mines rescue, there was – it wasn’t the place for that many people to be so we went.

Right.  That’s you and who else?--  Myself, John Sanderson, Brendan Dalglish, that was it I think.

And about what time would that have been that you left?--  7.30.

7.30. Thank you, sir.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  You said when you went in the straps were about 800 – in your statement you said the straps were about 800 centimetres to a metre apart, could you show us roughly where those straps were that you were talking about?--  Imagine in that area up here.

So when you went in at the beginning of your shift there was actual straps up already?--  No, sorry, at the beginning of our shift.

You said when you started cutting, “I was on the cable in B Heading the area opposite the break-off I noticed the straps were fairly close, I recall the spacing to be approximately 800 to 1000 millimetres”?--  Might have been in this area back here I was talking.

So it’s those close ones there with the one – with the piece missing out?--  Yeah.

On the bottom of the first page of your statement, lines 17 and 18?--  Yeah, it’d have to be in that area.

Right.  See the four straps or three and then the two half straps right at the corner of the intersection, did you notice those straps there when you started the break-off?--  I couldn’t recall, no.

Because those straps there when we went down after the incident they were only actually about 300 millimetres apart which is about centre to centre that way, they were nearly touching each other, you didn’t notice that when you went in?--  I can’t recall that now, now.

Because on the next page of your statement it said you had a look around the roof you couldn’t notice any large lumps of flaky roof so is that a common thing that bad roofs usually – onto flaky roof or how do you determine if the roof is any good?--  Sometimes people mightn’t cut certain part materials off the roof and once it gets a bit of air involved or it starts drying out they tend to slab out fairly bad.

So if there wasn’t any big holes in the roof and just the straps were closed up would you think anything of that as being – could be – the roof, might be something wrong there?--  There was nothing put forward to us that there was any problems.

The next page of your statement you say you didn’t notice any signs of cutters or guttering running across the roof or down to the rib.  So if you didn’t notice those straps were really close together there and the break-off was right beside there, did you have a real good look at the roof or did someone ask you when you were writing your statement out did you see anything wrong with the roof and you just said no?  Did you have a good look at the roof to see if there was anything there?--  I’d imagine that I would have, I can’t really recall now to what-----

No worries.  Those straps as you start going around the intersection there, if I tell you those straps that are close together were 300 millimetres apart then is that about normal spacing for the straps as you started to turn into an intersection?--  Yeah, usually you tend to as you get – what I’ve seen tend to close them up a little bit as you go around, it doesn’t hurt, Mick was always pretty fussy on that sort of stuff.

So the straps being that wide indicate that you didn’t, as a crew, didn’t think there was much problem with the roof there at that time?--  There’s nothing put forward to us that there was any problems going through there.

I just noticed there’s closed straps before the intersection and as soon as you get around the intersection there’s closed straps again – you’ve got a fair bit of experience since ’94 in the industry, is that a practice that you usually see the straps are that wide go around a corner when they’re close before and close after?--  Close after as if you’re meaning up here?

No, up in the cut-through, yeah?--  Yeah, well I mean I’m not sure what Mick was thinking there that was his call.

So it’s usually the miner driver or the deputy says where the straps go?--  Basically unless someone else otherwise wants to put extra support up or you know, yeah.

You also said the roof here was good compared to elsewhere in the panel?--  I was meaning in the immediate area within that pillar-type thing.

You’d come through a few faults and that before and then at the face?--  Yeah, yep.

You’ve been in the industry since 1994, what type of training have you had on actual strata control itself rather than just on operating the miner or how to put the bolts in the roof, actually knowing what the roof does and what to start looking for if roof conditions are changing?--  Part of when I learnt to drive the 

miner the old blokes training me that was one of their biggest things, they always tried to look upon that as one of the major things which it is, that’s basically – the company looked at that as a good thing as well, they got involved.

Since 1996 and you know about hazard management plans and strata control management plan and stuff, have you had any training on actually advanced – especially seeing you’ve got a miner driver’s ticket in strata control – actually had more training and people assessed you to see what knowledge you’ve got on the management plans for the mines you’ve worked at?--  I went through it a little bit at Oaky North when I was doing secondary support over there, but no, I haven’t had-----

Thanks.  No further questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  No questions, thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  No questions, thank you.

REVIEWER WOODS:  When you were actually – go back a week or so before you actually broke off there, B Heading, the driveage from B Heading where those close straps are right across past the intersection there, do you remember going through driving that at all?--  No, no.

Do you remember driving any of that roadway, B Heading?--  I think we mostly got up a bit further where the fault is, there’s a fault up the road and we did most of the driveage through that.

That’s all.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Gruening, you said that those two people went in there and you and one of them went and started digging from the miner’s side, driver’s side of the miner?--  No, I wasn’t one of them.

Well who went in there and started digging from the driver’s side of the miner?--  Garth Zerner and Andy Morris.

Andy Morris?--  Yeah.

Whereabouts on the driver’s side of the miner, how did they get there?--  They went up – the fall was – as you can see it was basically there, they went in down through here.

So they come in under the tail of the miner and in between the miner and the shuttle car?--  Yep.

You said youse had some timber?--  Yes.

How long from when the first – when you first had the fall did you get the timber to start setting up?--  At approximately – I can’t really recall it but it would be three-quarters of an hour.

Three-quarters of an hour to an hour?--  Yeah, that’s-----

Do you believe the rescue operation was slowed down because of the lack of the material you had?--  No, I thought for the circumstances it all ran – it all went pretty smoothly, as smoothly as it could be I should point it.

I fully understand, it’s a very difficult situation?--  Yeah.

There was more than one fall, there was a couple of secondary falls, were you there when they happened?--  No.

So how long after this incident happened did you leave the pit?--  I went to the surface at about approximately 7.30, I stayed on the surface to about one o’clock in the afternoon.

And there was no secondary falls while you were down there that you know of?--  Not while I was down there, no.

No further questions.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Mr Gruening, in your statement you say at the break-off the continuous miner was on lean to the right-hand side, was that due to a hole in the floor or was it a roll in the floor, or you didn’t take – because you weren’t driving the miner that-----?--  I couldn’t really recall.

And another one, you say when you’re at the face inbye the break-off you decreased from one to 1.2 metres then down to half a metre to your straps, did – when you were bolting that did you notice any separations in the roof at all?--  No.

 Were you on automatic drill feed or – that’s all right, mate, that’s all I’ve got.

WARDEN:  Nothing further up here.  Anything arising?

MR TATE:  Might this witness be excused, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Ross Wyatte.

WARDEN:  The witness after Wyatte is Sanderson, he wasn’t quite sure if he wanted to stay or if he wanted to go, so we’ll check that shortly, there may be one more, he may have decided to go and come back tomorrow, I gave him the option.

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases.

ROSS GRAHAM WYATTE, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Wyatte, would you indicate your full name please?--  Ross Graham Wyatte.

And your occupation?--  Coal miner.

And your current address?--  17 Emuapple Street, Tieri.

Now you’ve been called to give evidence and you’ve got a statement there I think that you’ve provided, is that correct?--  Yeah.

You want to make some changes to that statement?--  Yeah, the afternoon shift should have been night shift.

I’ll sit down now and my friend will take you through your evidence, all right.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Mr Dalliston.

MR DALLISTON:  First up if you’d tell us what you’d like to change on your statement?--  Just in the top part of the statement the afternoon shift should be night shift.

So where it says, “Maingate 19 on afternoon shift…”, would you like to-----?--  Yeah, it should be-----

----put a line through afternoon shift and write night there please.  Is there anything else you’d like to change in your statement?  Can you please initial where you changed there and then we’ll have to tender that statement?--  Just initial that?

Just initial near the change, thanks.  On the wall there in front of you we have a plan taken of the strata control supports at 28 cut-through.  On 17th May on the night shift you worked, could you indicate roughly where – can you remember where you were driving on that shift?  There’s a pointer there on the other side?--  Well off – going through the reports because I don’t recall the closed up straps.  We drove to about the 100 metre mark there and pulled back and done that at 27 cut-through, we started the break-off there, that was the week before.

On the 17th, yeah?--  Yeah.

So you don’t remember closing those straps up there?--  No, I don’t recall.

So on the afternoon shift of 25th of May?--  We proved the fault in A Heading and we had to flit back around down 27 cut-through and we started the break-off at 28 there.

Were you driving the miner on that shift?--  Yes, I was.

Did you notice those closed up straps when you broke off?--  I can’t say I took any notice to it, no.

Is there a usual practice for having a look at strata or was there any set down system for having a look at the strata control systems around where you break-off or what’s the process when you break a cut-through off?--  Well that particular one we had to wait for a measurement from the surveyors and that where they particularly wanted the angle drive.

And you just break-off there?--  Yeah.

As a mine driver, is part of your responsibility under the Strata Control Management Plan to identify any geological changes?--  Yeah, we do.

Would you be able to explain to us here how you’d identify any of those changes and how those changes are reported to anyone?--  Well if you’re going along and it’s Code Green you get a cutter coming in the roof or something well we’d close the straps up around that cutter area until it comes good again.  You’d report it to your deputy and that.

So your communication as far as a mine driver goes is mainly verbal communication to your deputy to your supervisor, you don’t write down any of those things or-----?--  No, we don’t.

As part of the Strata Control Management Plan, what type of training have you had in being able to identify geological changes in any surfaces especially because you’re in a position when the deputy’s not there you’re in charge, are you, as the mine driver?--  Yeah, well, be no – other than induction, while I’ve been doing my deputies I’ve done the strata control course and the deputies but as formal training, no.

So as miner driver the only thing that you’ve got to work by is this Code Green, Yellow, Orange and Red?--  Your codes, yeah.

When you get into Codes Orange and Red, do you need to look at that or would you be able to tell me what’s the difference when you get into Codes Orange and Red that-----?--  Well, Orange is when you start your eight foot bolts, and the Red is when you have the eight foot bolts plus your high tendon support.

What makes you change to those things?--  Conditions, when they deteriorate.

Can you tell me what they are or do you want to have a look at that just to see what they are on there.  You can stand up if you like, can you read that from over there or we can give you one at the desk, I think it’s in the second column?--  To do with the tell-tale reports when you go to your Orange and Red.

So is the main thing that indicates to go to Orange and Red is water coming out of the roof?--  Not necessarily.

Apart from movement on your tell-tales, what else would it be?--  Roof flake, you know you get some bumping and cracking, you can hear it up in the roof.

That’s all I’ve got, thanks.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Mr Tate.

MR TATE:  No questions, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions, thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  No questions.

REVIEWER SINGER:  As a miner driver, how important is the maximum cut-out distance and can you optimise the cycle by cutting out more than four metres and how rigidly do you stay to that?--  No, well you’d never open it up more than four metres because of the roof conditions down there.

What happens after four metres, what do you mean by that?--  Well for starters you’d be in contrivance of the Act with your ventilation, but if you opened your roof up that much down there it’s – there’s local laminated stuff and it starts to dribble.

So after about four metres you start to see visual evidence of roof-----?--  Yeah, you would.

WARDEN:  Anything arising out of that?  I don’t think so.  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused, you may leave.  Thank you for waiting, we’re pleased we could get you through today but sorry you had to wait so long.

MR TATE:  Now I’m in Your Worship’s hands.

WARDEN:  The good news is that’s the last witness today, the bad news is we’ve recall the next two for 9 o’clock tomorrow morning.  Can we adjourn and start as close to nine as possible, thank you.

MR TATE:  If Your Worship pleases.

WARDEN:  The Courtroom will be secured tonight if you want to leave anything behind.

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 6.16 PM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 9.05 AM

MR TATE:  I call Barry John Sanderson.

JOHN BARRY SANDERSON, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Sanderson, for the record would you indicate your full name please?--  John Barry Sanderson.

And your occupation?--  Just a miner.

And your address?--  19 Platypus Street, Tieri.

And I think you were working at the Oaky Creek No 1 Mine on 26th May when this incident occurred?--  Yep.

Subsequently you talked to the inspectors?--  Yep.

And you gave them a report?--  Yep.

Or a statement about what happened?--  Yep.

Would you have a look at the document in front of you, it should be in the plastic folder I think?--  Righto, yeah.

Is that your signature on the bottom of each page and is that the statement you gave to the inspectors?--  Yep.

Are there any changes that you’d like to make today, any additions, alterations, deletions?--  No. 

It’s true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yep.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 28, thank you.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 28”

MR TATE:  Now, Mr Sanderson, as you know why we’re all here today and yesterday and probably tomorrow, is to try and work out the nature and cause of this incident, we’re not here to try and get anyone into trouble?--  Yep.

The other thing that the panel and His Worship will try to do is to work out recommendations for the future to try and make sure that mining is just that little bit safer?--  Yep.

It’s industry wide.  So that’s why we’re having the inquiry and why of the people such as yourself who were there are coming along to give evidence, all right, so I don’t want you to feel nervous or troubled?--  Yep.

I’m going to ask you a few questions just so that all of us here who weren’t there can gain a better understanding of what happened?--  Righto.

Do you follow me?--  Yep.

Now can you tell us in your own words what happened?--  The night it happened?

Yes?--  Well I was at crib when it happened so I can’t say exactly but just know that the roof fell.

Now you came out from crib in due course when it fell?--  Yeah, we heard the noise and bolted up to the face.

Tell the panel what happened after you came out and you bolted up to the face, what did you see?--  We seen Brett Murphy was running back towards us, as soon as we’d seen him we knew that something was wrong and looked just up ahead because the face wasn’t far from the [indistinct] where Brett was running to, it was on the deck and Stewie and Mick were still up there.

And what time would this have been?--  Close to 4 o’clock or something I suppose.

What did you do then because at that point you I guess or everyone realised that you had a couple of trapped mates?--  Yeah.

You fellas were there?--  Yep.

You knew you had a rock fall?--  Yep.

You saw that; what did you do, you and the rest of the crew, tell us what you did?--  Well Brett was trying to get onto the emergency number, got a screeching back into the phone but they ended up getting on through the control room number or something, we requested for some assistance and some timber.  [Indistinct] and myself went up and cut a piece of pipe that was running up the heading and just tried to gain contact with Stewie and Mick.

How did you do that?--  Just by yelling out to them and asking them whether they were all right and what the story was.

Did you get any response?--  From Stewie, yes.

What sort of things was he saying?--  He was just saying that he was all right, we asked what the story was with Mick and he said that he was talking to him but he wasn’t real flash.

So you couldn’t hear the deceased talking but-----?--  Stewie could.

-----Stewie could?--  Well as far as we know he could, yeah.

What did you do then?--  Well I ran and went onto the DAC because I didn’t want to tie up the phone line, I ran around to the DAC and got onto control and told them who I was and where I was and what the story was as I knew it then.

Yeah?--  And asked them to get some props and cog timber down as soon as they could so that we could support the face when we went in, or support the heading on the way in.

Yeah, so the-----?--  So that it was safer for us while we were going in as well.

Did you then go back to where the fall was at 28 cut-through?--  Yeah, yeah.

What happened then?--  By that time I think Tom Lambie and Garth were there, they re-powered up the fan I think.

Yeah?--  Like we re-joined up all the vent tubes and stuff around and, yeah, got power back to the fan, I think we’d run up a couple of hoses up into the fall for some air for Stewie and Mick and that’s about it.

So what happened subsequently; more people came?--  Yeah, there was heaps of people coming in, Andy Morris, Darren Nicholls came. 

About what time would this have been?  I know it’s hard just do the best you can?--  I suppose about a quarter to five at a guess I couldn’t say exactly.

So between the actual fall and when – at about a quarter to five, is that when the real rescue attempt began, the digging out and stuff, when did that happen?--  Well that was – once Garth got there Garth went up around the left-hand side of the shuttle car in between the tail of the miner and the shuttle car to see if he could get in any way.

Yes?--  I suppose once the other people got there I suppose you could say that’s when we really got into the brunt of it, yeah.

And would that be about a quarter to five?--  Yeah, if that.

If that; maybe a little bit earlier?--  Yeah.

And what happened then?--  Well I was – because we were chasing up timber, we got the emergency trailer down, the rock props that were in it weren’t any good for us so Brett Murphy and myself – Andy Morris asked us to go out and get him some cog timber so we went up to the surface and done a cog timber run.

And that was about the end of your involvement, was it?--  Well I went back down and once we got the timber, we dropped the timber off, took up to the face, I helped build a couple of – set a couple of props on the left-hand side rib on the way in to make it safe for the blokes that were in there.

Yes?--  Just assisted them, passing them timbers, wedges, lids, whatever.

It’s right to say you left the 28 cut-through on a few occasions to get some timber?--  Yeah.

Make a telephone call?--  Yeah.

Up at the DAC, that sort of stuff?--  Yeah.

But you were there for a majority of the time?--  Yeah.

Did you hear or see any subsequent rock falls after that first one that you heard in crib?--  I didn’t hear any popping or banging or any graining or nothing, no.  Like I didn’t hear any weight but with any fall I suppose you still hear a couple of loose rocks dropping you don’t know whether that’s actually the roof or whether it’s just the actual fall settling or whatever.

I guess one of the questions we’ve got to try and work out is whether there was just one fall-----?--  Or a couple.

-----or whether we had some secondary falls, can you help us with that?--  As I say, when we were in the cribroom we just heard like the big bang sort of thing.

Yes?--  And then when we were up there [Indistinct] and I were sort of right on the edge of the fall not right on the edge of the fall sort of deal.

Yes?--  And, yeah, not once did we run away or bolt or anything due to any noise so I can’t recall any second fall or anything like that.

So doing the best you can, your recollection is that there was just the one fall?--  Yeah, as far as I know there was, yeah.

I’d like to take you back to the beginning of the shift?--  Yeah.

We’ve been talking from the crib to when it happened, tell us a little bit about what you were doing from the beginning of shift, what your duties were, what you were doing from the beginning of shift up to when you heard the fall in crib?--  I was the driver’s side bolter during the shift, the company is putting me through a development supervisor programme so Stewie Euston was just helping me out showing me a few of the things that he does during the shift as an deputy as inspection wise and all that sort of thing.

Yes?--  I helped him do the stats on the fan.

Yes?--  He had like a methane layering problem up in the [indistinct] just showing me what he was doing to rectify that.

Yes?--  Just odds and ends like bolting and getting tubes and all that sort of thing.

And apart from this supervisory training course that you’re currently doing, what’s your normal duties, what sort of things do you normally do in the mine?--  Miner driver and just a panel work, yeah, just assist bolting whatever.

As a miner driver you’ve got to make decisions as I understand it about bolting patterns, all that sort of stuff?--  Yeah, yep.

Just help us with some other stuff, what does green roof look like?--  Green roof is usually a flat hard roof, usually no flake, a good strong roof, if you hit it with a hammer it won’t be drummy, it will just have a – it will just be a solid roof.

Right.  And what about yellow roof?--  Well yellow roof I’d usually – it’s got a bit of flake or you know you’re losing the face as you’re cutting out, or you’ve got a few cutters running different ways or whatever I’d usually go up to Code Yellow, yeah.

And then what’s orange roof?--  Well orange roof is – orange roof like you’re bolting up or whatever and your drill is jumping like too much and you’re losing roof in front of you, not so much face, but if the roof’s dropping out in front of me I usually go to Code Orange.

And what about Code Red, what does a Code Red roof like look?--  Code Red is just shit, isn’t it.

Yeah but-----?--  Like it’s dropping out in slabs, I mean you’ve got blokes diving out of the way of slabs or just a shit roof.

Have you done some training with the company about employing the SCARP framework for roof bolting?--  No formal training session that I can recall, we’ve got these, we’ve got copies of these or whatever.

Yes?--  No formal training course or anything, no.

So as a miner driver what decisions are you allowed to make in terms of changing codes and that sort of thing under the SCARP?--  Anyone in the crew can make that choice, I mean if I’m driving the miner and someone says to me, hey this roof is a bit dicky, I’m not going to say, I don’t think it is, and keep going, I mean if they think it’s dicky well we can put extra bolts in.

Yes.  So you can change up?--  Yeah.

What about changing down, can you do that?--  No.

Whose got to change down?--  Usually the geo, or we ring the geo and geo comes down or Murray.

Someone like that?--  Mmm.

What about the SCARP itself, I don’t mean this to be a memory test but what do you have to have, what are the indications for, say, yellow roof, what does the SCARP say you’ve got to have?--  Off memory I think it’s a subsequent amount of flake I think, cutters and like something in it about density of roof as well.  I’m not 100 percent sure off hand.

What about Code Orange roof, what does the SCARP say-----?--  Code Orange is-----

-----you’ve got to have to go to Code Orange?--  I think it’s slabbing, or gaps when bolting and no water coming out of the roof, and Code Red is water coming out of the roof or roof movement or anything like that.

We’ve got some slides which I’ll put up because it’s easier I think if we’ve got a plan to have a look at?--  Yeah.

I get confused if I can’t see it in visual form.  I’m not meaning to trick you here, but how do we put in tell-tales in the drives or in the headings or cut-outs?--  In what order?

Yes, tell me about tell-tales, how do we put them in and what do they do?--  The installation of tell-tale?

Yes?--  It’s just drill up your six metres.

Yes?--  Put a reamer bit on your last steel, ream up about a foot or so.

Yes?--  Put in your long wire, your short wire.

Yes?--  And then put your tell-tale up and zero it.

How often in that particular heading, B Heading, were tell-tales installed and is there a method for doing it, do you have to do it every-----?--  I don’t think at that stage we’re on Code Green I don’t think there is a procedure to put in tell-tales on Code Green.

Right?--  Unless you feel the need to.

Right?--  As far as I know.

I’ll just tell you what the SCARP says because I’m not meaning this to be a memory test; for green roof, max planned roadway is 5.2 metres, no flaky material, no obvious structure, no requirement to cut tops, ribs stable, no spall, no obvious cleat.  That’s for Code Green, okay.  Then yellow; roof flaking, preferable to cut tops less than 100 millimetres, structure apparent, ribs influenced by structure, minor cleating and/or joints.  That’s for Code Yellow.  Then we go to Orange; which is that stuff, yellow condition plus constant water make from roof, multiple dippers, drilling water running through strata, rib spalling, necessary to cut 100 to 300 millimetre of tops.  And then we go to Red; Orange condition plus excessive water make from roof, constant flow, no excess chemical from holes, undercut fails immediately, roof movement greater than 10 millimetres or at a rate of 3 millimetres an hour, and then it goes on with a couple of dot points; major structure within 45 degrees or less of roadway direction, and joint with roof failing guttering around structure.  Nearly getting there, so that’s your understanding of the various criteria that you’ve got to judge against?--  Yeah.

Is that right?--  Yeah.

Now one of the things that they talk about is the amount of roof sag or roof movement, and say for Condition Red for example, it becomes quite critical to look at roof sag or roof movement, 10 mls or more or a rate per hour, that seems to be how it works, would you agree with that?--  Yep.

How do you go about telling whether a roof is moving if you’re down there cutting?--  You look at your tell-tales, or your tell-tales or you can see it in your straps or signs around you, yeah.

10 to 20 millimetres?--  Well you’ll get that off your tell-tale, you should do if it’s doing its jobs.

What about the straps?  I’m not trying to be mischievous I’m just trying to get an understanding of being down there, see we’re non-miners, when you’re down there, you’re cutting, you’re putting up the bolts and the straps, right?--  Yeah.

Fairly dark, all that sort of stuff?--  Yeah.

Noisy, all that sort of stuff, 10 mls isn’t much?--  No, it’s not.

Is it easy to tell that?--  Well I don’t know an exact measurement but I mean sometimes you can tell if there’s sag there or not, but I mean your deputy – your deputy is checking your tell-tales all the time because any movement at all they usually check them quite frequently.

One of the notes that they’ve got I think – I’m just thinking, when we get to the – we’re having terrible trouble with our passwords but needless to say this isn’t the slide we’re looking for.  Just while we’re waiting for that if you have a look at the lower plan just there, this is what is going to come up on the board just so you can see, it’s not meant to be a memory test, we’re coming up to – that’s the B Heading I think and that’s the 28 cut-through, the plan of it?--  Yeah.

And you can see there it’s got on the diagram the roof support that’s in.  Now that is I understand it was Code Green that night?--  Yeah.

We’re going into the cut-out?--  Yeah.

And we’ve got quite a large area you can see on the left-hand side?--  There?

Yeah?--  A large area of what?

Of road, of drive?--  Yeah.

Which is what you’d expect if you did a [indistinct]?--  Yeah.

So if you look at the – where the cut-out joins the B Heading quite a wide distance from one rib to the other rib?--  From here to here?

No, the other way, from there to there?--  Yeah.

Around that area, because you’re going into that cut-out, was there any tell-tales put in that shift or the shift before, did you see any around the place?--  No, I didn’t see any, no.  I think there was one up here further.

Yes?--  I think that was causing a little bit of concern earlier.

So that’s further down the heading up towards I guess the planned 29 cut-through?--  Yeah.

Without a tell-tale around that area how would you be able to tell as a miner whether or not you were having roof movement?--  Well you’d listen, you’re sounding the roof all the time, you’re watching your drills as you’re drilling.

Yes?--  And trusting the geos.

Yes.  Now when you say you’re listening you’re wanting to hear whether the rocks are talking you mean?--  Yeah, you know, whether it’s popping, banging ground, whatever is going on.

Yes.  Can you hear the roof talk if you’ve got the continuous miner on?--   Yeah, you’ll feel it, you even feel it through your chest sometimes if you’ve got a descent enough pop or whatever.

I’ve only got a couple more questions.  Now just so that we can all see, the bottom I’ll call it drive is the B Heading, you can see 28 cut-out, can you see the distance from the left-hand side of the beginning of the 28 cut-out through to the right-hand side of the 28 cut-out, that’s horizontal?--  Yeah.

Now that’s greater than 5.2 metres, isn’t it?--  Yeah.

And when you look at the whole area of the cavern it’s quite a large area that’s been mined, yeah?  Would that signal to anyone that Code Green wasn’t the appropriate bolting structure?  Should we, and I know we’re looking in hindsight but we’re just trying to gain an understanding, should we have been using a different bolting pattern?--  Well one of the miner drivers closes the straps and usually overlap straps around the break-off anyway.

Is there any sign of that here?--  A little bit, no, not a great deal.

What’s worrying me is that we don’t have any tell-tales at this cut-out, we’ve got I think some further back, haven’t we?--  Yeah.

We’ve got some further down towards 29 cut-out so there are no tell-tales there.  We’ve got a cut-out which is in part greater than 5.2 metres, we’ve got a large area, and I’m just trying to gain an understanding of why the crew made the decision to keep with Code Green as opposed to Code Orange, Code Yellow, Code Red.  What was the thinking, what was going on, and we need to have you help us because we’re looking for what we can do in the future to try and avoid incidents of this kind again, so can you help us with that?--  Usually the road is mapped by the geo.

Yes?--  And his report obviously said that there was no structures in the roof.

Yes?--  That was the orders – like what we were told, we were cutting on Code Green when we got to the cribroom that night, and I guess no one seen any signs of any weakness.

You’ve probably been told subsequently when people went in and had a look we did have some structures, couldn’t be seen but they were there?--  Yeah.

So what does that tell us in terms of what information we get from the geos that we can actually use at the coal face as miners?--  Well basically what you’re saying is don’t believe them.

No, I’m saying to you how do we use that information because the geos are limited by what they can see, what they can detect, right?--  Yeah.

I’m not having a go at the geos they did a good job?--  Yeah.

I’m not suggesting they didn’t but they couldn’t see it?--  Yeah.

They couldn’t tell us that there was in fact a structure there?--  Righto.

What does that mean for us as miners?--  I mean – it means not to take the roof for granted but what can you do if we can’t see it, if you can’t see it like we don’t know it’s there.

That’s right, and I guess this is the final question I’ve got for you is, if we assume that this sort of catastrophic roof failure is going to happen from time to time, we’ve got a situation where the geos have done their best and they haven’t located the structure because it can’t be seen or it doesn’t turn up in their tests or you know the rock doctors are telling us it’s good ground, you know, that sort of stuff.  Nonetheless we still have this sort of tragic accident, and maybe another way of approaching it, and I’m not suggesting for a minute this is easy, but another way of approaching it is to say, well, we’re never going to be able to easily stop this.  The question then becomes what can we do to give our blokes at the coal face a bit more time possibly to get out or to take cover?  That’s not 

an easy question but tell us what your thoughts are?--  I mean there’s a few things you can do, you can put tendon support in.

Yep?--  A longer roof bolt.

Yep?--  I suppose – I don’t know, not so long ago there was props along the roadways, there’s a number of things you could do.

What do you reckon yourself might work?  Just so the panel has got some ideas?--  I think the tendon support that we’re doing now at the moment through intersections I think is a good idea and will work and is working.

Tell us about what you’re doing now?--  Well when – before you come up to the intersection so many metres – I haven’t driven a miner since.

Yep?--  So many metres just before the intersection you’ve got to bolt right through the intersection at spaces I think of two metres apart.

Right?--  That’s your six metre flexi bolt or GXT bolt.

Right?--  Right to the inbye side of the inner section and a tell-tale in the middle of the intersection.

Right, so, what, almost a Code Red, that sort of bolting pattern, is it, in all cut-outs?--  Yeah.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Could we have any questions from the non-miner please.  The first time you’ve been called a non-miner, Mr Dalliston, but please go ahead.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:    It’s better than learned friends and others I suppose like last time.  Mr Sanderson, I just want to go back a bit before this night, what crew were you in?--  Red crew.

Red crew?--  Mmm.

Can the witness be given Exhibit 7, the Inspector’s Report please?  If you turn there to – there’s some green flaps  through there and you – gray flaps and inside number 9 and actually go to 9F.  It’s got Maingate 19 on the top and it’s got coloured blue, green and red along the roadway sections-----?--  Yeah.

What we’re trying to establish is, if you have a look in front of you up here on the wall, there’s three closed straps and one broken off just prior to the intersections?--  Yeah.

Yesterday we had some evidence from a miner driver from green crew and he said they didn’t quite get up to those straps, he can’t remember putting those straps in.  So if we have a look at the thing in front of you we’ve got night shift on the 22nd of the 5th there’s a red crew, can you remember if you were on shift on red crew that night when you were driving – you would have been driving B Heading straight ahead?--  I can’t remember, mate, no, I’m not – yeah, I probably would have been.

Do you remember anything about those straps being put close together, it’d be something different to your normal strapping?--  Mate, when we come in on the night of the accident there had been a couple of cars taken out of the break-off.

Yes?--  Because I mean we got in there and straightened the break-off off and kept going so I don’t recall any of the straps being put up or anything.

What I was looking at, those straps would have been installed going along B Heading rather than at the break-off?--  Yeah, that’s correct.

Okay, if you can’t remember on the night of the 22nd we’ll forget about that area.  When you came in – you say the first thing you did when you came in was – when you went to the face, what did you do?--  When I went to the face?

Yeah?--  I just walked up to the face and usually have a look at me ribs, have a general look-out, have a bit of a tap or whatever, and then, yes, make sure we’ve got everything and get ready to start producing.

And you went up the non-driver’s side?--  Yeah, of the off walk side, yeah.

Can you just use the laser and just show us roughly how much would have been taken out if you’ve got only one or two cars taken out of that cut-through?--  I suppose we would have put up either that first strap or the second strap or probably the second strap I’d say.

So there wasn’t hardly anything taken out of there and you’ve gone – can you show me with the laser where you went, where you would have walked if the miner and the shuttle car were in place?--  I would have walked up here, stepped up onto the miner.

So the front of the miner would have only been about where?--  I suppose about there.

Yeah?--  Roughly.

So the heads are about there and you walked up and hopped on the drill rig, did you?--  Yeah.

So the drill rig would have been about where, positioned in the roadway roughly?--  Around about there if the heads were there.

So as you walked in there and you’ve got in your statement you checked the roof and looked for cracks and stuff?--  Yeah.

Did you notice that those straps were close together then?--  These ones here?

Yep, those ones?--  I didn’t notice – a lot of people usually put straps close together around a break-off area just as extra support just in case you know.

But you’ve come in, you’ve gone on that side of the miner, just about under those straps area, you’ve checked the roofs for cracks?--  Yeah.

But you didn’t happen to notice those straps were close together?--  No, I didn’t.

Not a problem.  No further questions, thanks.

WARDEN:  Thank you.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TRAVES:  Mr Sanderson, I noticed from your statement on page 4 that you say, “I sound the roof with a hammer or dolly, if it’s drummy I’ll take note when bolting”?--  Yeah.

Do you recall whether you sounded the roof with a hammer or a dolly on this occasion?--  I don’t recall whether I did or not, I may have, if it had of been drummy I would have noticed and I would have written it in the statement.

I’ll just take you to the SCARP for one moment; you can have a copy of this if you like.  Is there anything about the SCARP table that you don’t understand?--  I’m going to have to take a while to read right through it but – not that I can really see there isn’t, not really.

And you were asked some questions about the – along the lines of relying upon the geologists and so on and a question I think you raised you said if you don’t know it’s there what can you do, referring to the feature.  Can I just suggest to you that the application of SCARP, while it doesn’t identify the existence of a feature, it does identify the existence of the symptoms that a feature might cause.  Would you agree with that?--  Yeah, I suppose, yeah.

In a sense that if you can’t see a geological feature the next best thing is to identify the sorts of things that the existence of the feature might cause to happen?--  Yeah.

And is it your experience that the workforce at the mine face are aware of the sorts of the features that they should look out for in order to prompt them to increase strapping for example?--  As I say there’s no formal training on the SCARP plan itself, well I haven’t had any anyway.

I understand that, but you yourself spoke of things which made you think it necessary to put up more straps for example?--  I did?

Yeah.  Is it something which you would say is generally well known by the miners at the site?--  What is?

The sorts of things-----?--  I’m lost.

-----that are mentioned in SCARP there?--  Yeah.

As causing the miners to take additional steps to secure the roof?--  Right.

Would you agree that those things are generally well known by the miners?--  Yeah, as a general – yeah.

Thank you.

WARDEN:  Yes, Mr Woods.

REVIEWER WOODS:  First of all, your job on the miner for that night, was it bolting?--  Yeah, just a bolter, yeah.

Roughly how many bolts would you put up during that night?--  I don’t know.

From where to where, have a count – that’s the mapping up there?--  From – I suppose roughly about that third strap ‘til about, I don’t know, from about the third strap to about the fourth last strap, fifth last strap or something I suppose, I’m not sure, I’m not 100 per cent sure.

Did you notice that while you were putting them up there was chemical coming out of the end of the bolts while you were putting them up-----?--  No, I didn’t notice it excessively, no.

Is it supposed to – does it normally come out of the end of the bolts?--  Not-----

When you fully encapsulate the bolts does it normally come out the end?--  Well when you fully encapsulate a bolt you’ll get a little bit sitting on top of your plate generally, but not – I wouldn’t say pouring out of your bolts, I’d be a little bit-----

But there would be some come out of it?--  Yeah.

Did you notice any of it coming out?--  No, not – like I notice it all the time on a bolt, yeah.

Do you normally notice it I suppose is the next question, do you normally notice it?--  Yeah, if you’re getting fully encapsulated bolts you do.

And did you notice it that night coming out of there?--  I can’t 100 per cent remember.

Would you normally notice it?--  Yeah, yeah, if you’re getting full encapsulation you would.

On the Code Red SCARP there?--  Yeah.

Do you just want to read out what the triggers are?--  As in roof condition description?

Yeah, what you need to go to Code Red?--  Code Orange plus excessive water make from roof, constant flow, no excess chemical from holes, undercut fails immediately, roof movement greater than 10 ml or at a rate of 3 millimetres an hour.

Just go back to the “no excessive chemical coming from the hole”?--  Yeah.

If there was none coming out of the hole would you expect to go to Code Red?--  If there’s no chemical?

Yeah?--  Well you’d start to worry, yeah.

You just said that you never saw any, you didn’t notice any excessive 

chemical?--  No, I said I can’t remember.  It was a long time ago.

Have you been part of a crew that’s done a break-off before?--  I have.

And what – was this done any differently than normally?--  Well it’s a different angle but it’s not a right-angle break-off.

It’s just a different angle.  Have you done these – with these Y-bone break-offs, have you done one of those before?--  Yeah.

With the same angle as this or were they-----?--  Yeah.

They’re all done at this-----?--  Well this cut-through-----

They’re all done at that angle, are they?--  Not all the break-offs, no.

No, all Y-bone break-offs?--  About that, yeah, there’s usually a laser set up or something to go off.

You never had a laser this time?--  No.

Okay, that’s it.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Sanderson, when Mr Traves asked you before if you fully understood the SCARP there, you said you’d have to read it to find out if there was something you didn’t understand?--  Yeah.

Is that correct?--  Yeah.

Your job as being a roof bolter and supporter, shouldn’t you fully understand the SCARP?--  Yeah.

So you don’t fully understand it?--  Well I’d have to read it to see if there’s anything in there that I don’t understand, wouldn’t I, I mean I believe to the best of my knowledge I understand it, yeah.

So have you ever had any formal training on the SCARP?--  No.

You’ve never been trained with that piece of paper on how to support the roof as per the Manager’s Rules?--  Not that I can recall, no.

You haven’t?--  Not that I know of, no.  I’ve been there for two years, I could have in the last two years but not that I know of.

Well part of your job I would think of supporting the roof you should know that word perfect or work perfect to be able to do your job.  Now if you just open it up a little bit to Code Green or Code Yellow, it doesn’t matter?--  As in the diagrams of-----

Yes, in the diagram.  Those roof bolts there, the angle on the roof bolts angle out at 70 degrees.  When you put those roof bolts in do they angle out or did you put them in vertically, or wherever the rig stops?--  It varies with different miners.

So that’s not a standard thing, wherever it is you just put the bolts up?--  No, I generally try to get it on the angle if I feel as though there’s a lip or something that I feel I should catch I’ll sometimes compensate for that or put an extra bolt in for that.

But according to the Manager’s plans they all should be at 70 degrees to the left or the right?--  Yeah.

So that doesn’t always happen?--  No, not – it does if it’s practicable.

How long have you worked in – Mr Walker, could we have P12 up please.  How long have you worked in Maingate 19?--  I think I was in there from the start of the block.

You was in there from the start of the block?--  From about 3 cut-through I suppose I think.

P12, it’s a photograph.  On the plan that I’ve just given you specifically from 19 cut-through through to 22 cut-through A and B Heading there was quite a bit of roof disturbance there; you worked in that area?--  I may have, yes, I probably would have.

Well if you’ve been there for two years and you worked on Maingate 19 since it started I would say that you would have worked in that area?--  Yea.

When did those falls occur?--  When did the faults occur?

The falls?--  The falls?

Yes, there’s falls there marked on the plan through – there’s a bit of bad roof there, isn’t there, all the roof’s messed?--  Yeah, I wasn’t aware of any falls.

No major falls there?--  Not that I’m aware of, we had, like when you’re cutting through a fault.

Yeah?--  You’ll have like bits dropping out and all that sort of thing but I wasn’t aware of no major fall.

P12 according to this.  Shear plan to right wall of fall in the cut-through.  P13 will do.  Mr Sanderson, up on the top of that fall there you can see some white material?--  Mmm.

Is that common in the area you’re mining?--  It’s hard to tell unless you actually have a piece.

Well we’ve got a piece here?--  Yeah, I’ve seen it before, yeah.

Where have you seen that?--  Probably around our fault areas.

So that’s fairly common stuff?--  Reasonably, it’s like a chalk, isn’t it?

Yeah, chalky stuff, so finding it there in that area like that isn’t abnormal?--  Well I wouldn’t think so, no, I wouldn’t think so.

So you’ve had other falls, minor falls and guttering in fault areas where that material has been present?--  This stuff, yep, I’d say so, yes.

So how long has Maingate 19 been going, approximately?  All right, where did you work before you went to Maingate 19?--  In the north-east areas like in Maingate 18 I was.

Maingate 18?--  Where we had a major fault, yeah.

In development?--  Yeah.

And so would that material – you’ve seen that material in that area also?--  More so, yeah.

More so?--  No, no, not more so.  I’ve noticed it more so now that we’ve been made aware of that stuff.

Yes?--  Well we’ve heard about it.

Yes?--  Yeah, I think I have seen it around.

So it’s fairly common stuff throughout the mine?--  [Indistinct].

And it’s not unusual to find it on a daily basis?--  I wouldn’t say on a daily basis.

Well you’d see it if-----?--  In faulted areas we usually see it.

You’d see it if your roof guttered?--  If your roof guttered, yes, I’d say so, yes.

No further questions, thank you.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Just one, Mr Sanderson; that night you said you were on your off-side of the miner bolting?--  Mmm.

At the start of the shift you went with Stewie Euston up to B Heading to – you had a methane problem or layering?--  Yeah.

Did you use a venturi to clear that area, where was that running back at the corner?--  Yes, I think so, yes.

So that night was it – I mean venturi, did it create much more noise in the area youse were working than normal?--  A little bit, yes.

Just another one; when you normally bolt do you use automatic or manual when you’re bolting the roof from the drill rigs?--  It depends, it’s general practice to use automatic, I mean if we’re in a bit of shit or something I’ll try and use the manual.

So if the conditions deteriorate you go back to manual for your bolts?--  Yeah.

So you know what you’re bolting into?--  Just so that you can feel it, I mean, if you use an automatic you just put your automatic on and walk back to get your bolts ready or something like that you’re not seeing it.

So them last couple of straps that you did put up you didn’t notice any separations in the roof?--  I didn’t notice any, no.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Mr Walker, could we have the as is installed support diagram put back up on the break-off.  Mr Sanderson, in your statement you mention that the belts were down for a much longer period the second time, sometime into the break-off?--  Yep.

What did you do – what did the crew do during that period?--  I think we gathered up vent tubes and just general mining stuff – we put a cable boat in.  I think when the belt went down I think off-hand I went up with Stewie then and then when we come back they were putting up in the cable boat and I assisted them with that I think, just general stuff you usually do when the miner is down

Do you remember how much of the roof was exposed at that stage?--  No, not off-hand, mate, I don’t.  No, the belts were going on and off a couple of times I think but I can’t remember how much we had open.

So no bolts were installed during that period?--  I don’t think so, no.

Do you know what the maximum cut-out distance is on the support plans, on the SCARPs?--  No more than a metre from the base back to your rigs I think it is, or from your face to your heads I think it is, I’m not 100 per cent sure, I haven’t driven a miner, I haven’t been down the pit for the last four months so I haven’t used this SCARP plan for – I don’t know when the last time I had.

This plan mentions four metres as a maximum cut-out distance?--  Right.  We don’t usually – our crew has a rule – usually uses the rule, cut-out and you’ll support, we don’t cut-out, load a heap of cars out and then go in support, we just cut-out, support, cut-out, support.

Do you do that on a break-off – it’s a lot harder to do that on a break-off?--  It’s a lot harder doing a break-off but you can usually see where it’s overlapped it’s usually one or two cars at the max and we’re usually bolting up.

So what’s the reason the maximum distance put there for on the plans?--  So that we’re not at risk, so that we’re not – an unsupported roof I’d imagine.

Do you see any other reason, do you observe anything at times when you cut-out too far or cut up the four metres?--  Well I don’t know, I don’t know, as I say I was taught to always cut out, put a strap up, cut out, put a rib bolt in.

Just one last question, Mr Woods, the first gentlemen on the end of the panel, asked a question about the break-off, the angle of the break-off, and you mentioned that you have done a break-off at similar angle to that before.  Have you done anything different-----?--  This time?

On other occasions for angled break-offs like this – have tell-tales been installed, have tendons been installed prior to doing break-offs like that?--  No, not that I know of.

So that would – okay, so nothing out of the ordinary in that sense?--  I don’t think so, no.

Thanks.

WARDEN:  Anything arising out of that?

MR TATE:  I don’t believe so, Your Worship, may this witness be excused.

WARDEN:    Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused, you may leave.  I’m sorry we didn’t get around to you yesterday but we were held up on other things.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Stewart Owen Euston.

STEWART OWEN EUSTON, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Euston, would you indicate your full name for the record?--  Stewart Owen Euston.

And your occupation?--  Deputy.

And your address?--  2 Cunningham Drive, Emerald.

Emerald; and I think as we all know you were trapped under a fall on the 26th of May this year?--  That’s correct.

And I think everyone in this Courtroom, you need to know that we all understand that that must have been just the most horrific experience, and I think all of us thank you for coming this morning to give some evidence?--  Mmm.

You need to know that we’re not here to try and get anyone into trouble, we’re here to do two things, as you well know.  One is to try and talk to all of the people that were down the mine that night to try and gain an understanding of what happened?--  Mmm.

And one of the things that the panel is very very keen to do, I know because all mining panels are, is to try and look to see whether we can make some recommendations that might make mining just a little bit safer, so that’s what we’re about, not to try and get anyone into trouble, and I’ve been saying that to a lot of the witnesses so that everyone is really clear for everyone where we’re going?--  Yep, understand.

Now I think after the incident you spoke with the inspectors and you gave them a statement?--  That’s correct.

In front of you, is that your statement and your signature on the bottom of each page?--  Yes, that’s correct.

Are there any changes that you’d like to make today, any additions, deletions, alterations?--  No.

The statement is true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  To the best of my knowledge, yes.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  It will be marked Exhibit 28 – sorry, 29.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 29”

MR TATE:  Stewart, I’ve only got a few questions for you but so that we can understand what happened prior to the fall, as a member of the crew or deputy or whatever, you would have had a look at the roof conditions on B Heading and the cut-out going up into 28 cut-out?--  There wasn’t much cut-out when we actually got there.

Tell us in your own words what your observations of the roof were?--  Observations of the roof and-----

And the ribs and stuff?--  There was no visible signs of any movement in the ribs or the roof.

And in fact I think everyone thought that realistically this was very good ground?--  That’s correct.

The ribs were high quality?--  Yes.

The roof appeared to be quite sound?--  That’s correct.

Was there any talking of the roof, was the roof talking, anything like that?--  No.

With the bolting, was there any excessive jump of the steel or anything like that that you were told about?--  Actually in the break-off and into the cut-through a little bit, I drilled a couple of holes.

Yes?--  I didn’t notice any jumping in the drilling and I was getting excess chemical out of the hole.

You were getting-----?--  Excess chemical out of the hole.

Just need to keep your voice up a bit because the problem with this Courtroom is that we’ve got fellas up there and we’ve got fellas down here so you’ve got to go both ways?--  I understand, okay.

Did you see any bolts at all where there was no chemical?--  Not to my knowledge.

In your view, was this a green roof, yellow roof, orange roof, red roof, at the time, I know you’ve probably got a different view now but going back to that night?--  At the time I didn’t see any reason not to believe it was Code Green.

Were there any tell-tales installed near the 28 cut-out?--  No, there was no tell-tales installed in that area.

Without tell-tales, how would one go about knowing whether there was roof sag or roof movement up by the straps?--  Basically in your drilling if you notice any separations while you’re drilling and any deformities in the roof or any movement in your ribs.

With the SCARP at that time what were you authorised to decide as a deputy?--  To go from Green to Yellow to Orange and to Red.

And if you went from, say, Green to Orange – sorry, Green to Yellow?--  Yep.

Did you have to consult with anyone else to make that decision?--  No.

What about from Yellow to Orange?--  Yellow to Orange probably ring the shift supervisor and let him know and possibly ring the production superintendent.

And what about going from Orange to Red?--  Orange to Red, same deal, production superintendent or manager.

With those two serious roof fault structures, what’s your understanding of the purpose of letting the shift supervisor or the RM or the superintendent or someone in management know what’s going on?--  To let them know what the situations are at the face at that particular time.

Right?--  If they could probably enlighten us if there’s any structures or something we’re possibly coming into and discuss the situation.

Can you tell us about the training, the formal training you’ve had in SCARP and using SCARP?--  Training-----

We’ll start with the formal training?--  What’s your definition of formal training?

Just what you’d expect where – well maybe I’m doing the wrong thing, I’ll ask you this way; have you had any formal training, you know, going off to a training room for a number of hours, a number of days to have a formal training with a certification at the end of it?--  Not to my knowledge.

So no formal training?--  No.

What about informal training?--  Informal training, as it’s introduced showing the plan.

Yeah?--  And that’s about all.

So part of the induction really; this is how we go about deciding our different roof bolting frameworks?--  I believe the SCARP was bought in after I was inducted there.

So on the job training is really it?--  Mmm.

You need to say yes or no unfortunately because we can’t record head nods and things?--  Sorry, the answer?

It was just simple on the job training?--  Yes, that’s correct.

Just a couple of more questions if I can.  One of the issues that we’re trying to come to understand, and you may not be able to answer this and that’s fine, but we’re looking at whether there was just the one fall or whether we had a number of falls.  Are you able to help us with that?--  It was hard to think there was one or two falls, if you understand from the statement I was running – we were running away from where I believe the fall was in that area.  To my knowledge I didn’t – when I was in there I didn’t hear any subsequent falls.

Right?--  It was only just the one fall.

One of the other things that we’ve been trying to come to grips with is if we accept that this sort of catastrophic roof failure without much warning is going to happen from time to time and no matter what we do the issue becomes are there ways, or are there recommendations that the panel could make to try and give blokes at the coal face a bit more time.  Now that might be something that you’ve thought about, it might be something you haven’t thought about but I’d like to give you the opportunity of talking with the panel and if you’ve got any ideas that might be helpful let them know?--  Well what’s been implemented since the fall I believe has been good for the mine, it’s given the people at the coal face more warning with the tell-tales in position and probably put their mind at ease a little bit more with the extra supports that are there.

Yes.  Just so that we all understand, what’s been introduced afterwards?--  Introduced afterwards; long tendon support through the intersections, and as you’re breaking off around the intersections, and the area is mapped by the geologist before the commencement of mining in a break-off area, tell-tale intersection, that’s about it really.

Do you feel safe with the new regime?--  I feel safer with the new regime, yes.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Stewart, just a few questions.  As a deputy at Oaky Creek, Oaky No 1, have you been made aware of any roof failures that have occurred at Oaky No 1 that mightn’t have been in your panel or anywhere else in the mine?--  At the time I wasn’t working for Oaky Creek I was working for a contractor, we did a lot of secondary support around one of the falls and there was a couple of falls over at Maywin that I was aware of.

So at the time of the incident you weren’t employed by Oaky Creek?--  The falls in the other areas, no.

What about in any of the work that was – any of the information was given to you on your induction when you become a full-time employee for Oaky Creek.  Was anything discussed about any of the failures they had at Oaky North as well, like the type of roof control and roof strata they had over there?--  No, just what we’ve heard from other people.

Some of the evidence been given so far during the Inquiry people talk about poor roof and indicators of poor roof; what type of indicators do you necessarily see if you’ve got poor roof conditions or sub-standard  roof conditions?--  Sub-standard roof conditions probably more slabbing of the roof above probably 100 ml, probably the ribs aren’t as firm as they should be.

Would you be aware of anything that’s happened at Oaky Creek or Oaky North where roof conditions don’t necessarily show weight on the ribs and flaking or guttering along the side of the roof before the roof failures – different types of stress in the roof that are in those areas?--  No.

So as a deputy you haven’t been told about any of those types of failures that have occurred?--  No.

You were on red crew this night?--  That’s correct.

Are you normally on red crew the weeks prior to them?--  Yes, I’m normally on red crew.

What we’re trying to find out is, see the three straps close together and then the strap with the break in it just prior to the intersection?--  Yes.

It appears they were put up by red crew on the night shift on the 22nd of May.  If you have a look at that diagram, that book in front of you, if you turn to section 7 – sorry, 9H?--  9H, was it?

9F, sorry.  A plan of these two roadways with colour markings on them.  Yep, that’s it.  Has it got Maingate 19 on the top?--  That’s correct.

This is working out from production reports I believe where crews had mined to, you can see night shift 22nd of the 5th 19M beside it, just near where the break-off is for 28 cut-through, it’s a red box?--  Yes.

We heard evidence yesterday from the miner driver on green crew that drove the immediate area before that, he couldn’t remember actually putting those straps at.  Do you know if you were on shift on that night, the deputy was Garth Zerner, so I don’t know if you were in the crew or not?--  I wasn’t in the crew that particular night.

When you came in on the night of the incident you were at the break-off so it was in a couple of metres, did you notice those straps being close together at the time when you went in there?--  Not to my knowledge I noticed.

The continuous miner you said was only in two metres but it was turned on the angle so the continuous miner and the shuttle car could have been under there to [indistinct] the view of that area of the roof?--  Could have been, that would have been about the tail – the back of the miner.

Since the incident and some of the new procedures that have been put in 

place?--  Mmm.

What type of training have you had in the changes that have been made since then?--  I’ve had no formal training just memos of what the changes are.

So even since the incident there’s been some new procedures put in place and some tightening up of roles and responsibilities I believe, is that right?--  That's correct.

Some of those roles and responsibilities actually say that you or the supervisor have to ensure that you have a good understanding of procedures, is that right, or would you know that?--  Yes.

You’re aware that that’s what some of the new procedures say?--  Yes.

So how do you believe you should show your awareness or your understanding of procedures – your responsibility is to go ahead and do that?--  To find out the procedures and understand them, to ask the management.

So what’s written in the procedure is your job to go and get those procedures, read them, and if you don’t understand go and ask someone rather than be formally trained?--  Is that what I believe?

Yes?--  No, I believe we should be formally trained.

But that hasn’t happened yet?--  No.

Thanks.  No further questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR MELLICK:  Yes, thank you.  In your statement, Mr Euston, at page 2 at line – page 2, the last three lines.  You say that at about 11.30, 11.40 you went up to A Heading and checked the tell-tale installed the night before at the 84 metres mark.  Can you firstly tell us where that is in relation to the cut-throughs, at approximately what cut-through do you recall?--  The 84 metre mark is in the bolt road, the 84 metre mark is around near the stub which is in the faulted area.

In the?--  Faulted area.  It’s nowhere in relation to that it’s – can we do it on F?

Sorry?--  On that plan.

F you were looking at?--  Yes.

9F I should say?--  It’s up near 29.

So further along A Heading than the area where this fall occurred?--  That’s correct.

Just bear with me though; the total movement recorded was 18 millimetres so that’s almost twice what’s allowed before one moves to the Red Zone, is that right?--  That’s correct.

What was done in response to the tell-tale reading?  I notice for instance you go on to say, in fairness to you, tell Mr Dunham that you wanted him to only work outbye of the tell-tale?--  That’s correct.

Were there any other steps that you took in response to it?--  I was monitoring that for any further movement within the night.

But wouldn’t that automatically mean Red Zone?--  That was already mined in Code Red.

I see.  Were there any steps taken to record that?--  To record that movement?

Yes?--  I believe I was in the process of doing my statutory report and I believe there is a note at the bottom on that.

It was still expected that men would work beyond that point, was it?--  No, that’s up in the stub.

At page 3, at line 18, you said that you also checked two tell-tales at 29 cut-through?--  In B Heading stub, yes.

Yes.  Did you make any record of what was found, it doesn’t appear to be referred to here?--  Referred to in my statement or on the statutory report?

It’s not in your statement, do you recall, do you need to see the statutory report in order to-----?--  Yes, I do.

I think they’re Exhibit 17, Your Worship?--  That’s it here.

Well is it your recollection that you made a record of-----?--  My recollection is that I made a record.

Go to Appendix 15 in the volume you have there, are you able to identify the document there?--  Yes.

Which one is it?--  26th of the 5th night shift.

Sorry?--  17236.

I have 235, I don’t appear to have the 236.  Can you just read into the record – have you recorded in that document the-----?--  Yes, I was in the process of recording that; if you’ve noticed I haven’t signed it as well because I was still half-way through my reports when I went back to the face.

Well what are the movements recorded?--  Tell-tale in B Heading 40 ml on the total, 10 ml on the lower.

At page 4 of your statement at about lines 16, 17 and 18, you refer to seeing that the ribs were good, the roof was flaking to about 100 millimetres in the centre?--  Yes.

Do you see that?--  Yes.

Did the presence of the flaking necessitate you taking any steps?--  No, because previously in other areas where I’ve mined it’s generally – Oaky Creek roof is like 

that if you take the first – if you cut into the roof slightly the first 100 ml will fall, or you just take the coal and you leave that 100 ml.

Can you just help me-----?--  The SCARP plan states that, yes.

Yes, according to the SCARP plan the roof flaking would seem to take you to the Yellow Zone, is that correct or am I not reading it correctly?--  No, that’d be correct.  The Yellow Zone also states the straps are bought back to within a metre of maximum.

Yes.  But are you saying that whilst the SCARP says one thing, if you see the flaking you don’t apply it because your experience is that that’s not of concern that night?--  No, that’s-----

Is the position that there nothing done in terms of moving from Green to Yellow Zone in response to that flaking, you didn’t see that as being necessary?--  I believe the straps were in the Yellow Zone anyway.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  No questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Woods.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Mr Euston, in your statement you said that you put a couple of bolts up with Mr Sanderson during the night?--  That’s correct.

Can you sort of point out whereabouts on the plan they would have been?--  Would have been about – possibly just-----

There’s a laser pointer there?--  Sorry.  About there.

Which bolts did you actually put up, the two outside ones, the two inside ones, or both?--  The two outside bolts.

The two outside bolts, okay.  And you found nothing wrong with those?--  No, nothing wrong with those.

Did you have a look at any inside bolts at all?  Did you ever do any of those during the night?--  No, no inside bolts.

In your experience, is it normally the outside bolts that part first?--  It’s more inside bolts that part.

So why would you do the outside bolts looking to see if there’s any parting?--  Well that outside rig that I relieved Phil Wagstaff on that was his rig and I asked him to fix an Eimco, I just moved-----

You’ve actually stated you got up to look to see if there was any partings in the roof and to check that and you did the inside – the outside ones where there was – where you normally don’t find the partings you only find them on the inside bolts?--  That’s correct.

So why would you do the outside ones and not the inside ones where you’d normally find it?--  Why would I drill the outside?

Yeah, why would you go looking for it where you don’t normally find it?--  I wasn’t really looking for it when I was drilling the outside bolt, I was relieving the person in that position and I expected the drillers on the inside bolts to portray that information to me.

There’s been evidence put forward that some of the bolts up in that area, or further forward there, weren’t – in the inside weren’t getting full encapsulation, it was up to 300 ml, and the bottom weren’t fully encapsulated?--   Mmm.

Was that brought to your attention?--  No.

Did you look to see whether there was chemicals coming out – I think in your statement – yeah, there was chemical coming out of the one you tested?--  Yes.

This occurred?  “I also installed bolts, everything appeared normal, it is normal to have excess chemical squeezing out”, but you looked in a place where it’s not normally – where you don’t normally get parting?--  That’s my observation of the bolt that I installed.

Have you had to do any of these break-offs at all before, Y-bone break-offs?--  No.

Did you realise it was supposed to be driven at 60 degrees?--  Yes.

Did you realise you were driving it at 45?--  No.

If you have a look up there there’s two dotted lines, that’s actually the 45 degree where the break-off was designed to be?--  Yes.

And that’s the actual where you’ve driven it there is 60 degrees; there’s no 45.  There were no laser sights up?--  No.

How would you normally do it if you didn’t have a laser sight?--  For the 60 degrees?

How would you know it’s 60 degrees if you didn’t have a laser sight?—3,4,5.

3,4,5, that’s 90?--  Yeah, but 3,4,5 isn’t, it’s 30/60.

That will give you 90?--  That way will give you 90 but the other way does not.

Did you do the 3,4,5 there?--  No, because in my statement I rang up the – Wayne Deakin on the surface and he said that’s the way – whereas it wasn’t a crucial angle because of the – it was a longwall installation.

If it’s not crucial why would they bother giving you an angle at all?--  If it was crucial they would have put the sights up.

No further questions.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Euston, section 17 on the first page there, 17 right at the back.  Is that your training records of Oaky Creek?--  Yes, that’s correct.

When was you appointed a deputy at Oaky Creek?--  In November ’98.

November ’98, it’d be easy enough to have a look if you have a look in your training records it should be there?--  Well it’s not there.

So there’s no record of you being appointed a deputy at Oaky Creek?--  There is in the record book.

There is in the record book?--  That’s correct.

So not all your competencies are kept on your personal file?--  Not to my knowledge.

But it’s normal for everybody?--  I can’t speak for everybody else.

How long have you worked in Maingate 19?--  In Maingate 19 I’m the outbye deputy which relieves the panel deputies when they go on holidays so the amount of time in there all up possibly a couple of weeks.

Yeah, that’s at the face, but how long have you been working in Maingate 19 – you’re the outbye deputy so you inspect all the outbye areas on Maingate 19?--  That’s correct.

From approximately where?--  The start of the panel through to – ends at 24 cut-through.

So you were inspecting from the start of the panel through to 24 cut-through?  That’s a plan of Maingate 19, A and B Heading and the area I’ve got circled is about 19 cut-through through to 22 cut-through?--  Yes.

That’s faulted area?--  Yes.

There’s some falls in that area?--  Falls or just faulted areas?

Faulted area, guttering?--  Yes.

Can we have P13 up please, Mr Walker.  Faulted area, guttering in that area.  Did you do any work in that area for secondary roof support, meshing, 

bolting?--  No.

Was you the deputy of the inspected area that did?--  When they were installing the secondary support?

Yes?--  No, no.

Who was?--  I can’t rightly say.

When you were doing your inspections in the outbye, do you occasionally come across some material that’s fallen out of the roof and the ribs?--  Occasionally, yes.

What would that material be like?--  Like just small pieces of rib or roof.

Laminated stone falls off in flat blocks?--  Yep.

Before you were outbye deputy of Maingate 19, what other areas of the mine did you work in?--  East mains.

East mains, as outbye deputy?--  As production deputy.

As production deputy.  That’ll do, Mr Walker, thank you.  Forward one, please.  That white material there on the top left-hand side?--  Yes.

Do you see that very often in your rounds, is it common in faulted areas, common throughout the mine, common when you were a deputy in the east mains development?--  No.

Do you know what sort of material it is?--  No.

We’ve got a sample of it here, would you like to have a look at it?--  Yes, please.  No, I haven’t seen that before.

You haven’t seen that before?  One of the previous witnesses say it occurs just about – that he’s seen that in just about every bit of guttering or fall that they’ve had, and you haven’t seen that sort of material before?--  No.

That white flaky stuff?--  It could look like stone dust.

Could look like stone dust?--  Yes.

That’ll do, thank you.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Mr Euston, I’ve just got a couple.  One is, what is your normal communications at the start of a shift with the oncoming deputy, when you’re coming on and he’s coming off, is it verbal on the phone, or is it face to face changeover?--  Sometimes both.  I’d ring up the panel – we get a changeover – handover sheet which the deputy coming off rings up before so we’ve got an idea of what’s happening in the panel and then we also we ring him to find out the latest.

That works okay do you believe?--  Yeah, that works okay.

Just another one; as a deputy you don’t take part in any of the normal mining cycle other than being at the face and put the odd bolt up, one or two bolts?  I mean you don’t drive the miner or anything like that?--  I have done in previous panels.

Yes?--  But not in this team.

And just another one; if your roof conditions – you come on at the start of the shift and your roof conditions have deteriorated, do you normally put your most experienced miner driver on the machine, or do they just sort it out between themselves, the miner drivers at the time, you don’t have much say into it?--  I haven’t got much say but all the miner drivers we had in that panel I believe were experienced, and to that too, they tend to help each other.

That’s all.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Mr Euston, in your statement you mention that when you arrived at the face at the sequence of bolting prior to the fall that Mr Morris had closed the straps facing and you participated in supporting the face for a while?--  No.  When I arrived back from the cribroom there was no more straps to put up.

Were you present at some of their last driveage, say the last eight metres where the straps facing was closed up?--  No, I was out doing my outbye inspection.

Were you aware of a discussion that the crew had in regards to whether or not they shouldn’t covert to Code Red due to the conditions at the face?--  No.

That’s in the Manager’s report about that discussion.  How much movement would you estimate would have been at the face at the time of those last straps, the last straps were put up, movement of roof if you like, how much downward movement because there’s reports that material was falling out of the face and in response the crews narrowed the strap facing up?  Is it something you can estimate without a tell-tale?--  How much movement was there prior to the fall?

Yeah, just at the face, there was a section of the face where you were standing immediately prior to the fall didn’t fall, did it?--  No.

So prior to the fall, how much movement would you estimate there would have been?--  That I noticed when I first walked back up there?  The movement there was approximately 100 ml.

About 100 ml of movement at the face?--  At the face.

If you refer to the SCARP plan and Code Red and it refers to a movement of 20 millimetres, if movement is greater than 20 millimetres?--  Yes.

What’s your understanding of how that’s measured or whether or not we should have been in Code Red at that stage?--  That’s measured on the tell-tales.

So we’ve had a tell-tale, let’s just say in your estimation we had 100 ml of movement, you’re saying that – your understanding is that unless it’s measured on a tell-tale it’s maybe not relevant?--  No, I was concerned with the movement of that, I was in process of discussing that with Mr Morris and then the fall occurred.

And did Mr Morris bring it to your attention that the crew had discussed it, whether or not they shouldn’t be on Code Red?--  We did not have a chance to talk.

Would a normal response to deteriorating conditions at the face be to undercut the roof, undercut the coal in order to get your strap closer to the face?--  Yes.

It’d be a normal response.  Why is that done?--  To keep your roof support has close as you can to the face.

And what does that aid in, why is that effective?--  Because you don’t leave too much exposed roof that’s not supported.

So it’d be true to say that it decreases the amount of lamination prior to delamination, relaxation prior to installing the bolts?--  Yes, that’d be correct, yes.

That’s all I have, thank you.

WARDEN:  Anything arising, Mr Traves.

FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TRAVES:  Mr Euston, just on page 3 of your statement, you see there from about line 7 to line 15 you were asked some questions by Mr Morris of the panel about the direction of the cut?--  Yes.

And you refer there to having rung Wayne Deakin at the surface and asking why there were no sights put up.  In any event, is that the material that you wanted to rely on in response to the issue raised by Mr Morris about the angle of the cut?--  Yes.

I’m sorry, Mr Woods.  I’m terribly sorry, Mr Woods – by Mr Woods?--  Yes, I asked because there was no sights put up.

Now, the second point raised by Mr Singer, he referred to whether or not there was some movement of the face prior to the fall?--  Yes.

And I wanted to refer you to page 5 of your report, lines 10 to 12?--  Yes.

Can you recall that occurring?--  Yes.

Can you describe what that looked like?--  What the roof looked like when I-----

No, no, the face, are you not describing there movement of the face?--  Of the face, the right half of the faces was still showing [indistinct] marks but the left-hand side – it was spalling out in just large blocks.

And this was in the moments before the fall?--  That’s correct.

Thanks, Mr Euston.

MR TATE:  Might this witness be excused, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused.  I’m sorry we didn’t get you in yesterday but we got held up a bit.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Phillip Edward Wagstaff, and Your Worship, whilst he’s joining us I tender the statement of Peter Derek Dunham dated 26 May 2000.

WARDEN:  Exhibit number 30.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 30”

PHILLIP EDWARD WAGSTAFF, ON AFFIRMATION, EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Wagstaff, would you indicate your full name please?--  Phillip Edward Wagstaff.

And your occupation?--  Fitter, fitter/miner.

And your address?--  37 Cassia Street, Tieri.

I’ve been saying this, Mr Wagstaff, to all of the witnesses just so that they know where we’re coming from.  Basically while we’re all here, as daunting as this surrounding is, is to try and do two things; look at the nature and cause of the incident, how it happened; and the other most important thing is to try and work out some recommendations if we can to try and make things safer for your fellows.  That’s really what we’re about, we’re not here to get anyone into trouble, but I’ve been saying that to everyone so that they know where we’re coming from because there is nothing worse I think than coming along to a sort of Court situation and it can be very nerve racking and make one quite nervous, but I don’t want you to be worried about things.  Now I think after the incident you had a talk with the inspectors and you gave them a statement.  Can you have a look at that document in front of you, that should be your statement, would you just check that it’s got your signature at the bottom of each page?--  That’s correct.

Now is there any changes that you’d like to make to your statement today, any additions, alterations, deletions?--  No. 

It’s true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  To the best of my knowledge.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 31.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 31”

MR TATE:  Mr Wagstaff, can you just help me a little bit understand your role; in your statement you say that you then took the position as leading hand/fitter?--  Yeah.

What exactly were your duties, what does being leading hand/fitter mean so that we understand?--  All right, [indistinct] at the time when I was a leading hand/fitter which is no longer the case I might add.

Yes, we’re talking about at the time?--  Okay.  At the time I had served possibly a couple of years in the longwall operation of the mine.

Yes?--  And I was selected to come out and work beside the foreman.

Yes?--  Understanding the ordering in of parts, going down assisting on some of the complicated jobs with the hydraulics on different machinery, and relieving of course when we wasn’t there.

Yes?--  That was at the time.  Since then the mine structure has changed, they got rid of the foreman, they then changed the role of leading hand/fitters.

Yes?--  And I just became a miner/fitter, or fitter/miner.

Right?--  But the – I think in that time there that the view that the leading hands and the foreman would look after the big jobs changed and everybody that was employed there became accountable, probably more so than what they were before we suffered retrenchments.

I understand.  On the night that this happened, which is back on 26th May 2000, what did you understand your duties to be on that shift?--  My duties on that shift were no different to any other shift.

Right?--  And that was that my first priority was to service and maintain the equipment that was in the panel.

Yes?--  And then when duties were finished, if they were short handed, I would then find my way to the miner and assist in mining operation.

Yes?--  Whether it be to run out and get a box of chemicals, to be a go-getter for anything that they might need or to jump on the miner and bolt up.

I’m just going to put up a plan of B Heading and also the 28 cut-through just so that it’s easy and convenient, and just to your right you’ll see that there’s a laser pointer so you can use that if you want to point things out.  What we’re trying to do is get a good understanding of what happened and we’re relying on your fellows because you were down there.  That’s a plan of B Heading in 28 cut-through, it also shows the roof support, do you agree with that?--  Do you want me to – yes, that’s true.

Yes, okay?--  Looks right anyway.

And you can see where the blue is is in fact where the catastrophic roof failure occurred?--  Yes.

Yes, it’s very worrying.  Now just help us, did you have an opportunity of doing any bolting that night?--  Yes, it’s in my statement.

Can you help us by just telling us what bolts you put in, and please use your laser printer so we’ve got a – laser pointer at least so that we’ve got an idea?--  How do you – you’ve got to hold it, do you?

That looks like it, yeah.  The only rule I know is that you’re not allowed to point it in people’s eyes?--  Okay.  When I came up and put a few bolts up the miner had its tail around about there.

Yes?--  Because I remember them standing on the tail of the miner and putting up the laser for the heading.

Right?--  So I can only guess from there the full length of a miner, imagine that the first few bolts I would have put in would have been somewhere in that area there.

Yes?--  Right.

Left-hand side, right-hand side?--  Only the off driver’s side.

Off driver’s side, so that’s the-----?--  Your terminology, left-hand side.

Left-hand side, okay.  Yes?--  Now that changed, they were the first few bolts I put up.

Yes?--  And then in my statement I made knowledge that I was taken away from the face to do some – more of my trade skills.

Yes?--  I returned later.

That’s okay, so you put a couple on the left-hand side?--  Mmm.

When you came back later did you do any more rock bolting?--  Yes.

Whereabouts did you put the subsequent bolts?--  I reckon to the best of my knowledge, started around about there somewhere.

Okay?--  Somewhere around there.

So again on the left-hand side of the cut-out?--  Yes.

All of that was-----?--  I put the bolts in on the outside if I remember rightly, and then I think me partner, to the best of my knowledge, I could be wrong about this but I think he was putting in that row there.

Right?--  Something like that.  I don’t know that it makes that much difference.

When you were putting in the bolts that you put in, did you see any chemical coming out?--  Yeah.

Did you notice anything about the steel when it was going in, was there any jumping or anything like that?--  No.

They went in pretty well?--  Yes.

I take you to your statement – it’s just that we’ve got to try and understand what people say, you know, that sort of thing.  Your second page down the bottom, 24, and then the next page 3 I think, “We put up about three straps at reduced spacing about 600 mls because the roof had gone a bit flaky”.  Now can you just help us understand whereabouts are you talking about there, can you point it out with the laser printer, are we in the cut-out or are we in the heading?--  Sorry.  Look, it’s got to be – I came back on the miner around about there somewhere after I had been away.

Yes?--  So it could be anywhere between there and there.

All right, okay?--  It has to be somewhere between there because I stayed there the full duration from there on.

So what time approximately would you have got back and started making these observations?--  I can’t tell you to be honest what time it was.

We know sometime before three, a long time before three, or a little time before three?--  I’d only be guessing.

That’s okay, give it your best shot?--  Well, we were cutting slow because of the conditions – no, I don’t want to guess.

Now when you say you were cutting slow because of the conditions, help us understand what you mean?--  All right.  Well as you’ve noticed that at the start here you can see all around here that the spacing is fairly even and it’d be somewhere around 1200 ml between each strap.

Yes?--  Now as we were starting to get up into this country up here you notice the straps have come in closer together.

Yes?--  Because what we were noticing that there was a bit of layering coming off and we were keeping our straps close together to try and catch it.

Yes?--  So that’s the reason.  We’ve experienced this probably many times in development without the results of a cave-in so, to me, it was another one of those days when we were just starting to get into some bad stuff, you know, but nothing that was going to cause a problem, but I did notice at the time when we were putting these straps up that the face was starting to spall away, getting greasy patches on the coal, shiny patches.

Right.  What colour were those shiny patches?--  What colour?

Yes?--  Black.

Go on, I didn’t mean to interrupt you?--  Well we just noticed that as we’re going up there we’re putting the straps in closer all the time trying to make sure we don’t lose the roof.

Yes?--  I noticed that it was starting to come across – yeah, as I was saying it was spalling off.

Yes?--  What else can I tell you, I don’t really know.

It’s all right?--  You ask me the questions if you like and I’ll try and answer.

That sounds-----

WARDEN:  You’re doing pretty well so far.

MR TATE:  I think that’s a good deal and you’re doing a good job.

WARDEN:  And we can all hear that’s the bonus.

MR TATE:  You then move on and say, “We put up each of the straps briskly so as not to give it too much chance of loosening up and falling”?--  Loosening up?

And falling?--  Yeah, that’s correct.

That’s because of what you’ve just told us?--  Correct.

“During that time we’d just finished putting up one of the straps, I’m not sure which one of the three, the miner was cutting and a lump fell out from between the straps just behind us and crashed to the [indistinct] pod”.  Can you help us there, whereabouts did that all happen?--  I don’t know, I’m guessing now, around about there, but only put up – hang on, we put up one or two more straps after crib, just before – not after crib-----

Just before the event happened?--  Yeah, just before the event, so I’d like to go back somewhere around that vicinity there to the best of my knowledge and the way it came out of the roof was commonly called in the industry a turtleback.

Right?--  I don’t know – you might need other people to testify what that means.

You just tell us what it means to you?--  What it means to me is it’s a solid lump of roof that comes out.

Right?--  It looks no different to anywhere else on the roof except for the underside of it when it falls out it’s got – it’s a shiny almost – yeah, it’s a shiny colour like it’s – I don’t know what to say, it’s just a shiny colour on one side and it’s the shape of a turtle.

Yes?--  It’s flat from where we’ve cut because of the roof and the other part of it is sort of domed.

Yes?--  At the time when that turtleback came out it crashed beside us on the pipe.

Yes?--  Of course it was very frightening, I mean not enough to kill a person but it might have ended your shift.

Yes?--  So at that time we stopped, not the miner so much stopping but the two blokes that were on that side, that was Johnny and myself.

Yes?--  We didn’t want another one to come out, we had a really good look in the area and we – looking in front of us, looking all around and even tests in the roof there with the screwdriver and we couldn’t see anything more that was going to endanger us but felt nervous after it of course.

Yes?--  And we just continued on.

Yes.  What roof bolting regime under the SCARP were you using at that point in time at around the time the turtleback fell out?--  I believe it was the Green.

Sorry?--  I believe it was what they call their Green.

Green?--  Now when we talk about the SCARP, the Green, the only way I – I don’t know a lot about SCARP planning all right, I’ve never had any formal training but I know we were in Green when our bolting pattern stays the same as we do anywhere else you know so I can pick Green when we’re there.

Yes?--  And I can also pick Red of course because we change the length of our bolts.

Yes?--  But we were in – I believe the Green.

You then come down – I’ll just read it through so you’re following it, “The lump was about 200 x 300 x 50, it gave us a fright and I had a very close look around in that immediate area looking for any more loose bits or cracks and sounded the roof with my big screwdriver.  I couldn’t find any other signs of a problem just the small cavity that the lump had popped out of.  There was no sign of water.  At this stage I thought to myself that conditions were deteriorating and that this was going to be a messy area to form the longwall face line”.  Now, “At this time I thought to myself that conditions were deteriorating and that this was going to be a messary to form the longwall face line”.  Can you tell us what you meant by that, what did you see that made you think that?--  What I saw was the straps coming so close together.

Right?--  And also I’d made that assumption because a little way further in from that cut-through-----

Just show us with the pointer because everyone has got to follow where you are you see?--  As soon as you get in a little bit further from there and we meet up at the other roadway, there’s another roadway that’s going to come through here.

Yes?--  We’re going to have another intersection there and then we’re going to have a huge wide face, probably – you know, it might be like from here to here wide which to set up our chocks.

Yes?--  Now I thought that because coming into there if we’re having trouble putting in spaces like that – space like that – and then up here we’re going to have to use such a huge area I thought – I just thought it was messy that’s all.

Yes, understand.  Then you move on and say, “Whenever the machine was cutting I was watching the face closely.  The roof was laminating, slabs about two metres square and about 100 ml thick were falling away, the coal appeared to be greasy”, and you’ve told us about that, that’s the – it was still a dark colour but greasy?--  Shiny, it’s black all right but it’s got a lustre to it.

Yes, yes, understand.  “And spalling off in places not all across the face but in places”.  What exactly do you mean there, you were getting a bit worried about how the face was looking obviously?--  It wasn’t so much worrying about the face, how it was looking, I was taking note of what the face was doing.

Yes?--  I didn’t think that I was in any danger.

At that time?--  Mmm, that’s correct.

But you were happy with the ribs and I think you say, “The ribs still look good with no apparent weight on them”.  How do you tell if they did have weight on them?--  What I noticed – that’s the way I tell is that the ribs starts to fall in, bits and pieces of it start flaking off.

Yes?--  But they were still holding straight and there was nothing falling away from the side of the rib to indicate that there was any weight on them.

And then I think you say, “I think we put up one more strap, perhaps two, and then we split for crib”.  At crib you hear the noise, the roof has fallen, is that right?--  I’d want to hear it I was right beside it, yep.

One of the things we need to know is what happened afterwards, mainly in terms of how people went about managing the scene and trying to get the people out.  Can you tell us what you did?  Just so we’ve got an understanding, I’m not saying that anyone has done anything bad?--  Yeah.  This is after the accident, you don’t want me to take you through how it happened we’re starting from after the roof has fallen.

After the roof falling, and I’m aware that this is a very difficult thing but we need a bit of – maybe I can take you through some of the parts?--  That’s all right, I’ll do me best and if it’s not enough I’ll-----

I know it’s painful?--  Yes.

Okay?--  Okay.  After the dust had settled there was still rocks that were clattering from the roof onto the floor.  I made a decision then where I was going to stay where I was or whether I was going to try and move out and get to safety outbye.  I was fearful that more might come down and I’d get trapped in there so I took me chance at the time, made me way outbye which brought me to around about here somewhere.

Back into the panel?--  Back into this Heading.

Heading at least?--  Okay.  Now once I got out to there I can experience feeling very numb.

Yes?--  I felt like my mind was pretty active but me body was feeling numb.  Merv the shuttle car driver – I think I caught him about here somewhere, I don’t know whether he’d been up to the telephone or wherever, but as I came out I made contact with Merv there.

Yes?--  And asked him where the others were.

Yes?--  Now he didn’t know where they were, he hadn’t got out was all his expression was, and I don’t know whether I thought it or I said it to him at the time, I said, they’ll be all right, I thought they were up into this heading.  You see they were on the miner here, I watched them get down over the back of the miner and I lost contact with them at the back of the miner.

Yes?--  I thought they were going to make their way around into here.

Yes?--  Obviously they didn’t get that far.

Yes?--  So after speaking to Merv realising that they hadn’t got out, I got up as close as I could to the face, around about there somewhere to the fall, and I started yelling out.

Yes?--  I heard Stewie’s voice yelling to get us out.  I can’t ever recall hearing Mick but I heard Stewie’s call.

Yes?--  Feeling pretty distressed knowing that me mates were locked in there under the rocks and I can’t help them you know, I’m feeling pretty painful now as I talk about that.

Take your time, I don’t mean to distress you it’s just that there are some things that we just need to have a good understanding of?--  The first thing at that time that come to my mind was we’ve got to get an air hose over the face and try and circulate a bit of air for them.

Yes?--  Now at this time I picked an air hose up and I got up to the face and tried to push it over the face as best I could, it wasn’t over far enough, so I pulled it back and I went and got a pogo stick that was leaning up against the rib.

Yes?--  Pogo sticks are big red – orangey pole that we use for holding [indistinct[ up against the roof and it’s fairly lengthy, so I taped it with just a bit of electrical tape, the air hose to this pole, and at that time I think Forrest and Merv might have got the pole with the hose and they got it in as far as they could.

Yes?--  I started the process for the air hose and I think they finished it off.

Yes?--  What can I say after that, people started turning up, even my supervisor was quickly down on the scene.

Yes?--  We got the air hose over the top there and didn’t know what else to do.

I understand?--  We knew that we had to prop the area up around there somewhere, that was on our minds, but we didn’t have any equipment to do that.

Right?--  So I guess it was a scream for help at that particular point in time and then waited until we could get some assistance.

Yes?--  Re-assuring Stewie by yelling out to him and telling him that they’re coming you know.

Yes?--  In that time there we could hear Stewart quite clearly but couldn’t hear Mick.

Yes, understand.  And what time did you ultimately leave the scene, can you give us a time?--  I don’t know.

Sometime later.  One last question, while you were there did you see or hear any secondary falls?--  The answer is affirmed no.

There was just the one?--  That’s all.

So thank you, I’m sorry to have had to take you back through those events but it’s critical we understand from the viewpoint of the people who were down there exactly what happened.  Thank you for doing that for me.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  I’ve only got a few questions, Phil.  In your statement on page 2, have you got your statement there?  Around line 11 and 12 where you say that Mick and Brandon Gruening were on the tail of the miner installing the – is that a common practice?--  Yeah, if they need to stand on anything they can whether they had the machine isolated or not I wouldn’t have a clue.

You’ve been on red crew for a while?--  Yeah, a few  years.

Just a few days before the incident, if you actually turn in that blue folder you’ve got in front of you there please, to 9F, so down the side you’ll have some gray tabs?--  Hang on.

With a Number 9?--  Seven, eight-----

And if you go to nine you’ll find another gray page with an F on the front?--  9A, 9F, I’m nearly up to 10.  H, excuse me it’s my eyes, eh.  Yeah, okay, it’s sweet, I’ve got it now.

It’s got Maingate 19 on the top just a plan of the two headings, green and red and blue markings on it.  If you have a look about half-way down on the right-hand side you’ll see n/s 22500?--  Half-way down.

Yeah, just near where the break-off is marked in red, there’s another red road going straight ahead?--  Mine says NS17500.

Yeah, just above that there’s a red one?--  Red, yeah, okay.

The red means red crew?--  Yeah, gotcha.

What we’re looking for is that was on the 22nd, on night shift on the 22nd of May, so it’s about – probably the beginning of that week.  Do you remember if you were in the crew – you would have been mining around the area – see where these closed straps are just before the intersection on that plan up on the wall there, there’s three exposed straps.  Do you remember if  you were part of the crew when you mined through there if you put those up?--  No.

That’s all I need to know with that one.  Back to your statement-----?--  When I say, no, I don’t know, whether I was or not I wouldn’t have a clue.

But you don’t remember, yes.  Back to your statement again on page 3, around line 5 and line 6, where you said you had a close look at the roof, this is after the turtleback has fallen out?--  Yeah.

And you said you had a close look around; by that you mean just you’re standing still up on the bolting rig and just looked in that immediate area, you didn’t go back and look anywhere else around the intersection?--  I took vision of all the roof area that I could standing on the platform where I was without having to get down off the miner and go any further, so I could only view from where I was standing.

I just maybe clarify something for you, before you said about you know Green and you know Red in the SCARP because you know you put longer bolts in and you know Green is normal pattern.  When you go into – you know when you get a bit of flaky roof or something you naturally close the straps up like you did there up near the face?--  Yes.

Well the difference between Green and Yellow is just that closing up so there wasn’t any – actually any other difference just that closing up and you naturally do that anyway?--  Yeah.

That’s the only difference.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  No questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  No questions, thank you.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Mr Wagstaff, the bolts you were putting up with your partner, who was your partner, do you know, do you know who that was?--  Yeah, John Sanderson.

John Sanderson?--  The previous witness I believe.

Were you doing the inside bolts, the outside bolts, or were you swapping over?--  No, as I was just saying earlier on in my statement and in my testimony here, I believed I was putting in the outside bolts but I’ll be honest and say I could have been putting in them ones for all memory serves me right now.

Did you observe Mr Sanderson doing any of the bolts?--  Had to, he was standing beside me.

Did you notice any of the chemical coming out of the end of the bolts on his?--  No, I wouldn’t have been looking either, no, wouldn’t have been looking, gee.

Would you normally look to see if there’s any chemical coming out of the bolts, do you normally check that?--  No, I trust me partner.

No, on your bolts?--  No, you don’t normally look but every so often you take note – you know I don’t look up every bolt that I do to see if there’s the chemical coming through, no.  Sometimes – when you’ve got a strap -  you haven’t got a picture of a strap here but when-----

Just explain it?--  Okay, as it is.  You’ve got a huge plate about that wide which goes right across the roof and it’s got a tiny little hole in it and as you’re squeezing your bolt up, your bolt has got a four inch square washer that comes up against that plate, so you’re limited with your view when it gets right up close.  Sometimes that chemical won’t start coming out until your plate is virtually right up.  Sometimes it will start coming out when you’ve got another six inches of thread left on your – another six inches of bolt to push up in there.  Sometimes like I said it doesn’t come until right near the end.  I think it’d be a very hard thing to see chemical coming through every bolt.  You’d have to stop your drill and get up and have a look because sometimes the chemical might come down and it might squeeze out the front of the bolt and not – sometimes it’s obvious.

Do you know it’s part of the SCARP?--  What, to see this-----

Chemical coming out?--  No, I don’t know it’s part of the SCARP but to me it’s commonsense to know that there’s chemical coming out, but as I said, I don’t look at every single bolt to make sure there’s chemical, but I do – that’s all I put – I mean I’ve just said it, that’s the way it is.

The laser that went up, do you know what angle it was set up at?--  No, I had nothing to do with the setting up of the laser.  I  know the laser was set up but just through commonsense being down there the laser would be set up in such a fashion that it would go up through the centre of your heading and shine on the centre where you’re cutting, at what angle that was set at I don’t know, I don’t know what angle.

When you were doing your checks – I’d imagine when you walked into the panel you checked the face, ribs and everything as you were walking in there, the very first – the start of that shift; did you notice those three straps there at the start of the break-off close together?--  No.

Never noticed them at all?--  No.  No, you don’t.  No, I didn’t.  Some of the things that we take particular notice of – I shouldn’t say we, let’s say I, I don’t want to incriminate anyone else – you tend to have a quick look as you walk in up there.  The thing that probably gets my attention a lot more is, if I’m walking up the roadway there and I see any roof that’s fallen on the ground and it comes up clear because it’s cut stone dust on it, when it hits the ground you can have a pitch black floor but you can tell if any roof has been coming out because it looks fresh on the ground, and I never noticed any of that that night walking through.

I understand that.  I just wondering three straps or four straps there if you look at the one that’s been cut away, very close together, and then you come – be right on where you’re going to be breaking-off I thought it would be something you would be looking at because it’s an indication, as Mr Dalliston pointed out, it’s the difference between Code Green to Code Yellow and you were breaking off in that spot I just wondered whether you’d looked at it to identify whether you should have been in Code Green or Code Yellow?--  Yeah, no, the answer is no, I didn’t take notice.

No further questions.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Yes, one question, Mr Wagstaff, could you show me again where Mick and Stewie were please?--  I wish I had a view of where the miner was sitting on here I can only see the fall but I think-----

We’ve got one here where the miner was sitting if you like it; view it there, Mr Walker, it might be quicker?--  Would we have a picture of the miner as it is with a plan, you know, looking-----

Yeah?--  Here we go, this is it.

Here we go?--  Right.

Now in the statement you said before Stewie and Mick were on the miner?--  Okay.

On the miner, beside the miner, or what?--  We’ve got platforms on the miner, see that little mark there, we’ll just follow that line around.

Yeah?--  That’s our platform.

Right?--  Drill rigs here.

Yeah?--  Then we’ve got a rib borer there.  Now when Mick yelled out to me-----

Show us where you were?--  Where I was.

In front of the drill rigs?--  Yeah, over there.

On another platform?--  On the opposite side.  You’ve got to-----

Yeah, but on another platform?--  Yeah.  

Okay?--  Yeah, he was on – they were on that side, I was on that side.

So Mick and Stewie were on that platform just behind the first drill rig?--  Yeah, if I remember rightly Mick was standing about there, Stewie was standing somewhere around there.

And then they signalled to you and they run?--  No, no, no, only Mick signalled to me.

Yeah, Mick signalled to you?--  Two of them didn’t, there’s only one man; one man signalled to me, he shone his light over to me to get my attention, in me face, right, gets me attention straight away, and he yelled at me to run for it.

Okay?--  Now once he got me attention he then – he turned with his back to the face and he was trying to pull the battery over his head because there’s a strap that goes around his remote control, and he’s having a little difficulty trying to get this strap off because he was in a hurry, but I stood there to see why he said to run.  The last I saw was he put the battery, or seemed to be putting the battery down there and both Stewie and him were making their way down here, and whether they climbed off the platform there or whether they went down here and got off, I don’t know, but the last I saw of them was around about here, that was when I had to do something about my own situation then.

Did Stewie wait for him to take the battery off or did Stewie go, or was it only a split second?--  Both running together I’d say.

So Mick was moving while he was trying to take the battery off?--  Yeah.

No further questions.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  I’ve got a couple for you, Mr Wagstaff.  In your training records it says that you’ve got a ticket for a Jeffrey Miner, is that a full ticket authorisation?--  No.

Just for testing and maintenance?--  Yeah.

And the other one is; as a fitter on the shift you do your fitter duties first, do you normally spend much time as a part of the bolting cycle, or when you can just fit it in?--  Yeah, the plan is that a fitter or electrician or tradesman is to complete his duties and then to do whatever he can to assist in the crew, that’s the way the plan works but in actual reality you find yourself trying to do your duties with them fellows you know trying to help them out as well as do your duties, and I’ve never had a problem with it so that’s what happens.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Mr Wagstaff, prior to the fall, did you participate in a conversation with others about whether or not we shouldn’t convert to Code Red?--  No.  If there was any conversations about going to Code Red I was absent.

Okay, thanks.

WARDEN:  Anything arising out of that?

MR TATE:  I don’t believe so, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused.  Your Worship, I also note the time perhaps this would be a convenient moment.

WARDEN:  We’ll have a short break.  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused, thank you for giving evidence.

WITNESS EXCUSED

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 11.25 AM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 11.45 AM

WARDEN:   Thank you, gentlemen.  Thank you, Mr Tate.

MR TATE:  I call Wayne Douglas Deakin.

WAYNE DOUGLAS DEAKIN, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Deakin, would you indicate your full name please?--  Wayne Douglas Deakin.

And your occupation?--  Deputy at Oaky No 1.

And your current address?--  102 Ruby Street.

Whereabouts?--  Emerald.

Emerald.  I think as a result of the incident that occurred earlier this year you gave a statement to the inspectors who came out?--  Yep.

Can you have a look at that document in front of you and just check that that is your signature at the bottom of each page and that that’s the statement you gave the inspectors?--  Yep.

Now are there any changes, alterations, additions, deletions that you’d like to make to your statement this morning?--  No.

Is it true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yep.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 32.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 32”

MR TATE:  Mr Deakin, if you can just help us, obviously what we’re trying to do here is to get good understanding of the nature and cause of the incident?--  Yep.

The other thing is that we’re trying to see whether there’s some recommendations that might help to make mining, and you know, blokes underground a bit safer, that’s what we’re about, we’re not trying to get anyone into trouble and I’ve said that to everyone so they – everyone knows exactly where we’re coming from?--  Right.

I think you’re an outbye deputy at Oaky No 1?--  No, I’m a production deputy.

Production deputy; and I’m just looking at your statement, you started as an outbye deputy, then you were a panel deputy for about 18 months?--  Yep.

And at the time of this incident back in May, what were you, a production deputy?--  Production deputy.

And I think one of the mining – one of the mine rescue people?--  Yeah, I’m currently a mine rescue member.

And that’s a mine rescue member at the mine?--  Yep.

Very briefly, what were your duties as production deputy back in May this year?--  To organise production crew to develop – develop the longwall panels.

Yes, yes.  So in terms of – I’ll just take you – what we’re going to do is we’ve got some handy slides that I’ve just asked one of the inspectors to put up the relevant slide.  Now that’s a diagram of the A and the B Headings and also the various cut-throughs and you can see there were the circle is is the accident site and just the indication of where 28 cut-through is, right?--  Yep.

Can you help us; in your role as production deputy do you have any involvement in the planning of where the cut-throughs go and where the headings go and that sort of thing?--  No, we don’t have anything to do with the actual planning at all.

So the planning is done by the superintendents and the geotechnical people and the others and then they let you know what the plans are?--  Yep, that’s correct.

And your job is to then roster the work, the planning, that sort of stuff to get it done?--  Yep.

How many crews would be under your control?--  One.

One.  And you’re part of that crew?--  Yep.

Can you just let us know just so that we’ve got a good understanding what your duties were on the night that things happened?--  Me – duties [indistinct] inspections and safety of the men and then just normal run of the production panel as far as gear and organising the men’s work.

So I think you started on the afternoon shift on the 25th of May?--  That’s correct.

Whereabouts – and what time did you finish that shift?--  Roughly a quarter to 12.

Quarter to 12 that night.  Did you come back on the 26th?--  Not for work, no.

What sort of things did  you do on the 25th, was there any work done in Heading B during your shift?--  In B Heading we set up a pump and we were pumping out a squilly.

Did you do any development?--  No, we flitted around there at the end of the shift – towards the end of the shift and took one or two cars out of the break-off.

And that’s about it?--  Yep.

You’re involved with making decisions in terms of roof support under the SCARP?--  Yep.

Have you had any formal training in relation to the SCARP?--  We had a communication meeting where they went through the SCARP plan on a Friday afternoon but that’s about it.

A Friday afternoon?--  We have sessions on the afternoon shift on a Friday.

On Friday.  This was prior to the incident?--  Roughly six months before then probably.

About six months before.  Was there any sort of refresher training or discussions held on Fridays?--  No.

What’s your understanding of Green roof?--  Good conditions.

And when would you change from Green to Yellow roof?--  You might get a little bit of flaky roof where you just want to close your straps up for a bit of extra support.

And what about going from Yellow to Orange?--  Might be losing a bit of extra roof as you open it up, conditions might deteriorate.

And from Yellow to Red?--  You’re losing anywhere up to half a metre of your roof – extra water coming out of your roof, just – conditions just deteriorate.

So would it be fair to say that basically, as a deputy, you do your best to look at what you’ve got?--  Yep.

And then you make a decision about what seems to be the right sort of roof support given your codes?--  Yep.

And if it’s Code Yellow you need to talk to people as well?--  Only the immediate crew or any changeover, when you ring up, you just say you’re on Code Yellow.

And Code Orange, do you have to talk to people?--  Not to go on it, just inform the shift supervisor.

And going from Orange to Red?--  It’s got – the production supervisor and the manager.

Now one of the indicators is roof sag or roof movement, about 20 mls?--  Yep.

Are you aware of that?--  Yep.

If there’s a tell-tale that might help you work out whether the roof has fallen a bit or moved, sagged, whatever?--  Yep.

If you haven’t got a tell-tale how do you go about telling whether you’ve got that sort of movement?--  If you keep an eye on your roof you’ll probably see where she’ll drop, probably 20 ml you probably wouldn’t pick up by your eye, probably looking at – the roof might sag on one side but I don’t know how you’d measure it as far as millimetres with a tell-tale like that.

I mean, what sort of roof sag would you need to have before it was pretty visible that you had roof movement, are we talking 20 mls, 50 mls, 100 mls, 200 mls?--  Probably 50 mls.

Just looking at the B Heading when you were involved in it, what were the conditions like in the B Heading?--  Up to about 70 metre mark reasonably good up Code Green.

You might need to tell us where the 70 metre mark is; you’ve got a laser pointer there?--  Up about there somewhere.

That’s the B Heading and as you can see it’s a close-up of the 28 cut-through.  Now when you were doing your inspections in the B Heading, how far along did you inspect?--  Right to the face.

Just take us through with the laser pointer thing.  How far along did you go, you’ve told us the 70 metre mark, just so that we’re all clear?--  Well you go right to the face.

So that’s right along – take us along from the left-hand side, how far along did you – you went right along.  I notice there that just before the 28 cut-through the roof support closes up?--  Yep.

And you can see that we’ve got a number of the straps that are quite close.  Do you know why that was?--  Not that I can recall, no.

The ground appeared good?--  To me, yes.

Are there any facilities to assist you and the crew to be familiar with the SCARP framework for roof support?--  We have a SCARP plan in our cribroom if that’s what you mean.

And that’s one of those documents there that we’ve got on the wall?--  Yep.

Is there anything more formal than just having a copy of that in the cribroom?--  No.

A couple of questions just about communication systems; how do you as the deputy communicate with the other deputies on different shifts and whether it be the shift co-ordinator or one of the superintendents or whatever, in terms of the work plan?--  You ring up control, leave some changeover notes for the oncoming deputy.

When you say you ring up control and leave some notes, you just – are they written notes that you leave with them or-----?--  He’s got a formalised thing we follow.

Formalised thing; can you just take us through, what do you do when you’re about to leave shift and there’s a new shift coming on, back in May of this year, how would you deliver information to the oncoming deputy?--  Usually ring control and just tell them where we’re up to, what part of the – whether finished the [indistinct] or whatever.

Right?--  What we consider the conditions are at the time.

Right?--  And if there’s any jobs that need doing we just put them on there and jobs got done.

Is there anything that you record as the outgoing deputy in writing?--  Only our normal production report book and stat book.

And the statutory report, that’s it?  Whereabouts are they kept?--  The books themselves are usually in the cribroom.

Thank you, Your Worship, I have nothing further.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Mr Deakin, in your statement you say there was nothing abnormal about the 28 cut-through B Heading where you’re going to break-off; B Heading breaking off at the 28 cut-through?--  Yeah.

Now you said you saw those closed straps, or you didn’t see those closed straps when you-----?--  I never noticed them at the time, no.

With the SCARP you’ve got the Green, the Yellow, Orange and Red, how is that reported so that you know as a deputy was code you’re in?--  Usually when you do your handover you put it in that and most times it’ll be on the stat report.

So would it surprise you to know that I’ve read about 120 reports and it’s probably in about 20 out of 120, the codes?--  Not really, no.

So if you’re driving along B Heading, or you had driven along B Heading, and then you had the responsibility of working out where the break-off was, or you’d be told where the break-off was, how would you know what code that area of the road was driven in to know what the code to start the break-off at?--  It should be in the – when you ring up control.

Control has got a copy of all the codes – all the way along the road?--  No, you wouldn’t have – you wouldn’t record them, no.

So when you had to take your crew out of A Heading and back down to B Heading in the break-off you didn’t know what that section of roadway that you were going to break-off in what code that was in under the SCARP?--  I’d say it’s Code Green when I looked at it.

So you can only tell by looking at the roof?--  That’s correct.

And yet those straps being those close apart, or together, what would that indicate from the codes?--  They could have had a little cutter there or something and they just closed them up for one little section.

So it could have been a Code Yellow there?--  Probably stay Code Green with just a bit of extra support.

What’s the difference between a Code Green and a Code Yellow?--  A Code Yellow your straps are about a metre apart, and Code Green they’re a metre and a half.

Those straps there were about 300 millimetres apart, 300 to 400?--  You can put extra support in anywhere.

But it doesn’t change the code?--  No.

Okay, thanks.  Since – you’ve been in this panel for a while?--  Yeah. 

Since they went through about 20 cut-through – fault back there, was there much to change in the conditions from there through to the end of the headings where – the next bolts?--  Not that I recall, we might have had a few changes off and on.

So you didn’t see outbye of 20 cut-through much different from 20 into 29?--  A few of the break-offs were a bit different but 18 out of – bit of a cutter running up with it.

Do you do outbye inspections at all, or have you done any outbye inspections at Oaky Creek at all?--  Yep.

How far back were you responsible for it as a deputy looking after the face [indistinct]?--  To the tranny.

So probably four or five pillars?--  Yep.

So someone else did those outbye inspections, did you read or know what the conditions were in the outbye roads on a regular basis, outbye  of your panel, the rest of your panel?--  We have a look at the deputy’s reports.

Was there anything in any of those regarding any of the outbye roadways between the break-off for 19 – maingate 19 and the face area where you looked after?--  Not from-----

Over the last week or so before the incident?--  Nothing that I can recall.

Are you aware that on the day of the incident there was additional – after the incident there was some additional support had to be put up in 21 cut-through because the movement of roof in that area?--  Yep.

How are the outbye inspections usually done, frequency and how far they usually are to walk and what are the things you look at when you do outbye inspections?--  Usually every four hours.

Four hours, for those roads?  Are they done on foot or vehicle?--  On foot.

How far would a person have to walk during that – what’s the minimum or maximum distance you get allotted for an outbye inspection?--  There isn’t any they just work it out between the outbye deputies, split it up.

So they’ve got a reasonable time in that four hours to walk the distance and actually look for hazards and record hazards?--  As far as I know, yeah.

You mentioned that approximately six months prior to the incident you had on a Friday afternoon  you run through a bit of stuff on the SCARP; was that for all the crew, like red one?--  Everyone that was on shift that day.

Was it – what type of information was given out, was it the same information for everyone?--  As far as I’m aware.

So there wasn’t any different levels for – if you were a deputy, if you’re a mine driver different responsibilities, or just – it was just a general safety talk and they raised these issues?--  Yep.

Is part of your responsibility to identify geological changes and notify them to anyone?--  If there’s anything major, yeah, we’ll ring up otherwise we just usually report it or make each other aware.

So on the strata control management plan have you got some roles and responsibilities as a deputy, or to be aware of them?--  Yep.

Can you tell me what they are as regarding reporting a geological change?--  We can go from Code Green to Code Yellow ourselves, once we’ve got a Code Orange we would report it to the shift supervisor, and Code Red to management and the production supervisor.

So most of the changes you’re looking at are looking at whether you’re in code – any of those codes?--  We can go up but we can only go down from yellow to green.

So are you looking for any other signs except for what’s recorded in that SCARP sheet as a deputy report?--  As in conditions of the ribs and roof?

Yeah?--  You’re always looking.

So if you hit some major runners through the roof or change in direction of those or something else, do you record that anywhere or is that something that the geologist mainly does when he comes down and does the mapping for you?--  I generally don’t record a lot of them, usually just close them up and secure them and they’re all mapped by the geologist.

Have you had any specific training in how to identify or what things to identify in regards to that so you can help with the planning of the areas that you’re mining through?--  Nothing that I can recall.

Thanks.  No further questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  No questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  No questions, thank you.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Mr Deakin, if you just – if you turn to the inspector’s report there it’s been referred to quite often, it’s 9F, there’s a sequence of cutting there, Appendix 9F.  You see there on the 17th of 5th there’s 11 metres cut from – yeah, by 27 cut-through through to just before the break-off there?--  Yep.

You’re green crew?--  Yeah.

That would have been you?--  Yep.

Can we get that plan back up?  Could you just – and that’s basically where you would have been mining that day?--  Yeah.

I think it was only – if I remember rightly, there was about 11 metres cut?--  By this, yes.

11 metres, yeah.  So where would you have started there and where would you have finished?--  Would have started about there and around there somewhere.

Finished there; can you indicate on there where Yellow would be – Code Yellow bolting would be in those areas?--  No.

Why I ask is that on your statutory report you’ve got written on the statutory report Code Green/Yellow so I just wondered whether – and that’s going onto the next – you say you’ve got Yellow conditions, where would they be, and I’m just looking at the plan the only Yellow Conditions I can see are those three straps at the end?--  That’s be correct, yeah.

I’m just wondering where – why you would put Green/Yellow here?--  It’s closed strap-----

Which ones?--  It’d be those ones there.

So they’re the ones you put up?--  They’d be the ones the miner drivers put up, yeah.

Given the fact that youse put those up there for a reason, yet you came back there to the break-off and you never recognised – didn’t know they were there, after what Mr Dalliston said, and yet your crew put them up?--  I never noticed them at the time, no.

You must have known they were there you wrote in on your report?--  The miner driver would have probably told me at the end of the shift that he’s put up a couple of extra straps at the end of the-----

And you’ve gone to Yellow Conditions?--  Yeah, that’s just-----

When you came back to there you never went back into Yellow Conditions?--  The conditions in front of it – anyone can go from Yellow to Green, not anyone but the deputy can go from Yellow to Green, and inbye there you would have went back to Green by the look of it.

So the decision was made to go back from-----?--  [Indistinct].

The Green; so we have established that it would have been your crew that put those four straps up?--  I’d say so, yeah.

That’s all.  Thank you.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Deakin, how are you?--  Chris.

On the last page of that report there, the very last page, on that one you’ve got there on your knee?--  Of the book?

Yeah.  Is that your record at Oaky Creek?--  Looks to be, yeah.

Were you appointed a deputy at Oaky Creek?--  Yep.

Does it show on your record?--  No.

But you are an appointed deputy?  How was you appointed, record book, letter from the manager?--  Letter from the management which we signed.

When was you appointed a deputy?--  Be the – for Oaky No 1?

Yeah?--  Be – when did I start about the 4th of the 10th.

Well your start date should be on that if you need to refer to that please do?--  About the 4th of the 11th I think I started.

That’s good, but what year?--  ’98.

And you were appointed a deputy straight up?--  Yep.

Thank you.  Mr Caffery, can we have P13 up please.  How long have you worked in Maingate 19?--  Eight or nine months.

Nine months; so how long has Maingate 19 been going?  You joined, at what, three or four cut-through and worked all the way in, or you’ve been there from day dot?--  From the start of the panel.

From the start of the panel you’ve been at Maingate 19?  That white material up in the left-hand side there, did you see that in the fall area after the fall, okay.  Is that a common occurrence in Oaky Creek No 1 that white material like that?--  You can see it in little-----

We’ve got some samples here do you want to have a look at them just to make sure?--  Yeah.

That material was taken from the fall area, it’s pretty standard from there; does that material show up in most falls or gutterings that you have?--  You can pick that up in most of the pit areas.

Anywhere in the pit?--  In different areas, yeah.

That could be major falls like this or just guttering?--  Yep.

Was this material present during – when you worked through the 19 to 22 cut-through area?--  Not that I’m aware of.

Not that you’re aware of; but it was a faulted area and you did have roof – difficulty with roof conditions?--  Yep.

If we can go to the manager’s report, it’ll be section 14, page 17, have you got that page?--  Yep.

Fourth paragraph down – there’s two parts to it, the second part, page 17 of 32.  Have you got that?--  Yes.

The fourth paragraph down, the second line, “The angle cut-through should be moved 10 metres inbye”.  Have you got that?--  Yep.

Was you aware that the angle cut-through was going to be moved 10 metres inbye?--  No, not that I can recall.

You don’t recall?--  No.

You didn’t have any party or discussion with the people that was trying to implement this to shift a cut-through, there was no discussion at your weekly meetings or pre-shift discussions?--  Would have been at the start of the shift we would have heard it to bring that – to go from 90 back to 80, is that what you’re talking about?

No, it says the angle cut-through – 28 cut-through should be moved inbye 10 metres; as the deputy in the section and the person responsible for doing the cut-off, you wasn’t aware that there was any changes to the mining sequence to change that cut-through?--  The weekly plan was revised two or three times that week.

Yeah?--  And they would have told me where it was, yeah.

They would have told you that they were going to change it but-----?--  They would have told me about – not that they were going to change but where it is.

The bottom three lines says, “The change of the location of the angle cut-through was never implemented because the approval of change was not given before it was ready to be driven”.  Do you know why?--  No.

So you were just instructed to break-off as per you said with Scott Dobbie 28 metres from the design centre line of 27 cut-through?--  Yep.

You measured that out yourself?--  Yep.

And marked it?--  Me and another bloke.

You and another bloke, okay.  No further questions.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  I’ve just got a couple, Mr Deakin.  With your changeover at the start and end of a shift, is it normally just a verbal changeover over the phone or is it a face to face with the incoming deputy or off going deputy?--  Over the phone lately, it used to be face to face when we had a shift change.

Do you find it a problem when you’re changing over on the phone talking to the other deputy or?--  I find it more convenient face to face, yes.

Just another one, another two sorry.  When you do break-offs, not on this break-off but any normal break-off you’ve done as a deputy, was there any particular procedure you follow or you just follow what’s written in the SCARP, just for the spacing of your straps?--  Just-----

Or depending on the roof conditions I suppose, wouldn’t it?--  Yeah, just stick to the SCARP, yeah.

And just one other quick one, mate; as a dep did you take part in the mining cycle or you’re just there mainly – do you take part as a miner driver or?--  Not as a miner driver, no.

But you assist putting up bolts?--  Yep.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Just one question away.  From the evidence available to us I think it’s reasonable to assume that it may have been your crew that drove the driveage of the 17th of the 5th to about where the intersection eventually was broken off to about that point where those straps are a bit closer than usual or normal along that heading?--  Yep.

Can you describe what the end of driveage or week-end shutdown procedures require as far as support to the face and how the face may have been left for that week-end?--  Before you pull out of any stub anchor support up to the face as far as you can.

So reasonable to assume that was done, you audit for that, does it happen each and every time?--  The miner drivers are responsible to make sure of that.

Are you satisfied it happens?--  Yep.

And what’s the reason we do that?--  Why you close it up – keep it [indistinct] because you don’t know how long it’s going to be standing there before you get back in there.

So what can happen if it stood for longer than-----?--  Well if it’s left open you could have the roof deteriorate, lose your roof.

So you could get delamination of the roof over the week-end?--  Over the immediate roof, yeah.

No further questions.

WARDEN:  Anything arising?

MR TATE:  Might this witness be excused, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you, witness, you’re excused, you may stand down.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Brett Anthony Murphy.

WARDEN:  What’s the likely length of the evidence of this witness and the next one?

MR TATE:  Your Worship, I don’t think long.

WARDEN:  Yes, I’m just wondering whether we can release O’Grady and Dobbie the following two to go and have lunch.

MR TATE:  I think that would be appropriate, Your Worship, depending on how long Your Worship wished to take lunch.  It seems to me, and I may need the assistance of my friends in this.  We have, after Mr Murphy, four witnesses left and then the registered manager.  It would be my hope that the evidence could conclude today and I wonder whether that’s a realistic proposition.

WARDEN:  No comment.  We can work towards that anyhow; we’ll do the next two witness and see how we go after lunch.  It’s possible the mine manager may be able to get in this afternoon.

MR TATE:  Yes.

BRETT ANTHONY MURPHY, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Murphy, for the record would you indicate your full name 

please?--  Brett Anthony Murphy.

Your occupation?--  Miner.

And your address?--  c/- SPA, Tieri, single persons accommodation.

And as a result of the incident that happened on the 26th of May this year you spoke to the inspectors and prepared a statement, do you remember doing 

that?--  Yeah, that’s correct.

Would you have a look at that document in front of you which is your statement, can you just check that that’s your signature on the bottom of each page and that that is your statement?--  Yeah, that’s mine.

Are there any changes that you want to make today to your statement, any additions, deletions, alterations?--  No.

Is the statement true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yes.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 33.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 33”

MR TATE:  Now Mr Murphy, as I understand it you were on the shift when the incident occurred; have you got a copy of your statement in front of you?--  No.

I just want to take you – and Inspector Caffery if we can have our usual thing done.  If I can take you just to the bottom of the first page, I’ll read it out for you, you say, “From what I could see from the car we were in pretty good country until the miner had advanced so that the cab car was about square with the break-off corner still about a metre out of the heading”.  We’ve got a convenient sort of map for you which we’ll get to in a moment.  There’s a laser pointer there, could you – in relation to that comment, whereabouts were you just so we’ve got a good understanding?--  In that area there, that’s where the cab of the shuttle car was.

“At this point I was checking the roof for any loose flaky pieces and I noticed a very minor cutter behind me”, whereabouts was that cutter?--  The cutter ran across the heading about there.

“It ran across the B Heading at an angle similar to the line of the cut-through starting about one metre outbye of the corner.  It was contained between two straps and across the heading, it was very minor, and the only reason I took any notice of it was because of the angle and location.  I thought it might be a bad rib line but when I checked the rib there was no sign of instability”, and you then go on to say that you didn’t examine the rest of the intersection that’s because you felt that the roof at that point in time was good and the ribs were good?--  Yeah, that’s correct.

Is that a fair way of putting it?  Coming just down to .9 on page 2, you say, “I went back to the face and went straight under the tail and started to load”.  Whereabouts were you then on this map?--  The shuttle car would have been in that area there.

Right, okay.  “I heard what I thought was bits of coal being sucked out along the ventilation tubes and hitting the 45 degree elbow”.  Can you tell us a little bit about that, what’s that all about?  One of the reasons I’m asking this is that you’re an eyewitness for all intents and purposes and all of us need to have good understanding of what you fellows saw and heard so that we better understand what happened, that’s all?--  What do you want to know about that?

Well, what do you mean by it?  “I heard what I thought was bits of coal being sucked out along the ventilation tubes and hitting the 45 degree elbow”.  Whereabouts was all of that happening?--  That’s on the beginning of the break-off there.

Yes.  There are ventilation tubes going into the cut-through?—Yeah, they’d run – they probably run to about there.

Right?--  So when the miner – into the face the ventilation tube will suck loose coal or whatever up the vent tubes and you can hear them and it goes around the corner of the vent tube there.

Yes.  So did you think the coal rocks were coming from the cut-through outbye or going the other way?--  Would you repeat that?

Well, which way – when you talk about bits of coal being sucked out along the ventilation tubes hitting the 45 degree elbow, just so that we’re clear, I assume that you mean being sucked out of the cut-through?--  Yeah, sucked out from the face then to the ventilation tubes.

Yes, all right?--  Outbye.

Thank you.  You then say it stopped for a few seconds then started again.  You then say you, “Had an uneasy feeling and looking around me to where the cutter was and at that moment a small piece of stone, egg size, fell from the roof close to the corner about a metre from the rib and then others straight after about a metre further out towards the centre of the B Heading”.  Can you show us where those two rocks fell?--  Probably one towards – one there and one there.

Right.  Okay, so that’s well and truly in the heading not in the cut-through or the turnout?--  That’s in the heading, yeah.

“Quickly after this I saw a small slab of roof coal peel down but not fall adjacent to the rib at the corner and just inside the cut-through”.  Now whereabouts was that?--  Virtually right on the corner.

And at that moment you decided to run for it?--  Well, I didn’t actually run for it, I put the brakes on the shuttle car and stepped off the car to examine that cutter closely to see whether there was any movement or flaking coming from that cutter.

Yes, and what did you see?--  Well as I stepped off the car to have a look that’s when the roof fell.

Right, right.  Is it fair to say that you were lucky?--  I’d say that’s pretty fair.

And then very shortly after that is when the incident occurred and the rock – the roof fell?--  That’s right, that’s correct.

One of the issues we need to understand is what people did after the roof fell; can you tell us please in your own words what happened then, what did you do, what did you see?--  Well as I stepped out of the car to examine that cutter.

Yes?--  I don’t know whether I heard a noise or what made me turn around but I turned around to see a large rock fall out say roughly around that area which lead the initial – which lead to the whole cut-through collapsing.

And what did you do after you saw that?--  I ran back a couple more metres, turned around and had another look at the fall which looked to me as though the entire intersection had collapsed and there was a lot of dust in that area so I ran back to the panel phone and dialed the emergency number for assistance.

Yes, and what did you do after you talked to the people up in the control or communications area?--  Well I didn’t speak to the people in communications, I handed the phone over to our panel electrician.

Yes?--  Then went back to the face again – to the fall.

And when you got back to the face what did you see?--  Well the entire intersection had hit the floor, the dust had cleared a little by then, and by that time the rest of the crew that were having crib at the time were at the face.

Yes?--  When the crew member, Brendan Dalglish, called out and then we got a response off Stewart.

So you heard Stewart speak?--  Yeah.

Yes?--  You could hear him quite clearly.

Did you ever hear Michael speak?--  No, no.

How long did you then stay at the cut-through before leaving?--  Well I didn’t leave until Garth and a few other mine officials had turned up.

Yes; do you remember when that might have been when they turned up?--  I couldn’t tell you an exact timeframe but-----

Just roughly?--  At a guess probably 20 minutes maybe at the most.

And after they turned up you left?--  No, we were asked by Andy Morris to go and get cog timber to help support the roof from the surface.

Right, and you went up and got that and then you came back down again?--  Yes.

While you were there did you hear or see any secondary falls?--  Any?

Any secondary falls?--  Yeah, there was rocks falling sort of on and off during the whole time really.

So that’s one of the issues we need to get a good understanding of; there’s the initial fall and then, what, is it random small-----?--  Just random small-----

Bits of rock?--  Yeah.

Were there any further large falls, large secondary falls that you recall?--  Well you couldn’t see how much was falling down because of the initial fall, you could just hear the rocks smashing on top of the original fall, I couldn’t tell you what size or-----

What is was like?--  Mmm.

So is it fair to say that what you’ve got is the initial fall, an unstable roof, and gradually bits of rock are falling down, so it’s really that rather than a big fall, and another biggish fall and another biggish fall?--  Yeah.

It’s not that?--  No.

Just the random rocks, all right, understand.  Going to the last page in your statement, you were asked a question, “Are there any measures that you’d like to be considered that might help prevent this happening in the future?”  Which is a very important issue and question for this Inquiry.  You answered that by saying, “Ongoing education and some shock treatment perhaps using video examples of actual falls and models to show the mechanisms of falls so as to maintain everyone’s awareness and help prevent complacency”.  Now, can you – really you should be talking to the panel here I think, what do you mean by that, can you tell us what you mean, what do you want to see to try and stop this sort of thing happening again, your own words, talk to the panel?--  Just to – on a regular basis every four months say, like I said, video coverage of falls and just a reminder of what can happen in underground conditions that you’re working in just so your mind is more focused on things that could possibly go wrong down there.

Have you had any training, formal training in SCARP or that sort of thing?--  We have a SCARP plan that is permanently kept in our cribrooms in the sections.

Yes?--  Which if we’ve got any doubts whatsoever we can refer back to the plan.

Have you had any formal training in risk assessment or hazard identification?--  We’ve had a number of courses with that sort of thing, SLAM, Stop Look Assess Manage.

Right?--  Things like that.  We’re constantly getting things like that shown to us.

Do you find that a useful way of identifying hazard in your workplace when you’re working on shift?--  I believe so.

Last question for you; we’ve talked a little about and I’ve taken you through your statement in terms of what you saw and so forth; was there anything else that you observed that alerted you to the possibility that all may not be well with the roof?--  No, nothing at all, it looked like it was good country that we were mining in at the time.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

MR DALLISTON:  No questions thanks.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  No questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  No questions.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Murphy, when you noticed the guttering and you stepped off your car to have a look, did you pull your car away from the miner?--  No, it was – it had just begun getting loaded when I looked around to see these small pieces fall out from this----

So where your car was when it was originally recovered was about two metres from the back of the miner?--  Yes.

You never shouted a warning or indicated to anybody that there could be any problem?--  There wasn’t time it was just – by the time I stepped off to have a look at this cutter a little more closely, by the time I stepped off the car the roof had come down.

You never heard any movement in the roof?--  No.

Difficult to hear because of what, the auxiliary fan?--  The auxiliary fan was in a different heading a fair way around.

Yeah, but you still get noise through the tubes, don’t you?--  Yeah, with the miner and the-----

Do you think that would have masked the noise that the roof was making?--  If it did make a noise, yes, it would have.

Well that amount of rock breaking surely should have made some noise but with the miner cutting, the heads going and that, it’d be a combination that you wouldn’t hear any movement from your roof?--  Yes.

No further questions.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Just the one question; with a break-off like that, how far did the miner – well, in this particular case, how far did the miner get around this corner prior to installing the support, like when you got back with the shuttle car what were the crew doing, were they installing support or were they waiting for another car, how did that-----?--  The miner was cutting at the time of the fall.

Just into the break-off, sorry, when you first started the break-off and the miner’s working its way around to get square and then start in the straight; how much intersection is actually opened up prior to installing support, did you notice that, take notice?--  Cut out probably a metre to two metres in advance, we put a strap up, we were putting straps up probably generally a metre, a metre apart from each other.

So how much face is actually cut out prior to putting a strap up?--  Roughly two metres.

Okay, thanks.

WARDEN:  Anything arising?

MR TATE:  I don’t believe so, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused.

WARDEN:  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused, thank you for coming.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I call Gregory Edward Merrick.

WARDEN:  This will be the last witness before lunch and we’ll resume at 2 o’clock after that, gentlemen, thank you.

GREGORY EDWARD MERRICK, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr Merrick, would you indicate for the record please your full name?--  Gregory Edward Merrick.

And your occupation?--  Development co-ordinator.

At the Oaky Creek No 1 mine?--  That’s correct.

And your address?--  2 Gum Street, Tieri.

And as a result of the incident on the 26th of May this year I understand that you spoke with the inspectors and gave them a statement?--  That’s correct.

Would you have a look at the document in front of you, is that your signature at the bottom of each page and is that your statement?--  Yes, it is.

Are there any changes that you want to make today, any additions, deletions, alterations?--  No.

It’s true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yes.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 34.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 34”

MR TATE:  Mr Merrick, if you can just help us, I’ve said this to every witness and it’s almost – I think my friends here will be throwing shoes at me saying it’s my mantra but we’re here to do two things; the first is to try and understand the nature and cause of this incident, not to get anyone into trouble?--  Mmm.

The second reason we’re here is to try and think of recommendations that might make things safer, so if you can just bear that in mind that’s what we’re about?--  Okay.

So that we understand the roles that people had, how would you define your role?--  Probably define it as a go-between, between the underground personnel and management as far as – yeah, people above me.

So is it fair to say that the supervisors report to you and you report to the superintendent, or is it not quite so clear?--  No, it’s not quite that clear; the supervisors report to the superintendent, I sort of work with the supervisors as far as the planning, but they report directly to the superintendent.

So what sort of – what do you do with the supervisors, these are the deputies and others I take it?--  Yes, yes.

What do you do with them?--  Discuss what is happening.

Yes?--  What our plans are.

Yes?--  And issues that they have.

Yes.  So when you say what your plans are, I take it they’re development plans or productions plans?--  Sequences.

Sequences?--  Those type of things, yep.

And are you involved in drawing up the plans, or are they given to you?--  They’re given to me.

By the superintendent?--  By the surveyors, yeah, through working with the superintendent.

So in many ways it really is a sort of co-ordinating role?--  Yes.

And you talk to the supervisors across all of the shifts?--  That’s correct.

I understand.  Have you got your position description now?--  Yes, I have.

Are you pleased with it?--  Yes.

What does your position description say that your current role is?--  To be honest I can’t actually quote what it says.

Doing the best you can?--  It’s, as I said, it’s planning, weekly planning, sequencing, meetings with the supervisors, co-ordination of supplies and materials, those sorts of things.

Understand.  Can you go to page 6 of your statement please?--  Mmm.

What I’d like to do if I may is take you down to a point about point 17, you’ll see that on the left-hand side and we’ll go right to the nub of it, “We discussed a plan of action to re-locate the maingate end of the face line outbye to avoid the fault.  Darren Nicholls indicated he would ring the manager and discuss the options.  I was to ring Wayne Deakin and discuss preparation for driving the slant 28 cut-through.  I could not reach Wayne and the coms officers left a PED message for Wayne to ring me”.  Now just help us understand what that’s all about, what’s happening here?--  Yeah, they hit the fault in A Heading.

Now whereabouts – we’ve got up one of those modern gadgets that’s a laser pointer, I don’t know how to work it I just know you can’t point it into people’s eyes?--  Okay.

So whereabouts is this fault that we’re talking about?--  The fault was up the end of that roadway there.

Right?--  Okay.

Is that the main – the Selwyn fault or whatever it’s called?--  No, it was a small fault that run across both roadways.

Right?--  Across that way.

Okay?--  We were expected to hit a large fault in that area.

Yes?--  But the proposal was that we were going to go through those faults and go out further so that – the length of those pillars there hadn’t been decided because we hadn’t really decided where that face line was going.

Right?--  So we’ve gone and hit a fault there and at that – then Darren was talking to the manager about the decision to re-locate the face line there that we weren’t going to go any further because of that faulted ground.

Right?--  So for that reason we were coming back to put this slant cut-through in for access for the longwall, to be able to install their maingate machinery.

Now whereabouts at that point in time were you proposing to have the maingate machinery?--  The maingate machinery would have been installed in that area there.

Yes?--  And they need to bring it in through an angled cut-through to be able to pull it in through that way.

And so that was the idea behind the slant in 28C?--  That’s correct.

Is it right to say that there was a change in the plan for 28C?--  There was a proposal in to change the plan, the face line was going there.

Yes?--  There was a cut-through to be driven there and there was another one there.

Yes?--  Because of the faulted ground that we had in this location where that cut-through’s going the proposal was to drop that cut-through out because of that fault and to re-locate this one a little bit further inbye just to split that pillar up and put it a little closer to the maingate drive because they needed that cut-through there to install the motor on the maingate machinery.

Right?--  And we wanted to drop that – that was the whole reason was dropping that out because it was right in the faulted area.

Yes?--  For that reason we were going to move that cut-through inbye a little bit further just to even it up more than anything and to get a little bit closer for pulling that machinery in.

All right?--  But there was no other reason for it.

Ultimately that didn’t happen?--  It didn’t happen, the proposal – we’d spoken to the longwall people, a proposal had been done up to do that, it was sitting on the superintendent – the tech services superintendent to sign off and it hadn’t got that far.

Right?--  So the decision was made to stay on design because that was the design that we’d had.

You’ve spoken – moving down I suppose to what might be described as 29 cut-through that there was faults and so forth?--  Yes.

How did you know that there was that sort of bad ground to the right of 28 cut-through?--  Well we’d driven that roadway previously and we knew that ground there was a fault and there was also movement on a tell-tale in that roadway there [indistinct] that area and we were going to go back in there and put a lot more support in that area.

Whereabouts was the tell-tale that was showing signs of movement?--  That was up right – at the end of that roadway there, about five metres out from the end of the roadway.

Now if you need to Inspector Caffery can give you a plan but you might be able to answer this off the top of your head.  What’s the distance from the break-out into 28C cut-through through to that tell-tale that would show the movement?--  It would be approximately 45 metres.

45 metres?--  Yes.

Is there any system where you’ve got that sort of movement in the tell-tale and concerns about the geology and the soundness of the ground about putting extra tell-tales in?--  Yes, there was another tell-tale 10 metres out further from that one that had no signs of movement at all.

Right?--  Yeah, and the ground between that looked quite competent.

All right, thank you.  If you can just help me with this aspect, what’s involved in changing a design, what do you have to do to do that?--  If you change a design there’s a set procedure and a form that’s filled out.

Yes?--  The form basically sets out the steps of the procedure and it’s discussion of the parties involved that it impacts, the tech services department, longwall department, it’s signed off by the tech services superintendent and the manager.

Right?--  That includes the plan – you include a plan of the area in that as well.

Yes.  I understand.  So they’re the procedures to make sure that everyone’s aware of any changes and things?--  Yes, that’s correct.

I want to read you if I may just a couple of sentences from the statement of Gregory Edward Merrick, and this is at page 4 of Mr Merrick’s statement, and I can give you this whole statement if you need it, it’s – yes, it is your statement so if you go to page 4, coming down to about line 18, “At the start of Thursday afternoon shift I informed Wayne Deakin that Rod Mitchell had reported 12 mls, millimetres, of movement on the inbye tell-tale on his shift”.  Now whereabouts is that tell-tale that you’re talking about?--  That same one we were talking about.

While the technical stuff is occurring?--  Mmm.

I’ll just read you that again, “At the start of Tuesday afternoon shift I informed Wayne Deakin that Rod Mitchell had report 12 mls of movement on the inbye tell-tale on his shift”.  Now which tell-tale is that that we’re talking about?--  That was the same tell-tale that was – that I mentioned for.

You mentioned before?--  Yes.

That’s about 45 metres?--  That’s correct, further in, yes.

“And that if there was any more movement he was to pull out”.  What do you mean by that?--  He was to take the machinery out away from that roadway and go to the other roadway.

Back to the A Heading?--  A Heading, yes.

“And if it reached 20 mls he was to centre leg”?--  Yes.

Now I assume that’s not cricket?--  No, it’s-----

What do you mean by that?--  To set rows of timber supports.

Right?--  To support them.

“This decision was made because we did not have the tensioner high ten cable to allow us to upgrade support to Code Red”.  Now what do you mean by that?--  We – for a secondary support for Code Red conditions we use a six metre – we were using a six metre flexi bolt which wasn’t very effective for what we were using it for so we went to what they call high ten cable bolt and you would install a cable bolt and then tension it with a tensioner up to 15 tonnes who it had a lot better support than what we were using.  We weren’t able to tension the bolts if we installed them in that area so it was easier to move out of that roadway and centre leg it until we could get the correct support to install.

I understand.  So that was on the Tuesday before the incident?--  Yes.

When did that material arrive on site?--  I’m not exactly certain, I think it was on the Thursday afternoon or sometime Thursday, I was away on the Wednesday and the Thursday at a training course.

Right, so is that, doing the best you can, Thursday the 25th?--  Yes, I think it was the Thursday sometime through the day that arrived.

But you’re not sure?--  I’m not certain, no.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Just to go on from that part, Mr Merrick, is it common that you’ve got a SCARP in place and you haven’t got any equipment to be able to actually following your SCARP?--  No, we – our SCARP – we were using flexi bolts but the problem we were having with those were installing and then – if we were in a poor ground we were getting movement, they – we were finding the flexi bolts weren’t being effective up to where we had 30 mls of movement so they weren’t being effective at all and we would have to pull out anyway and then get a contract to install some other types of secondary support, so the flexi bolts weren’t effective and that’s what the SCARP was written on so we were in the process of moving away from the flexi bolts to the high ten bolts.

So this was the initial changeover of that practice?--  Yes, that’s correct.

I see that your job is to liaise with the technical service department and geologist and stuff with respect to mining conditions; can you tell me how recording of the SCARP codes is carried out, what code you’re in on the shift?--  From the supervisors, yeah, normally just on their stat reports they’ll record it if they’re in – they won’t record it if they’re in Code Green, they just record what the roof and rib conditions are, but they – if they change to Yellow, Orange or Red they usually just write it on their stat reports that they’ve done so.

So was that code bought forward in the weekly plan [indistinct], like they’ve driven along B Heading and now they had to break off, is that code for what area they’re going to break off in recorded somewhere and given out in the weekly or the daily plan?--  No, it’d be done separate, if they were going into an area that was on Code Red they – there is not a specific form for it but they would be told separately.

What about any of the lower codes?--  No, only identifying the roof support that’s there.

What type of information is expected, or is in fact received on strata control issues from your deputies and from your miner drivers?--  The only – any issues that they identify through the stat report or myself or the production superintendent usually gets a call if they have any issues from them.

So there’s no formal process for actually recording those things?--  Not other than the statutory report, no.

On your shift handover system, do you look after that?--  Yep.

When you get the shift handover information is it actually rang through from underground to the surface, is that right?--  That’s correct, yep.

Is there a record and is that documented and kept?--  Yes, it is.

So as well as a copy handed out for the oncoming statutory person it’s actually recorded somewhere and kept?--  Yeah, they – I’m not sure if they still keep a hard copy but they keep a copy on the computer of all the handovers.

So that information is built into your 24 hour and weekly planning?--  Yep.

No further questions, thanks.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

MR TRAVES:  Nothing, thank you.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  One question, Mr Merrick, why did they go from face to face handovers, the deputies, to telephone handovers?--  Why did they go to face to face?

Well sometimes – one of the deputies said they used to do face to face changeovers and now they do changeovers by telephone?--  I’m really not sure whether it was because of shift times or whatever, I really couldn’t answer that question why we’ve gone away from that.

How long have your been in that position?--  Up to now, 12 months, a little bit over 12 months.

So they used to do face to face handovers or hot seat changes while you were in that position?--  Yes.

And you’re not aware why they changed?--  It did change because of shift times, the shift length had changed but I’m not sure on the reasoning for changing those shift lengths.

So that’s an industrial issue?--  Yes.

So what they’ve done they’ve shorted – they’ve shortened up the shifts which in that period of time they would have done their face to face changeover?--  Yeah, I’m not sure if they shortened the shift length up, the shift lengths are actually 

longer, the shift lengths had changed, there was a gap between the shifts, between day and afternoon shift and they’ve removed that gap and the shifts.

What was it, an overlapped gap or a-----?--  There was an overlap gap of an hour, they still do – the supervisors still have face to face at the cribroom where they used to change at the face now they change at the cribroom, the supervisors still meet each other at the cribroom.

That’s the deputies?--  Deputies, yes.

So what the deputies are supposed to do is wait at the cribroom until the other crew comes in and then they go out?--  On most-----

Or they’ve got individual transport and they could cross anywhere in the mine?--  No, they – on most occasions they don’t have individual transport and they use the same transport so they do meet at the cribroom and changeover there.

No further questions.  Thank you.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  A couple, Mr Merrick; the first one, as a development co-ordinator have you got any part in ensuring that the people in the shift are trained in the relevant procedures that they’re required to have or to mine under?  Like has anybody come to you with training issues?--  Not specifically training, no, I may pass on bits of information or whatever but no directly training.

Just another couple.  Did you have any involvement in the drawing up of this SCARP or hazard management plan that went with this?--  No.

On your statement, page 3, part (a), what do you class as a potentially disabling injury in your view?--  A potentially disabling injury where a person isn’t able to return to their normal duties for the next shift is as far the way we classified it.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Greg, I just want to understand at the time of the incident your understanding of the SCARP and in particular what zone you believe the crew was mining to that night in the last, say, 10 metres where they closed the spacing up.  Some evidence presented suggests that there was visual sagging of the straps and material falling out at the face, a couple of hundred mls of material falling out at the face.  What code do you believe – so your role at that stage was to advise crews and agree on what colour they were at, so do you have an opinion about what they should have been on?--  Code Yellow I would think closing the straps up and if there was no significant structure, no water coming from the roof or whatever I would think that they’d just be on Code Yellow.

What about the reference in Code Orange to 10 millimetres of strata movement, without a tell-tale – let’s say you had a tell-tale there and you had a little bit of sagging in the straps and it showed 10 millimetres, would that constitute a Code 

Orange?--  Yes, if we were getting movement like that on a tell-tale they would immediately go back and start installing Code Orange support, more than likely Code Red support if they were starting to get that much movement.

And in your opinion, you’re qualified as a deputy as well, aren’t you?--  Yeah.

Would 10 millimetres of movement be detectable by a face crew with a little bit of sagging on the straps?--  10 millimetres – under the conditions we have – I wouldn’t think it would be visible.

You wouldn’t think 10 millimetres of movement would be visible?--  No, depending on the type of movement where it was localised or-----

Well, in this case the straps are sagging down more normal?--  I would think it’d be more than 10 millimetres, yep.

Thanks.

RE-EXAMINATION:

MR TATE:  Your Worship, if I may, just a couple.  As I understand it, Mr Merrick, it’s only when you get to Code Orange that the SCARP requires the systematic placing of tell-tales?--  That’s correct, yes.

Now the other thing, if I can just clarify this with you, as I understand it the outgoing deputies, those finishing the shift, verbally talk to the comms room and the comms officer, is that right?--  Yes.

The comms officer then writes down what he’s being told by the deputies, is that right?--  Yes.

And is it the case that the comms officer then chairs a meeting for the oncoming deputies?--  No, he doesn’t actually chair the meeting.

Who chairs – do they have a meeting?--  They do have a meeting.

Who chairs it?--  Someone is designated – a shift supervisor or one of the deputies, normally an outbye deputy.

And the comms officers does what?--  He stays in the comms room, he does up the handovers if you like and to pass out at the briefing as to the information.

Does he talk to his notes or does he just hand out the notes, this is back in 

May?--  He hands – just hands out the notes, okay, and the supervisors then go through it and then they ring the panels to get any extra information they require or anything they’re not clear on in the handovers.

If you can’t answer this question just tell me, but hopefully you can, when you’ve got development and mining, the people who are most likely to be able to report on the ground, any structures, whatever’s happening are the people doing the rock support?--  Yes.

And also the people doing the actual mining on the continuous miners, is that correct?--  Mmm.

What system is in place to ensure that those people at the coal face who are actually advancing the face give information about geology to the deputies?  Is there anything in place?--  No, just – the deputies are there and their relationship more than anything, there’s nothing – no set procedure or anything for reporting that.

Once an area is stone dusted any information about the particular geology that they’re going through is lost?--  Yes.

What’s in place to ensure that the deputies relate what they know about the geology that they’re going through back to the comms officer, or to you, or to the shift supervisor or to the geologist.  Is there anything formally in place?--  His statutory reports – would expect to put it on their stat reports if they’ve gone through – they’ve identified some structure.

Do you read the statutory reports?--  Yes.

Do they do that?--  Put it on their stat reports?

Yes?--  Yes, as far as – yes.

As far as you can tell?--  Yes, as far as I can tell they do, yes.

But there’s no system in place that you can audit to ensure that the information is being adequately captured?--  No.

Thank you. Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused, you may leave.

WITNESS EXCUSED

WARDEN:  We’ll take the adjournment, thank you, gentlemen, back about two or a bit after.

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 1.10 PM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 2.06 PM

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  I call Paul O’Grady.

PAUL O’GRADY, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Mr O’Grady, for the record, would you indicate your full name please?--  Paul O’Grady

Your occupation?--  Mining engineer.

And your current address?--  15 Platypus Street, Tieri.

And as a result of the incident that occurred on the 26th of May this year I understand that you spoke with the inspectors and provided a statement to them?--  That’s correct.

Would you have a look at the document in front of you and just check that that’s your signature at the bottom of each page of that statement?--  Yes, that appears to be correct.

Are there any changes that you’d like to make to your statement, any additions, or deletions or amendments at this time?--  Nope.

Is the statement true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  It is.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 35.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 35”

MR TATE:  Mr O’Grady, or Dr O’Grady at least, I should indicate that I’ve been telling everyone what the purpose of this Inquiry is and my friends along the Bar table will be quite disappointed if I don’t say it to you.  We’re here for two purposes, the first is to try and ascertain the nature and cause of this incident.  The second, which is equally if not more important, is to try and come up with some recommendations that might make mining a little safer, or somehow try and better manage this sort of roof failure?--  Understood.

Not here to try and get anyone into trouble and that’s the important message I think.  So having said that, I understand that you have quite an extensive and very impressive array of qualifications in mining and geotechnical areas, is that so?--  I have a degree and a PhD.

Yes, as I said, quite indepth qualifications.  Now, I wonder if you could help us; what is your understanding of the mechanics that lead to this particular roof failure.  My understand is that essentially an intact block failed-----

Yes?--  -----under gravity by being able to detach from a series of joint planes which had low frictional and cohesional characteristics.

And is that partly associated with the presence of kaolinite I think it’s called?--  The presence of kaolinite would - on the joint planes lubricates joint planes and reduces the frictional characteristics across those joint planes.

You’ve had an opportunity of reading the reports of Dr Frith and Dr Fuller?--  Yes.

And you’re aware that Dr Fuller gave evidence yesterday?--  Yes.

Do you agree generally with his conclusions about the mechanics of the fall?--  Yes – his interpretation is quite reasonable.

Yes.  I wonder if we can just have that schemer of the rock fall.  What I’d like to do is just – we’re going to put up a schemer of the – when we get there it will be very self explanatory.  The schemer of the actual fall which I think is one of the last photos, 24.  There should be a laser pointer there; Doctor, if you’d be kind enough to perhaps use this – using that schemer if you’d assist us please and just indicate your understanding of the mechanics of the roof failure?--  Yes.  My understanding is that this yellow zone here indicates or broadly represents the block with fell and that this looking – I’m assuming that this area here is intended to represent the joint planes or the zone of joint planes which allowed release and obviously some were over here for the actual block to fall all there had to be a failure of this – of the rock in this area here.

Yes?--  There’s a slight difference in the interpretation of Frith and Fuller in so much as which – they actually differ as to which side fell first.

Yes.  You might like to take us through that because it’s important that we have a good understanding of the variations that are possible and your views about your preferred cause?--  Well it’s – my understanding is that Peter Fuller has suggested that this side fell first and it was sort of effectively a slight rotational movement which would have caused shearing of the intact rock here and that allowed the block, the detached block to fall.

Yes?--  Whereas Russell Frith has suggested that it’s possible that this area here actually failed first, and given that that failed and given that there was a pre-existing discontinuity here, that that would also have caused the block to fall as an intact block.

Yes.  If we take that latter scenario, what would be the likely mechanics to cause the left-hand side to fail?--  From my observation at the time there was basically – this left-hand rib was essentially intact, there wasn’t much spall at all, there was an area immediately above the coal seam here where there was a clay discontinuity, a sort of puggy clay band and that could have allowed a degree of differential movement which, if this ground here was of insufficient strength, could have allowed that rock to fail and therefore the block would have dropped.

If I understand that correctly, if I can use this analogy of three bricks, you’re suggesting that the middle brick which is the one that fell basically there wasn’t enough tension from the two other – compression at least by the two other bricks?--  That is certainly plausible, yes.

And do you have a preferred view?--  No, either interpretation would be equally valid.

One thing that we do know though is that kaolinite was present in the structure that we see on the right-hand side of that diagram?--  That’s my understanding yes.

Is that a common occurrence throughout Oaky No 1 down in the pit?--  There are certainly joint surfaces we’ve seen before which have had some infill on them but normally the infill has been more of a calcite-type material rather than kaolinite.

Yes?--  It’d be fair to say those – it’s hard to be exact about that because there wouldn't have been a great deal of XRF or XRD analysis done of the actual minerals.

You need to slow down because I don’t know what all these acronyms are?--  Sorry, to actually determine what the mineral is you need to do a test and there’s a whole series of minerals which can cause joints to be lubricated and to have low frictional properties, it’s to some extent academic as to what that mineral is.

Yes.  Although there are different characteristics between kaolinite and calcite, are there not?--  There are. 

What are those different characteristics?--  Kaolinite is generally – it’s a clay mineral.

Yes?--  And it would probably offer a higher level of lubrication than calcite would.

Calcite offers more resistance?--  Yes, in so much as it would have higher frictional characteristics.

Yes.  And in essence you’re not able to assist us to indicate how common kaolinite is throughout this particular pit?--  No.

I think you’ve been consulting or involved with the geotechnical services provided to both Oaky No 1 and Oaky North for a period of time?--  Yes.

And Oaky North I think is about three or four kilometres away from Oaky No 1?--  As the crow flies, yes.

And it’s the same coal seam?--  [Indistinct].

Can you assist us please by letting us know what sort of previous falls have occurred at both mines?--  It would be – in the first quarter of 1998 the installation face of north longwall one fell at – north longwall two fell at Oaky North.

Yes?--  And that was in a widened driveage.

What was the cause of that?--  I didn’t investigate that fall.

But someone would have told you, you had an opportunity of receiving-----?--  Well, essentially I believe the situation was that the roadway was over-designed width and the support that was installed wasn’t installed possibly to a high enough density and the roof material was a fairly weak material.

Yes?--  And it simply exceeded its capable span and fell.

Yes.  When you talk about weak roof, were you talking about diameter or width of the laminations or something else?--  The thickness of laminations was certainly an issue in the fall at Oaky North in north longwall two face line.

Right?--  There had also then been a fall in north maingate two.

Yes?--  There was a fall at 18 cut-through in north maingate 3, and there was a further fall in – it was either 19 cut-through or 18 cut-through, and there was a fall inbye of that, just outbye of that area.

When did that happen?--  I can’t recall the dates of those, they would have 

been-----

Doing the best you can?--  North maingate three; that would have-----

After you joined in ’98?--  I started work at Oaky Creek in about February of 1998.

Yes, and these falls occurred while you were employed?--  Yes.

So we’re looking at a time period somewhere between when you joined in February 1998 and now?--  Yes, yes.

All right?--  A fall occurred at the face line intersection in maingate 15 at Oaky No 1.  A fall occurred at A2 intersection in maingate 16 at Oaky No1.

Yes?--  And a fall had occurred I think it was in maingate 17 at Oaky No 1, again at an intersection – one of the inbye intersections, it might have been about 27 or 28 cut-through.

Yes?--  A fall occurred in the area which was originally planned to have a ventilation shaft, a fall occurred there probably six to eight months ago, I’m trying to think what heading that would be, that would be effectively E something or rather cut-through.  And a fall occurred in the tailgate of longwall – of either longwall 15 or longwall 16 at Oaky No 1.

And were the characteristics of these roof failures similar?--  No, there was-----

How did they differ?--  There was some variation.  The fall for instance at the A2 maingate 16 fall which occurred I think in around June, May or June of 1998, it was characterised by thin bedding planes, a high concentration of mica, and the fall propagated to form a sort of a classical beehive situation, it didn’t top out in any sense.

Right?--  There was a certain degree of topping out at the very top of the fall but that would have been – from recollection, that fall was nearly six metres high and the topping out would only have been two to three metres wide at most.

Yes?--  The fall at the face line intersection in longwall 15’s face line was – had very thin laminations where the fall topped out, it had virtually shear sides, there was no bridging or arching effect on that fall.

Yes?--  The fall was also characterised by a very, a quite pronounced clay infilled structured in the fall and the area around the fall was extremely wet.

Yes?--  There was no indication of moisture for instance in the area around A2 maingate 16.

Yes?--  The fall at about – the falls in Oaky North were all – from recollection, the fall in maingate 2 and the falls in maingate 3 at Oaky North all had structures going through them which were apparent after the fall but weren’t apparent prior to the fall in so much they would have been occluded within the rib line beforehand.

And if I can just stop you there; that characteristic is very similar to the fall that we’re here today about?--  Yes, other – in so much as they weren’t visible but the structures certainly in the fall in the outbye portion of north maingate 2 was a very pronounced structure.

Yes?--  But once it was exposed it was a far more significant plane than – it was a significant plane rather than the series of relatively minor planes involved in this structure.

Yes?--  The fall at, I think it’s 19 cut-through north maingate 3, but I’d have to verify that was also characterised by extremely thin laminations.

When you talk about extremely thin, so that we’re all talking the same language, are we talking 100ml, 50ml, 20ml?--  No, we’re talking at the most tens, more like – the majority of which are in the 10 to 15 millimetre sort of range.

And that’s approximately the same as the laminations in this particular fall that we’re talking about?--  No, the fall in north maingate 3 I would have assessed and it’s purely a subjective assessment was far more laminated – the laminations were far more pronounced than in this area here.

Understand?--  Most of the falls have been characterised by a high mica content in the material.

Yes?--  And it was interesting around – obviously there was coring done around this fall and there was also extensive coring done around the falls at Oaky North and the fall in maingate 16 at A2.

After or before the fall?--  In Oaky North, both; and in A2 maingate 16 after the fall.

Yes?--  And within very short distances the core was far more competent than the material appeared to be visible within the fallen area.

Yes?--  And there was noticeably less mica in the cores.

So that we have a shared understanding, what effect does mica have?--  Mica is a lamina mineral which if it’s present in a bedding plane basically gives that bedding plane very low frictional characteristics, it reduces the frictional characteristics of a bedding plane.

Like wax?--  It’s not greasy, it’s more of a sort of slipperiness rather than a greasiness.

Understand, yes.  So is it fair to say that as a result of this history of difficulties with the roof part of your responsibilities were to come up with a way of ensuring that there was a regime for roof support?--  Yes.

And that ultimately became the SCARP?--  At Oaky No 1, Oaky North has a different roof support system.

Let’s have a general or global view of the differences between the Oaky No 1 and Oaky North roof support systems, what’s the basic tenants behind both?—The main difference is that the geological regime at the two mines are totally different.

Yes?--  Even though they’re in the same seam, the northern longwalls of Oaky North have a prominent monocline structure which runs across them.

Now, monocline – you see you’ve got to be careful because I can talk to you ad nauseum about clogs on the equity of redemption and your eyes will glaze over. When you use your technical stuff my eyes glaze over so you’ve got to try and make me understand and I promise I won’t talk to you about clogs?--  Okay, sorry, it’s not a monocline it’s a syncline, basically the seam dips and then comes back up again to the north.

Yes?--  So if you’re starting at the main headings at Oaky North which essentially run reasonably close to – actually run about north-east I think – moving up through the longwall blocks, the first 15 pillars or so the ground is essentially very competent.

Yes?--  The syncline or stretcher then comes in and through that faulting of the beds the ground – it’s also becoming far more shallow as it goes north, the ground on the northern side of the syncline is extremely weak, is highly laminated and regards a very high level of support.  

Yes?--  It’s almost – in places, especially if it’s affected by moisture it becomes very very weak indeed and it’s almost as though it’s been weathered, it’s almost in places like a weathered material.

Now I think is it right to say that the MPA system for assessing roof strength has always been used at Oaky North, or is it the CMRR system that’s always been used there?--  No, there’s-----

A few more?--  No, the MPA is simply the uniactual compressive strength of the rock.

Yes?--  Now it has to be understood that if you can get a piece of rock – you obtain the samples forgetting the strength of the rock by coring.  Many instances in the northern area of Oaky North the rock isn’t actually strong enough to core.

Right?--  So the pieces that you can get at to test, such as they, represent the very top end of the spectrum of the rock strength of Oaky North.

Yes?--  Whereas typically at Oaky No 1 you would achieve a whole core almost irrespective of where you chose to core.

Yes?--  So it needs to be understood that when – if you’re in a mine opening – if you’re in the roadway such as here, if we pretend that – I assume that’s a representation of a roof bolt?

Yes, it is?--  If we pretend that’s a cored hole you get sample – get cylindrical samples from that cored hole.

Yes?--  You then send them away for analysis and that analysis consists of trimming the ends of that sample so that they are perfectly parallel to each other, and the sample is perfectly cylindrical.

Yes?--  Because the result – the test result is extremely sensitive to the geometry of the test sample.

Yes?--  And then you apply a load to that sample at a specified rate and these are normally done – the International Society of Rock Mechanics has set parameters for doing what they call the uniaxle compressive strength test and that gives you a strength, and the represents the strength of the rock tested in that direction. 

Right?--  It does not give you any representation of the strength of the rock when for instance it’s sheared in the opposite direction.

I understand.  Is that similar then also to the CMRR?--  No, the CMRR is a rock mass classification system.

Yes?--  It uses as one input, it uses intact strength properties of rock, it then adds further factors such as numbers of discontinuity sets, moisture and the nature of the discontinuity set whether they’re a rough set that is easy to interlock or whether they’re a very smooth lubricated set, and it then attempts to combine all those different factors and influences on the strength of a rock mass to give it a rating.

Yes?--  And so it’s – so that in theory, for instance, a relatively weak rock which is totally free of discontinuities may well have a higher rating than a very strong rock which has numerous discontinuities.

Yes, yes, I understand.  Just coming back, so that’s the major difference, the strength and the competency of the ground leading to the two different systems of roof support in the two mines?--  Yes.

Am I being too simplistic, I’m looking at you to correct me?--  No, that’s a reasonable proposition, the roof support system at Oaky North is generally far more intense than the roof support system at Oaky No 1.

If we go to your statement on page 4, at point 16 which you’ll find the little points on the left-hand side, point 15 – well I may as well start at 14 really.  “When mining commenced in the north-east mains difficulties were encountered with faults and other adverse structural features.  In between the localised structural failures, the general roof conditions remained competent.  It became apparent that with the local variation in ground conditions a process was required to manage support.  Initially the process was to react and manage each change but this was unsatisfactory to the lack of preparedness and the inefficiencies this caused.  It was recognised that the process must manage variations in a pro-active pre-determined manner and to empower operational personnel to make appropriate changes.  The process developed was the SCARP system”.  Now, as I understand it, you’re the architect or the creator of the SCARP system, is that right, or am I being too flattering?--  Well it’s – the concept of going from Conditions Green through to Red is stolen directly from the longwall hazard plan which operated at Clarence Colliery.

Right.  When we look at the SCARP, primarily though, you’re the person who we should talk to about how it came about, why it looks the way it looks, and so on, would that be correct?--  It’s not unreasonable, yeah.

How was it developed?--  When I started at Oaky No 1 there was a single manager’s support rule.

Yes?--  Which essentially was Condition Green as it is in SCARP today.

Yes?--  And that had been the only manager’s support rule at the mine to the best of my knowledge.

Yes?--  The conditions at Oaky No 1 before they went into the north-east district again were geologically and geotechnically quite different to the conditions in the north-east district.

Yes?--  Mining direction was different, roof strata was different, and level of structural problems was different also.

Yes?--  Having started to mine it became apparent – the mining at that time was mining basically in tailgate 14, maingate 14, the north-east mains, and the mining in tailgate 14 and maingate 14 was actually occurring from both ends which is fairly unusual.

Right?--  Allied Mining were mining a contract from the Maywin highwall and were developing south towards Oaky No 1 who were developing north, so you actually had four mining crews who were in the same areas but because they were mining in different relative directions to the same structural sets they were encountering different problems.

Yes?--  And it became quite clear especially for instance in the Maywin district there were very – a number of major rib failures and there was an accident at Oaky No 1 where Barry Sanderson was hurt in tailgate 14 through a rib failure and all these rib failures were structurally controlled failures.

When you say a structurally controlled failure, what do you mean by that?--  A block of coal sliding on a plane.

Yes?--  The failure of the blocks of coal was dictated by the weak – there is – across Oaky No 1 there is a weak contact between the seam and the immediate roof, there is – it varies in thickness but there’s basically a weak sort of dirt band on top of the seam and it provides a fairly readily released plane, and if there are major structures running through the coal, commonly terms greasy backs, which are just slippery surfaces, then lumps of coal up to the size of a car were able to fall out of the rib.  And as a result of that we introduced almost immediately rib support which wasn’t previous standard at Oaky No 1 at all there were no prescribed rules for rib support at the time.

Yes?--  So rib support was introduced straight away.

Yes?--  And it was also recognised that mining conditions were going to vary and therefore there needed to be some upgrading of the actual – of the existing manager’s support rule.

Yes?--  And so the plan was to have a scheme that allowed in areas where the roof was still, as what was described as the traditional Oaky No 1 roof which is a very competent roof.  The same support rule had been quite effective and it was therefore considered that maintaining that for similar areas was valid but there needed to be one or more further steps to be taken to deal with the structures that were being encountered in the roof.  

Yes?--  The north-east area has two major structures which delineated, the Stewart fault and the Maywin fault.

Yes?--  They both trend basically north-east south-west and the longwall blocks 14 to 18 are between those structures.

Yes?--  Between those structures there’s a whole series of parallel structures that have a similar orientation, they can hade in different directions and they can have different physical characteristics across the planes of the structures.

Yes?--  And some of them were mined through with absolutely no difficulty but some of them upon development unravelled and were difficult mining conditions, and what was looked at was finding a means of being able to support those adequately within the shortest possible period of time.

Yes?--  And hence the series of increasing support densities were developed. 

And is there any particular methodology that supports the different approaches to roof support evident in each code?--  What essentially happens is that because the mine and virtually all the Maywin district was mined under Condition Yellow, so Condition Yellow was essentially the default support level.

Yes?--  There were some areas where it was clear that some minor guttering occurred and it appeared to be – therefore we were in a position where we needed a higher level of support within the span of the roadway and hence the Condition Orange pattern was developed apart from that.

Now the difference between the Yellow and Orange I think is much more than the difference between the Green and the Yellow, is that so?  You need to take us through I think the Green and the reasons for that particular bolting structure, fairly briefly, and the same for the other three codes?--  Well green was what was there when I arrived.

Yes?--  And it has worked in the conditions to which it had been applied and therefore there was no – it wasn’t perceived there was any requirement to change that.

Yes.  So that had a proven – provide a proven base?--  Yes.

Okay?--  The experience in Maywin was that when – particularly Maywin because Oaky No 1 developed more in the north-east mains and in maingate 14 – depends – for various logistical reasons.

Yes?--  Then it was clear that the level of flaking in the roof at Maywin was fairly high and therefore a pattern was required that closed the strap spacing,  The strap spacing of one and a half metres which is permissible in Condition Green is probably relatively wide compared to most coal mines that I’ve been underground at.

Yes?--  I suppose given my background I’ve tended to work – prior to working at Oaky Creek at a fair few mines which had particularly poor ground conditions therefore one and a half metres is a fairly wide spacing.

Yes?--  And Condition Yellow essentially represents something which is far more normal around the coal mining industry, a strap spacing of 0.8 to 1 metre spacing.

Yes?--  The original Condition Orange isn’t as the Condition Orange shown there.  The original Condition Orange featured an eight foot bolt, featured four eight foot bolts across the row of straps.

Yes?--  But with the straps spacing as shown there.

Yes?--  The reason why that was subsequently changed was that initially the Condition Orange stipulated an increased grade of bolt in that it went from a T grade bolt to an X grade bolt.

And the difference between the two being?--  Essentially the elongation properties of the steel and the ultimate tensile strength of the steel.

And what practical consequence did that have?--  If you have a stiffer bolt and a bolt with a higher yield load it should offer more resistance to any particular force that’s applied to it through the ground.

Thank you?--  Now one of the main reasons for actually introducing an eight foot bolt was that the mine – the important thing was the increasing grade of bolt to X grade bolt.

Yes?--  And the mine stopped eight foot X grade bolts to a standard and there’s no physical difference to the naked eye from an X grade bolt to a T grade bolt, their profiles are the same, you can’t tell the difference, so by specifying an eight foot bolt it means that people couldn’t make mistakes.

Right?--  It was subsequently through using the SCARP it was then determined that what was actually needed was rather than increase length of bolt we needed more re-enforcement density across the heading.

Yes?--  And hence it was amended to remain at six foot bolts but they stayed at X grade bolts.

Yes?--  The differential between the X grade bolts at that time and the normal six foot bolt was that they featured different nuts so you could still physically tell the difference between the two items.

Yes?--  And the other critical thing with – the significant feature in Condition Orange is that it requires monitoring to be installed.

Indeed.  So you move from a pattern of four, to six, to monitoring with tell-tales?--  Yes.

Yes?--  And then Condition Red basically starts taking into consideration that you’re going to have either very weak roof or adversely structurally affected roof and then the long tendon design was incorporated to provide as it were a dead weight support capacity for the – it was ascertained from coring and whatever else that the zone of weakness tended to be limited to within the four metre horizon.

Yes?--  And so it was – the idea was to suspend that mass that could fall to the upper more competent bands and so the long tendons are designed on that basis.

I understand.  When I look at the various conditions you can see on the plan, the bolts appear to go in at an angle, is that – have a look you can see what I mean?--  Yes, yes.

Is that meant to be indicative or is that mandatory?--  It’s indicative.

Is there any particular reason why bolts should go in on an angle as opposed to straight or you’re not too fussed about it so long as the jolly things go in?--  The basic – one of the prime considerations in terms of where bolts actually will end up is what can physically be achieved with drill rigs.

Yes?--  It’s important that – if you’re trying to re-enforce across bedding planes the more vertical the bolts are the more effective they are.

Why is that?--  Because they are nearly normal to the direction of shearing if shearing is going to occur.

Yes?--  So if you’re attempting to provide re-enforcement you want to achieve that.  If for instance as is common in metalliferous mining you’re dealing almost exclusively with structural failure type scenarios you will attempt to put your bolting pattern across the structure.

Yes?--  And so you would – whereas we’re trying to maintain our bolts within – the other reason is that you’re trying to re-enforce a certain thickness of beam and the more steeply inclined the bolt effectively the thinner the beam you achieve for a given length of bolt.  A six foot bolt that’s steeply inclined is only going into the roof three feet whereas a six foot bolt that’s vertical is going into the roof six feet.

Yes?--  And so it’s important to try and maximise the thickness of beam that you’re attempting to create.

Right?--  That’s if you can create a beam.

Just within this area, I’d like you to look at this slide and you’ll probably recognise this as being on the left-hand side of the cut-out and you can see the bolts there with the butterfly clips all perpendicular or vertical?--  Mmm.

And I’m going to ask you this and I really don’t have the words for it so I’m going to do the best I can, but I understand the ancient Egyptians used to break rocks primarily by drilling a whole lot of straight holes and then putting wedges in and of course the rock would break where the holes were?--  Slate mines still do it.

There you are.  Now whatever that’s called, that’s what I want you to think about so I’ve managed to communicate the message.  All these seem to be creating that sort of effect; in your view is there any significance in the fact that we’ve got what appears to be a shear plane right along the bolting structure?  I don’t know if that’s a good side to show it but do you know what I mean, you’ve seen the position, I’d just like your wisdom on that?--  Well it indicates that what was on the left-hand side of the bolts are over the rib side of the bolts which would be more stable anyway, and the position of the bolts may have influenced the position of that plane but I couldn’t be certain about that.

If it did and I understand that this a bit hypothetical and theoretical but we’re not trying to put blame or fault here, but how might the mechanics work, is it possible for example with this particular sort of bolting system may introduce in certain conditions a weakness?--  No, I think what the bolting pattern has actually defined there is the strongest point and therefore anything to the other side of it that is where the failure will go back to.

I see.  You don’t think it’s the same as the slate mines?--  No, no.

If we can just shoot back to the other one; with the bolts, as I understand it, irrespective of the pattern but not pattern red, what we do is we put them in, we spin them with appropriate chemical and they set quite quickly?--  Yes.

This is in brief, and then we tighten the bolt?--  Yes.  The aim is actually to tighten the bolt before the lower chemical as set.

Yes, yes, I’m sorry, I’m just trying to attend to two things at once.  Now how exactly does that process work and how does it secure the ground; number 24 again?--  The resin chemicals that you’ve described have two different setting speeds within the same chemical unit.

About seven and 14 seconds?--  From memory the spin time for these chemicals was 10 seconds and the whole time was 15 but I’d have to check the books for that.

That’s okay, it’s very short?--  Yes.  The principle aim when you’re installing any roof bolt is to fully encapsulated it.

Yes?--  Now the idea behind the bolting system being used here at Okay No 1 was that this upper portion of the bolt here, in theory where the fast chemical goes off that will set. 

Yes?--  There is then an area of the bolt down here where the chemical hasn’t set.

Yes?--  Now if – the nut is then spun off before this chemical sets, the nut will react against the bearing plate.

Yes?--  Up to the point where the friction of the nut on the thread locks up, and that as it rotates will be acting against the thread and against the reaction plate, the bearing plate, and it will then cause elongation to occur within the portion of the steel which is not yet within resin that is set.

Yes?--  By inducing defamation into that steel you induce load and the aim is to induce that load before the chemical, the lower chemical goes off.

In weak roof with close lamination we could in fact create difficulties within the bedding planes, could we not, by that simple process, and I’m not saying the process is bad it’s just is that one of the problems we’ve got to try and overcome with these bolts?--  No, no, the aim of the – the aim of trying to generate load or tension in this bottom portion of the bolt is that that load will be transmitted to some extent through the bedding planes that are running through here.

Yes?--  And that by compressing some – your analogy earlier with the three bricks, if you can keep compression on them the middle brick won’t move.

Yes?--  If you relax the compression the middle brick moves.

Yes?--  So the aim is to try and compress – similar to the way people make plywood or plyboard, if you can compress these laminations then you should make them stronger and make them less deformable.

Yes?--  If you get a telephone directory you can sort of – and squeeze it and then try to bend it it's hard; if you get a hold of the ends and therefore there’s no compression applied to the middle of the telephone directory, bending it is very easy.

Yes?--  And the aim is to try and make it more difficult to bend the beds in this lower portion of the roof.

Within that block that you’ve already told us about?--  Yes.

I understand.  Can you explain the engineering design principles applied to developing Conditions Green, Yellow, Orange and Red?--  They’re essentially empirical, there are no magic formula that allows design, however many bolts there are and however long the bolts are.  You can gain guidance from various things just numerical models.  That wasn’t done in this instance for those conditions.

Yes?--  What was done was a dead weight loading calculation to provide the design criteria for the long tendons in Condition Red.

And that leads onto my next question; is it possible to validate the existing conditions given against recognised principles for geotechnical design?--  The issue you face is that unlike for instance civil engineering design.

Yes?--  You face permanently variable material properties within the rock.

Yes?--  So whilst you can run a numerical model, for instance, which will have certain inherent errors and it will give you – you’ll know you’re basically in the ball park.

Yes?--  The only way you’ll ever really know is by installing something and monitoring its actual performance and certainly that monitoring of roof bolt performance was undertaken at Oaky No 1.

Just going to this particular set of SCARP plans; I notice in one of the criteria it’s not seeing chemical coming out of the bottom of the bolt, either the straps or the butterfly clamp.  Is there some significance, and why did you put in the SCARP that they ought to be looking for this chemical?--  It’s the most important feature for any roof bolt [indistinct] it gets full encapsulation.

Yes?--  It is – a point anchor bolt is a very much softer system.

Yes?--  Even though to most lay people a piece of steel is very stiff.

Yes?--  And we can’t stretch it in our hands.

Yes?--  A piece of steel which – a roof bolt which is for instance anchored at the very top end here only and then has a bearing  plate down here is a very soft system compared to a roof bolt which is fully encapsulated, i.e. which is fully glued all the way around itself to the rock.

Yes?--  So whilst it’s tolerable to have a small area at the bottom of the bolt, you know, be 100 ml or so which isn’t encapsulated.

Yes?--  It would be intolerable for instance to have a system where for instance only the top 300 ml of the bolt was anchored and the remaining 1.5 metres was a free length.

Now in that last scenario, the bolt would in fact be anchored at the top?--  Yes.

As opposed to the bottom?--  The bolt is always anchored at the top by the chemical.

Yes?--  Now if you lose chemical you end up with a certain portion of the bolt which is encapsulated and then it’s very difficult for the rock to move around that part of the bolt.

Yes?--  Whereas in the lower portion of the bolt – if the lower portion of the bolt here was unencapsulated then it’s very easy – you can imagine then the rock can actually move - because it’s not inherently connected to the bolt the movement of the rock isn’t translated into the bolt.

Yes?--  And therefore the system is relatively soft and it’s far easier for delamination to occur in the roof.

Yes?--  And once delamination occurs the exact opposite of that clumping effect occurs and when you separate beds they become extremely weak.

You’re aware of course that certainly after this incident that a number of bolts were found to be unencapsulated at the bottom?--  I’m aware there was some evidence that some – that the encapsulation wasn’t full.  I’ve not actually seen any specific numbers to say how much of any one bolts was unencapsulated at the bottom.

You’ve had an opportunity of going down and looking at the site though?--  No.

You haven’t gone down subsequently?--  No.

Doctor, why not?--  I wasn’t there, I haven’t seen the site since the recovery.

Doctor, I’ve got to ask you the question again, why not, why haven’t you been down to see the site?  Let me put it – I’ve lost you.  What’s your role at Oaky Creek?--  I don’t work at Oaky Creek.

When did you leave?--  June the 13th.

What were you – I see, all right.  Going back to before you left, what system was in place to ensure that sound geotechnical information reached those people involved in medium and long term planning which I understand was primarily you, and also others involved in more short term planning?--  Well in terms of medium and long term planning we had obviously a surface exploration programme.

Yes?--  And that included geotechnical testing and assessment of the lithologies and roof strengths, et cetera, et cetera.

Yes?--  And we incorporated in there a whole range of things, we sent samples off for testing, we ran geophysics in each hole we drilled, fairly standard procedure type stuff.

Yes?--  And that provided us with a broad knowledge of the geotechnical environment and the lithological environment in the areas of the mine that were under development.

Yes?--  In terms of the actual working mining areas, every area was mapped once a week as a minimum, and that information was reported back to me and that was the main means of communication obviously, and if anything untoward occurred I was informed and I went and looked at things.

Right?--  The mine also has a strata control engineer who was essentially in a training type role but she was also able to mainly looked after the geotechnical monitoring programme.

What system did you have in place to ensure that the geotechnical information that was coming to these various people was of sound quality?--  For instance, in terms of testing that was all done by [indistinct] accredited laboratories, it used to be BHP engineering but they’ve now – they were bought – they were sold off by BHP and I can’t think what they are called now.

Yes?--  So all that kind of stuff was done.  We also had external reviews of various things in the mine done because if you go – you can get de-sensitised, you walk in this place everyday, you think yep, that looks a bit like it did yesterday and whatever else, so we did have – the work that I did for instance was looked at by external parties, Russell Frith was normally the person used to do that.

Yes?--  For instance any major geotechnical issues such as the support of wide driveage,  particularly at Oaky North where the ground conditions were very weak, we had that done, we conducted risk assessments into doing that and we invited external parties, Peter Fuller attended one such risk assessment which looked into the design of that sort of system.

Yes?--  And that was mainly how things went along.  There were standards for the geological mapping, there was a standard for the geological monitoring, in terms of a tell-tale monitoring that was done across the mines, that was put into a report book which also the report book contained the instructions as to how frequently monitoring should occur and who the monitoring results had to reported back to, et cetera, et cetera.

I understand.  What about information coming from the actual miners and roof support people literally at the face, was there any system to ensure that their information was appropriate given to deputies, and from the deputies up through the ranks?--  I’m not aware of any formal process it was simply if someone saw something that was untoward they notified their supervisor and so forth up the chain.

So except for that last point everything else was capable of audit from your perspective?--  Pretty much, yes.

I’ve nearly finished and I think everyone will be very pleased about that, but I just need to take you to a couple of things.  Doctor, even though you’ve left the mine, I’d still employ you to go and have a look, I really think you should because a man whose doing your sort of work really should have an opportunity of seeing these structures as well as what happened.  Now roof bolt chemical was found between the layers of the strata around the beehive section of the roof that fell, is that significant in any way?--  It would certainly mean that there was probably loss of encapsulation on the bolts that that chemical came from.

Yes.  And it also, in and of itself suggests that we’d seen some delamination of the strata?--  It could well be indicative of that, yes.

Also, around the bolt, and this is an exhibit and we can show it to you if you need to see it, can you comment on why plastic may have been present in the area around the bolt and perhaps we might show the doctor the relevant exhibit.  Now, how would that come about, would it be a result of mixing or what?--  It normally – if the bolts – it’s hard to say because you’re never able to go in there and look.  Once a bolt is installed you can’t sort of – I know people have over-cored bolts previously but I’ve never seen an over-cored bolt.

Now what do you mean by an over-cored bolt?--  Sorry, you can install a roof bolt and as we take drill core you can get a very big drill core and you can actually have a roof bolt in the middle of it.

Yes?--  I mean you could take that apart to look at it but I think it’s only ever been done once or twice literally ever.

Yes?--  I would – in theory, when you spin a bolt in correctly it is always supposed, and it can only be supposed because you can’t go up there and look.

Of course?--  That the plastic wrapper is shredded, whereas it is suggested or hypothesised that if you pushed the bolt through the chemical and then spin it that you may not shred the plastic wrapper as effectively.

Yes?--  I can’t say whether that’s the case or not, and I can’t say whether it actually makes any material difference whichever way around it works.

Yes.  Thank you, Your Worship.  Thank you, doctor.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Mr O’Grady, you said earlier in evidence that the information from the SCARP actually come from Clarence, is that right?--  No, no, just the simple concept of going from Green – moving through different colours.

So only that, nothing else?--  No, it was actually from a longwall support plan at Clarence that the concept came from.

That’s what I was going to ask if the strata was similar but we’ll get rid of that one.  The falls at Oaky North you said also in evidence that some of those falls were somewhat – in some ways to the fall here didn’t have the structures – had structures that couldn’t be seen until after the fall?--  That’s correct.

Some of the falls at Oaky North also had a lot to do with the horizontal stress or lack of it?--  It certainly wasn’t in a confined environment and it is quite plausible that lack of confinement contributed to the falls, yes.

Would you say there could be similarities here?--  This is a lot deeper, whereas a lot of the falls at Oaky North were in very shallow grounds, 100 to 80 metres, this is nearly twice that depth, it’d be very surprised if the stress – I don’t know because the measurements have been done and the stress ratio is what it is so I don’t think there’s unconfinement issue in quite the same sense.

Once you lose the pressure on the sides by where – the pressure – it’s actually got a dead weight hanging there?--  That’s exactly right.

So with that in mind and knowing the geology from maingate 19, especially in the north-east where it can change direction of the mine and that different geological conditions which you knew and expected to experience, is that right?--  Well they were in the north-east when I started work at the mine so I’ve never worked at Oaky No 1 in the previous conditions, and so my only knowledge of development mining at Oaky No 1 is in the north-east area.

So when you went there – when did you go to Oaky No 1?--  February ’98.

Strata control management plans were actually supposed to be in place from 1996 onwards so the idea of having a management plan is that information is gathered about the mine, specifics of the mine and then put into place into a management plan, is that right?--  Yes.

So that information should have been available for you to have a look at to see what you’ve been through before and what conditions you had prior to the conditions you’ve got now?--  When I arrived at Oaky No 1 there appeared to be – the geological data base was just being assembled essentially and the geological model was being – had essentially been constructed at that stage by the mine geologist and they’d used ESS to produce that.

So that was some two years after they were supposed to have a strata control management plan in place, there wasn’t any background information you could use?--  There was a limited amount of information from some stuff in the dips but there was not an extensive body of information on strata control.

So would you expect that if there were other conditions had been experienced in other parts of the mine and then changed to this part of the mine that information would be compared and you’d have a look at changing – adding to the management plan to meet the conditions in certain areas of the mine?--  Yes, if I was aware that there was a distinct change of geological domain, and I suppose tailgate 21 is an example where there’s a known seam split and you have to tailor your plans whether it’s support plans or management plans to the known conditions.

Maingate 19 and north-east mains, were they heading towards Oaky North?--  They head towards the very southern limit of Oaky North.

So they’re going towards an area where you might be able to use some of the information from Oaky North to say well-----?--  No, no, the southern blocks of Oaky North haven’t been developed in any way shape or form at this stage.  I don’t know whether there’s a plan here showing the workings across the lease but the north-east mains terminated at what I think is the most inbye end of the most western southern longwall at Oaky North which would be three kilometres away from the area of concern at Oaky North, from the syncline type area.

How far along maingate 19, or was maingate 19 started when you started?--  No.

So you would have had a fair bit to do with the planning of maingate 19?--  In terms of its initial layout, yes.

So with the conditions in maingate 19 was it expected you were going to hit some geological disturbances or faulting as you got out further along maingate 19?--  Yes.

Taking that in mind and knowing that you’ve already mined other areas, for example, Allied had mined up in maingates 15, 16 and 17, was it?--  Yes.

Would you expect that it’d be reasonable to have a strata control management plan because of change in direction and change in other conditions that would vary throughout the mine rather than have one single management plan for the whole mine?--  The SCARP, the Strata Control Action Response Plan had been utilised for the majority of the north-east mains and the north-east mains were aligned parallel, a very similar mining environment.  D Heading of the north-east mains actually forms a tailgate of longwall 19 so it was viewed that maingate 19 was effectively in the same geological domain.

As you know, very different angle to the other maingate blocks that you’ve just recently developed with the same management plan?--  Yeah, it’s a different angle to the maingate blocks but absolutely in the same orientation as the main heading is.

Once you went through 20 cut-through and experienced the faulting and you knew you were coming up to another major fault at the end of the block that you actually hit around the 29 cut-through, was there any information or any stuff looked at to actually start changing – how you manage the control of the strata in that area compared to what you’d done before because you knew you were coming into a faulted area, you knew that the angle of your cleat and your jointing had changed?--  The major geological disturbance occurred around 20 cut-through and I think it was some 14 holes were drilled to ascertain the nature and orientation of that discontinuity of that structural zone, and that basically indicated that there were not any major faults of this continuity between there and where we suspected the Maywin fault lay, and therefore it was – that part of the panel was in no way geotechnically or geological different to the previous part of the panel.  So there was no reason to suppose that there’d be any major disturbance that may require anything – any particular consideration.

Have the conditions actually changed from 20 cut-through into 29 cut-through rather than outbye there – see what it was like?--  I would say that the – there were zones between 20 cut-through and 29 cut-through that are comparable to the zones between one cut-through and 20 cut-through.  There are some weaker and stronger zones in both areas.

Would you say there’s a lot more weaker areas between 20 and 29 outbye there?--  Not broadly speaking, no.

Since you’ve been there I believe there were extra geologists and extra strata control people put on prior to you leaving?--  That’s correct.

So you’d actually increased the department that was looking after the geomechanics for the mine?--  The way the technical services area is structured at Oaky Creek, I think it’s still the same, is that each mine has a senior mining engineer what they now term technical services superintendents, and each mine has – and he his – that person has the overall responsibility for the day to day and in design of areas and the mapping.  Each mine has its own mine geologist and each mine has a mining engineer.  There is a strata control engineer that serves both mines and essentially while that person used to report to me when I was the tech services superintendent for the whole site, effectively on a day to day basis that person liaised with the senior mining engineer or the tech services superintendent of each mine and the production superintendent at each mine.

So compared to other mines that you’ve worked at, there was a fair few people in the strata control section of this mine?--  Yes.

It was regarded as a major hazard at the mine, one of the major hazards?--  Certainly, and certainly in particular Oaky North.

So with that in mind and the fall you had on the 14th of May 1999, just over 12 months prior to this incident, would it be unreasonable to say why the strata control management plan hadn’t actually been modified from that time to the time of this latest incident that we’re investigating now, or looking into now?--  I’m not sure why that wouldn’t have occurred.  I didn’t actually have anything – didn’t look after that plan.

So it wasn’t your responsibility to look at overall control of the management plan and report back to the managers regarding changes or anything or as a result of investigations from other failures of roof?--  Not that I’m aware of, no.

Thanks.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR MELLICK:  Doctor, you refer at the last page of your statement which you have up there to having your attention drawn to the large movement recorded on the tell-tale nearest to the face in B Heading inbye of 27 cut-through.  Do you recall why that tell-tale was installed there?--  I was informed by Callun McNaughton that they had hit the fault and that ground conditions deteriorated and they were certainly mining in Condition Orange and is a requirement of the strata control action response plan that – Condition Orange that tell-tales are installed.

Did you know that a tell-tale was installed further along B Heading at about the 29 cut-through?--  Yes.

Do you know why that was installed?--  I think again my understanding is that – well the plan requires them to be installed at 25 metre intervals by mining in Code Orange and I understand that subsequently they were upgrading the support system from Code Orange to Code Red which eventually would have necessitated them installing an extendometer. 

Thank you.  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TRAVES:  Thank you, Your Worship.  Dr O’Grady, see Appendix 8A to the Inspector’s report.  Doctor, is that a regional structure map of the geology of the area?--  Yes.

And I really wanted to put the development of the SCARP in some context and you’ve given evidence this afternoon of the worsening conditions encountered in the north-west district?--  North-east district.

North-east district I should say.  Can I just ask you to relate that to the regional geological map there and you might start with – it’s not apparent from the map but the entrance to the mine is above the – you might just hold it up and show the panel and show the people at the Bar table?--  Oaky No 1 basically has two means of access, the main portal is up here and there’s also – these gateroads 

here came up to essentially a set of sub-mains which were accessed by portals from the Maywin open cut, and this was the area that Allied Mining drove.

I’ll come to that let me just – so you’re referring to – so the main portal you’re saying, is this here?--  Yes, it’s up here. 

What term do you give those longwalls three to 12 on the left and right as you come in the main portal, what’s that area called?--  I don’t know, we just called it the dips area it was never really worked while I was at the mine.

Can you identify the Stewart fault on the map?--  That’s the Stewart fault through there.

You might just need to describe where it is as well as-----?--  The Stewart fault is the fault that truncates longwalls eight through to 12 and it’s a fault which the north-east main headings go through and it’s quite – the form of the fault varies very significantly between A Heading and D Heading.

Just stop here a moment, doctor.  I’ll ask you if I need you to elaborate.  On the left of the Stewart fault there can you comment upon the geological structures there or lack thereof?—There’s generally very few geological structures in this area of the mine and this was the original area of the mine that was developed on the manager’s support rule which equates to Condition Green on the SCARP.

And that was found to be a satisfactory system?--  Well I’m assuming so but I’m aware that in the maingate of longwall seven which is the last – longwall on here that they had a fair few difficulties – ground control difficulties in there and I think it’s also well known that longwall was flooded.

Can you identify the Maywin fault?--  The Maywin fault is on the far right-hand side of the page and it’s this fault that comes down here, it runs basically parallel to the Stewart fault.

And that forms the natural boundary of maingate 19?--  Yes.

And above maingate 19 there’s a series of access roads, are they called the north-east mains?--  They are.

And then up and to the right of the north-east mains is that the north-east district?--  This area here, the area within longwalls 14 to 18 is known as the north-east district.

Now you referred in your evidence to the Maywin mine, is it right to say that was off the map being mined by Allied Mining and coming down towards the area mapped which is being mined by MIM?--  Yeah.  These – it’s fairly unusual, these gateroads were driven from both ends and they met in the middle.  Allied Mining drove down this way and Oaky No 1 drove up this way.

Now was it found that between the two faults, between the Maywin fault and the Stewart fault that geological conditions worsened when compared to those to the left as one looks at the map to the left of the Stewart fault?--  Yes.

And in response to that, you were asked to develop and did develop a system which became known as SCARP?--  Correct.

Can I take you then to the hazard plan for maingate 19 which is Appendix 7C.  Now is Appendix 7C the hazard plan for maingate 19?--  It’s the hazard plan for a portion of maingate 19.

This document and others like it forming in total the hazard plan for maingate 19, from what information is it derived?--  Largely from surface drilling and from interpolation of structure from adjacent workings.

And in that respect how can one relate the mining conditions encountered in the north-east district and in the north-east mains when they were being driven to the conditions that were expected to be encountered in maingate 19 and the associated longwall mining blocks?--  It’s basically a question of comparison, we use – the surface exploration programme yields lithology, it yields structural information essentially by identifying where in the vertical horizon where various sequences are and that allows you for instance to determine dislocations within seams.

Can I stop you there for a moment.  Can use be made of the information gained through the north-east mining district and the driving of the north-east mains, can that information be used in respect of maingate 19 at its development?--  Yes.

And can it be used in a positive way?--  Yes.

And in what respects was it relevant?--  It’s the nearest known workings, it’s in the same orientation and it has very similar structural environment.

Now was SCARP a system which was employed in the north-east district while it was being mined?--  Yes.

And was it found to be adequate and successful?--  Yes.

I note that the north-east – the access roads to the north-east district are on a plane very similar, or a direction very similar to 28 cut-through?--  The 28 cut-through is in a similar orientation to the maingates of longwalls 14 to 18.

And was the experience in longwalls 14 to 18 then of relevance to any planning or hazard identification that might have been made in respect of the cut-throughs generally?--  I would say so.

Sorry, I interrupted you; what is the most – are there positive ways I’m sorry in which the information might be used and I think you’d started to identify some?--  Well ultimately the hazard plans for any gateroad are utilised of former hazard plans for a longwall, and the north-east headings essentially form the tailgate of what will become longwall 19, and therefore they are essential in the development of that hazard plan.

Can I take you then – I should ask you, sorry, chronologically when would the hazard plan be drawn; chronologically in the sense – relating to the development of the maingate and it being driven?--  The aim is to have the hazard plan for the maingate ready prior to the – prior to mining commencing so that the hazards – the process is to develop a hazard plan, to plan the layout and then to – because you need to plan the layout around the major structure.

Is there then a weekly plan which is done?--  Yes.

And is that Appendix 8B.  Is Appendix 8B the weekly geological mapping for maingate 19 dated 26th of May 2000?--  That’s what this is, yes.

That is in fact the date of the incident?--  Yes.

And who would it have been that mapped this?--  This was Scott Dobbie.

So in terms of the geological planning for the maingate drive, there is the general map to which I first took you?--  Mmm.

Is there a more specific map then for maingate 19?--  Yes.

And then of course the weekly plan which is to identify geological hazards?--  Yes.

Can I then turn your attention to the actual terms of the SCARP.  It goes without saying I suppose that the SCARP is developed with – I can give you a copy if you like.  The features of the SCARP and the various codes would vary obviously enough from mine to mine, from mine to mine they would vary, they’re site specific in other words, the criteria?--  Yes.

So that the development, for example, I see there’s reference in the various criteria to the presence of water; was that a particularly important feature so far as this mine was concerned?--  Yes.

And why was that so?--  Water was found to have a very deleterious effect on the strata.

So was this – were the criteria contained in this set out after reference to the conditions that had been observed in the other mines – other areas of the mine of relevance?--  Yes.

There has been some queries put about SCARP and its terms, one matter I did want to clarify is this; the criteria in the Red Zone, are they criteria which all need to be met in order to go to a Code Red or is any one or other, any one or any of them sufficient?--  Any one should be sufficient.

So that in order to go to Code Red it need not satisfy all of Orange for example together with all of Red, it can either satisfy all of Orange and the top criteria of Red, or either of the two below it in the Red Zone?--  Yes.

Now there’s been some questions asked about the distance at the point of the cut-through being greater than 5.2 metres and thus – you might not have heard them, they’ve been asked before, it’s been put to various witnesses that the distance between walls at the point of a cut-through might be more than 5.2 metres once the cut in is made for the-----?--  The span of the break-off.

The span of the break-off, thank you.  Does this system cater for that if one looks at – the pocket book I notice seems to contemplate a specific structure for the terms into the cut-throughs?--  Yes, it does, particularly the most-----

Do you need to see them?--  No, the most notable example is in Code Yellow where the straps facing is actually reduced specifically for the cut-through area, for the break-off area, and in Code Red the density of tendons per square meter of exposed roof is higher; and in Code Orange the density of bolts per metre of exposed roof is higher.

Yes.  And is the strap system at the point of the turns supplemented by a series of spot bolts?--  Where there is a gap created where strap can’t sort of be practicably employed then spot bolts or butterfly plates are used, yeah.

What in your view are the strong points of the SCARP system?--  The fact that it allows people to move up from – to make a simple observation of a condition at the coal face and to move to a planned support system.  It introduces increased capacity components as it goes through the different levels.

Explain what you mean by that?--  It goes from T grade bolts to X grade bolts and ultimately to a tendon which has a 50 tonne capacity, and it also dictates monitoring and it dictates response to senior management, and it’s controlled by the fact that basically anyone can take the SCARP up levels but return to lower levels is controlled through a management process.

Is the strength also the fact that it prescribes a certain level of response to observed features?--  Yes, in so much as they are considered particularly in the Code Red scenario that the tendons are installed at a density which will accommodate a dead weight loading scenario.

Does it also remove any uncertainty the supervisor might have for example as to what is a sufficient response to an identified risk?--  It goes – it does achieve that hopefully.

Thanks, Doctor.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, witness, we have a few questions from the panel.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Doctor O’Grady, just while you’re on the SCARP, to move up to a Condition Yellow is just basically – it’s just got here all – from Yellow to Orange is basically all of Yellow and then it’s just got water make drill water running through the strata.  Are they – is that the only thing they should move up to that – if they notice any movement in the straps should they move up to Code Orange then or whatever?--  When you say movement in the straps?

Well if there’s – it’s very hard to say how much movement there’d be but if they haven’t got any tell-tales up but say there’s a bit of flaking coming off the roof and so forth, 100 ml, 50 ml, whatever, would that be sufficient to move up?--  Well that’s – from the experience at Maywin it was indicative that when the level of flake increased beyond about the normal 50 millimetres and there was a general deterioration of the roof strata, and the miner drivers found that in the normal operation they had to cut that down so that’s why that trigger criteria was employed.  The reason why the water criteria was employed is that given that some of – when there are clays and other minerals in the roof that we recognise that it became significantly weaker.  That was why water was viewed as a very strong issue and the fact that when you see drilling water flowing back through that’s a very strong indicator that you already have discontinuities in position and hence also the reason then for starting to verify encapsulation lengths by requiring an excess length of chemical to be installed in one bolt in the strap to verify that encapsulation was being achieved.

I just noticed on here that once you move up from Green to Yellow there’s still no monitoring to take place?--  No.

Why, I mean you’ve moved up a level why would you not want to monitor them to see if there any more deterioration?--  Basically because the base level of mining in most of the north-east area was in fact mined in Yellow so virtually all the north-east was mined on Condition Yellow and then when they saw deterioration they moved to Condition Orange and monitoring was utilised.

Wouldn’t you being monitoring Condition Yellow to move to Condition Orange?--  The observation for that was a simple physical observation of deteriorating conditions.  To the naked eye you’ll never differentiate a movement of probably less than 100 millimetres, it’s very very difficult, and you have to also look at the reactivity of a – tell-tale.

Just while you’re on there, when you move to Condition Orange you’re talking about 100 millimetres – 10 millimetres difference-----?--  Of movement.

-----of movement?--  But that has to be observed on a tell-tale you can’t-----

Point taken, but you’re just saying to move from Yellow down to Orange we’ve got to have 100 mls before we start because you’ve got no tell-tales up?--  No, no, I don’t quite follow what you mean.

What I’m saying is the only monitoring you’ve got is a physical monitoring to go from Yellow to Orange is-----?--  Observations of the mining conditions, yes.

Could I just have that – I think is 9H, the plan, number 18, is it?  You can see that plan up there now, there’s three or four straps being put close together there – as been identified Mr Deakin’s crew put that up on the 17th I think it was if I remember rightly, right down at the start, yeah?--  Are you talking that area there?

That area there.  Now he identified on his statutory report that he’d gone from Green to Yellow, yet the next crew came in and as you can see there and they haven’t continued on with the Yellow.  Is there – what have you got to identify so that one crew continues on, there’s nothing on the SCARP says – on here to say – relay that information forward or to continue on to doing it?--  That’s true, that’s at the discretion of the crew supervisor.

Each crew supervisor can drop, and so one crew can do Code Yellow and the next crew can come in and go back to Code Green?--  Yes.

Without any consultation at all?--  At that level, yes.

That’s all, thank you.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Mr O’Grady, just a couple.  One is with regards – since you took up your position at Oaky Creek there’s been I think four major – or four failures or roof and rib at Oaky North and Oaky Creek?--  Initially I only worked at Oaky No 1.

Okay?--  I was solely – worked at Oaky No 1 and while I was working at Oaky No 1 there were two falls in Maywin.

Yes?--  One of which happened very soon after I’d started and there was the fall at maingate 16 A2 cut-through.

The position you were in, were you part of the investigations into those falls?--  I went in and inspected both falls, yes.

Another one; in your statement you said there’s been a few revisions of the SCARP when conditions deteriorated, were you a part – when they revised it were you a part of the revision team for that?--  Yes.

And just another one; do you know whether there’s any training provided for the crew supervisors of the tell-tales or their installation, for any of them?--  Yeah, all the crew supervisors at Oaky No 1 could install tell-tales, they’d been doing that for some while, they were doing that before I started there.

REVIEWER SINGER:  A few questions in relation to a finding by the inspector, Mr Caffery, and one of the findings was that the crew had very little warning, visual warning of catastrophic failure and that it affected their response time to escape obviously.  I’d like to – I need to understand a little bit more about the philosophy of the movement, the quite specific distances given in SCARP, 10 millimetres and 20 millimetres of movement.  Maybe a way you can help me understand that in response to roof at Oaky No 1 is if I assume as operators down at the face that I put a strap up right at the face, right at the face, so undercut the face and put a strap, and I start to drive away from that, develop away from that strap, I would observe roof movement from that point on?--  Very unlikely at Oaky No 1.  The roof movement at Okay No 1 is normally extremely – minimal if anything at all even in wide driveage which have been monitored extensively with extendometers and tell-tales over significant periods in fact periods in excess of a year.

Let’s assume then there is a tell-tale there and I do pick up 10 millimetres of movement, obviously that’s a trigger level?--  Yes.

What’s happening at that stage?--  That depends where the movement occurs.

Let’s assume it’s in the bolting horizon?--  It probably means there was delamination occurring within the bolted horizon.

So then I keep driving away from that strap and I pick up 20 millimetres of movement, and that, according to the SCARP justifies me putting up longer tendons?--  Yes.

Why is that?--  It’s basically to improve the support density in that area and you’re now in a situation whereby if the movement is all still within the bolted horizon the notification to the manager would also trigger something else to occur as well.  If it was reported to the manager that all that movement was within the bolted horizon then you would probably also choose to then increase the density of primary bolting, but the initial thing you would do is install long tendons because once the roof has started to move in that fashion you’ve created – you have a block of roof which is becoming less able to be re-enforced so you start getting to a position where you have a diminishing benefit from installing additional prop bolting once the roof has started to move.  So at that stage one course of action is to attempt to suspend that roof rather than attempting to re-enforce that roof and the long tendons are a means of suspending the roof rather than re-enforcing it.

So what would my visual indicators be now that I’ve observed to go through 20 millimetres of movement, what would I be observing down there to the plates, on the roof bolts for example?--  Probably nothing, if the bolts are fully encapsulated you probably won’t see the plates deform at all.  If the bolts aren’t encapsulated you’ll see the plates bend.

So how can we get 20 millimetres of movement without observing anything or hearing anything in the bolts?--  You can get delamination between the bolts.

And visually I wouldn’t observe that?--  Not if – if the bolts are fully encapsulated you probably won’t see bending – defamation of the plates.  If you’ve lost encapsulation then you will see bending of the plates.

So how as an operator am I – this is a critical stage, 20 millimetres of movement obviously, if I can’t observe how do I know whether I’m under a roof that should be supported by a tendon or not?--  This is being observed on a tell-tale or observed by eye?  Is it being observed on a tell-tale?

I’m saying I don’t have one there, one; if we don’t put up a tell-tale then how do I observe this?--  You can’t.

You can’t.  Do you find it as being an issue with the plan or a concern?--  Not in so much as it is – the roof is – at Oaky No 1 the level of roof movement was so small that if the other conditions have deteriorated sort of triggered monitoring to have been installed prior to it getting to that situation, and once you’re observing the monitoring then that’s the only thing you can respond to, that’s why the monitoring is installed and why the levels – the threshold levels of 10 and 20 millimetres are basically very very low levels.

How much movement would you expect in the middle of a heading if I was – if I observed that the straps were visually sagging?--  At Oaky No 1 if you observe the straps visually sagging you would probably have an imminent failure.  The roof – the nature of the roof is such that you do not get a high level of defamation prior to a roof failure which is in contrast for instance to a mine such as Angus Place or Tarmoor which had very high levels of roof movement.

I’d suggest you’d have at least 20 millimetres of movement to see a strap visually sagging?--  I doubt very much whether you’d be able to observe with the naked eye 20 millimetres of movement.

So it had more than that?--  If you saw the straps sagging visually you’d have a lot more than 20 millimetres of movement.

Just to clarify one other thing, did I understand you correctly to say that according to this plan intersection row spacing of straps was to be .8 metres apart?--  In Condition Yellow.

Only while you’re in Condition Yellow?--  Yeah, the Conditions Orange and Red had .8 metre spacing everywhere.

So is it not surprising to not narrow the spacing – why wouldn’t you narrow the spacing at an intersection considering your span, you’ve mentioned how important span was doing a break-off, why wouldn’t-----?--  You’re already – in Conditions Orange and Red – in Condition Red you were installing additional tendons so that provides an additional re-enforcement – additional support capacity in the area of the break-off in Condition Red, and you naturally – that’s the maximum strap spacing is .8, and when you’re at that sort of spacing you’re probably reaching sort of the practical limits of which you can really specify spacings.  I mean if the condition – if the level of flaking is worse than that and if there’s movement on tell-tales the straps are to be closed through there anyway.

You might need to clarify that because I thought I heard you say that in order to calculate dead weight loading space, space had to be .8 metres for a break-off because obviously you’re opening up more area, more span.  Would 1.5 metres be adequate?--  If you’re-----

If you’re in Code Green about to do a break-off, in this case, the straps are say one and a half metres apart?--  If you’re in the Code Green roof condition where basically the roof at Oaky Creek is self supporting then, yes.  If you’re in the situation whereby you’re aware that flaking is increasing which is an indication that the roof material is getting weaker then you would need to close the straps up.

So without those indicators you wouldn’t necessarily?--  That’s right.

WARDEN:  Anything arising out of that?  Mr Dalliston.

FURTHER CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Would I be able to ask the witness to take out Appendix 8A, the plan we were looking at before and may I approach the witness to ask him to make some markings on that plan please, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Sorry?

MR DALLISTON:  May I approach the witness to be able to get him to put some markings on the plan.

WARDEN:  Yes, okay, thank you.

MR DALLISTON:  What I’d like you to do is with the marking pen here, I’ve marked from the information that I have from the mine.  Whereabouts in relation to maingates 15, 16, 17, 18 and also along the north-east mains and maingate 19, one you have falls, and two you had difficulties in production where it was slowed down because of geological difficulties and extra increased support was required to be put in.  I’ll just show you the information that I’ve marked out and you can see whether you agree with those or not, but I’ll ask you to mark your own on the plan?--  Yeah, you’ve got that one – sorry, that’s maingate 16 2 cut-through there that’s where the fall was.

Can you mark it on this one for me.  I’d like you to mark them firstly on there?--  This is before my time, but yes, that was an area there.

Yes?--  The next area is there.

Right?--  It’s not there, that’s the face take off line that one’s okay.

Right?--  Obviously that area had to be totally re-designed, that was a major area.  That area in there is particularly difficult.  The other area where – the reason why this thing was moved was there’s an area there that’s a cavity.

Right?--  Yeah, there was some difficulties in one of these – there were certainly – well they got the miner bogged there in the floor, there were difficulties there, I don’t recall any difficulties particularly there.

Cut-through?--  There was one up here somewhere also, I had to go in there and we installed monitoring in there.  This was just hard, it didn’t fall in at all, it was very different support and it was just high roof in there.

Contractors worked there, didn’t they?--  No, that was all – that was done by Oaky No 1’s crews.  That was the area that – obviously that’s the area that fell.

Yes?--  And that’s the area that was being difficult.  The Maywin areas aren’t shown on this plan.

Yep, they’re up here?--  Yeah.

Yeah?--  And they’re the only ones – there were also all through here, all through that area there was difficult.  They’re the only ones I’m aware of.

I’d like to tender that plan as marked and seek the guidance of Your Worship to ask whether we need to call those areas into verbal evidence or if the plan would be suitable evidence for the areas where – have been highlighted.  Which would you prefer?

WARDEN:  Well show the plan to the parties at the Bar table first and we can make copies of.

MR TATE:  Your Worship, from my perspective, the plan speaks for itself.

MR MELLICK:  I have no objection to the tender of the plan, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Thank you.

MR TRAVES:  I just wanted to let it go in as being indicative of falls, might be a bit misleading because I understand that some of the areas marked were just difficult areas or areas where the mine plan had to be changed because of structures and so on.

MR DALLISTON:  That’s why I asked him to mark, one was falls and the other was areas that were slowed down due to increased bolting or change in bolting in the areas – difficult areas.

MR TRAVES:  Well as long as it’s understood that these aren’t all falls areas, some of them – they’re unidentified in the various categories which makes it a bit unhelpful.

WARDEN:  Yes, okay.  I’ll allow the plan, the marked plan as an exhibit.

MR DALLISTON:  So with those markings in mind and I asked the question earlier which I’ll go back to, you can see they’re coming down along maingate 17, 18 heading down, down in this direction, they’ve also come along there?--  Yes.

So there is a lot more increased – in this area here, increased geological disturbances or more need for change in roof support?—No, I’d suggest that Codes Red Orange were employed far more often in the Maywin area of the mine than they have anywhere else.

Up the top there which is not on this plan.  The other question I’d like to ask you is, you were – have you seen the accident after the accident?--  Yes, I accompanied you.

Yes.  When you went down and had a look down there, the fall that occurred down there, where would you put that – after knowing that there had been fall, where would you put in the Codes Green, Yellow, Orange and Red?--  How do you mean?

Well, Code Orange and Red say there has to be water coming out of the roof or increased – Code Yellow for example has got to have – you’ve got to be able to see signs of something, well you couldn’t see any signs until after the fall?--  Mmm.

Codes Orange and Yellow mostly change – either more stuff has fallen out which didn’t happen until it all fell out, or water coming out of the roof which still hadn’t occurred until now I believe, there wasn’t any water coming out with the fall, was there?--  Not that I’m aware of.

So knowing that fall has happened and having a look at that, do you believe there should be some change, or do you know if there has been some change in those to actually change that SCARP to pick up this type of scenario?--  There has in that there was an immediate recommendation and all intersections were effectively supported with a long tendon support system – all intersections will then be able to accommodate dead weight loading scenario.

Would you say that that type of fall that happened there could only happen in an intersection, or could it happen in a long straight road if the same things were parallel with the ribs?--  That’s very hard to speculate on, it has a greater chance of happening at an intersection because of the increased span, but the – what was a frequent occurrence in the maingates in the north-east district was that structures did follow the roads and ran parallel to the roads.  Now there were plenty of visible structures and they were reacted to, as I say, Codes Orange and Red were used fairly extensively in the Maywin area of the mine for that exact reason.  Now obviously I’m in no position to say whether there are hidden structures in roadways now that – there weren’t any falls in that area of the mine when they were operating under the SCARP so I don’t know.

Have you had similar falls in a roadway at Oaky North not an intersection [indistinct] on site and just dropped out?--  The fall in north maingate three was of that nature, yes.

So all I’m asking is, with that in mind, are you aware if these have been addressed, not just for intersections, I know they’ve been addressed or intersections because they’re in the report?--  At Oaky-----

No worries?--  At Oaky North the SCARP has been significantly modified in the light of the events in north maingate 3.

But you don’t know if it has been here?--  I’m – the SCARP for tailgate 21 is totally different to the SCARP that’s shown on this wall here because tailgate 21 was known to have the seam split in the roof and therefore it was-----

Got its own plan?--  Yes.

Thank you.

MR TATE:  Your Worship, unfortunately there was one issue that I neglected to ask the doctor a couple of question but with Your Worship’s leave I’d like to do so now.

WARDEN:  Okay, thank you.

RE-EXAMINATION:

MR TATE:  I’ll be as brief as I can.  Doctor, if you’d turn to Appendix 13C, it’s just some help I’d like you to give us there.  You’ll see there the torque tests that were conducted on the roof bolts after the accident.  Would you please in relation to both the results of test one and test two decipher for us what is meant by those results?--  Okay.  What they’ve done in test number one is that they have installed roof bolts, then what they’ve done is they’ve placed a torque meter on the drill rig and when they have tightened the nut they have written down the stall torque of the drill rig.

Yes?--  And what they have done in test number two, they have positioned the miner under existing roof bolts and looking at this what they have done is they have then applied the torque meter onto the roof bolt, put a roof bolt and dolly onto the – sorry, put the torque meter onto the drill rig, put a roof bolting dolly onto an existing bolt and they have attempted again to identify the stall torque of the drill rig.

Can you comment on how much torque is recommended for these sorts of bolts?--  There isn’t any specific level of torque recommended for the bolts.

Why is that?--  Because the bolts – there’s no – applying torque to bolts induces tension in the bolts and it’s normal to achieve with a drill – these are normal – the results in test number one, 400 Nms or 300 Ft/pound  are typical of the torque given off the specification of the drill rig at this thing.

Yes?--  And when we’ve done tests previously those sorts of level of torque have generated tensions in the bolts of the order of seven to eight tonnes.

Yes?--  And that’s sort of all it’s ever intended to be achieved.

And that’s with the test number one results?--  Yes.

Now the only issue that I have is that when we look at number 2 we see that the torque results are much lower?--  Yes.

Is that solely an artifact of this catastrophic roof failure, or is there some other reason that might explain why we have much lower readings?--  I’ve never seen a test done in a fashion of test number two.

Yes?--  I would imagine that the efficiency of the mechanism of the bolt – you’ll notice there is one test, the off driver’s side of the rig achieved a similar order of magnitude of torque as it did in the test number one.

Yes?--  The stall torque of the rigs or the torque applied to the bolts would be highly conditioned on the alignment of the whole system.

Yes?--  All sorts of discrepancies do occur when you’re attempting to put a drill rig back onto a bolt that’s been installed previously.  I don’t know what errors of alignment could occur.

What we can draw from this though is that there is some sort of range in which we want our bolts to be tightened and that can be expressed by the torque present at the bolt?--  What – the only valid way of testing this is to put load cell on the bolt as the same time as you do the torque test.

Yes?--  And that hasn’t been done so I have got no idea what loads may or may not have been induced from these tests in these bolts.

Yes, and that’s where we’re actually going.  What I’d like to know is what controls should be put in place to ensure that we’re actually getting when we install the bolts at the torque?--  The issue that you face is that the only thing you can measure in tests – you can go and do a routine torque test on the drill rig whenever you like.

Yes?--  And you can – the torque of a drill rig is essentially a function of its mechanical soundness in the actual motor itself and a function of the pressure being applied from the continuous miner’s hydraulic system.

Yes?--  Now it’s fairly straight forward to monitor the pressure being delivered to the rig on a continuous basis, you can simply put a pressure gauge on it.

Yes?--  I dare say someone could establish a drill rig after doing ex-number of installations would have achieved a level of where that might cause its performance to be deteriorated et cetera.  The problem you face is that there are a number of factors external to the drill rig which influenced the torque that’s applied – that influences the means of which the drill rigs torque is translated into tension in the bolt.

Yes?--  Now you have very little control on all of those things.  The only means by which that torque is translated into the tension in the bolt is through the low friction characteristics of the nut.

Yes?--  So if anything – any materials, you know, a bit of stone dust, or coal or whatever else,  is on the threads of the bolt then you will dissipate all that torque energy into friction and you will not induce the tension in the bolt.  The other thing you have to look at in that regard is the tension that’s induced in the bolt is purely a function – it’s a function of the actual twisting action of the nut applying – acting against the threads to induce tension, but that tension is applied to the strata by way of the reaction of the bearing plate, and it’s also a function of the soundness of the anchorage of the top of the bolt.

Yes?--  It’s not inconceivable, I mean the tests have been done – I’m thinking I’ve done pull out tests personally say at Gordonstone where you get extremely low bond [indistinct] characteristics.

Yes?--  If you put a higher torque capacity motor in one of these for instance which can generate a load of say 10 to 12 tonnes on a bolt, then the torque in the bolts at that level would simply pull it out of the ground, and therefore the level of tension generated in the bolt is totally independent of the performance of the drill rig.

Yes, and I guess that ultimately returns us then to a question I did mean to ask you and I didn’t.  It shows the complexities of the subject matter that we’re trying to deal with, but given your experience with the number of falls that you’ve seen at the various mines that you’ve been at, and this particular failure; is there anything that you can suggest to the panel that might assist people in the mining industry to better predict the possibility of this sort of roof failure in the future?--  The only way – there’s no simple answer to that question.

I realise that, if there was we’d be doing it?--  Yes.  I would – Oaky Creek for instance until a few months ago didn’t actually have a specified exploration standard.  Now it could be argued that, and there is one, one was introduced basically back in May and June.

Yes?--  The exploration standard of any mine should recognise the hazards of the mine, whether they be a roof hazard or a gas hazard or any other hazard, you know, an aquifer-type hazard, and the mine should design that exploration standard around their hazards and if for whatever reason they decide that such and such a factor is their hazard then their exploration standard whether it be an underground – a subsequent underground exploration or a surface exploration should address those hazards.

So you see the answer perhaps as lying in the notion of safety management plans at various levels starting at the strategic and working right down to the nitty gritty operational plans?--  In terms of strategic risk I suppose you would need to identify at the top of the tree what they were and subsequently work it down through the system. Whether you went through a safety management plan or a business management plan system is probably a mute point.  In many respects they could be viewed as being one of the same thing.

Thank you, doctor.  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Woods has one arising out of that.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Just one.  If you have a look at that plan up there on the board again, just one question; the angle of the roadway was originally designed to be driven at 60 degrees?--  Yeah, I understand it to be the case, yes.

It was driven at 45.  Do you believe that would have contributed to the instability of that intersection?--  Within that range of angles, probably no.

It would have widened the roadway out – well, just looking at it here, what I can see here it’s widened it out by about three to four metres on one roadway there, so you don’t believe it would have added to the instability at all?--  If it’d been brought round by another 15 degrees.

It was brought up – have a look at 9F you can see where the existing road – where it was supposed to be driven, and then – the existing road is there, the design road is there in the green - 9H, sorry.  The design road there is in the green dotted line coming down and back across and the existing road is there, you can see where it was driven.  Just have a look at the straps at the bottom there – about three to four metres wider at the road there?--  Yeah, but the green dashed line there is the as designed, I would put it to you that if the breakaway was done that the outbye aligned with the break-off would be very similar even to achieve the 60 degree cut-through.

Maybe?--  And if it had been – it’s not really feasible to say whether the same mechanism could have occurred with a change of 10 to 15 degrees of orientation.

WARDEN:  Nothing further out of that?

MR TATE:  I don’t believe so, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Mr Tate.  Thank you, witness, you may stand down you’re excused, you may leave.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  And since we’ve been going for two hours we’ll have a short break because I think the next witness may also be of some length.

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 4.06 PM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 4.24 PM

 WARDEN:  Thank you.

MR TATE:  I call Scott Hugh Dobbie.

SCOTT HUGH DOBBIE, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Your Worship, just before commencing with Mr Dobbie, given the hour and the number of witnesses that are left and depending on how much time Mr Dobbie is in the witness box, my proposal is that this be the last witness for today which would mean that tomorrow morning, Darryl Nicholls and perhaps the registered manager would be the last two witnesses.  I say no more at this stage I just foreshadow that perhaps as a matter for my friends to think about.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Can we consider that a bit further down into this witness’s evidence and I will then decide what to do with Mr Nicholls.

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  Mr Dobbie, for the record would you indicate your full name please?--  Scott Hugh Dobbie.

And your occupation?--  Mine Geologist, Oaky No 1.

And your current address?--  24 Malvern Avenue, Tieri.

And I think as a result of the incident that occurred on the 26th of May you prepared a statement when you were speaking to the inspectors?--  Yep.

Would you have a look at the document in front of you?--  Mmm

Would you just satisfy yourself that that’s your signature at the bottom of each page of that statement and that that is your statement?--  Yep, that’s it.

Are there any changes that you’d like to make to your statement?--  No.

Additions, modifications, deletions?--  No, it’s fine.

Is it true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yes.

I tender that.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 37.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 37”

MR TATE:  Mr Dobbie, if you will, what I’d like to briefly have you assist us with is just to understand the geology before and after the incident?--  Yep.

My understanding is that there was some geological mapping and plans done before the incident?--  Yep.

And then subsequently there was some further ones taken?--  Yep.

And they are I think contained in the inspector’s report.  Now at Appendix 8B, this is the plan showing the geological mapping prior to the accident.  Now if you turn to the relevant part of the report which is Appendix 8B it will have a copy of that particular map?--  Yep.

With the laser pen that’s there can you take us through please and explain the various features that we see at A and B Heading and also the various cut-throughs?--  Righto.  We’ll start back, I came into the scene when they were about here as they were heading up this way, then they finished up here, they flitted back around, they drove this heading up here.

That’s the A Heading that you’re talking about the moment?--  That’s A Heading, yep.

And the bottom one is B Heading?--  That’s right.  All these structures were mapped prior to my coming to number 1.

Yes?--  This here is a minor flake of the roof, initial skin of the roof.

Yes?--  That exact location changed a little bit after the event because of the survey.

Yes?--  The next feature along we have a shear zone indicated there.

Now what exactly is the significance of a shear zone?--  A shear zone is a fracture in the rock and indicates some sort of form of movement in the past.

Yes?--  Down the bottom here we have cleat which is something to do with the coal seam itself, shows two orientations here, the actual – I guess they’re the breaks in the coal itself.  They’re the two orientations indicated in the circle.

Yes?--  The next feature along we have a fault running along that orientation.

Yes?--  A bit of mine delamination just on the inbye side of that fault.

Now whereabouts is that, we’ve lost your laser pen.  Where’s the delamination?--  Just there, with a minor delamination just on the inside – inbye side of that fault.

Yes?--  That black dot indicates a tell-tale installed in the roof.

Now does that fault which appears to extend from the very top of the slide right to the very bottom of the slide have a name?--  No, I haven’t given it a name, no, we don’t give every fault a name, just major structures.

Yes?--  The “F” just stands for a fault, the “U” and the “D” stand for an up and down for sense of direction.  The arrows, the red arrows on the outbye side of the fault indicate the dip direction of the fault plane.

Yes?--  And that little number there is the actual throw, vertical displacement of the fault.

Yes?--  Moving in, we have a bit more minor delamination of the roof and we have a zone in between – I’ve indicated here flaky roof, another shear going across there – sorry, there’s a bit of rib spall back here you can’t see on that one up there but on the plan a bit of rib spall back there inbye the shear zone.

Yes?--  And there’s a bit more rib spall in there you can’t see on that plan and also on this side of the heading as well.

Yes?--  We have another tell-tale just there, and over here I’ve indicated the [indistinct] and the total displacement on that date, 25th of the 5th.

Yes?--  There is an actual joint in the middle of that minor delamination there as well indicated on this plan.  Another joint just on the inbye side of this bit of delamination, and then finally that’s where the face finishes there and it fell out inbye the last strap.  If we go around to the other heading we have some rib spall there and I’ve noted that it’s associated with the coal cleat.

Yes?--  It started actually right down on the side here what the support pattern was because they’ve change, they’ve gone from Code Green just there and there’s a line just in there and then it goes to Code Yellow and then finally in there it changes where that line is and it goes to Code Orange for the final driveage.

Yes?--  That’s another fault there, possible the same fault going straight across there, may have divided into two.  Again it’s got the direction of the plane, up and down, sense of movement, there for the fault and it’s got displacement of .3 metres.

Yes?--  In between these two faults there’s a bit of rib spall on that side there and we’ve got the next fault it’s got a throw of .1 metre.

Yes?--  We have minor delamination of the roof inbye that, another tell-tale with the movement indicated, and finally we have the fault right at the face there and a high roof fall indicated just outbye of that.

Yes?--  And that fault has a displacement of 1.4 metres and it’s shown as being downthrown inbye, up down, and it’s also got a dip of 80 degrees inbye.  We missed the coal cleat on that side as well – diagram up there.

When was this map completed?--  That map was done on the morning of the incident – this map was produced on the morning of the incident, it was in the computer earlier that week, after I come up from underground I put it in the computer – I don’t produce a plan straight away I normally do a plan once a week and produce a report on what I’d seen in the development panels and also one for the longwall.

Now I notice here there’s – on the left-hand side of the plan, mapping as of AS25600, does that mean that that’s when you did your mapping, the day before on the 25th, or does it mean something else?--  That mapping – that was the final mapping for the incident was done on the afternoon shift of the 25th of the 6th, that was the last time mapping was done.

Immediately prior to the incident, this is the most up-to-date geological mapping that we’ve got?--  Yep.

Subsequently I think you did another geological report, is that right?--  Yep, I was asked to do it more comprehensively.

All right, we might just – and that I think is at Appendix 10A.  With this one here it has a date on it, 11/9/2000?--  Yep.

That’s off in September, when was this drawn and when was it completed?--  This map was completed once they’ve cleaned the area up they went back in and mapped it again.

When was that?--  Following the incident, I’m not too sure exactly of the date of when it was – I was actually on holidays when this was done.

What about month, looking at June, July, August?--  June.

So reasonably soon afterwards?--  Yeah.

Now what I’d like you to do if you’d be kind enough is to take us through the same exercise with the laser pencil?--  Righto.  Back here, each of these black dots indicate a tell-tale, they were all installed post-fall.

Yes?--  Just there is that minor delamination that appeared on the first plan that’s where the actual survey location is.

Yes?--  The little black circle here indicates roof core that was taken post-fall and that’s the name of the roof core there.

Yes?--  There’s an indication there of how much actually flaked out of the roof there, .3.  There’s another roof core taken just inbye in between those two tell-tales, and that line across there indicates the steel beam that was put in place post-fall.

Yes?--  This line here indicates the extremities of the fall and that hatching just indicates that’s a high fall region.

Yes?--  That just indicates lip support.  In the cavity itself there was noticed some small fractures, and in the rib in the coal there’s remnant paleo channel material on the right-hand side there.  Another tell-tale on the inbye lip.  Just in the fall itself those faint yellow things you can see there they’re actual planes picked up in the fall itself by the surveyors.

Yes?--  We have a joint indicated across there and a joint running back in this direction here.

Yes?--  We have two shears indicated here, one the full length of the – full width of the roadway, one just a little bit on the outbye side of the little minor flake there.

Yes?--  There’s rib spall indicated down here from that shear zone up to the fault.

Yes?--  We have a tell-tale just there, we noted here that the shears actually opened one mill and dipped 70 degrees to the east.

Yes?--  Moving up we have a bit more minor delamination, on the outbye side another shear dipping in the same direction, and it’s open 3 mill.  We have ourselves a few joints just there – different orientations; we have a minor delamination here, a couple of little joints inside it, and we have the fault again, same things.  Minor delamination on the inbye side, the throw dip and direction.  Again a joint with minor delamination.  Up in the actual cut-through itself we have a fault plane indicated just there coming from the face back to the lip of the fall, we have again the throw of that fault .05 metre and its dip direction 85 degrees to the east.

Yes?--  Another tell-tale just there, shear running across the corner just there.  A bit of minor delamination just at the face there showing half a metre, that was inbye the final strap.  If we go over to the other heading we have a log just there, a couple of joints inbye of that, a couple of other minor joints just at the roof there, another log, a bit of minor delamination with a couple of joints on it.  A bit more flake on the way in there, that one’s got a couple of little joints associated with it, that’s another roof core location back there, still had the rib spall indicated in that area, remnant paleo channel material there and in there, there’s slicks on the inbye side of that minor flake there.  Another roof core, tell-tale, another bit of minor flake and a bit more flake inbye of those two as well and a joint running across just there before you get to the last fault.

In the joint planes you’ve noticed that, particularly in the B Heading, that there’d been a dislocation or a movement I think of one – was it one millimetre?--  Are we talking about-----

Down here?--  The shear open one mill?

Yes, yes?--  Yep.

And then I think-----?--  And that one there is open three mill.

Yes.  Is that a normal occurrence?--  Sometimes, yeah, we note different – on the legend on the page before there’s – for joints we have a different – we put an OJ next to joints that are open.

Yes?--  And that’s the difference between indicating a normal joint and an open joint so we do find them from time to time.

If there’s an open joint does that have an implication for roof management?--  Depends on what environment it is; if there’s a lot of structure in the area it could indicate something, but if it’s an individual joint I’d say it might just indicate a little bit of flake of the initial skin and it’s just let go along that joint before they bolted it or after they bolted it.

I see.  Now I think you’ve already indicated to us that a major component of the work that you do as the mine geologist is the underground mapping as per the SCARP and a weekly report including a plan of the mapping.  Now I guess in a sense we've just gone through the exercise of looking at, for all intents and purposes, those weekly plans?--  Yes.

Certainly the one before the accident.  Now how does that fit it to the SCARP?--  Okay.  The number 1 SCARP at the time of the incident didn’t have a reference to the degree of mapping from the geologist whether he gave them once a day or once a week or whatever.

Yes?--  At Oaky North where I was working the week before we actually had a reference in there, at a certain code the geologist has to map at a certain frequency.

Yes?--  I worked on that when I came to Number 1 and basically because I was new at the mine I went down there as much as I could anyway just to become familiar with it.

Yes?--  It’s pretty standard so.  The higher the code – like if it’s Code Red obviously you need to be down there a lot more seeing what’s happening, updating people that have to indicate what sort of support needs to be in there.

So tell us about it, if it’s Code Green, Code Yellow, Code Orange or Code Red what are the different responses that you need to make as the geologist in terms of going down there?--  Code Green at Oaky North was accepted as being once a week minimum for mapping.

Yes?--  Code Yellow was twice a week and I think all Code Orange and Code Red was once a day and Code Red was once a day plus if they needed me out there if they run across a new structure.

Now that was the situation at Oaky North, the same with Oaky No 1?--  That’s the way I treated it when I went to No 1, yeah.

Have you got your statement handy?--  No, he took it away before.

Just a couple of questions if I can just get you to help me out.  If you go to the third page about point 12, you say, “On Thursday, 25 May I went underground at 6.30 am and mapped MG19…”, I take it is maingate 19?--  Yes.

“…including the last approximate 10 metre driveage of B Heading and A Heading from approximately 20 metre inbye 27 cut-through to the face and also TG 21”?--  Yeah.

Now can you just tell us where those areas were that you mapped?--  Yes.  I’ve actually got a plan with me if you want.

Well it’s just that it’s easier if we put it on here then all of us can follow it?--  Yep.

It’s just an idea of gaining an understanding?--  Yeah.

It’s all in your report in any event, see, but it’s just helpful if we can see it.  On Thursday, 25 May, whereabouts did you go and map?--  Okay.

No, that’s a sin that?--  I didn’t press that one.

We’ll forgive you this time.  Okay?--  So that indicates I mapped B Heading when I came down the last 10 metre driveage, this area here, and then I walked back across and since that – they started from I think there, they’ve gone up to the face which I’m not exactly sure where the face was, but mapped from about there up to where the face was, they were just approaching this first fault here.

So about where 29 cut-through would have gone through in due course?--  Yeah.

You then, from lines 14 through to 18 you talk about a few things that happened, and then at line 19 you say you had a call from D Nicholls at about 6.45 to say that the afternoon shift had hit a fault in A Heading?--  Yeah.

“And it was decided I would map the fault”.  Now whereabouts was that fault that they had found in A Heading?--  That was the fault up at the face up there.

Right here?--  Yeah.

You went down to the mine, met Wayne Deakin?--  Yep.

At the face of A Heading, you discussed A Heading inbye, tell-tale reading?--  Yep.

In the morning, if I understand your statement correctly, long and short were zero, and in the afternoon when you got down there it was L10 and T15, so there had been-----?--  Lower and total they stand for.

I’m sorry?--  Lower and total.

Yeah, lower and total.  In the morning they were both zero?--  Yep.

And then in the afternoon, how many hours later would that be, we’ve got movement – total of 15 and low of 10?--  About 10 hours that would have been.

10 hours; was that a cause for concern?--  It’s indicated – it’s mentioned on the SCARP when they need to react to certain movements in the tell-tales.

Yes?--  I’m not 100 per cent certain what it says but in my book, yeah, that’s a fair rate of movement.

Is it part of your function to give advice to the deputies or the production or the development crews in terms of when they should change roof support?--  No.

What then – what advice then which you give do you actually give to the production crews or to other people who are actually doing the mining?--  I can – what I do, I can predict for them when they’re going to hit structures ahead of themselves.

Yes?--  So then the geotechnical people can make assumptions of what sort of support they’re going to install and then the crews are aware that they’re going to hit a structure and they’re going to be installing a certain support through that structure.

Yes?--  If I find a structure while I’m down there that I’m concerned about I’ll go and ring someone, whether it be Darren or Paul O’Grady, let them know what they’ve hit and they’ll make a call or talk to the deputy shift supervisor and they’ll discuss what support they’re going to put in place.

Surely though as the mine geologist, being intimately acquainted, almost bit like a Bible really, shouldn’t you be able to quote chapter and verse of the SCARP to me?--  I can tell you most things on the SCARP, yeah.

Anyway, let’s continue on.  So L10, T15 and I think what you’ve said is that that might, under the SCARP, be a cause for concern?--  Mmm.

You examined and mapped the fault and then you had Wayne measure the fault, is that right?--  They took a measurement from outbye side and I knew exactly what distance they up to the fault so I could put in on the plan correct.

Right.  And ultimately you said you’d have a talk to Darren about it?--  Yeah.

On the next page you then describe the fault and the surround geology to Darren and the tell-tale readings, some other discussion, then about line 3, “Darren told me that the machine would be flittered out to drive 28 cut-through off B Heading and then Darren asked if the proposed location of the 28 cut-through break-off was clean”.  Now whereabouts is that on this – what area are we talking about now just so we’re clear?--  This area just here.

So that’s where the accident occurred?--  Yes.

Look good; you told him it looked good, a bit of minor delamination outbye, shear zone inbye and spalling of the left-hand rib inbye?--  Yep.

What observations did you make of the 28 cut-through area before you gave that advice?--  My mapping through that area there.

The day before?--  Yeah, and I also – yeah, when I come up and inspect this area up here I always re-look over my area.  Like I – when I went up the day before I put – I added this mapping that I’d done here onto the computer when I took that down.

Yes?--  And then I mapped – when I walk past an area that I’ve done recently I normally check – well I did in that case because I was only new at the mine and I was just checking to make sure that I had everything as shown along there.

As you’re aware, subsequently kaolinite was found I think in that shear of 28 cut-through which you refer to right at the end near the face?--  Yes.

What is kaolinite?--  It’s clay.

What are its properties?--  It’s very slimy, it can be a deposit as a result of changes in mica, it can decompose to a clay.

Yes?--  And it can be a lubricant on failure planes.

Yes.  How is it that we see it in this area of the mine, what’s the likely possibilities that lead to the deposit of kaolinite in this area of the mine here?--  Could have been anything in history, any percolating fluids through the strata, change in pressure in temperature led to its deposition, couldn’t exist in the fluid state any longer so it precipitated out into solid like when it’s percolating along a failure plane or something.

Yes, yes.  Are you able to indicate whether kaolinite is widely spread throughout Oaky 1?--  Not that I’m aware of, no.

Are you able to indicate whether there are other areas that kaolinite might 

exist?--  I’ve seen it at Oaky North a fair bit.

Have you?--  Yep.

It’s the same coal basin, isn’t it, or coal seam?--  Yes, German Creek, yeah.

If you’ve seen kaolinite in Oaky North from a professional point of view would you expect to see it in Oaky 1?--  Yeah, I guess so, yeah.

Would you expect to see it in similar amounts or more or less?--  Depends on how much structure you see because you normally only see it on structure surfaces that’s where the fluid migrated and Oaky No 1 doesn’t have as much structure in terms of joining and that as what I saw at Oaky North so probably used to seeing a lot more at Oaky North than No 1.

It’s quite different in its characteristics to calcite, isn’t it?--  Yep, calcite is different.

Has there been any training been given after the event to the potential hazards that are presented by kaolinite in the bedding structures?--  No.

Would you consider that to be a good idea?--  The awareness of kaolinite possibly by the crews – depending on what sort of structure they’re looking at that as kaolinite on it, like if there’s a joint with kaolinite on it, I don’t – it’s something that the geologist should be made aware of and go down and have a look at and then he can make a call as to – talk to the geotechnical people and make a call to see if it’s going to be of any – if it’s going – any hazards associated with it.

See that’s – I’m only scratching my head because this is a bit of worry.  If we’re not training people up to identify all of the hazards and having a little bit of cross-training we end up with demarcations where you as the geologist can go down but you can't make a call and perhaps you’re not fully trained on SCARP.  The other people are trained in certain things but they may not be able to say, goodness me, I know about this stuff it’s kaolinite and we’ve got to be really careful because that’s really no friction there and that’s a bit of a worry.  Can you see how there’s a potential demarcation in the evidence that you’ve given me?--  Yep.

Now have I got it right or am I missing the point?--  No, sounds right.

Sounds right?--  Yeah.

You’d agree for example that at the very least the deputies ought to be able to pinpoint these sorts of things and be quite up to speed on that as a potential hazard?--  As far as I know I think deputies actually do a couple of geology components before they get their ticket.

Do they?--  Yeah.

But you don’t know whether those components deal with this particular identified hazard?--  No, I’m not – wouldn’t have a clue what they do, no.

You’d accept, would you not, that it is a hazard for Oaky No 1?--  I guess any lubricant that could be on a failure plane – identifying failure planes for starters and identifying if that failure plane has lubricant on it would be advantageous for a deputy and that.

If it’s – what we know about this is that you’ve agreed with me that it’s a hazard, we don’t know the frequency, do we?--  No.

But we know that it’s present?--  Yep.

What we’ve learned from this particular incident is that we may not know what’s hiding in the structures above the seam?--  That’s right, unless there’s a surface core or something we can identify it.

And we’ve got something that we know that we need to manage which is roof fall?--  Yep.

And we know the consequences of that particular hazard as being catastrophic, loss of life?--  Yep.

You’ve done safety management courses?--  No.

Do you know anything about how to identify hazards in the workplace?--  I have done – yeah, we did a little bit, yeah.

Do you know about the hierarchy of controls?--  I’d say no.

Do you know how to go – or do you feel comfortable with doing a risk assessment?--  No, not on my own anyway.

Well I’m not meaning to have a go at you with this, I mean that’s something you need to be trained in, wouldn’t you say?--  If I’m assessing risks, yep.

Well let’s have a look at it, you’re going down, you’re doing mapping, you’re finding all of the geotechnical faults and problems and flaky roof and all the rest of it?--  Yep.

You wouldn’t suggest to the panel that you shouldn’t, through your training, be able to be quite clear in saying that fault is a hazard, this structure is a problem, there here isn’t a problem geologically speaking?--  Yep.

Is that right?--  Yeah.

Do you do that everyday of the week?--  Yeah, I normally go down and talk to them about it, yeah.

So if you identify a structure that’s a problem how can you pass on good information or good advice if you can’t assess the risk that the structure may pose to people?--  I guess I assess it myself based on my experience which isn’t very much but-----

Well I mean that’s the problem, can you see how you’re exposed with that?--  Yep, definitely.

So if there’s a problem and they come back and say, well how did you approach this, what do you point to to say well I used this methodology?--  Just use my – yeah, I just – what I’ve learnt at uni and what I’ve learnt since I’ve been out of uni.

Which does not include risk assessment?--  Which doesn’t include risk assessments, no.

Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

MR DALLISTON:  No questions, thanks.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TRAVES:  When you say – it’s not you of course carrying out the mining tasks, is it?--  No.

But through your training and your education you’ve been trained to identify geological risks?--  Yep.

And those are the risks that you talk to the miners about?--  Yep.

Thank you.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Mr Dobbie, on the plan that’s up there at the moment, that’s the – prior to the accident?—Yep.

Your geological mapping; the thing I noticed on the post-accident mapping there’s quite a number of structure have just appeared afterwards?--  Yeah.

Were they there before or did they only happen after the fall?--  Post-fall I was asked to do it in great detail so I picked up every little bit of minor flake associated with the roof.  The shear inbye of – that’s indicated in about this position here on the post-mapping was open 3 ml and the actual plane itself had no stone dust or anything on it so I’m assuming that one opened up due to the fall and was visible after the fall.

I’m just – look at the one prior to the mapping – on B Heading there you picked up quite a small structure there just between 27 and 28 cut-through there?--  They’re minor delamination, yeah, because that was .3 delamination whereas the other stuff was just skin flake that’s shown on the post-mapping.

Yeah, the other stuff on the top is only very small?--  Yeah, something like that [indistinct].

Also just going back to your risk assessments, page 2 of your statement there, I think it’s about line 13, your responsibilities?--  Yes.

Apart from-----?--  Safe work procedures.

Yes, safe work procedures, geological issues and involvement with risk assessment?--  Yep.

Yet you’re not – you don’t know nothing about risk assessments at all yet you’ve got to be involved in them?--  Yeah, I-----

I mean it’s part of your responsibilities I was wondered why you wouldn’t know about risk assessments if it’s part of your responsibilities?  You’ve never been trained in it?--  No.

Never asked to be trained in it?--  No.

Even though it’s part of your responsibilities you didn’t think you should know it?--  Well I thought I’d get trained when they involve me in one.

Do you think it’s an on the job thing you’re just trained on risk assessment on the job like when you decide to do one that’s when you will learn how to do it?--  I think so, yes.

Is that basically how most of the training is done out at Oaky No 1?--  No, I haven’t done too much training since I’ve been at No 1.

You haven’t done any training?--  Not much, no.

That’s all, thank you.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Dobbie, you mapped the area after the fall?--  Yeah.

And in your opinion there was some further falls after the initial fall, was that just localised or was there some secondary falls?--  You mean in that 28 cut-through break-off you’re talking about?

Yes?--  Yeah, I’m assuming that it’s just associated with the fall itself, I’m not sure what you’re asking.

Yeah, the rescue teams when they were going in to do the recovery were chased out on two or three occasions?--  Yeah.

From further roof movement; now is that secondary falls or-----?--  I assume it’s secondary falls, yeah, flaking off of the cavity itself.

Or the fall just tidying itself up and peaking up a bit?--  Yeah.

Or was there further secondary falls?  Do you know to what magnitude they were?--  No, I wasn’t made aware of it.

You wasn’t made aware of it?--  No.

That’ll do, thank you very much.

REVIEWER SINGER:  I have just one question; in relation to the structure that you mapped prior to the break-off commencing just inbye the break-off point?--  Yep.

And also the structure that has since been observed in A Heading near the hole through point?--  Yep.

Now that we know the structures – there is a structure in 28 cut-through itself, would you say that those structures are associated with it and created at the same time or are they different?--  Possibly could have been created at the same time probably more so a regional effect because they’re coming up towards a larger fault just inbye of that, it could be something associated with that, just movement of that strata outbye because of the large fault inbye and it might have had some sort of effect, increase joining in the shearing as we approached that.

So not necessarily associated with the structure in the cut-through, is that what you’re saying?--  No, no, that’s only a very minor structure in terms of throw for a fault.

WARDEN:  Anything arising?

MR TATE:  I don’t believe so, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Sorry, Mr Glazbrook has got one.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Just one, Mr Dobbie, was you aware that on the Thursday day shift that there was a  plan to change the 28 cut-through break-off inbye 10 metres?--  No, not on that day, no, I found out after it

You found out after it?--  The day after, yeah, on the Friday.

The day after the accident?--  The day of the accident.

Oh, the day of the accident?--  Yeah.

And so you wasn’t consulted about your opinion of this break-off being advanced 10 metres?  Do you know why not?--  No.

Or hadn’t the paperwork go far enough to you or don’t you have any say in it?--  No, I don’t.

But if they were going to break-off there surely you would have had to go and check the area and map it?--  They possible looked at my mapping without me I’m not too sure.

Thank you?--  They normally use the weekly plan – might be used the week before and they’re assessing what – they don’t normally break-off in existing work, they normally break-off as they drive up so they don’t normally have that occurrence too often.

Okay, thank you very much.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, witness, you may stand down you’re excused.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  I’m in Your Worship’s hands.

WARDEN:  We have retained Mr Nicholls if you want to take a gamble.  How long is his statement, how big is his statement?

MR TATE:  About seven pages, Your Worship.  Perhaps it might be convenient to call him, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Okay, thank you.

DARREN JOHN NICHOLLS, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  Mr Nicholls, for the record would you indicate your full name please?--  Darren John Nicholls.

Your occupation?--  At the present or at the time I was employed at Oaky Creek.

Currently?--  Development co-ordinator at Westcliffe mine.

And at the relevant time back in June of this year I think you were the production superintendent?--  That’s correct.

At Oaky 1?--  Yes.

And your current address?--  166 Cabbage Tree Lane, Mt Pleasant.

That’s down in South Australia, isn’t it?--  No, New South Wales.

I think as a result of the incident you talked to the inspectors and provided a statement to them?--  That’s correct.

Would you have a look in the document in front of you which should be that statement, please check that that is your signature at the bottom of each page and that that is your statement?--  That’s my statement.

Now is there any changes that you’d like to make today to that statement, any additions, deletions, alterations?--  No.

It’s true and correct to the best of your knowledge and belief?--  Yes.

I tender that.  Now all of the questions I’m going to ask you really relate to the time of the incident and I understand that you’ve gone subsequently.  Can you explain please the process for changing mine design at Oaky 1 at the relevant time?--  Yeah, there’s a form that you lodge to change the mine design.

Yes?--  That gets submitted to the tech services superintendent.

Yes?--  Then he examines the form and passes it through to the mine manager who approves.

And until such approval is given you continue on with the existing plans?--  That’s correct.

Is that a long and tedious process to have a mine change, or a design change?--  It can be depending on the scope of the change, if it’s something that involves say a [indistinct] installation or whatever the case may, you also have to take into account the mechanical and electrical installations involved around the drive head.  So it can be a drawn out process, it can also be fairly rapid.

Yes.  Could you state what changes were made to the weekly plan leading up to the incident and any considerations that were given to those changes?--  Yeah, we had made application to change the mine design to move 28 cut-through from the 28 metre mark into the 38 metre mark.

And why was that?--  That was simply a convenience issue for longwall installation.

I see?--  We had – we dropped 29 cut-through out of the mine design.

Yes?--  Okay, which was part of the changed plan to drop 29 cut-through out and to – and I went into the longwall guys and said look we’re going to drop 29 cut-through out is it an issue if we move – will it suit you to have 28 cut-through moved further inbye for ease of installation at the wall.

Yes?--  And they yeah the closer that you can get it up there the better for us.

Right, and it was as simple as that?--  Yeah.

You then filled out the form you told us about and it was snaking its way through the system?--  Actually Greg Merrick filled out the form because he was in on the discussions and Greg said look I’ll take care of that form for you.

Okay, so the form was filled in, it was in the course of snaking its way through the system but it didn’t get approval in time so we ended up with the 28 cut-through being where it was?--  Yes.

SCARP was the roof bolting system that was in place at Oaky 1 leading up to the incident?--  Correct.

And you can see it’s up there on the board?--  Yep.

Did you ever have any formal training in terms of how to use SCARP?--  At the time of my induction because I had only been inducted around about nine to 10 months before, whilst it wasn’t actual SCARP training there is a strata control section in your induction when you start at Oaky Creek.

Yes?--  Also I’d had Justine Drew – I believe the SCARP had come into vogue in about March of 1999, Justine had made some changes to it and I had Justine down to the Friday comms meeting, the Friday communications meetings we have with the crews to run the crews through the changes that she’d made.

Did you have any input into the development of this particular SCARP model?--  No, the SCARP was already pretty much in place when I started.

Was it?--  Yeah.

The particular model that we’ve got up there on the wall or a different one?--  The original model there was some changes I think, the main changes related to rib support design.

In your role at that time as superintendent were you in charge of training the people under your authority?--  Not in terms of actually delivering the training but people would come to me if they had a training need they’d identified.

Yes?--  And if it was something – if it was what we considered to be – I considered to be a core skill in the panel, like driving an Eimco, or driving a shuttle car there was no issue and that was never ever brought to me for training.

I see?--  Like the guys would train internally they would organise their own training and they’d organise their own assessing.

Yes?--  If it was something that wasn’t part of their normal duties such as driving the grader, okay, then I would – they would usually come to me and say do you mind if I get trained on the grader, and I’d assess the training need, do we need another grader driver on that shift, it was a yes or no.

In the second paragraph of your statement, “My role is associated predominantly with development and outbye services”.  So am I being fair to you saying that really, if you like, the actual development of all of these roads and so forth fell within your [indistinct]?--  Yes.

Part of that of course was making sure that the men worked safely?--  Yes.

As well as being able to drive the graders or whatever the case might be.  Did you have an explicit written training schedule plan in place to ensure that your people were competent?--  Well we didn’t actually – when Justine did the re-training on the SCARP we didn’t have any formal assessment at the end of that training.

No, no, no, come back; the question I asked you is did you have a formal training plan in place to ensure that your people were competent?--  Well individual training and individual training for an individual skill has assessment, okay, and it has a training – it has an assessment on the end of it.

Yes, I understand that, it’s probably late in the day and I’m not asking the question very well.  If I want to learn to drive a car I go along and get some lessons and I pop up to the Department of Transport and they’ll take me out for a drive, I’ll be asked some questions, if I get them right and I don’t go over gutters and do all terrible things they’ll give me a license.  That’s how you’re answering that.  The question I’m asking you is a different question.  What I want to know is whether you had a formal document in place that was a training plan to ensure that all your people were competent in doing what they were doing?--    Not that I’m aware of.

All right, thank you.  Were you aware in the months leading up to this incident that there'd been no formal training for your people in how to use the SCARP system?--  No.

You weren’t aware?--  Well I wasn’t aware that we had a formal training system in the SCARP, okay, that we had to have a formal training system for it, and the SCARP had been around since well before I started so it was something that I’d simply flowed into when I took over the role, the SCARP was already in place.  When we made the modifications we got Justine down to a familiarisation of the modifications and that was my extent of ensuring people’s knowledge of the SCARP.

That’s enough of the difficult questions, I need to ask you some stuff now that is purely aimed at helping us work out a few things.  Can you go to your statement please at page 6 and we’re going down towards the bottom of it.  Now I understand that after the incident you were fairly promptly on the scene?—Yeah, I was actually up at the time of the phone call because I was planning on going to work early that day so I was packed and fully awake and ready to go when the phone call came.

Yes?--  What time did you get down to the scene of the accident?--  I’d estimate if I haven’t included it in the statement, about four thirty, five, it was very very quick, I arrived there, changed, had a quick brief with the mine manager Murray Wood and there was a vehicle serviced ready to go.

When you reached 28 cut-through what did you see?--  When we got to 28 cut-through there was some guys standing on the outbye edge of the fall, you could see the majority of the fall sitting on top of the shuttle car and you could see up under the [indistinct] on the left-hand side.

At paragraph – this will be a bit disjointed but bear with me.  At paragraph 21, you say, “At a point when we thought we were about 10 minutes from pulling Mick into the channel that had been dug for Stewie there were a couple of bumps and a few rocks fell and we were chased out”?--  Yes.

Were they random rocks or are we talking about secondary falls?--  It wasn’t what – a secondary fall, there was a couple of pressure bumps and we were all fairly edgy at that stage so we retreated.

That’s fine?--  And there was a little bit of dribbly up high.

Approximately what time would that be about?--  I don’t know the time on that, I handed my watch over to a guy that I placed on the phone and I gave him my watch when I got into the panel.

Yes?--  Told him to log all the incoming and outgoing calls so I didn’t have a recollection of the time on that.

Doing the best you can?--  Best guess, best guesstimation, I’d have to say somewhere around about 9 o’clock.

That’s fine, and I think Dr Foley was with you at that time too, wasn’t he?--  Actually if you go back – it would have to be – I think the time of death for Michael was 9 o’clock so it would have to have been before that.

Yes, yes.  And I think in your statement you also indicate that when you were able to get to Michael that he had no radial pulse, or at least that’s what the doctor said, but he remained hopeful that something might be able to be done?--  Well he had, as Eddie termed it, capillary action.

Yes?--  Meaning if you pressed – the guys cut the back of his shirt open and pressed in and the blood returned into the body so that indicates – so Eddy said look we may be lucky were the words that he used to me.

Yes, and ultimately that didn’t prove to be the case?--  Yes.

Subsequent to the incident, did you do a review of the risk?--  Afterwards?

Yes?--  I had some information discussions with Murray and we talked about a few things and there was some things that were bought up to me afterwards.

Yes?--  So-----

What were they?--  Well the emergency trailer when we were following it in I was behind it with myself and Andy Morris the crew supervisor we were following the emergency trailer in.

Yes?--  And some gear bounced off the back of the emergency trailer.

Right?--  So we did some mods for the emergency trailer so gear couldn’t bounce out.

Yes?--  And also we did a review on the gear that was actually in the trailer.

Were there any other issues brought up to you about any aspect of the attempted recovery from 3 o’clock that morning onwards?--  Some – there was some discussion regarding equipment that we could keep at central locations and stored underground.  However that was later on – you know that was tooed and froed about where to store the emergency trailer.

Yes?--  If we keep it on the surface or do we put it in a location underground.

Yes?--  So it was all based around – a lot around getting supplies if you like for locations or emergency locations underground, you know, what can we do to make it quicker.

Yes, anything else?--  None that comes to mind.

My last question to you, could you please describe in a fair amount of detail for us because it’s a matter of some importance to the panel members, the actions that were taken to recover Mr Morris?--  Well, with all due respect, the guys that would be best would be Andrew Morris and Garth Zerner who were actually right at the – they were right at the blunt end the whole time until they were relieved by Les Parker and Gianni [Indistinct] and a couple of other guys.  It was a fairly cramped workspace in there and really couldn’t support three people being in there, so I was spending my time going backwards and forwards between the outbye lip of the fall and the actual digging side.  It was a fairly small spot to get into so it really wasn’t made for me, I couldn’t fit in there, so I didn’t even pretend that I could do any of the digging.

Yes?--  So the actual digging itself and actually getting out Mick I would only be guesstimating.

And to answer your question we’ve been asking this of all of the people who are around who might be able to assist us, but one of the issues is that everyone can give a different perspective.  Presumably when you reached the scene of the incident people deferred to you automatically by being the superintendent you would at least if not in fact in charge everyone would have assumed you were in charge?--  Yes.

So I’m asking you that question on the basis that you were the bloke, the senior member of management on the site, do you follow what I mean?--  Well when we got in there the first time, when we first arrived we could see Mick’s boot.

Yes?--  And roughly in the direction of Stewie but Mick was twisted off to one side and I had – myself and Garth and Andy Morris had a very very quick conversation in there and we talked about what we would do, would we go for 

Stewie who was in there and alive and we could hear him and talk to him, his leg was trapped but he seemed okay.

Yes?—Or did we head for Mick, and we discussed it and we decided that we would go for Stewie because we thought the best way to get to Mick would be to open up that cavern into Stewie and then to try and break off if you like to the left and go for Mick.

Yes, yes?--  Okay.

No one is being critical it’s just that we need to know?--  And so that’s exactly what we did, the guys got into Stewie and that allowed space for the diggers to get themselves in a little bit to just under the front of the shuttle car and then sort of go over – basically over the top to Mick.  Mick appeared to be stuck by his boot at one stage, that was just before the final go to pull him out the first time, they were just working on freeing up a little bit of his boot which was trapped and that’s when the second pressure come on if you like but we pulled out and when they weren’t we went back in after that.  All the good work that they’d already done in the digging had disappeared.

Right.  But nonetheless it wasn’t a secondary fall it was just really spasmodic rocks that were coming down?--  There was just a little bit – a couple of bumps and then a little bit of dribble up the top, nothing big, but – so we were a little bit nervous so we pulled out.

I understand.  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Mr Nicholls, on the top of page 2 in your statement you say that you hold formal comms meetings every Friday 1 o’clock; how many people would attend those normally?--  It’s the entire shift plus the week end guys so you’d be looking in the vicinity of probably 30 to 35 people.

And how long-----?--  Sometimes more.

-----do they go for?--  Well they go anywhere from an hour and a half up to two and a half hours.

So if 35 people at an hour and a half it’d be more or less an information session rather than-----?--  No, the structure of them, Greg, is really sort of upbeat if you’re like, they’re fairly I guess changed type meetings in that we have – we start off with the safety and mine performance and then I do a review of the months from the previous issues when they were in there three weeks ago and then we’ll run through issues around the mine, and then I throw the last half an hour open just for general discussion.

So when you went through the SCARP again there wouldn’t have been a real lot of time and a real lot of detail – a chance for people – so you could actually see if they understood what was being delivered to them?--  Well Justine in her delivery did what I thought was a pretty good delivery on the SCARP and she threw it open for discussion and there was quite a bit of discussion about it, particularly with the rib support, and would the miners be capable of doing the rib support given the pattern that she wanted us to do.

Further down line 9 of your statement, page 2?--  Sorry, the line?

Line 9, before maingate 19 was even started?--  Yes.  We took – at the suggestion of Murray Wood we took the crews off site and it’s now become a standard at Oaky Creek whenever they start off on a new panel we take the crews who are going to be driving that panel off site and we just do a general information session on what we know about the panel.  In the case of maingate 19 we talked about issues we’d had in maingate 18, we talked about operational things that we had in maingate 18 that we wanted to improve, we had Stewie Green there from the safety department, he gave the guys a run through on the accidents and incidents from maingate 18, and then we ran through the geology that we knew about maingate 19 at that stage.  Some people had asked some questions about in-rush potential so we went through a little section [indistinct] so it was a – it ended up taking – it was a full day.  It went through electrical and mechanical needs, ventilation, so that ended up taking, that went from about 8 o’clock in the morning to around about three thirty, four o’clock in the afternoon if I remember correctly.

Thanks.  As part of your role, how did you pro-actively ensure that deputies and miner drivers who had roles and responsibilities under the management plan ensure that they understood the plans and could actually put those plans into place as far as they needed to?--  In terms of the SCARP, the SCARP was something you could see, it was something that you could actively see underground whether the guys were enforcing and understanding the SCARP.  We never had any issues in the time that I was there with people mis-reading the SCARP and misunderstanding it.  Plenty of off the cuff discussions with deputies through supervisors around the place in regards to roof support and what we’d be doing with roof support in areas particularly when we drove the Stewart fault.  When we went through the Stewart fault again we put together a – had a comms meeting with the crews before we went through the Stewart fault which was 

around about 8 cut-through if memory serves me right on that one – yeah, around about 8 cut-through just on how we’d drive it, horizon control, et cetera, et cetera.

And part of that responsibility of the deputies and the miner drivers would be reporting geological changes – apart from the major ones which was very obvious to everyone, how were the minor things reported?--  Minor changes in geology were communicated by the – or communicated by the shift handover sheets to the control officers.  If the crew supervisor had any change in geology he’d report that through and he’d also report what roof support level it was.

So they’d ring that through and someone else would write it down for them and there’d be a record kept?--  Yeah, that’d be on the communications handover sheets by the – from the comms officer, okay, and he would report – and I’ve seen the crew supervisor ring out and they’d say the roof is a bit flaky, you know, we’ve got up a code, something like that.  That’s how that’s communicated through.

So it would have been written down somewhere where the codes have changed?--  When the codes were changed, yes.  Yeah it does – specifically on the shift handover sheets they record the code there.

Thanks.  No further questions.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Traves.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TRAVES:  Thank you.  Can I ask you to look at these please, Mr Nicholls.  Are they copies of minutes of communications meeting, that is those meetings you’re referring to being held every three weeks?--  Well actually yeah it is.

Every week I should say?--  Yeah.  The meetings are held weekly but the crew because of the rotating roster come through once every three weeks.

Yes?--  But, yes, that’s right.

And are they minutes for the three crews if you look through them?--  Yes, that’s right.

And do they evidence the discussion that you’ve referred to of the SCARP revision?--  Yes.

They do?  I’ll tender those.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 39.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 39”

MR TRAVES:  Thanks Mr Nicholls.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Mr Nicholls, just in relation to the fall that actually chased youse back out of the area there, you say it was just a couple of falls but it took 15 minutes before you went back in, was it continually going for that 15 minutes, small falls, or was it just because of the – you were just sort of making sure it was right before you sent back in?--  No, it gave one initial bump and then about 30 seconds later it gave another little dribble, we just decided to wait because – as I said we were fairly edgy at that stage so we decided to wait and let it settle down.

That’s all, thank you.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Nicholls, just a little bit more on that; was you there when they had two falls and you pulled out in the first instance for a period of 15 minutes, and then a second fall, you pulled out for about 20 minutes?--  Yeah, I was there, the second fall and I’m guessing that that would be the one that Andy Mifflin was in there working at that point in time, wasn’t actually a fall as such but we noticed that things appeared to be moving.

What appeared to be moving?--  The off-driver’s side of the miner it appeared that the roof there was starting to settle down a little starting to take a bit of weight so Andy said – he was in there at that stage with, I’m not sure of the timeframe, that it was the Oaky North rescue team or the Oaky No 1 rescue team in there, and he come out and said it’s moving a little bit on the off-driver’s side of the miner we’ll let it settle down.

From the time you got in there, about 4.35, what rescue attempts had been started when you got there?--  Yeah, at that stage, Garth Zerner was already in there under the tail of the miner between the shuttle car, he was talking to Stew and he started to move some rock.  The guys were on the outbye edge and around about the time I arrived a pod of timber had arrived so as soon as we got there we got started on setting some breakers on the outbye edge of the fall.

Garth Zerner had started to shift a little bit of rock and who was with Garth?--  Garth was actually – well he was in there by himself, however, there was people backwards and forwards.  When I actually arrived in there he was the only one actually right in at the digging site.  

Yeah, so he was only moving, gently moving stuff around by hand?--  Yes.

And pulling it back out?--  Nothing had started in earnest.

Why do you think nothing had started in earnest because that’s nearly an hour after the initial incident?--  Well we had to get – people got mobilised and got themselves in there, and to say nothing had started in earnest was probably  unfair on Garth, he’d moved a bit of rock but there’s a limit to the amount that he can do – one man can dig in under there and they may well have – bearing in mind that I turned up and that was a snapshot of what I’d seen, I’ve seen one man in there.

Yes, that’s correct?--  There may have been other members of the crew in there before I arrived.

Was the main reason the rescue attempt was held up or delayed slightly was because you were waiting for timber to secure the area?--  No, not – I wouldn’t say that that was right, there was – some stuff had been done in terms of running air hoses in to Stewie to keep him – to make sure he didn’t gas up in there.

Cutting the big pipeline down and getting it out of the way?--  Yeah, and they started to dig sites to put the timber, okay, so when we got there the timber areas was already scratched out.

If the timber had of been more readily available to get into the site would that have sped up the recovery?--  No, because we were – the area where we were going down under the left-hand side we never timbered anyway, we only timbered the outbye lip of the fall and timbered about half-way down just with some -–we put some props up there that were more as a shield to make any [indistinct] slide out of the walkway that we were using or the area we were going under the vent tubs, so I didn’t think that they were held up waiting for timber, I think it was just purely coincidence that I arrived at the time the timber arrived.

So you just used a bit of extra timber to put over the – build some chocks on top of the miner and the tail of the miner?--  Yes.

Why did the channel close up when you were pulled out and come back you say the channel had closed up?--  I don’t know – I don’t know why the channel closed up obviously things had moved a little bit and that’s obviously why the channel was closed up, but why it chose to close up I can’t say, you know, that’s the – the channel that we used to get Stewie out and it lost, definitely lost a lot of its dimension.

And you said just before that in your statement, “We went back after 15 minutes and the channel had closed”, but just before that you said, “There was some bumps and rocks fell and we were chased out”.  Did the channel close up because of extra weight was placed on top of the fall from falling rocks?--  I would have to assume so, yeah.

So that would be a secondary fall?--  The – I guess it wasn’t a – what I would class as a secondary fall up above.

How big is a secondary fall?--  Well that’s right, how long is a piece of string, I don’t know how long – what you class as a secondary fall, I classed it as a couple of bumps and a little bit of brat coming down.

But there was sufficient extra weight or stone placed on the original fall to distort the channel and put extra weight possibly on Mick?--  Yes, the channel had changed shape.

Why did you chose the rescue teams to go in there, mines rescue teams?--  The rescue teams – they’re – I think they’re more trained at dealing with stressful situations, so why did rescue get called in?

Yes?--  As part of the emergency response plan to call the rescue teams in anyway.  I didn’t actually say to anybody, call the rescue teams in, that was done from up above by the incident management team, but I certainly was happy to see them come in.

I bet anybody would be certainly happy to see them come in, but a rescue team specifically trained in recovery on falls?--  Well it’s one of the skills you get with rescue, you’re doing fall recovery, and the use of the little bits and pieces that the rescue team use, they were pretty good with – they had a lot of little hydraulic jacks and that sort of stuff that we used to jack little bits of rock up.

Was there any open cut rescue team personnel in there?--  No, if I remember correctly it was the Oaky No 1 rescue team that was first there and they were relieved by the Oaky North rescue team.

Who was the team captain of the Oaky No 1 team?--  Good question, I can’t recall who the team captain was.

Would it be Mark Freeman?--  Yes, it was – it was Mark Freeman.

And no comprehensive report was done by any rescue team?--  I believe Mark had done a de-brief when he got out but that was all.

Verbal de-brief with?--  There was a rescue – one of the rescue personnel I think was on the surface but remember I was still underground at that stage but it’s been my experiences of rescue that you do a de-brief when you get out from the operation.

But you’ve never seen a written-----?--  No.

From any of the teams?--  No.

Why I ask that is because that information would make it very handy for further rescues, et cetera, et cetera, to find out how, when and why specific things happen.  If we’ve got no documented evidence we start from scratch next time this happens.  No further question.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Just one, Mr Nicholls.  In your time at Oaky Creek have you had or been on any time to review the strata management plan at all?--  Yeah, the strata management plan was reviewed while I was there, however, I was called away at the period of review and didn’t get to spend much time in the review process.  I put the guys together to do the strata plan review and it was a guy whose since left by the name of Neil Lumpf was on that strata plan review as well.

REVIEWER SINGER:  Mr Nicholls, during the year that the plan was in operation, prior to the incident, was there any initiatives bought forward by anyone in relation to installing tell-tales at the time of going to Code Yellow just so that people were able to monitor roof movement?--  No, not – certainly nothing was brought to me.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Anything arising.

MR TATE:  I don’t believe so, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused.

WARDEN:  Thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused, you may leave.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  That concludes the evidence to be called today, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Can we resume tomorrow morning, gentlemen, at about 9.00 am with the final witness.

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 5.40 PM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 9.08 AM

WARDEN:  Thank you, gentlemen.

MR TATE:  Good morning, Your Worship.  I call Murray Wood.  I understand that Mr Traves will take his evidence.

MURRAY ALAN WOOD, SWORN AND EXAMINED:

MR TRAVES:  Mr Wood, is your full name Murray Alan Wood?--  That’s correct.

Do you reside at 50 Gemini Street, Tieri?--  Correct.

You’re born on 9th June 1963?--  That’s too much information; correct.

Are you employed by MIM Holdings as the Mine Manager at Oaky No 1 mine?--  Correct.

And have you been employed in that role since November 1997?--  Since I was appointed registered manager on 10 November 1997.

Do you hold a first class mine manager’s certificate of competency which you obtained in October 1987?--  Correct.

Did you commence employment in the coal industry in 1981 as a cadet mine manager employed by the Queensland Coal Owners’ Association?--  Yes.

Did you spend the three years of your cadetship in underground mines in the west northern coal field area near Ipswich?--  Correct.

And during that time did you gain a certificate in mining through the Technical Correspondence School in Brisbane?--  Yes.

Did you take employment in 1984 as a machineman miner at Central Colliery, part of the Capcoal complex in Central Queensland?--  Yes.

And did you work there for the period of 14 months in that position in a mains heading development crew?--  Yes, the majority of the time, yes.

Did you obtain your second class mine manager’s certificate of competency in October 1984?--  Correct.

Were you subsequently employed as shift undermanager at the Central Colliery in May 1985?--  Yes.

In that role, did you supervise shift operations and fulfill your required statutory duties?--  Yes.

In October 1987 you were granted a first class mine manager’s certificate of competency?--  Yes.

Did you leave Central Colliery in July 1991 to take up the position of shift leader undermanager at Gordonstone mine?--  That’s right.

Did you initially supervise underground construction activities?--  Yes.

And were you later placed in charge of a production shift?--  Yes.

In 1992, in November, were you appointed production co-ordinator responsible for underground development operations and outbye services?--  At Gordonstone, yes.

And did you at Gordonstone hold various mid-management roles and also relieve the mine manager in his absence?--  Yes.

You were appointed operations leader in August 1996 responsible for all underground operations?--  Yes.

And in January 1997 you were appointed registered mine manager at Gordonstone mine with the additional statutory responsibilities added to your operations role?--  That’s correct.

Did you hold that position until October 1997?--  Yes.

Did you leave Gordonstone mine in November 1997 to take up your current role as mine manager at Oaky No 1 mine?--  I did, yes.

Mr Wood, you have been present in Court for all of the evidence given before this Inquiry?--  Yes.

And you have heard in particular the evidence of Inspector Caffery, Dr Fuller, Dr O’Grady and Mr Dobbie?--  Yes.

You have provided to the Inspectorate a preliminary and final report pursuant to Section 71 subsection 3 of the Coal Mining Act?--  Yes.

And are they appendices 14A and 14B respectively to the Inspector’s Report?--  Yes, they are.

Are the matters contained therein to the best of your knowledge true and correct?--  They are.

And are the opinions you’ve expressed in those reports opinions which you hold?--  Yes, they are.

Did you bring with you today your original final report?--  Yes, I have a copy, the original, sorry.

I’ll tender that report if it please the Court?--  Yeah, it is a copy of the final report, the original was forwarded to the Inspectorate.

I’ll tender that report if it please the Court.

WARDEN:  Exhibit 40.

ADMITTED AND MARKED “EXHIBIT 40”

MR TRAVES:  I don’t want to spend a long time with you on the issue of the cause of the fall, but have you read carefully the report of Dr Fuller?--  Yes.

And do you agree with its contents?--  Yes, I do.

I want to go to some sections of the report of the Inspector; I wonder if I can make a copy available to you.  Could I take you first to page 6 of that report, in section 5 of the report on page 6 the inspector refers to corrective action taken by the mine after the incident?--  Yes.

And it refers there to Appendix 2 and the measures set out therein?--  Yes.

Do those measures remain in place?--  Yeah, there are three measures mentioned there, the manager’s rules remain in place, the geotechnical assessment of as installed support systems at existing intersections has been completed except for a number of return intersection, and the review of regional geology influences ahead of plan development has been completed.

Now, is it your intention as mine manager to keep those corrective measures in place until such time as an alternative means of properly identifying the problem which caused this fall can be found?--  Yes, the current measures, particularly the manager’s rules relating to intersection strata control will remain in place until further work is done to classify accurately and appropriately areas of the mine in which those measures could be altered.

And should such an occasion arise, that is when such measures are found, will you then liaise with the department and have their response to any proposed changes?--  Yes, I will.  The inspector of mines visits the mine reasonably regularly, around once a month, an up-date will provided and prior to any changes he will be advised and his input will be considered on any matters.

Of course he has the power under the Act to prevent any change which he thinks inappropriate?--  Yes, by entry in the record book.

Can I come to the issue of strata management which is considered on page 14 of the inspector’s report, section 7.3.1.  Before I go to that could I ask you to comment generally upon the mining environment in Oaky No 1?--  Can I refer to a plan as I speak.  The general mining environment at Oaky No 1 is one of a benign stable environment, the immediate lithology above the coal seam comprises competent sandstone siltstone measures and generally stable in the history of the mine.  The mine commenced in 1991 and developed the mains district there and then extracted the longwall panels one to seven, and then nine to 12, and in that area of the mine there was few structural influences.  The Stewart fault which has previously been mentioned in the Inquiry trends down in between the extracted longwall panels of longwall eight to 12 and the extracted panels longwall 14 onwards, and that was the first major structure encountered.  There was a structure encountered at the bottom of the mains when it was terminated.  With progressing out the north-east mains, that structural influence has increased between the Stewart fault and the Maywin structure that bounds that edge of the mine, of that boundary of the mine, and it is those two structures which determine the alignment of those longwall blocks.  That structural influence has increased in this area of the mine, and in recognition of that, certainly certain measures were taken which will come up in discussion.  The influence of those structures again are generally stable, tight structures, with minor roof disturbances but there were a number where it caused delays to mining but were managed so there’s some general comments.

Did the recognition of a more geotechnically complex mining environment in the Oaky Creek mines generally to the east of the Stewart fault lead to greater steps being taken by the mine to ensure proper geological mapping and hazard identification?--  Yes, it did.

Can you explain what happened?--  Originally the mine was supported by a mining engineer and a tech services group which comprised the manager and exploration geologists and another mining engineer assurance on strata control in that area of the mine that I’m indicated there which was the original development of the main dips, and initial longwall extraction was carried out by external sources and the manager’s support rules were very basic, the one and a half metre support spacing was in place when I arrived at the mine.  At that point in the mine’s operation the longwall was being installed on longwall 11 and we extracted longwall 11 and a longwall 12 we developed the gateroad and the face line and we had some specification of support there.  

In moving our operations tailgate 14 and maingate 14 were in progress, but in moving operations beyond longwall 14 we encountered a more complex structural environment with major jointing, minor faulting and major faulting in that region.  The major faulting that I refer to – refers to displacement rather than type and it was the Stewart fault and the Maywin fault structures.  Many of the structures were aligned parallel or sub-parallel to the gateroad direction and sub-perpendicular to the north-east heading direction.  With recognition of that environment and experience and some strata related incidents, roof falls and delays to production through the immediate strata that was being encountered, the support and controls increased greatly.  

I’ll start off firstly with the support for the mine through engineering assurance.  The mine’s organisational structure comprises myself and four superintendents; three of those superintendents report directly to me, that being the longwall superintendent who is responsible for longwall operations, the production superintendent who is responsible for development operations and outbye services, and the engineering and maintenance superintendent who looks after engineering issues and recurring maintenance issues as well as setting the maintenance philosophy for the mine.  The fourth superintendent is the technical services superintendent who reports directly to the technical services manager but has a dotted line relationship to me.  

The technical services group at each of the underground mines at Oaky Creek comprises the superintendent, a mining engineer, a geologist, a surveyor and a technical assistant.  Previous to early ’98 that was not the case.  So the level of resources has increased.  In addition to that, in February 1998, Paul O’Grady was employed in the position of senior mining engineer at Oaky Creek, initially at Oaky No 1 and then technical services superintendent for Oaky Creek Coal.  That was the organisational structure and with it came a degree of control, engineering assurance on roof support, as well as a recognition that we had to do more in the area of strata control in the north-east mains and consideration of the gates.  

When I talked about the mining environment before, because of the nature of the environment, changes are subtle; when we talk about roof movement we get minimal roof movement before action is required, and in fact before failure.  Therefore, our visual indications are limited and we’ve tried to recognise that in the SCARP.  We do require monitoring at the higher stages of the roof support so that people are able to observe those smaller increments of movement that are critical, and we have taken a conservative view to that.  The main controls that were implemented besides the increase in resources and engineering assurance was under the hazard management plan development controls for roof support and manager’s support rules were reviewed in light of the increasing frequency of geological structure and particularly after a roof fall that occurred in maingate 16 it was supposed to be 2 cut-through, it never got driven, at the A2 cut-through break-off which was located about there and you can see that the longwall face line was moved back as a result of that.

Particularly after that fall which was related to a localised weakening of the strata and structure that ran in the pillar on the inbye side of that intersection we then took the step of looking at measures we had to take to increase the underground response to roof support and that originated in the SCARP.  In October 1998 the SCARP was implemented and April, May, June of ’99 the SCARP was reviewed in light of some feedback from crews and involvement with crews, and in July/August the SCARP was presented to the crews at the communications meetings and their comments heard and finally the reviewed SCARP was issued in October – September or October 1999, and it has subsequently undergone further development this year with tailgate 21 panel which is the new area of the mine over here, tailgate 21 panel, and the particular environment that exists there which is the roof split.

MR TRAVES:  Is there now also a two weekly forum where members of the Oaky North mine and Oaky No 1 meet to discuss strata issues?--  Yes, the technical services group, the central group for Oaky Creek is responsible for overseeing the exploration for the lease and the strata – the general strata control issues across the site.  It is through the technical services group that actions common to Oaky North and Oaky No 1 are directed and decisions made.  It was felt earlier this year that there needed to be more involvement from each of the operating mines and a strata management team was set up which comprises relevant personnel from each of the undergrounds and particularly the production superintendent, the longwall superintendent to a lesser degree, the technical services superintendent for each of the undergrounds, plus the technical services superintendent for Oaky Creek Coal.  That forum and the managers attend on a random but regular basis.  That forum is held two weekly and to facilitate attendance because even though the distance between the two mines is small it’s amazing how difficult it makes it for operational people to attend, to facilitate attendance the meeting alternate between Oaky No 1 and Oaky North sites.

Now can you indicate there on the photograph what areas have been mined since the implementation of the SCARP?--  It was just – it was the first – it was the entry of maingate 17 that was mined, the north-east from about that point there between maingate 16 and maingate 17, and inbye was mined, all of longwall 18 gateroad was mined under the SCARP albeit partially by Oaky No 1 crews and partially by Allied and part of longwall 17 was mined – most of longwall 17 was mined under the SCARP.  All of the development south of the main dips in east mains, all of maingate 19, 20 and tailgate 21 to date.

Of what relevance is the mining of the north-east district and the features that were found there relevant to the issues of strata control in maingate 19?--  Prior to maingate 19 and 20 being designed as longwall panels, there was no planned mining for this area.  We had the Maywin fault, we had the Stewart fault, it was not intended to mine this area originally.  In the first half of 1999 the general manager requested that I do a review of the mine plan with the tech services group and look at the potential for longwall extraction in that area at maingate 19 and 20.  That review was conducted with Paul O’Grady, Diane Summer who was the exploration geologist, the production superintendent.  On a number of occasions meetings were held and the main consideration was the existing geological information that we had both from a lithological and structural point of view, as well as the best guide that we had was the development that we’d already undertaken in the north-east.  The north-east headings aligned directly with maingate 19, the D Heading which is the bottom heading of the north-east is the tailgate for longwall 19, it is 200 metres adjacent to the maingate, and we had all of the mapping done, we had intersected the beginnings of the Maywin structure in the north-east, and we were able to project across structures and make an assumption on blocked lengths and see whether both they were extractable and both economically and safely, and because we’d managed all of the north-east headings we then, with little incident, we had the one fall at maingate 16, we felt – and we’d gone through some reasonably difficult conditions by any stretch of the imagination with structure, we were confident that we could develop maingate 19.  Subsequent to the design of the panel we identified the major risks both with strata control and geology and gas, even pillar sizes were reviewed, we put down the major risks and the production superintendent – I introduced the concept but certainly the production superintendent then took it forward where before we started the panel in October 1999 we held a day off site with all crews and we went through the major risks that had been identified, we went through the controls that were existing, we got input from the crews on further controls necessary and we reviewed the development standards which are the panel standards which is about the sequence but which are also critical to the control of risk on that day, and an updated version of that was put out just as we started maingate 19.  So the relevance of north-east to the original question, was that it was the best guide, we'd already mined that area, and in a lot of cases people talk about the 40 or 50 or 60 ton geologist being the best tool that we’ve got, that’s the continuous miner.

You’ve touched upon an issue that I wanted to come to later but I’ll deal with it now.  What steps did occur prior to the driving of maingate 19 to ensure that it was a safe one to drive and that it could be done in a way which protected the people working there?--  Well I’ve gone through the two main ones which were the design reviews and the communication with the crews, but just touching on the design reviews, they were done – the technical design of the panel was done through the technical services group, my role in those reviews was to, (a) ensure that they happened, (b) was to review their work and put any operating concerns forward.  At that time we had all the information from the north-east and we were – it was just important that we checked the validity of the mapping or the structure in the north-east against the exploration information that we had.  Consequently, the communication with the crews, it was not presently just solely then by operating people the geologist presented the geological mapping and there was one important point which I left out, a hazard plan was developed and hazard plans were in place for maingate 18, maingate 17 and 18, 19 and 20 – subsequent to maingate 17 I should say.

Did mining at maingate 19 commence in October 1999?--  Yes, I haven’t got the exact date but it was in second half of October 1999.

Reference was had yesterday to a regional geological structure map, I’d like to say in general terms that the major geological structures run sub-parallel to the two significant faults being the Maywin fault and the Stewart fault?--  That’s correct.

Effectively conducted a cross-section of those major structures through driving the north-east mains some confidence could be had as to the location of those structures when a parallel drive was conducted in maingate 19?--  Yes, it is recognised within the mining environment at Oaky No 1 that the faults can vary both in displacement and position.  Their direction is reasonably – there’s a degree of – a reasonable degree of confidence on direction but their displacement can vary in short distances and I draw your attention to the plan that was showed yesterday from Inspector Caffery's presentation where the fault encountered inbye of 28 cut-through in B Heading was .95 metres in displacement.  The two faults that were encountered in A Heading were – I can’t recall the exact figures, but added up to about that displacement and it looked like the fault had split into two.  So in 25 metres the fault had changed displacement by more than 50 per cent but a degree of confidence on the trend direction was certainly the case and as far as position we always put a zone around faults as to their potential location so that we aren’t surprised by an early intersection of a fault, or we don’t get complacent and think that we are going to hit it when it’s late.

Is it correct to say that in general terms the major features were encountered in maingate 19 about where they were expected?--  Yes, there was – the four main features were encountered.  Now I don’t know whether that’s a half of a hazard plan but just using it, you can see the Stewart fault is mapped there, it was interpreted across the north-east headings and we hit it as expected, the displacement wasn’t as great and it was quite a stable structure which the crews at Oaky No 1 negotiated successfully.  We then hit, I think it was between 12 and 13 this fault here was interpreted north-east and we actually hit it there, it was an upthrow fault of one and a half metres displacement.  The final half of the panel we hit a major geological disturbance here, the original interpretation on this was not as – certainly we didn’t expect it to be as severe as it was but we did have a structure interpreted for there, albeit that the geologist thought it ran across a trend like that, in fact it is a very small displacement set of faults in D Heading north-east growing quite rapidly to that point and further again to maingate 20 increasing displacement, doubles its displacement.  And then we hit the Maywin – intersected the Maywin structure or the start of the Maywin structure possibly a splinter off the Maywin structure as expected, so yes.

Can I come back then to the strata control action response plan, or SCARP, can you comment generally upon its effectiveness in your view?--  In my view the SCARP has been very effective since its inception given consideration of what existed beforehand and with the application by the crews the SCARP is an operational procedure, albeit it’s a manager’s support rule, but it is designed to be reasonably simple, practical, easy to use and we have a very open relationship with the crews with communication where concerns can be raised at a number of forums and we can implement reviews, and as I mentioned before, the SCARP was reviewed on at least two occasions prior to the incident.

Now I want to concentrate now on one or two discreet issues; first, the location and the alignment of 28 cut-through, can you comment upon that?--  The location and alignment of 28 cut-through.  28 cut-through was the angle cut-through designed to service longwall 19A, 19A being the inbye longwall block, and it was a typical longwall end of panel design where an angle cut-through was required to – so that the maingate equipment could be negotiated into position due to the extra length and the vehicles attached either side an angle cut-through – you cannot negotiate a 90 degree cut-through so it was a typical end of panel design, there was no difference there.  We knew that we were approaching the Maywin fault and there was close management attention during that last pillar of driveage.  The alignment of the cut-through was – and location of it was quite appropriate, the change that has been referred to in previous evidence was due to operational issues and consideration of the geology that had been hit inbye in B Heading so that 29 cut-through was recognised as not being appropriate to drive where the fault had been intersected, dropping 29 cut-through out, moving 28 cut-through inbye the 10 metres to even up the distance and put it closer to the – for installation of the BSL, which is the beam stage loader motor on the longwall was quite feasible and it was considered as – it was considered input from the longwall management team but that change was never effected because the procedure never went through.  It does not mean that the original location of 28 cut-through is inappropriate.  The other thing I will state is that the – along with the north-east mains being driven out to the Maywin fault and parallel to maingate 19, the maingate 19 gateroads – sorry, I’ll correct myself there, the longwall 14 to longwall 18 gateroads had all been driven at a similar angle to that angle cut-through, and at the commencement of 17, 16 there had been some very – there had been numerous geological structures encountered.  In addition to that, the Maywin fault was a main consideration in the driveage of maingate 18.  If you look closely you will notice that the face width of longwall 18 is narrower than the width of the preceding panels.  The reason for that is it is 28 metres narrower, it is a 172 metre face, and it was specifically discussed between Paul O’Grady and myself with Allied starting off the driveage up here as to whether or not we could get a full block in alongside the Maywin fault.  If we had left it at the original 200 metres width it would have terminated at around 14 to 15 cut-through.  From the exploration information we had we pulled that width into 172 metres and made it a long block.  There is considerable structure in the first kilometre of this block which we at the moment certainly have plans in place for longwall extraction, but the important point is that the Maywin fault ran down alongside that block for a fair amount of its length and we successfully drove those gateroads and they were aligned with 28 cut-through.

Turn to the geological mapping, I don’t want to traverse old ground, but you were here yesterday during the evidence of Dr O’Grady?--  Yes, I was.

And you heard Dr O’Grady talk about the regional structure plan, the maingate 19 hazard plan and the weekly hazard plan?--  Yes, I did.

Do you agree with what Dr O’Grady said about what occurred and what planning there was in a geological mapping sense prior to the driving of maingate 19, and in particular the more immediate surrounds of the fall?--  Yes, I do agree, and geological mapping is a major influence and part of our planning process both on a regional time scale as well as a short-term planning such as the weekly plan.

Just tracking back for a moment on the issue of SCARP, are those sorts of charts that are up there and indeed smaller handbooks on SCARP readily available in the mine?--  Yes, whenever the SCARP is updated and I’m required to sign it, copies are made available to all areas that use it which are the development areas, so all cribrooms of operating development panels and areas that are standing that are planned to be produced in.  As well as that the surveyors keep one on file and the small handbook to which you refer to was an initiative from one of the crews who requested that something more readily available to access while they were at the face be provided and it resulted in a pocket-size book form of the SCARP which is very effective.

Now, can I take you back then to the recommendations contained in the Inspector’s report in section 9 at page 40?--  Yes.

You as the mine manager and MIM are content and indeed support the recommendations made – I should say, content with and indeed support the recommendations made?—Yes.  In general, the recommendations are supported, just recommendation 9.4 regarding empirically based roof and rib support systems should be verified where possible by geotechnical design calculations as was heard in previous evidence from Dr O’Grady.  That is not a simple process and where it can be achieved certainly it should be achieved but there has to be some assumptions made in regard to that.

Now I note in recommendation 9.5 it’s suggested that the Coal Mining Roof Rating system should be considered; is that a matter under consideration by Oaky No 1 and indeed a matter in the process of implementation?--  Yeah, recommendation 9.5 recommends a system to classify the competence of the laminated strata be implemented and it is – and CMRR is given as an example.  Certainly CMRR has been utilised at Oaky North particularly in the inbye sections of the north maingate gateroads.  At No 1 the CMRR system has been utilised in the installation of – or the design of secondary support for longwall extraction and currently we are implementing – looking at using the CMRR in our exploration data in an attempt to classify the zones where additional support may be required whether it be intersections or otherwise.  So, yes, the CMRR system has been adopted.

This morning, have you seen a document containing five recommendations which I think has its genesis with the department?--  Yes, very briefly.

Would you have a look at this?--  Brian Lyne did approach me prior to Inquiry re-convening this morning to say that he would like me to have a look this report and put in submissions.

Warden, has the panel seen the document to which I’m referring or should I hand up copies?

WARDEN:  I don’t think so.

MR TRAVES:  I’ll hand up copies for the panel.  Mr Wood, if you think you need more time to consider any of these then please let us know, but are you able do you think to pass comment upon the recommendations?--  I can pass some comments, yes.

Well let’s deal with recommendation 1?--  Recommendation 1, “All mine workers including deputies to be formally trained and assessed to the level relevant to their roles and responsibilities in the strata management safety management plan, gas management safety management plan, emergency evacuation safety management plan, and other safety management plans.  This training should include knowledge on strata control principles to enable the person to identify hazards and their mechanisms which may not be apparent in the SCARPs”.  Generally I would agree that that is a fair recommendation, I would seek clarification on the definition of formal training and the extent to which that training applies.  Specifically I have some hesitation if that formal training includes assessment on the control procedures under those plans.  If that is the case then I would have some hesitation on that point.  Recommendation 2-----

Before you go to recommendation 2, can I ask you why you hesitate on that point?--  I suppose my definition of formal training includes assessment where people are sat down with a lesson plan and instructed in knowledge and theory – instructed in theory to increase their knowledge.  It may include practical assessment whereby they’re taken into the workplace for assessment in that particular theory and I agree with it, I agree with that type of formal training.  Where controls under safety management plans, and I'll refer to them because this is a specific reference in that recommendation.  Where controls under safety management plans are procedures that are either in use day to day or referred to from time to time then I don’t believe assessment is required, I believe that the people need to be aware of the procedures, have involvement and opportunity to input into those procedures and be aware of their location or the manner in which they can be obtained.

The second recommendation?--  Quite fair.  “Emergency evacuation safety management plan to include requirement of ready access to materials suitable to recover persons from roof falls”.  I totally agree with that and in response to a review of the response to Mr Morris’ accident, we have located timber materials, emergency support materials in a cut-through located in the bottom of the mains here.  We have also re-fitted the emergency trailer which was de-commissioned some four years ago and was parked up on the laydown area at the time of the accident and it was just unfortunate that the people decided to use it because it was not an appropriate medium to use, so we’ve re-fitted that and it is now located at the portal so I do agree with that recommendation.

Recommendation three?--  “Strata management safety management plan to include specific section which requires a review on driveages and support design prior to mining adjacent to and/or parallel to major geological structures.  This review should allow for different TARPS, that is Trigger Action Response Plans,  In some areas of the mine where conditions are different and should given consideration to strata failure mechanisms”.  Yes, I don’t have a problem with that.  I believe that whether the strata management safety management plan requires that that is good mine design practice and I believe that the process we followed at Oaky Creek fulfilled that.  Recommendation four; “Mines to develop an implement a system for the recording, collection and retrieval of data specific to the strata conditions for the shift and the type of trigger action plan in use from the strata management safety management plan at the mine”.  Again, generally, I don’t have an issue with that.  The systems which mines developed will be different.  Certainly my philosophy is to try and keep the face workers job as simple as possible without complicating it so that it’s – the maximum efficiency is achieved.  Recommendation five; “The two mine workers Andy Morris and Garth Zerner who were first to assist in the recovery of Stewart Euston and Mick Morris received special recognition for their humane efforts on that day”.  I totally concur with that as I do that the efforts of all people involved in the rescue receive special mention.

One or two other matters; there was an issue raised, has been an issued raised during the evidence concerning shift changeovers and the supervisors speaking on the telephone instead of face to face.  Can you explain how and why that came about?--  Yes, that particular matters refers mainly to shift lengths and shift changeover times, it’s a result of shift length and shift changeover times.  The rosters have changed – the work rosters at Oaky No 1 have changed a number of times in my tenure at the mine, but since 1998, September 1998 when the current EBA was signed the shift lengths up to 1 May this year were eight and a half hours with an hour’s overlap between afternoon shift and night shift and night shift and day shift.  There was a gap between day shift and afternoon shift which was used as a maintenance window, commonly called a tweenie.  That – was overlapped between the shifts allowed the supervisors to – from the start of the shift with their crews, the supervisors to travel underground, have a briefing with their crew in the crib camp and changeover with the offgoing crew at the face which is referred to as a hot seat change.  In that manner, the people who were relieving the various functions in the crew including the supervisor or deputy and the various operators of machinery functions were able to talk face to face, and that system worked very well and it’s one that I encourage.  The gap between afternoon and day shift – sorry, day shift and afternoon shift meant that the day shift had finished as afternoon shift was starting, there was an hours gap plus the – half an hour gap, plus the travel time either side, so the supervisors saw one another on the surface but the crews didn’t.  So the communication there was through the supervisors.  Earlier this year there was a standardisation programme commenced between Oaky North and No 1, as you’re aware the site, Oaky Creek lease which is displayed up there has Oaky North mine there, the green workings are those that aren’t driven, the purple workings are future reserves, and the current workings are shown in blue and red, and we have Oaky No 1 mine in this area here with again current workings in blue and red, extracted areas shaded in and future reserves.  Now the standarisation programme was commenced for mainly business efficiency reasons and cost savings.  During the standardisation certain items were raised such as transport rules between the mines being made similar, the access of diesels between the mines being subjected to the same set of tests so that they could go from one mine to another, the authorisation and training process, and amongst that came up work rosters because obviously with different start times between the mines, Oaky North’s shift times commenced on day shift at 6 o’clock in the morning, we commenced at 6.30.  It extended the times that the facilities in town, like the single persons accommodation were required to be open, and we agreed on a set shift length of eight and a half hours with – and removed the tweenie and go to an overlap that was reduced to half an hour given that the travel times had reduced in a number of areas of the mine, and that increase of shift length to increase the overlap between shifts was at the discretion of the mine manager.  On the 1st May I was actually on leave at the time but production superintendent Darren Nicholls executed the change and Oaky No 1 went to three overlapping shifts, overlapping eight and a half hour shifts.  That effectively reduced the shift changeover from – overlap from an hour to half an hour.  Unfortunately Oaky North on checking their industrial agreement found a clause in there that they hadn’t complied with and did not make that change, so the effort towards standardisation certainly hasn’t – we didn’t standardise, Oaky No 1 changed, Oaky North didn’t.  What has happened now as the travel times in the mine have increased, particularly out to tailgate 21, and now that we’ve resumed operation in maingate 19 and even in maingate 20, the changeover time is extremely limited.  The crews still wait at the face generally to changeover but the crews are normally waiting in the cribroom as the other crew arrives and there’s a bit of pressure to get to the surface to finish the shift so the changeover is not as effective as certainly we would like it.  What has happened is that the development crews are now booking in extra time by the time they arrive on the surface they’re coming out late.  Due to some industrial negotiations and decisions, the shift changes are under review to return to their original configuration, I would be expecting that they would resume their original configuration early next year, I have that under discussions at the moment.

A deal of attention has been paid in the last two days to the tight strapping just outbye of the edge of 28 cut-through?--  Now I’ll just bring up the slide from Inspector Caffery’s presentation if I may.  Point out the strapping that I’m referring to?--  The three straps that have been under question, or four, the three there and the one broken off.  I would like to put forward my opinion on those straps.  On hearing the evidence, the evidence of miner driver Ross Wyatte and supervisor Wayne Deakin do conflict.  Ross Wyatte was the miner driver on the shift on green crew that drove this portion of the road and he does not recollect that – putting up those straps.  The deputy for that shift was Wayne Deakin and he recalls – well on his statutory report it is noted Code Green/Yellow which lends evidence that those straps may have been put up at the end of the shift.  I would just like to put forward an opinion that despite some difficulty in determining the survey points, or the driveages for each crew, that a possible explanation is that green crew finished development of B Heading at a point just prior to those straps and then resumed driving this cut-through.  This heading – this area then sat for the next – up to almost a week before development re-commenced in here by the time the cut-through was driven, A Heading was driven, the panel extension and the week-end had passed, then it’s possible that the face abutment plus the area that was not supported between the last strap and the face underwent some local deterioration which on resuming mining on the red crew they may have had to support that.  Now unfortunately there is some overlap between measurements on the supervisor’s reports which make it difficult to find who put those straps up, but I put that forward as an opinion.

Thanks, Mr Wood.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, Mr Tate.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR TATE:  Thank you, Your Worship.  Mr Wood, just so that we have it very clear in our mind, following the incident I understand that you carried out a review of a number of actions and a number of plans and various other relevant things as a result of the incident.  I was wondering if you’d be kind enough to list the changes that you’ve implemented in the mine as a result of these reviews given the knowledge that you’ve learnt from this particular incident we’ve been discussing?--  I’ll start right back to the time of the incident where the incident occurred on Friday, 26th of May, inspections were carried out of the accident site, an investigation team was assembled and carried out work on the Saturday the 27th, I did not attend the mine on that day.  On the Sunday the 28th, I attended the mine and had discussions with the investigation team but those discussions were limited to the fact that we had had a roof fall resulting in a fatality in a development panel and that we had development crews expecting to commence work possibly on the Monday.  As it was they had the day off for the funeral, but definitely on the Tuesday, and that those development crews the least and the most duty that I had was to ensure that they were not exposed to the same risk and to give them confidence to return to their workplace and resume their normal operations, their normal duties.  The review on the Sunday was held with, to my recollection, technical services manager Julian Hoskin, technical services superintendent Paul O’Grady, and we discussed the immediate actions that were needed.  So that was the first review, and arising out of that were manager’s support rules which are contained in the inspector’s report which were, given we were in gateroad development at the time, were aimed at a gateroad sequence and they were very specific about when and where mapping was to occur, support that was to be installed, approval for intersections, the forming of intersections was particularly – of particular interest and a requirement so that we introduced an authority to mine system for intersections which required approval to proceed.  That was the first one.  In discussions with the inspector, Inspector Caffery, by the Monday or Tuesday, I can’t recall which, we’d also discussed the other requirements that he set down which was a review of regional geology and the review of existing intersections in the mine for similar conditions.  Those actions were undertaken by the technical services superintendent and group.  Since then, more broadly, the reviews have included the final report being put together and a review of the recommendations and the recommendations as contained in my report are contained within the inspector’s report; a review of the strata control hazard management plan which was held after the fall recovery.  I believe the dates were July – July, we did a two day review of that plan.  We reviewed the structure of the SCARP and still considered that the SCARP was an effective means by which of controlling conditions in the mine, but recognised that the SCARP would need to progress to consider where we’d looked at the regional geology ahead of development panels that we would have to make SCARP specific to certain areas and that is what has happened with tailgate 21.  They’ve been the main reviews, I may have missed, I’m not sure.

Take a moment, it’s important that you have an opportunity of telling the panel and His Worship the changes?--  And the other review that was held on the 4th of October, and in between then there were informal conversations, was a formal review of the emergency response to the accident.

And what were the findings in that review?--  The findings there were that there were some matters to be included in the emergency response including the recommendation, the proposed recommendation that will part of the submission later on today.  Amendments made to the duty card system, both for storage and completeness of duty card folders and also the format of the duty cards to enable them to be applied more practically and simply.

I take it from what you’ve been saying this morning I take it that you consider that strata is the number one hazard at mining – for mining at Okay No 1?--  No, that’s not correct.

All right.  That will actually pick up what you’re saying wherever you are so you can sit back and relax you don’t have to lean forward?--  Yeah, sorry.

How would you  perceive the major hazards?--  In my experience at Oaky No 1 there are two major hazards.

Yes?--  Before the roof fall I would have ranked ventilation and gas management as the – ahead of strata control.

Why’s that?--  Why is that?  There has been a number of incidents and occasions for gas accumulations in the mine.

Right?--  Partially because of poor past practices by people.

Right?--  Partially because of not anticipating the impact of the gas regime at the mine.

Right.  And – sorry, I interrupted you but it’s just important that we all understand what you’re talking about.  You said you would have – before this fall ranked those as the two major concerns?--  I would have ranked ventilation ahead of strata control.

Yes?--  But certainly strata control has been an issue with past incidents at the mine.

And subsequent to the fall, where would you put strata control?--  I would say we’ve certainly reduced or – yeah, reduced ventilation incidents if you like and improved practices and our understanding of the gas regime and management at the mine.  Certainly it doesn’t figure as highly and we have also reduced the complexity of the ventilation system at the mine by removing the Maywin which was the Allied development driveage fan from the circuit, so it is certainly not as complex or a major hazard as it was and certainly strata control deserves full attention.

In relation to strata control, how is that organised within the management realm of the mine, for example, how is it discussed by mine management and what’s the interface between managers, operational people and the technical people?--  I’ll start long term if you like, the central technical services group part of the support group to the operations is responsible for the exploration programme and mine design.

Yes?--  Long term scheduling and mine design.  Within the technical services group there are the operating technical groups at each of the mines and they take the long term mine design and design detail.

Yes?--  Put detail to that long term mine design, such as panel layouts, whereas the long term mine design may look at the future reserves and the orientation of longwall blocks and headings in relation to stress, structure, et cetera, with an aim to maximise recovery.  Then the technical services groups at the mine, there’s a technical services superintendent, the geologist, mining engineer support the detail to that long term design.

Yes?--  As far as within Oaky No 1 management structure then I assume responsibility for the mine and that level – and the level of detail to which we plan, goes from an 18 month schedule in mine design to a weekly plan which is very detailed.  The superintendents of the respective areas, longwall production which is development in outbye, assume a pivotal role in applying the design, and the communications, not only written and on -–by electronic means and through the weekly plan, are supplemented by formal communication meetings.

Yes?--  The manager, Oaky Creek manager have a meeting every week on a Tuesday; superintendents at Oaky No 1 have a meeting with myself every Wednesday and relevant issues are raised including the mine schedule, mine plans or conflicts in the areas.  And then with the supervisors, they have meetings with the superintendents between one monthly and two monthly intervals normally, and then there are the Friday weekly communication meetings with the crews, so the flow is from – basically from the broad long term issues affecting the mine to the pointy end of the pick.

Right, I understand.  Now just in relation to the recommendations, in the answer you just gave me you talked about how you as the RM assume responsibility for the mine.  Now you have a certificate that’s issued by the Board of Examiners that permits you to take on that role, is that the case?--  Yes, appointed under the Coal Mining Act, yes.

Yes.  And do you not have a certificate from the Board of Examiners?--  Yes.

And that certificate is?--  A first class mine manager’s certificate, competency number 3504.

Now it’s a certificate of competency, you had to sit some practical exams for that?--  Yes, I had to undergo a certificate course in mining and then sit for six exams and then an oral exam.

And upon successful conclusion of that they issued the Certificate of Competency?--  Yes.

With the accent on the word competency?--  It appears on the certificate, yes.

Indeed.  I’m not giving you a hard time, you know where I’m going.  In recommendation one, it talks about formal trained or formal training.  What’s the difference between having a person formally trained to carry out a function and that being appropriately recorded so that it can be audited and you as the RM and the superintendents can be assured of that person’s competency?  Why do you resist the idea of formal training?--  No, I’m not resisting the idea of formal training I’m-----

Then you need to tell us about it?--  I’m – I certainly have an opinion that formal training is appropriate to some – to certain areas where people need to be trained, content, theory, even to the point of practical examinations.

Yes?--  Okay.  What I said when I responded to that recommendation was that I would seek clarification on what that formal training extended to, and if it extended to operating procedures under those plans then I would see that as being unnecessary.  Operating procedures I would expect the people who use them to be aware of them, to have input and involvement in their development and use and feedback, and that the use – that if they use those in their everyday work or from time to time they should be aware of their existence, locating and where they can be obtained.  Can I give an example?

I think it would be a good idea because we’re at sixes and sevens on this point I suspect?--  Okay.  The manager’s support rules which are appended to my report are a – I will go back.  Under approximately – it must have been early last year Oaky Creek introduced a document control system.

Yes?--  It’s an electronic document control system called CADUMS, it’s a word based environment.  Typically when myself or even Inspector Caffery uses Microsoft Word we use five to 10 per cent of its capacity.

Yes?--  CADUMS employs 85 per cent of Word’s capacity.

Yes?--  It is a system that limits access to authorised people, it is a system that controls documentation to the point that the last approved version appears on it and any subsequent print-outs of that will appear as uncontrolled copy, and it has a review date on those procedures.  Now there is a format to which we write procedures under CADUMS and one of it is – one of the final sections is accountabilities, and under there I normally put brief accountabilities of people and in that procedure for supervisors or crew supervisors, I can’t remember which term it was, I think it was – will comply with this procedure, will be – will familiarise themselves with the procedure, will communicate to the crews, okay.  That to me, even though it’s a manager’s rule and support rule, I don’t expect to have to go out to each crew and train them in it.  I expect the training to be handed down through the line of supervision to the supervisor and to be presented through a toolbox talk which our toolbox talk forms are designed for recording of comments.

Right?--  And to receive those comments back.  I see that as the training that is sufficient for operating procedures.

Right?--  I don’t see sitting in a classroom and then filling out an assessment as being appropriate.  My experience has found that people get overloaded with procedures and training and assessments and if a few days time you can go back and find that they did not understand, they did pass the assessment but they did not understand.

Well that’s the problem of inactive mastery back in the workplace following a training session.  So where do you see formal training as being appropriate, how would you provide the definition that you’ve talked about?--  Take strata control for example.

Yes?--  I do expect – I do agree with [indistinct] and I do support formal training in strata control theory, mechanisms of failure and the signs to which you would look for in the mining environment specific to the mine you’re at.

Yes?--  I would – so that’s formal training taken out of the workplace initially, explained to understand complete assessments and this is in addition to induction training, induction training produces a base level of training.

Yes?--  Then in the workplace go and sight some of those structures, features so that people understand what they look like in the workplace, no assessment necessary but discussions and the person accompanying them determining that people do understand what they’re looking at, the person providing that, the expertise.

So a mentoring system in that sense too, attempt to convey that 

understanding?--  It could be a mentor or it could be a technical services person, the current technical services superintendent, David Stone, is a very active person in that regard.  Then the other stage is where you have tell-tale installation, tell-tale monitoring – I’ll leave operator training for the moment, and other operating procedures within that area that go through the line that I outlined before, go through the supervision, from the superintendent to the supervisors to the crews via toolbox talks and practical demonstration that people can put those up effectively by the supervisor, a supervisor observing a person doing it, and being satisfied they’re following the procedure and its being installed correctly.  I don’t see that assessments are necessary with that.  Operator training-----

Just stop you, just before you get onto operator training, what about auditing of that, I mean the issue that I’m searching for is how do you know through your management systems that your expectations are in fact being met in the workplace?--  The toolbox talks are recorded on a form with an attendance by people of the procedure that was presented and the comments that were received.

Yes?--  Any documentation system can fall down if those forms aren’t filled in, filed correctly, lost, otherwise.

Yes?--  But that to me is the proof that that was presented and then it’s up to the supervisor upon the application of that procedure – because supervisors are in charge of a small group of people they’re the ones that know their people.

All right?--  Know their expertise, their training needs, and certainly we see, at Oaky No 1, I see that as the supervisor’s responsibility and then if there’s any conflicts, special requirements through to the superintendent.

So in other words the ongoing monitoring of competency against a procedure you see as being the accountability of the immediate supervisor?--  And a responsibility of the superintendent to make sure that that system is in place.

Indeed.  Yes, I understand.  Then you were going to go onto operator stuff?--  Operator training just to briefly mention, operator training is by assessment of – this is in operating plant and equipment, but I just draw your attention to the operator training on continuous miners and on drill rigs do cover aspects of strata control that are relevant to the operation of that machinery.  And will drill rigs and with hand-held bolters it looks at bolting theory.

 I picked up during the course of the evidence of a number of witnesses that they were a bit grumpy about not having had actual formal training in the SCARP.  Now I don’t know whether that was because they didn’t want to be associated with any mechanisms that might have been involved in this particular fall, or whether it was something else.  Why do you think the people were presenting that particular point so avidly during the last couple of days; is it that they want formal training in say SCARP and other aspects of their mining duties?--  I believe that people at the mine don’t regard toolbox talks, communication sessions, and I hold one each month with the whole mine, as training, and that’s simply – and that’s the simple point is that people’s interpretation is different whereas I would say that that is training or familiarisation with procedures and allowing comments and those people don’t regard it as that, they regard it as sitting down in a classroom away from the workplace as training, and they don’t see the regular communication sessions as training.  Now I would say that it’s not formal training, it fulfills the needs that I see for operating procedures.

Now the other issue that I need to explore with you just in relation to the recommendations, is number four; there’s some talk that, as I understand the evidence yesterday, that there could be, hypothetically at least, a weakness in the information flow from the rock bolters and the other people right at the face through to the deputy, the recording of the statutory reports and so forth moving up into the technical support area, whether it be the operational one that you’ve spoken to or going right back to the strategic one.  Is there a comment you have in relation to that?--  I suppose the philosophy in the operation is that the various levels of supervision from the manager through to the supervisor at the face have responsibilities with respect to the people that report to them.  So in reverse, from the operators through to the manager that the operators – any concerns are then voiced to the deputy or supervisor and the supervisor then reports that through the statutory report and production report through to the superintendent and/or co-ordinators.

And I guess that really focuses the question, how do you ensure that those accountabilities and lines of communication which are your expectation in fact occur?--  You would naturally audit the reports that are provided in that regard.  Now I will say that the reporting standards – I think it’s like any training, you get a wave link response, you raise people’s awareness, over a period of time it dulls, you raise people’s awareness and you get that sawtooth effect.

Yes?--  It’s like statutory reports, the level of detail on statutory reports when I make a song and dance about it to a supervisor it’s very good for the next few weeks, or couple of weeks, or a couple of days, depending on the supervisor, and I suppose we’re always continually re-enforcing expectations out there that the reporting – and Mr Dalliston’s questioning and examination of reports I’ve certainly noted as a concern.  I don’t want to see – I would like to see, sorry, as part of the reports opportunity to put in structure encountered at the face.  I would not like to see a separate report being made available it’s just another piece of paper to track.

Of course?--  So in that respect, certainly some facility on the report form to indicate conditions at the face, features encountered, would certainly suffice.

I was interested also just while we’re on this recommendation and I’m nearly done, our geologist yesterday who was very clearly knowledgeable and quite an expert.  Well I understand just on the quiet might be going off to do some mining for a period of time to broaden his experience, was talking about – or I sensed that there was a distinction or demarcation between the technical people and the operational people, and you’ll recall listening to me ask a few questions about his understanding or involvement in risk assessment or hazard identification and so on.  Do you have any views that you’d like to tell us about that?--  With respect to the role of the geologist in the operating areas; the geologist is qualified and trained to identify geological features.

Yes?--  And to explain how they may have been formed, and their physical features.  He is not trained in rock mechanics, nor in – nor is qualified to give opinions or recommendations on measures in respect of those geological features.  That is the role of the technical services superintendent, the production superintendent or myself, and for engineering assurance I always refer those matters to the technical services superintendent who holds higher academic qualifications than myself, but I am willing to input from my experience.  So it’s not a demarcation as such, it’s a recognition of role and where the process leads from his mapping and that the mapping is provided appropriate – to the appropriate people in the appropriate timeframe.  We have gone from updating the mapping of Oaky Creek to – because it hadn’t been done, the underground mapping that is, to mapping on a weekly basis minimum to on various frequencies according to structure encountered to the point that the geologist  gets a number of calls in the middle of the night.  He’s commented on involvement in risk assessment I believe should be qualified that I believe he’s participated in risk assessments.  As far as training in risk assessments I wouldn’t have expected to seen him trained as a facilitator, but to participate and understand the principles of calculating risks I believe he does have that knowledge.  He had difficulty answering yesterday, I think it might have done something to do with more the pressure of being under questioning and in this environment rather than anything else.  I know that we provide in our hazard identification training simple explanations of risk calculation, we have a small card that we hand out to people about the likelihood and consequence, and a calculator and it’s standard issue basically.

The last question I have for is a very general one, of which you stole the $64,000 question that I was going to ask you after that which was what risk assessment programmes do you have at the mine.  The last one is really I suppose the most important question and the one that, in many many ways, focuses or sharpens the focus of why we’ve really been there for the last two and a bit days, I think it brings together the concerns of the mine and mine management, the concern of the next-of-kin, and those members of the workforce that have sat through the hearing as well as the Inspectors and I think it probably recognises the whole thrust of where the industry wishes to go, and that is, how do we make mining a safer activity and I think we’ve looked at a lot of the various injury rates and all the rest of it and people have talked about how they’ve attempted to reduce those and what have you.  For the benefit of the industry, given that you’ve had this incident and you’ve had an opportunity of investigating it thoroughly, it’s been externally investigated, you’ve had input from all sorts of very highly qualified people.  Can you outline any methods that might be helpful to prevent a similar occurrence in the future?--  I think you’ve just asked the $64,000 question.

I’m very aware that if anyone can answer this and get it right they’ll get a Nobel Prize in mining, there’s no doubt about that, but we’ve got to try?--  Yes.  Some comments; I think certainly the reports of Dr Frith, Dr Fuller, the comments during evidence of certain people, people in this Inquiry would understand that these type of failure are rare, they occur very suddenly, so predicting – and the reason that they’re rare is that a combination of circumstances has to be present that does not normally happen, the probability of all of the circumstances lining up so to speak.

Well that’s the swiss cheese model isn’t it of risk?--  Yes.  Now in looking at Okay No 1, I would say that what we’re doing currently with long tendon support is absolutely – it’s overkill, it is maximum insurance because at this stage I am not confident and we at the mine are not confident that we can predict the areas that don’t need long tendon support because the structures were undetectable.

Yes?--  They didn’t present themselves-----

There were no indicators?--  -----in the mining horizon so even if – you know this is back in reviewing the immediate actions after the event on the Sunday, sitting there in my office talking with people about, okay, we have these structures present, if they weren’t detected by the geologist, mapped by the geologist, whether they were present or not, it still had the same result.

Yes?--  So we went with long tendons.  What I have asked the technical services group to further – to do further work on is a roof classification system which the CMRR is not the panacea to all ills but it certainly is a system, a systematic approach, review of structure types and trends within the mine with a view to either reducing either the level of support required, so instead of putting in the current density of long tendons in certain areas, knowing other factors reducing that, and in certain areas eliminating it.  Drawing back to the evidence of Dr Fuller is that, and his theory, the roof strength was a contributing factor, and the failure plane, the planes of discontinuity, were the mechanism for failure.

Yes?--  But the right-hand side in his view was weak enough to be broken and allow that block to rotate.

The canti lever approach?--  Yes, canti lever approach.  If the rock is strong enough to resist that then the block would lock in.

Yes?--  So possibly there’s more work to be done on, again, under the CMRR it looks at the lithological features that affect the structural integrity of the rock.

Yes?--  And weight them – you know if you read the text on it it weighs them according to their relative importance, but you’ve then got to have a large enough database at each mine, or at say Oaky No 1, to apply that so that you calibrate it correctly.

Yes?--  Now – so that’s one factor, then there’s the structure that occurs and knowing what we know now from that accident but not what we’d recognised before because before we’d passed through a lot of structure in the north-east with some delays but no dramatic incidents apart from the one roof fall, and it was very close to the maingate heading, we now know that we’ve got to take more cognisance of the structure that occurs.

Yes?--  So the zone around that would be applicable, a zone either side.

Yes?--  So they’re just systems for classification so that’s a direction I would see Okay No 1 head and I’m certainly willing to share that with other mines.  As far as warning goes and providing warning, my opinion-----

Well that’s the other issue, if we can’t actually manage this because it’s unpredictable, what can we do to attempt to give people a little more warning?--  My opinion that without long tendons in that intersection, tell-tale or no tell-tale, a warning would have been insufficient.  Can’t say that for sure but the nature of the failure leads me to say that the levels of movement in the roof at Okay No 1 not normally and I would not expect to be detectable by eye, that’s as in visual sag, defamation, apart from the roof flake and the other stuff that’s been talked about.  As for delamination and roof sag, difficult to detect visually, so we do rely on tell-tales.  If I move away or if we do develop the system to further classify the roof and reduce the levels of long tendon support there’s one thing that won’t be changing, there will be a tell-tale in every intersection and the tendons – where tendons are involved they would at least slow down the rate of defamation to a point where people have adequate time to remove themselves and/or equipment to safety.

Is there anything else that you’d like to say?--  No, I’ve thought about this many times and I’ve had calls from Inspector Caffery on his way to Toowoomba from his car phone saying I’ve just had a thought, what about this?  So it’s been on our minds for the months and it’s very very difficult.  You know, to have inferred that those structures were present, or any structures in any roof are present, is quite reasonable because we can’t get in there and look.

Yes?--  It’s how you consider those impacts, how you consider the impact of those structures is important, and previous experience, empirical methods are quite acceptable.  Obviously this accident has said we needed to change.

Thank you.  Thank you, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Mr Dalliston.

CROSS-EXAMINATION:

MR DALLISTON:  Thanks.  Mr Wood, just to go back on some of the stuff you discussed in evidence especially regarding the training and the training procedures.  Are you aware of what the new legislation that comes into places in March looks at as far as standard operating procedures being part of 

legislation?--  Yes, I am aware of it.

Are you also aware that standard operating procedures being part of legislation for all mine – will have obligations to follow those procedures?--  Yes.

So therefore with those two things in mind would you see that where there’s a need  for procedures we’d try and keep them to a minimum because they’re part of legislation?--  You need to keep them to not only a minimum but also the ones that are practical, effective and as simple as possible.

And then on top of that is there an obligation, and you do have procedures in place, then you would expect that mine workers would have some training and be able to show that they’ve had training in those – to make sure they fulfill their obligations?--  Yes, I’m not debating that, it is the nature of that training that’s probably of more interest to myself.

If we have to come back for another one of these it’d be a critical piece of evidence, wouldn’t it, that training has been performed, it can shown to be performed and was adequate?--  I believe that within the systems at Oaky No 1, because I can only comment on that, is that the formalisation of recording of people attending, people that are absent, people that are – sorry, and the material is presented certainly can be improved, it certainly exists now but it can be improved.

On the immediate day after the accident, there was an inspection carried out underground and we had some cause to go back some eight or nine pillars back from the face area on the way out and look at other geological conditions.  We went to 21 cut-through?--  That was the inspection following the accident on the same day?

Yep?--  Yeah.

When we went to 21 cut-through there was notified deformities in the roof, there was some – crack in the roof, there had been some secondary support put in but you initiated some further support to be put in that place?--  Yes, I did.

One of the comments you made at the time was that it was the walkers and chalkers job to identify that, do you remember that comment?--  Yes.

So with that in mind what have you done since then to ensure that those – and can you tell me who you’re referring to first with walkers and chalkers?--  Walkers and chalkers is a common term referred to supervisors or deputies who walk the outbye areas of the mine and are not in charge of a production district.

So since then, and with that comment in mind, what have you done to ensure that those people who are doing those inspections are have had a better look and are recording those type of issues?--  Two main actions that have been carried out was I have met with each – all of the supervisors at the mine and discussed action required when they see something, what I expect out of them from action required, and during those discussions I gave – certainly they had opportunity to discuss it and it was in July we had all of the – I think it was July we had all of the supervisors present at a meeting with myself and superintendents – well, the longwall superintendent wasn’t there and the engineering and maintenance superintendent wasn’t there, in town to discuss issues relating to statutory duties, particularly districts, and I have recently re-zoned with their input the districts in the mine to be more appropriate and I’ve also employed, given that we’re anticipating the legislation being enacted in September and now it’s March, we’ve employed a number of deputies on fixed term contracts to March next year to assist in the requirements.

So can you explain-----?--  And I discussed personally with the deputy who had last inspected that area before our inspection as to the conditions there and why he hadn’t reported them.

So can you explain how you’d expect, or what changes you made so that people would pick these up, like has frequency of inspection changed, has time allotted for districts changed, has the method of carrying out those inspections changed?--  The frequency hasn’t changed and I believe there was a statement yesterday that I would like to correct.  Frequency of inspections in outbye areas is once per shift and that is once per the eight and a half hour shift.  Frequency of production face is once every four hours.  We do a second inspection of certain areas of the conveyor belts, and so frequency hasn’t changed.  The time available for people has increased given I’ve employed some extra resources and re-zoned the district and that was with consultation with the supervisors, and the method of carrying out inspections hasn’t changed, it’s always been by foot of the areas that are required to be inspected.

So there hasn’t been any – to go to vehicle inspections where a person wouldn’t actually be able to see – less chance of seeing that roof than what’s currently there now?--  I have discussed vehicle inspections with Inspector Caffery and I certainly disagree with your comment that they wouldn’t be able to see things, in fact you’d be looking for different things in a vehicle inspection and you would need to still supplement those inspections, or they would be supplementary to the other inspections.  I consider that a travelling road inspection by vehicle is extremely important.  A travelling road inspection of the travelling road conditions not so much the roof or the ribs.

Yeah, not of the strata conditions.  As we expected that day when we went in in the vehicle with you driving and then walked out?--  Yes.

You can see a lot more walking than the drive?--  Yeah, but we certainly felt the pot-hole at 21 cut-through I think it was.

When the information was gathered as a result of this incident, there was some information gathered and asked for which you supplied to both ourselves and to the three parties, the union, the inspectorate and the company were sharing information?--  Yes.

And I thank you very much for that, that was well done.  Just there was some information that we were looking at that couldn’t be supplied or couldn’t be found in one place.  I just wanted to hear your comments on the initial risk assessment that would have been done around 1996 when the strata control management plan was called for and identified all the hazards and the characteristics of the mine and all those things are required under a management plan, and then the use of that information when you do your reviews.  Would you like to have any comment on if that information is available and-----?--  Unfortunately it was before my time but the original risk assessment I will now have to go to the person who facilitated that at [indistinct] which was Terry O’Byrne and try and obtain his documentation, the documentation I cannot find in our archives that are on sight.  As far as the use of that information that identified 18 principle hazards at Oaky No 1 and that was before my time because certainly some of the ones that do appear I don’t believe are and we are currently reviewing them as part of a MIM wide project, and then our reviews are done – carried out – facilitated by an external person and look at incidents relating to that area in the past – since the previous review, and the structure of the plan we’ve always review the fault tree, we review the controls, and then we review incidents that have happened since the last review.

So you were here in Court when Mr O’Grady was asked some questions and he’d come as a senior person looking after the strata and geology at the mine?--  Yep.

And the idea of a management plan was that that information will be there as a history for him to have a look at to see what had happened in the past for what changes occurred to what to look at, do you agree with that?--  Yes, I don’t object to it.

So you are going to try and go back and get that – do you believe the reviews should be based against the initial risk assessment until those hazards are shown that they’re not there anymore?--  Well, the – yeah, to some degree the fault trees arise out of the original review, I see keeping the fault trees or the risk assessment for a tool which is the fault tree, the failure analysis, keeping it current is most important, and we do that.

The fault trees are very hard to follow at times as well, aren’t they, there’s very limited words in them and very limited detail in them?--  Yes, they need to be backed up.

By the other information.  The fall that occurred on the 14th of 5th ’99 which in Mr Caffery’s report was a minor one but we’ve had discussion on that and-----?--  This was the one in B Heading maingate 15, is it?

It was some 15 metres by 23 – yeah, on page 23, it was – the inspector’s report, the 14th of the 5th ’99, B Heading maingate 15.  It’s 7.3.6(a)(1)?--  Yeah.

After that fall and prior to the 26th of the 5th there’s no evidence that the strata control management plan has been actually reviewed.  There is evidence that some of your procedures have been reviewed but the management as in place of the 26th of the 5th was still the same revision that was in place prior to the 14th of the 5th ’99?--  No, we had done one revision on the 29th of November to the 1st of December.  The dates may be the same but we carried out a review of the strata control management plan late November, early December 1999.

That wasn’t the document provided in the documentation to the department and ourselves?--  No, the review caused reviews of procedures not the actual text in the management plan and the other point I will make that in February this year the management plan, I believe that it’s presented in the inspector’s report, starts with control approach.  There is a standard set of – standard material for – or generic material for hazard management plans, it is separate to that, and was not supplied with that document which I apologise for, and I’ve since provided that to Inspector Caffery.  But there was a review carried out and it did generate reviews of procedures rather than changes to the text in the management plan.

So how is that type of review actually recorded with your management plan so you know that the management plan and procedures have actually been done to be picked up?--  It should have changed the date on the management plan on CADUMS as a revision number and a date, and the second thing is we have minutes from all of those review meetings, and just in response to that particular fall, a major cause of that was considered to be, again, a local weakening of the area but in relation to rear abutment effects from the longwall goaf, and since then we’ve extended our secondary support to include those areas around that particular – potential stress concentration area.

You said in your opinion the reason for the straps being closed up just outbye of 28 cut-through B Heading, the four straps-----?--  It was a suggestion probably more than an opinion, an explanation.

Whatever the reason for that, and I’ve had talks actually with the deputy, as part of our investigations the deputy on the other shift that actually went back there the next shift and he doesn’t remember them being up neither, so whatever happened, do you believe the recommendations being proposed or being put up to the Reviewers the one on documentation and recording of those things would pick up that however that happened, the deterioration of that area as per your view or whatever, it would be recorded and therefore it would be available for people when they did that break-off?  Do you believe that would fix that issue up?--  I wouldn’t expect that four straps placed close together would be the text on the report, I would expect that the Code Yellow support had been installed due to-----

That the hazard be identified?--  -----and a descriptor of the conditions, yes.

Yeah, the hazard be identified on a report?--  And it’ll be on reports it’s just – yes, you must – along with any report you must back it up with a good filing and retrieval system.

I believe the CADUMS system you’ve got in place has improved that for industry, not just for your place?--  For fixed procedures, yes, for active reports you’ve still got to have a manual archiving system.

The CMRR that’s come in for some attention is also in the report, if the CMRR was used on this occasion, whether the structures in the roof weren’t visible so therefore weren’t identified by coring or visibility, would you believe that would have made any difference because it has limitations, the CMRR, hasn’t it, the same as all of those formulas?--  I believe that the roof lithology at B 28 cut-through without the presence of structures would have supported an intersection.  With structures it was not capable of.  The CMRR, it weighs certain factors one of which is – and I’m not an expert in the field so I won’t comment in too much detail, it may have weighted some importance on the existence of faults and features inbye, and it may have resulted in a lower rating.  Now we have had a rating put on that roof since we took the cores, interestingly enough, 21 cut-through to which you referred where the extra support was required, was the lowest rating in the panel and the one at 28 cut-through was the next lowest rating.

So that’s what I’m putting to you, that the CMRR, if you can’t see the structures, could give a false indication?--  What I suggested before was that it needed to be calibrated to the mine, that you need the data collection across the mine to be representative and you’ve still got to then rely on some history for that, but you’re right, the CMRR it’s not the panacea of all evils.

Are you aware of the failures and do you get reports on strata control failures or any other failures that come out of the other mines in your group, say Alliance and Oaky North?--  We do, we normally get an incident communication which is straight away.  What I don’t see and what I say normally is the investigation report from those falls that determines the cause and actions taken.  You’ll get the immediate actions taken.  Where that report normally resides is the mine at which the incident occurs and then – this is my opinion, that it is then enacted through the central technical services group to apply the pertinent factors from the characteristics of one fall to the environment of – adjacent mine.

Do you believe that’d be very vital information that you could be aware of rather than just the incident – the type of causes for those failures as manager of the mine?--  It’s vital information where the environments are similar.

Yes?--  Where the environments are totally dissimilar then it’s for information purposes only.

You’ve had a fair change of jobs around the place and worked at a fair few different mines in Central Queensland?--  I’ve worked at three mines in-----

And you’ve had meetings with mine managers and got information from other underground mines; would you see that the Oaky Creek area has had more potential for failures of roof or strata with very little warning than other mines have had in the Central Queensland basin?--  It’s – the Oaky Creek environment is an environment which gives rise to failures with limited warning and possibly it has been when you look at the history of the mine more frequently than other mines but I can’t comment on every mine.  I know that the environment at Kestral certainly gives more warning in the mining environment they had when I was there, and at Central Colliery it even provided more warning than this fall but still limited.

So in talking with some of the people that were actually involved in this panel and after the incident, they have expressed that they feel that the new system you’ve put in place gives them more security, it is a safer mining process, and they seem very reluctant to say that if – unless it can be scientifically proved that those tendons weren’t working to take away – and you can understand that I suppose after working with those blokes everyday.  So with that in mind and with the information you got that you don’t get a lot of warning – and the tell-tales, as you said, a tell-tale in that intersection [indistinct] because of the height it fell at and the rate of movement we had before it fell would probably have been very little warning or not sufficient warning for people to be out of the road?--  Most likely.

So is there some way – I heard you said you’re committed to – put to the department those changes if you’re going to change those and take them away, but there was some suggestion that if you can show that those things are required, you’re going to take them out, would that be similar to the information or the scenario you used with the sawtoothing for the reports that after something happens there’s a really good compliance for a while, same as the recommendations out of Moura, and then they drop off until something else happens and they rise again, or are you going to see some scientific information to say that your conditions do definitely, or will stand up without that.  Are you going to prove that you don’t need them rather than think that you don’t need them before you take them out because it is a concern to your workers?--  I would not take them away unless I could prove that they weren’t required, and also, that the changes would not just be discussed with the department, but with all crews affected and I would certainly give you the benefit of that information as well.  This has been too serious an event to ignore the consequences of a further one – you would need absolute assurance that the actions that you take in the future would not result in a similar event.

Since you’ve been at Oaky Creek there’s been a number of improvements in management systems and I believe the systems in place there have improved and there may be some deficiencies in people actually knowing what – what those systems are but there definitely are improvement in a number of the systems at the mine.  During the Inquiry and you’re sitting in here a comment was made about it’s an artifact of mining that these scenarios just will happen from time to time.  Do you believe with the management system in place and now the action you’re taking, and if other mines look at that and take similar action, there is the ability for us to control the environment so that we can potentially eliminate most of these incidents occurring, or do you believe it’s an artifact of mining, they’ll keep happening?--  No, I don’t subscribe to that theory, I subscribe to the theory that all incidents can be prevented one way or another, it is the level of control to which you have to go to prevent them that is normally the deciding factor as to whether you proceed into an area or not.  The level that we’ve taken at Oaky No 1 again is maximum insurance it’s done with a dead weight loading calculation on the long tendon supports so that we do recognise that we’ll have – we assume that we’ll have a block that’s not capable of being self-supporting of each intersection.  As I said, I believe that is overkill but we have no choice at the moment until we develop alternatives.  An example at Oaky North is that the CMRR system was used as a no-go go for mining areas, so it’s a level of control that you apply.

One final question is the information that came out of this and the kaolinite being present, has that type of information been put forward to your miner drivers and deputies just saying, look, this is what we found as part of this and therefore keep 

an eye out for looking at this type of stuff, especially those people, the miner drivers and the deputies that are in the production areas been taken through any of that stuff since the incident?--  To the best of my knowledge it has not been formally presented, it has been discussed informally by the geologist and personnel with crews but I couldn’t say that everyone has been taken through it, no.

Would you see it as a benefit to the people-----?--  Yes, it is, I agree with that.  I would make a comment on kaolinite, I believe I will be asked by someone that since the accident we’ve taken observations around the mine and asked people with history at the mine that kaolinite is generally present in joints, shears, faults, in the mine itself.  I would like to point out that the presence of kaolinite is not an essential factor, or the only factor in determining the trahesive and frictional characteristics of a geological feature but it certainly contributed to it in that it further reduces it.

Just another – to identify potential hazards?--  Yes, as I said, it’s generally present as what I’ve found even in the longwall goafs.

Thanks.  No further questions.

WARDEN:  Mr Mellick.

MR MELLICK:  I have no questions, thank you.

WARDEN:  Mr Woods.

REVIEWER WOODS:  Mr Wood, just on that last – how much roof movement would you expect to see before it actually parts all together, like you were saying that you don’t believe that a tell-tale would have – how much movement would you expect to find before it actually let go of?--  What generally at Oaky No 1?

Yeah?--  It’s difficult to quantify but we have set the SCARP levels fairly conservatively.  I worked at Gordonstone for six years and it wasn’t uncommon to see 120, 150 millimetres of movement on a recording device and possibly up to 300 millimetres where you had horizontal stress effects was not uncommon and we would take action at Oaky Creek with a much more rigid environment, you would see -  we do not see visual effects, the first visual effects you get of a failure occurring is skin failure, you don’t see roof sag so the amount of movement, it’s difficult to say, but in discussions we’ve put the SCARP levels conservative and we have seen levels on tell-tales up to 30 millimetres and a failure hasn’t occurred in roadways.  I would tend to suggest, and this is just a estimate, is that if anything past 20 millimetres is an alarm to me and anything past 30 millimetres we’re definitely out of there and doing something about it and we’re doing – well we’re doing something about it from 20 millimetres on, but it’s also the rate of movement, in talking about B28 cut-through I believe the rate of movement would have been the issue.

Just when you look at your SCARP in Code Yellow there is no monitoring done and you’re only talking about 20 mls movement where as you can have a catastrophic event and yet there’s no monitoring done at that level to judge 

20 ml.  Now 20 ml, as we’ve heard in evidence here, is very difficult or if not impossible to pick up any movement by eyesight.  So if we’re talking about 20 to 100 ml, 20 to 50 ml, 100 ml whatever movement of the roof before we have a catastrophic event, yet there’s no evidence – there’s nothing in your SCARP to identify that movement at a Yellow level?--  Let’s look at the structure of roof support generally around the industry.  You structure your roof support to a base level which is your normal operating conditions, you would then cater for, such as we did at Maywin, and I talk about Maywin specifically, not because I had to put pressure on the contractors to keep their straps closed up, but due to the amount of roof flake that we had in there.  So we had roof flake, general flake on the skin of the roof, it wasn’t associated with stress, it wasn’t associated with buckling, it wasn’t associated with major rib spall or weight on ribs, it was a lot to do with the inconsistent bedding, weathering and so the straps were closed up.  We recognised that there was another level of support in a stable roof that was required before monitoring was required, and Green and Yellow represent stable roof, Orange and Red do not, and that was why monitoring was not put in the Yellow,  The other point I make is if we have to put monitoring in Yellow then I will have to review the SCARP and put a fifth level in I would expect because we’d have that many tell-tales around the mine that a control of the information and even getting people to read them and possibly people would be de-sensitised by it.  It’s even occurring with putting them in every intersection now.  It’s not unusual to go up and down from Green up to Yellow and back down within the shift, or even twice in a shift.

Point taken.  The point being that you can have 20 ml – well all right, given the fact that your roof could fail somewhere between 20 ml to 50 ml or whatever and it failed and had a catastrophic event, how are people going to identify that that movement is there?--  With a tell-tale, the triggers are designed for a tell-tale.

That’s right.  The point being that we can have 20 ml of movement and not pick it up because there’s no tell-tale there in that level?--  The other triggers within the SCARP allow for when the roof is de-stabilising, particularly in Orange and Yellow where water running through cracks, water running through partings in the roof, loss of chemical, they’re all designed at detecting that the roof is deteriorating.  Codes Green and Yellow are where the roof is considered to be stable, where the roof is acting as a beam and is self-supporting and requires nominal re-enforcement of that beam and also to protect flaky roof.

By the time you have water running through your strata wouldn’t you have already had over 10 to 20 mls of movement?--  No.

Okay?--  As you heard from Dr Fuller’s evidence that his calculations show that that strata had delaminated up to only six millimetres before failure accelerated.

No worries.  If you can go to the – 10A it is in the report there, yeah, post-accident mapping?--  Right.

I know that were asked to – Scott was asked to survey these more closely because of the incident, but if you have a look around where this – where the roadway was going to hole through there, you see there’s considerable flaking taken place there even though it’s only up to 1 ml there but yet that wasn’t identified beforehand.  If you follow – to the coal through there it’s in the same area.  If you had of mapped those wouldn’t that have rung some alarm bells to you that we’re having – we’ve got problems in that area given the fact that the Maywin fault some 50 metres away from it?--  I doubt it, minor flaking such as that – it may look a large area in relation to the mapping but minor flaking such as that, and I’m just trying to – where did you get the measurement of that?

One ml?--  Yeah.

It’s on the – inbye flaking 1 ml?--  So it’s .1 of a metre and typically we map .1 and above, this was asked for in more detail and you know 100 ml of flake is often cut down for stability, would often occur in the normal course of mining conditions so I’m not sure that it would have raised any alarm bells with me.

.1 of a metre, isn’t that one of triggers?--  It is, it’s a trigger to go from Code – it’s the upper limit of Code Yellow as I believe.

You don’t believe that would have raised any alarm bells that there could be some structures in that area given the fact that if you go outbye there there’s hardly any, you go in that area – considering in that area there coming up to the Maywin fault was considerable?--  We were approaching fault structures and we would expect that there may be some influence and that the support – the codes are used appropriately, so from Green to Yellow to Orange and eventually to Red which it was along that heading, it certainly would not cause me any alarm to hole through an intersection at the point.

If you can just bring up – the diagram you’ve got there.  Just with what you were saying earlier about how you believed – happened to those straps there.  Mr Deakin you believed stopped earlier than that, didn’t you?--  Yes, it’s a bit unclear from the survey reports as to who stopped where and who started where so I’m just suggesting that the green crew may have stopped in that area there.

Given that if they did stop there where’s the Yellow they’re talking about?--  Well that’s right, all I’m saying is the evidence was conflicting and I’m acknowledging that on Mr Deakin’s report that he did say Code Green/Yellow, I’m not suggesting that – I couldn’t identify-----

No, I’m just trying-----?--  -----generally the average measurements from 27 cut-through inbye to those straps is 1100 millimetres, 1.1 which is outside Code Yellow.

Yeah, I’m just trying to see how you come to your conclusion when there’s no Code Yellow there to how you got your conclusion and we’ve got evidence saying that he went to Code Yellow?--  I’m merely putting it forward as a suggestion.

Okay?--  As another option.

Thank you very much.

REVIEWER GLAZBROOK:  Mr Wood, in the evidence here in the training records of the eight or nine people that we’ve got in the back there’s no evidence of any one of them being trained in the SCARP on the last section-----?--  It wouldn’t appear in the SCARP – it wouldn’t appear in their training records, sorry.

Wouldn’t appear in their training records; why not?--  Because it’s an operating procedure and it was past through the lines of communication which I deem adequate for those procedures, such as presentations to the supervisors, crews, the reviews and input from crews and also during inspections by mine officials there’s been discussions on SCARP levels and applications.

So how do you know who’s trained in it and who’s not?--  I think I mentioned before that the formalising of who is presented with what can improve.  We do have records of when it was presented and the crew to which it was presented but as to who was present that day, no.

At toolbox talks you were saying that you do most of your training on site with toolbox talks?--  No, I didn’t say most of the training.

Well for-----?--  For operating procedures-----

Yeah, for operating procedures?--  -----it is either, it is through the levels of supervision.

So any new stuff that’s introduced is done at toolbox talks?--  Most would be, yes, or through the Friday communications meetings.

Do you feel that’s adequate?--  I do, with operating procedures, I do, yes.

I thought a toolbox talk was to re-enforce your policies and procedures?--  Or to inform people of new or changes to them.  Most of the ones that have a regional influence are presented at the communications meetings so that the group, total shift gets presented to rather than each individual crew.

As you heard there from a couple of people giving evidence that they didn’t understand the SCARP and they said they’d have to look at the plan to see if they did understand it?--  I wouldn’t expect a person to memorise word for word the SCARP, and that’s why one of the reasons why we were requested to introduce the pocket booklets.  I would expect them to be able to remember the base ones of roof flake or no roof flake, the amount being cut, not being cut.  There have been some deficiencies recognised in the SCARP, in fact, certainly a comment through this Inquiry has been made – not actually in the Inquiry but throughout this Inquiry a comment was made to me personally that this has been good for the SCARP because it’s been examined in close detail.  For instance, we have there the cutting of tops with respect to stability; when we cut roof for clearance there’s no difference, there’s no delineation between the two, so that caused – that caused some review last time it was reviewed but I still don’t see it as being clear enough.

Yeah, that’s what I was getting at, I don’t expect anybody, except probably your supervisors to be able to quote what’s on that, but the impression I got from some of the people – the witnesses they didn’t understand the triggers themselves, when you go from Green to Yellow or to go from there, on the basic principle of it?--  And I would suggest that formal training wouldn’t have changed that.  In 12 months or 18 – since – it was introduced in October ’98 so it’s been two years of SCARP use.  I’ve been extremely happy with the application, one of the improved that the inspector has identified that we need to implement ongoing audits of the effectiveness of the SCARP.

The frequency you say of deputy inspections to the face is to be four hours, that’s a maximum of four hours?--  Yes.

They can do more frequent inspections if so desired?--  Since I’ve been at Oaky No 1 I would expect that on 95 per cent of the occasions the district – the production district for a supervisor is limited to inbye of his transformer, and when there have been particular difficulties in panels I’ve even limited it to the face area and that’s been more on the longwall than development panels.

There seems to be no comprehensive report from the rescue teams or de-briefing of the rescue teams when they come out?--  Yeah, I agree that there’s no report.  Mal Smith and Ian Hoolison were on site at the time, [Indistinct] was the duty card holder, I had asked for a report and de-briefing to be done by those people, I never received it.  In requesting that report I find that details are scant.

I’ve got a copy of the report here and it’s very disappointing?--  That’s the internal one by Mines Rescue?

Yes?--  Yeah.

But-----?--  Look, I would say in all fairness that recording under – recording when you’re in an emergency situation is extremely difficult to get every detail correct and the stress that people are placed under has-----

I do fully understand, Mr Wood?-- -----an effect.  I would have expected though that Captain’s reports would have been available.

That’s all I’m asking you because we don’t know what the rescue team has done and we don’t know what we have to do to train people to do better to improve the system, to improve the rescue teams themselves?--  Whether it’s useful or not, I will most likely after this Inquiry go back to the captains of those teams and request their recollection of events.

Any information would be very well received.  Why did, in particular, did you use the rescue teams because, to the best of my knowledge, rescue teams aren’t trained on digging people out of falls?--  Under our emergency response plan the rescue team is a part of that but – and they were called in by the incident management team which I was leading and the main consideration that should we have any issue of gas or atmosphere in and around the miner we may need their assistance.  Also I concur with ex-production superintendent Nicholls’ statement that those people do have some exposure to different situations, situations that are more demanding, probably more stressful, and they have knowledge of specific equipment such as lifting equipment and techniques that the average mine worker doesn’t.

Yes, that’s correct, but I don’t know of any course in Australian for rescue personnel that shows them how to dig somebody out of a fall?--  That’s right, and I don’t think you can train people to do that, I think it really depends on the – each circumstance is treated on their merit.

Yes, but if we got a grounding somewhere we can improve on it certainly so that’s why we need some information on it.  Thank you, Mr Wood.

REVIEWER SMYTH:  Just one question, Mr Wood; are you aware at any time whether the miner drivers have had the responsibility explained to them in regard to the SCARP?--  Explained or trained and assessed?

I suppose trained and assessed but did they have an understanding of their responsibility under the SCARP, are you aware of that?--  They do display an understanding of their responsibilities under the SCARP,  yes.

REVIEWER SINGER:  A couple of questions, Mr Wood: heard witness Sanderson mention that it’s common for miner operators to install additional support when going through the intersections, like closing the straps facing.  Do you share that view?--  It’s – when he says closing it up, Code Green gives the strap spacing up to one and a half metres, practically I very rarely see straps 

exceeding 1.2 metres underground.  The Code Yellow closes straps up to .8 metres across intersections, and I would say that if I saw straps closed up between .8 and 1.2 metres across intersections it would not strike me as unusual.

Why is that, why wouldn’t it strike you as unusual regardless of the level, say Code Green that straps are brought back to .8 metres when passing through an intersection?--  This is on the break-off not so much on the virgin driveage in the heading this is-----

Okay, on the break-off?--  On the break-off; it’s a recognition that the machine breaking off is difficult to install the initial support on the break-off and possibly conditions at the face.

Can you elaborate on the conditions of the face?--  Well, it could be flaking, it could be because we cut extra clearance across the intersections slightly to cater for vent ducting and so forth and-----

Okay?--  -----machine passage and that’s where I said the SCARP certainly probably could do with more clarification is when you cut roof for clearance rather than cut roof for stability.

Does the impact of increased span have any bearing on bolt spacing or any consideration on bolt spacing for intersections?--  Again, I would have to say that the roof support design at Oaky Creek is based Code Green and Yellow particularly on empirical methods such as experience, and performance of the roof support it is dependent on the roof being stable, acting as a beam and requiring just a certain level of re-enforcement to re-enforce that beam, and it is certainly recognised as being able to span intersections.

With reference to your opinion, you offered another possibility as to how those last – those four straps immediately outbye of B 28 intersection were put up and the suggestion was that the oncoming crew after the week-end encountered that half a metre – about 300 ml of material that had flaked out and put extra straps up at the start of their driveage, is that the opinion that you’re offering?--  That’s a possibility that I’m offering as an explanation, yes.

Under those circumstances, would it be likely to expect in excess of 10, possible 20 millimetres of delamination at the face through that zone after that area of exposed roof had been left unsupported over the week-end?--  Not in the horizons which would have influenced support, I would have expected that the – the immediate roof at Oaky No 1 often contains laminates, immediate laminates and they were the ones to which I was referring that would have flaked, weathered, possibly had some effects of the standing face, and the other thing that I would say is that due to the configuration of the continuous miner and drill rig position that the requirements to leave a face standing are to be the support as close as possible which requires undercutting the face and if the undercut is stable, well then good, if the undercut has failed during the time it’s been standing then possibly some of the immediate laminates have let go.

That’s the opinion you’re offering I understand?--  Yes.

So in reference to the SCARP, then 10 to 20 millimetres of movement, what is it referring to, the upper horizons or the bolted horizon there?--  It’s a total.

It’s a total?--  It’s a total.

So it’s feasible in that situation that at the break-off point we had 10 to 20 millimetres of movement in the roof?--  On a tell-tale.

If a tell-tale had of been installed at the break-off point?--  No, I wouldn’t agree with that.  The tell-tales are set at just above the bolts length, so say between 1.8 and 2 metres and at 6 metres, I wouldn’t have expected to have seen 10 millimetres of movement.

Can you explain or clarify the, with the SCARP, what’s the intention of reducing the bolt spacing through an intersection on Code Yellow, what’s your expectation as far as how far either side of the intersection break-off points that Code Yellow extends and you’d expect the .8 metre bolt spacing to be displayed?--  For Code Yellow to have been enacted would mean that the other triggers had come into effect.  So Code Green where there’s no rib flaking, no tops cut, it’s been exceeded now and there’s some stability issues with the immediate laminates in the roof and possibly some rib spall.  So we’ve already moved up a level to Yellow.  What that says is that we’ve got possible flaking and the increased spacing of straps controls that flaking, there’s an increased bolt density for localised – the weaker laminates and I would expect that to extend from the – a minimum of the break-off point which is not the actual intersection width, but the break-off point through to just inbye the intersection inbye rib.

So you would have expected then, being in Code Yellow at the break-off point, which is those four straps plus a broken one, that’s what you’re saying you would have-----?--  If the conditions had warranted Code Yellow.

Isn’t that Code Yellow where the straps are put up at the increased density at the break-off point?--  It’s not Code Yellow either side of it.

Okay.  We might just want to clarify that I thought I heard-----?--  Which one are you talking about, are you talking about those straps?

Those straps there you said at the break-off point which is immediately adjacent to those?--  If the conditions when mining in this direction had shown the triggers to go from Code Green to Code Yellow then-----

Which it did there?--  -----Code Yellow would have applied until such time as conditions returned to Code Green.  It would appear then that the spacing here is Code Green, that’s Code Yellow and it’s returned to Code Green through the intersection, remembering that that was not mined – initially this was straight ahead and I personally walked that area twice, once on the Monday and once on the Wednesday prior to the fall and I would concur with the level of support that was installed in that area.  Once the crew had started breaking off obviously it became dependent on the conditions that were presenting themselves at the time.

You might just want to clarify that because in your previous statement you said that you’d expect it to start from the break-off point to at least the inbye point of the intersection?--  No, that’s if conditions approaching here had gone to Code Yellow.  Obviously if the conditions, say it’s Code Green, I’m not saying that the [indistinct] intersection in primary support is Code Yellow.

So it’s quite feasible that is a correct understanding that you expect people at the face to apply the intersection pattern?--  Yes, if they’d had Code Green through here, and say we’d been developing all in the one hit there and no conditions for Code Yellow had presented, they would have just gone through there all on Code Green.

As it turns out though that happens to be the intersection point, people may not have known that at the time though, that’s what I’m just trying to clarify whether or not what your expectation with the SCARP was as far as continuing that level yellow response with the strap spacing of .8 through to the inbye side of that intersection?--  It would have only continued if the conditions across the intersection had been – had met the triggers for Code Yellow and obviously people present – I can recall the roof prior to the fall having walked along there, I always when I do my inspection note the roof conditions visually and put a general comment in my notebook and they were Code Green along there.  I couldn’t even say that I’d look at there, there was nothing significant, there was that roof flake there but there was nothing significant in that area that would have caused me to take extra attention.

Other than – the deputy’s statement that it was Code Green/Yellow?--  Slash Yellow.

WARDEN:  Anything arising out of that? 

MR TATE:  No, Your Worship.  Might this witness be excused?

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you, witness, you may stand down, you’re excused.

WITNESS EXCUSED

MR TATE:  Your Worship, that concludes the proposed evidence in both the Coronial Inquest and the Mining Warden’s Inquiry.  In relation to the Coronial Inquest, it would be my submission that there is no evidence in this case to suggest a person should be indicted, and accordingly, the Coroner’s Act is quite clear that there are no submissions to be made on factual matters.  In relation to the Mining Warden’s Inquiry, Your Worship will recall that the practice that has developed over some years now is for any recommendations from the Bar table to be quite short and of narrow compass really relating only to the recommendations usually in written form.  In that regard, Your Worship, it may be appropriate if a very short adjournment is granted just to see whether there is a unified and agreed set of recommendations to be provided to the panel and Your Worship for consideration in your deliberations about whether it’s appropriate to make any recommendations, and if so, what recommendations ought be made.

WARDEN:  Thank you then, we will have a short adjournment of five or 10 minutes.

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 11.30 AM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 12.02 PM

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Yes, gentlemen.

MR TATE:  Your Worship, I’m pleased to say that the submissions in relation to recommendations are almost completed say for a technical hitch, we’re having trouble printing them.  Once they’re printed could I suggest if it’s suitable to the Court that I simply approach Your Worship and provide you with a copy of the recommendations.  My understanding is that they don’t differ in material form from the document that has already been put to the registered manager and discussed, but I do understand that it’s taking into account some of the concern that is raised in relation to words.  

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.

MR TATE:  Probably above five minutes time.

WARDEN:  Sorry if we come in a bit too early for you.

MR TATE:  No, not at all, Your Worship.

WARDEN:  Are there any other parties that want to put up any separate submissions?  Well subject to-----

MR MELLICK:  No, there are no further submissions from the next of kin.  We accept the causation findings made by the inspector and have no opposition to the recommendations that are advanced for the inspectorate.

WARDEN:  Thank you, Mr Mellick.

MR TRAVES:  The mine adopts the report of Inspector Caffery and the recommendations therein.  The evidence of Dr Fuller is to the cause, and so far as further recommendations are concerned, Mr Wood has commented upon those in the witness box, I’d refer the Tribunal to that evidence.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.  Those matters will be taken into account.  Subject to Mr Tate making that written submission available to myself shortly we can adjourn these proceedings-----

MR TATE:  Your Worship, just before you do adjourn, if I might just show my friends this copy, I might be able to tender the – at this stage.

WARDEN:  Yes, thank you.

MR TATE:  In which case, Your Worship, I tender the recommendations which are common ground amongst the parties.

WARDEN:  Thank you.  Can we then adjourn while we consider the findings as to nature and cause and the recommendations by the panel and this will be an opportune time for the lunch adjournment anyhow.  Can we resume at say 

2.00 pm.

THE INQUIRY ADJOURNED AT 12.05 PM

THE INQUIRY RESUMED AT 2.20 PM

WARDEN:  Thank you gentlemen.  I’m authorised by the Reviewers to read out their findings and recommendations.  I’d indicate to you that photocopies will be given to you shortly to save you writing these out, and what we hand is in an interim form and once we return to headquarters we’ll generate a more presentable copy for the parties which will be dispatched to you as soon as the transcript is available.

Findings; we find, name of deceased, Michael James Morris; date of fatal injury, 26 May 2000; time of accident, 0340 hours; place of accident, Oaky No 1 Mine.

Nature of accident; on 26 May 2000 Mr Michael Morris received fatal injuries while working on night shift at Oaky No 1 Mine.  The incident occurred at 28 cut-through maingate 19 when Mr Morris was trapped by a roof fall at 3.40 am.

Cause of accident; on 25 May 2000 Mr Morris commenced work with red crew at 11.00 pm and proceeded underground to the cribroom at 26 cut-through B Heading maingate 19.  At that point a crew briefing was conducted on the work to be performed, part of this being to continue break-off 28 cut-through 28 metres inbye 27 cut-through B Heading.  Roof conditions were considered by the crew as good and the Strata Control Action Response Plan on Code Green.  Mr Morris was a designed operator of a Jeffrey 2048 single pass remote controlled miner with four roof bolters fitted.

At 3.40 am Mr Euston and Mr Morris were standing on the roof bolting platform when Mr Euston looked across the top of the miner and noticed the straps were a bit bagged, no longer flat, not normal.  At this point he saw a small flake fall out of the roof one metre away and saw two drops of water fall from where the flake had come from.  Mr Euston tapped Mr Morris who turned, looked and shouted, get out.  Both men jumped off the platform and ran outbye when the roof collapsed trapping both men near the back right-hand side of the shuttle car.

The remainder of the crew started the emergency triggers and recovery operation.  Mr Euston was recovered from the fall at approximately 6.00 am with minor injuries after being trapped in a cavity between the shuttle car and fallen W straps.  Rescue efforts continued to recover Mr Morris and their efforts were hampered by further unstable roof conditions.  Life was pronounced extinct at 9.15 am.  Mr Morris’ body was recovered at 11.52 am and transported to the surface of the mine.

Contribution factors; primary roof support installed in the intersection and through the faulted roof horizons was insufficient to prevent catastrophic failure of ground.  The absence of quantitative monitoring that would have enabled the crew to measure ground movement and to remove themselves from a position of danger in a timely manner.  The failure of all persons involved to recognise the risk of the potential of faulted ground in that cut-through at the angle driven.

Recommendations of the Reviewers; one, the Reviewers endorse the recommendations of Inspector Caffery’s report and of the manager’s recommendations implemented since the event.

Two; mines should review Strata Control Action Response Plans to ensure they provide a reliable method of determining if trigger levels have been exceeded.

Three; mines should ensure that personnel who are exposed to strata hazards are competent to identify and respond to changing conditions in accordance with pre-defined trigger levels.

Four; mines should ensure that trigger levels in the Strata Control Action Response Plan are adequately resourced in the event of an uncontrolled roof fall.  The response time should consider the need to recover people entrapped in roof falls.

Five; risk management techniques should be used to determine the level of strata support required and appropriate monitoring in relation to mine design which includes when mining adjacent to and/or parallel to major geological structures.

Six; the findings of this investigation and Inquiry should be placed on the DME Incident database.

Seven; all risk assessment data and core data used to develop the safety management plans and associated procedures should be retained at the mine and used in reviews of the plans until it is no longer current including a system to report and record relevant information pertaining to the strata each shift as mining progresses for the use in future mine plan decision making.

The Warden’s report is as follows; On 26 Mary 2000 Mr Michael James Morris received fatal injuries from a catastrophic roof fall whilst performing work at 28 cut-through in maingate 19 panel of Oaky No 1 Mine.

Oaky No 1 Mine is owned by a joint venture which is constituted by Mt Isa Mines Limited, Sumisho Coal Australia Proprietary Limited, Itochu Coal Resources Australia Proprietary Limited.  The manager of the joint venture is Mt Isa Mines Limited and the mine is operated by Oaky Creek Coal Proprietary Limited.

Coal is extracted by a longwall operation at Oaky No 1 Mine and Oaky North Mine.  Annual production for Oaky No 1 mine is 1999 was in excess of 4 million tonnes of coal.  Product is exported through Dalrymple Bay Coal Terminal.  Approximately 165 persons are employed at Oaky No 1 Mine with an additional 35 persons engaged on a contract basis for peak work and specialist tasks.

The Inquiry has heard the evidence of 15 witnesses over the past three days and has admitted into evidence 40 statements, reports and other documents as exhibits including the report of the investigating inspector and the report of the registered mine manager.  An inspection of the accident site was conducted on Monday, 6 November 2000.

Findings as to nature and cause; The Reviewers have delivered their findings as to the nature and cause of the accident.  I concur with and adopt those findings.

In respect of this Inquiry, I thank Mr Tate for his assistance as Counsel Assisting the Inquiry.  I thank Counsel and the various legal union representatives who appeared for various parties for their assistance during the Inquiry, particularly for the early start and late finish times which allowed the witnesses to return to their family and work commitments.

I thank the Reviewers who have assisted the Court to carry out its legal functions in this Inquiry and the Inquiry is now closed.

I turn to the Coroner’s Findings; As Coroner and pursuant to Section 43(1) of the Coroner’s Act 1958 I find; name of deceased, Michael James Morris; date of death, 26 May 2000; place of death, 28 cut-through maingate 19 panel, Oaky No 1 Mine, Central Queensland.

How death occurred; the deceased received fatal injuries when the roof of 28 cut-through at the maingate 19 panel collapsed trapping the deceased and one other person under a fall of rock.  The deceased and other members of the crew had commenced the 28 cut-through with a continuous miner when a section of the roof fell without warning.  Strenuous attempts under difficult conditions were made to rescue those persons trapped by the fall.  One person was recovered with minor injuries.  Mr Morris succumbed to his injuries and died at the site of the accident.

Cause of death; 1(a) Hypoxia and anoxia to brain; (b) asphyxia due to chest compression, (c) buried under a roof collapse in an underground mine. 

There is no evidence of criminal negligence and no person is committed for trial.

I issue the following as a rider; An Inquiry pursuant to Section 74 of the Coal Mining Act 1925 concluded at Emerald Warden’s Court on 9 November 2000.  I endorse and adopt the recommendations handed down by the Reviewers at that Warden’s Inquiry.

I commend Mr A Morris and Mr G Zerner for their efforts in the rescue of Mr Euston and the recovery of Mr Morris under difficult conditions.

The Inquest is closed.

THE INQUIRY CLOSED AT 2.30 PM
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